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  Письмо Группы экспертов по Демократической Республике 

Конго от 10 июня 2021 года на имя Председателя Совета 

Безопасности 
 

 

 Члены Группы экспертов по Демократической Республике Конго, мандат 

которой был продлен в соответствии с резолюцией 2528 (2020) Совета Безопас-

ности, имеют честь настоящим препроводить заключительный доклад Группы в 

соответствии с пунктом 4 этой резолюции.  

 Прилагаемый доклад был представлен Комитету Совета Безопасности, 

учрежденному резолюцией 1533 (2004) по Демократической Республике Конго, 

7 мая 2021 года и был рассмотрен Комитетом 20 мая 2021 года.  

 Группа будет признательна за доведение настоящего письма и доклада до 

сведения членов Совета Безопасности и за их опубликование в качестве доку-

мента Совета Безопасности. 

 

 

(Подпись) Виржини Монши 

Координатор, Группа экспертов по  

Демократической Республике Конго 
 

(Подпись) Нельсон Алусала  

Эксперт 
 

(Подпись) Мелани Де Гроф  

Эксперт  
 

(Подпись) Гора Мбайе  

Эксперт 
 

(Подпись) София Пиклз  

Эксперт 
 

(Подпись) Майя Трухийо  

Эксперт  
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  Заключительный доклад Группы экспертов 
по Демократической Республике Конго 
 

 

 Резюме 

 Непрекращавшиеся акты насилия в восточной части Демократической Рес-

публики Конго продолжали затрагивать гражданское население, которое, оказав-

шись в безысходном положении, устраивало массовые беспорядки и демонстра-

ции протеста против Миссии Организации Объединенных Наций по стабилиза-

ции в Демократической Республике Конго (МООНСДРК), международного сооб-

щества и властей Демократической Республики Конго, особенно в период с марта 

2021 года. В отчетный период в восточной части Демократической Республики 

Конго вооруженные группы продолжали действовать практически безнаказанно. 

 В Северном Киву, несмотря на операции Вооруженных сил Демократиче-

ской Республики Конго (ВСДРК), вооруженная группа «Альянс демократических 

сил» (АДС) восстановила свою боеспособность и стала более активно совершать 

нападения, особенно в секторе Рувензори. АДС стал чаще использовать само-

дельные взрывные устройства против ВСДРК и гражданского населения. При-

влечение боевиков АДС из-за пределов Демократической Республики Конго поз-

волило ему несколько улучшить технику изготовления самодельных взрывных 

устройств. АДС не удалось заручиться прямой поддержкой со стороны органи-

зации «Исламское государство Ирака и Леванта» (ИГИЛ) или перейти под его 

командование и управление, несмотря на попытки Альянса представить себя со-

юзником ИГИЛ. 

 АДС совершал нападения на фермеров, многие из которых выращивали ка-

као, и похищал их по всей территории Бени. АДС и его сообщники иногда соби-

рали урожай какао, воровали какао и торговали им. Некоторые военнослужащие 

ВСДРК собирали урожай какао с полей, покинутых населением, и контрабандой 

вывозили его в Уганду. 

 Случай незаконного оборота боеприпасов между некоторыми военнослужа-

щими ВСДРК и членами Конголезского института охраны природы (КИОП) сви-

детельствовал о недостаточно эффективном управлении запасами оружия и вы-

явил риск их перенаправления вооруженным группам. Смертоносное нападение, 

в ходе которого были убиты специалисты по охране природы КИОП, является 

одним из примеров того, как вооруженные группы охотятся за сотрудниками 

КИОП, в том числе с целью отобрать у них оружие. Нападения из засады, похи-

щения и убийства сотрудников дипломатических представительств и Всемирной 

продовольственной программы (ВПП) 22 февраля 2021 года в очередной раз по-

казали, что в восточной части Демократической Республики Конго сохраняется 

опасная обстановка. 

 На территориях Масиси, Рутшуру, Валикале и в южной части Луберо про-

должались ожесточенные столкновения между вооруженными группами, в кото-

рых участвовали в основном фракции Ндумских сил обороны Конго (возрожден-

ные) (НОК (в)) и комбатанты Коалиции движений за перемены (КДП), что при-

вело к переменам внутри альянсов и сопровождалось серьезными нарушениями 

прав гражданского населения. ВСДРК продолжали использовать фракцию Бвиры 

в качестве посредника в борьбе с некоторыми вооруженными группами. ВСДРК 

и фракция Бвиры сотрудничали в добыче золота на прииске в Матунгу.  
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 Продолжалась незаконная деятельность по добыче олова, тантала и воль-

фрама. Группа зафиксировала случаи вооруженных столкновений на рудниках 

вокруг Рубайи в 2020 году и случаи мошенничества на колтановых рудниках в 

этом районе, а это вызывает обеспокоенность по поводу того, что правительство 

и частный сектор неэффективно справляются с проблемами в этой области.  

 В Итури отсутствие прогресса в процессе разоружения, демобилизации и 

реинтеграции фракций Ассоциации развития Конго (КОДЕКО) привело к тому, 

что постепенно ухудшилась ситуация в плане безопасности и гуманитарная об-

становка на территории Джугу. Нападения на базы ВСДРК, утечка оружия 

ВСДРК и трансграничная торговля привели к тому, что фракции КОДЕКО стали 

чаще использовать стрелковое оружие и легкие вооружения. В Баньяли-Кило, где 

находится множество золотых приисков, боевики группы «Бон темпл» под руко-

водством Туво совершали такие преступления, как групповое изнасилование, 

принуждение к браку и обращение в сексуальное рабство. Группа экспертов 

также задокументировала случаи убийства гражданских лиц, в том числе детей, 

комбатантами КОДЕКО. Фракции КОДЕКО нападали на золотые прииски и за-

хватывали их и грабили центры торговли золотом на территории Джугу, в част-

ности в Монгбвалу, крупном центре торговли золотом. 

 На территории Ируму Патриотические и интеграционистские силы Конго 

(ПИСК) совершали смертоносные нападения на силы безопасности Демократи-

ческой Республики Конго и особенно часто нападали на гражданских лиц, не 

принадлежащих к племени Бира, и использовали детей в качестве комбатантов. 

Группа самообороны «Заир» продолжала действовать на территориях Ируму и 

Джугу и участвовала в вооруженных столкновениях с фракциями КОДЕКО и 

ПИСК, а также в нападениях на мирных жителей Биры и Ленду. Группа «Заир» 

добывала золото и защищала золотые прииски на обеих территориях. 

 Одновременно с этим сотрудники сил безопасности Демократической Рес-

публики Конго, развернутые на территориях Джугу и Ируму, совершали вымога-

тельства, включая акты сексуального насилия в условиях конфликта, в частности 

в отношении представителей народностей ленду и бира, которые считаются свя-

занными с КОДЕКО и ПИСК соответственно. 

 Группа задокументировала незаконное присутствие членов ВСДРК в райо-

нах добычи золота на территориях Джугу, Ируму и Мамбаса, где местные коопе-

ративы добывали золото совместно с полупромышленными горнодобывающими 

компаниями, принадлежащими китайским индивидуальным инвесторам.  

 Через 14 месяцев после подписания мирного соглашения между правитель-

ством Демократической Республики Конго и Патриотическим фронтом сопро-

тивления в Итури (ПФСИ) процесс разоружения, демобилизации, реадаптации и 

реинтеграции так и не возобновился. ПФСИ продолжал требовать выполнения  

условий соглашения, особенно в отношении амнистии, интеграции в ВСДРК и 

выплаты пособий. Заинтересованные стороны продолжали предпринимать уси-

лия для сохранения этого процесса. 

 В Южном Киву в районе Высоких плато территорий Физи, Увира и Мвенга 

участились нападения и ожесточенные столкновения, в основном между «твир-

ванехо», ставшей организованной вооруженной группой, и новой специально со-

зданной коалицией «майи-майи», в которую входила группа «майи-майи» (Яку-

тумба). Группы «майи-майи» и «твирванехо» захватывали оружие и боеприпасы, 

в том числе в результате нападений на ВСДРК, незаконной торговли внутри 

страны и перехвата оружия ВСДРК. Обострению конфликта способствовал сго-

вор между некоторыми из этих групп и членами ВСДРК. Нападения на граждан-

ское население и вооруженные столкновения вызвали массовые вынужденные 
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перемещения людей и привели к этнизации географического пространства. Бое-

вики «твирванехо» и коалиция «майи-майи» совершали связанные с конфликтом 

акты сексуального насилия и похищения. Некоторые их высказывания провоци-

ровали дискриминацию, вражду и насилие. 

 Группа «майи-майи» («Апа на пале»), возглавляемая Мундусом Мунангой 

Бабуйю, продолжала оставаться членом Национальной народной коалиции за су-

веренитет Конго (ННКСК) и очень близким союзником Якутумбы. 

 Группа «майи-майи» (Якутумба) продолжала получать выгоду от незакон-

ной вырубки, налогообложения и торговли красным деревом, в том числе через 

преступные сети. Группа экспертов проследила, как красное дерево из лесных 

заповедников в Южном Киву, находящихся под контролем «майи-майи» (Яку-

тумба), и из преступных сетей на юге территории Ируму и в провинции Цен-

тральное Конго (бывшая провинция Нижнее Конго) попадает в Бельгию и Ки-

тай — конечные пункты назначения. Группа «майи-майи» (Якутумба) также по-

лучала прибыль от добычи золота и обложения налогом некоторых золотодобы-

вающих участков в районах Мисиси и Ньянге, откуда золото экспортировалось в 

Дубай и Гонконг. 

 Бурундийские вооруженные группы «Сопротивление во имя создания пра-

вового государства» (СПГ-Табара) и Национальный фронт освобождения (НФО) 

продолжали занимать тыловые базы в районе Высоких плато Увиры. СПГ-Табара 

часто перемещала позиции, чтобы избежать нападений со стороны ВСДРК. НФО 

понес потери во время операций ВСДРК на территориях Мвенга и Увира в ок-

тябре 2020 года. 

 Фракции «Бутачибера» и «Хамакомбо» группы «Райя мутомбоки» расши-

рили налогообложение местных общин за пользование лесами на территории Ка-

лехе, сотрудничая с фракциями «Ланс» и «Качамба» группы «Райя мутомбоки», 

и удвоили тем самым свои налоговые сборы. 
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 I. Введение 
 

 

1. Члены Группы экспертов по Демократической Республике Конго, мандат 

которой был продлен в соответствии с резолюцией 2528 (2020), были назначены 

Генеральным секретарем 20 июля 2020 года (см. S/2020/726).  

2. Заключительный доклад Группы представляется во исполнение пункта 4 

резолюции 2528 (2020). В соответствии с просьбой Совета Безопасности, содер-

жащейся в пункте 8 его резолюции 2360 (2017) и подтвержденной в резолю-

ции 2528 (2020), Группа продолжала обмениваться информацией с группами 

экспертов по Центральноафриканской Республике, Ливии, Мали и Южному Су-

дану. 

 

  Сотрудничество с Миссией Организации Объединенных Наций 

по стабилизации в Демократической Республике Конго 
 

3. Группа выражает Миссии Организации Объединенных Наций по стабили-

зации в Демократической Республике Конго (МООНСДРК) благодарность за со-

трудничество в отчетный период и оказанную Миссией ценную поддержку. 

 

  Выполнение просьб Группы о предоставлении информации  
 

4. После того как был определен состав Группы, ее члены встретились с гос-

ударственными должностными лицами, представителями частного сектора и ор-

ганизациями в пяти странах (см. приложение 1). Группа в течение срока дей-

ствия своего мандата направила в общей сложности 85 официальных сообще-

ний государствам-членам, международным организациям и частным субъектам. 

На момент подготовки настоящего доклада Группа получила только 26 ответов 

(см. приложение 2).  

5. Группа выражает сожаление по поводу малого числа ответов, полученных 

в целом от государств-членов, в том числе от стран региона, и частного сектора 

на официальные запросы Группы о предоставлении информации, и позднего 

направления ответов и отмечает, что они имеют решающее значение для прове-

дения расследований Группой.  

 

  Методология 
 

6. Группа руководствовалась требованиями о предоставлении доказательств, 

установленными Неофициальной рабочей группой Совета Безопасности по об-

щим вопросам, касающимся санкций (см. S/2006/997). Она основывала свои вы-

воды на документах и — там, где это возможно, — на результатах непосред-

ственных наблюдений, проводившихся на местах самими экспертами.  

7. Вследствие характера конфликта в Демократической Республике Конго 

имеется очень мало документов, содержащих убедительные доказательства по-

ставок оружия, вербовки, ответственности командиров за серьезные нарушения 

прав человека и незаконную эксплуатацию природных ресурсов. Именно по-

этому Группа полагалась на свидетельские показания местных жителей, бывших 

комбатантов и нынешних комбатантов вооруженных групп. Группа проанализи-

ровала также показания экспертов из числа государственных должностных лиц 

и военнослужащих из стран района Великих озер и других стран, а также ин-

формацию, полученную из источников Организации Объединенных Наций. 

Группа удостоверяла информацию, опираясь как минимум на три независимых 

и надежных источника. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/726
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2006/997
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8. Настоящий отчет охватывает расследования, проводившиеся до 23 апреля 

2021 года. 

  Обновленная информация о лицах, включенных в санкционные перечни 
 

9. 23 ноября 2020 года — через два года после начала судебного процесса — 

Оперативный военный суд в Гоме, Северное Киву, огласил свой вердикт по делу 

включенного в санкционный перечень Нтабо Нтабери Шеки (CDi.029), коман-

дира вооруженной группы «Ндумские силы обороны Конго» (НДСОК), и трех 

его сообвиняемых. Суд осудил Шеку за военные преступления — убийства, об-

ращение людей в сексуальное рабство, изнасилования, вербовку детей и маро-

дерство и за организацию повстанческого движения и преступного сообщества 

и участие в них. Шека был приговорен к пожизненному заключению. 

 

  Обновленная информация об убийстве членов Группы экспертов в марте 

2017 года 
 

10. Уголовное разбирательство по делу об убийстве Майкла Дж. Шарпа и 

Зайды Каталан в марте 2017 года продолжается. Группа подчеркивает важность 

того, чтобы уже в ближайшее время были выявлены и привлечены к ответствен-

ности все лица, виновные в их убийстве и исчезновении трех сопровождавших 

их конголезских граждан, и чтобы были выявлены также сети поддержки пре-

ступников и были определены мотивы этого преступления.  

 

 

 II. Северное Киву 
 

 

 A. Альянс демократических сил 
 

 

11. В отчетный период Группа зафиксировала большое количество актов наси-

лия и большое число нападений на гражданских лиц со стороны вооруженных 

групп на территории Бени и в южных районах территории Ируму, Итури. С 

конца 2020 года в секторе Рувензори резко возросло число нападений на силы 

безопасности Демократической Республики Конго и гражданских лиц, включая 

фермеров, выращивающих какао. Наибольшее число актов насилия в регионе 

совершал включенный в санкционный перечень Альянс демократических сил 

(АДС) (CDe.001), возглавляемый включенным в санкционный перечень Секой 

Балуку (CDi.036). Несмотря на операции Вооруженных сил Демократической 

Республики Конго (ВСДРК) (см. S/2020/1283, п. 9) и усилия МООНСДРК, АДС 

восстановил свой состав, используя усиленную вербовку, хорошо организован-

ную систему поддержки и превосходное знание местности, включая более ак-

тивное применение самодельных взрывных устройств, в результате чего ВСДРК 

теперь трудно бороться с Альянсом. Группа провела более 140 собеседований с 

бывшими комбатантами, похищенными ранее лицами, жертвами и свидетелями, 

офицерами ВСДРК и полиции, представителями местных властей, торговцами 

какао, представителями гражданского общества, исследователями, сотрудни-

ками Организации Объединенных Наций и дипломатическими работниками.  

 

  Местоположение и руководство Альянса демократических сил  
 

12.  АДС действовал в районах, указанных в предыдущем докладе 

(см. S/2020/1283, п. 10), сохранял мобильность и разделился на группы из-за 

продолжавшихся операций ВСДРК 1 . АДС действовал мобильно, в частности, 

__________________ 

 1 Согласно информации, полученной от пяти бывших комбатантов, шести похищенных 

ранее лиц, шести офицеров ВСДРК и полиции, семи исследователей, представителей 

гражданского общества и МООНСДРК. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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для того, чтобы отвлечь и запутать ВСДРК, проводившего военные операции. 

Небольшие группы, отвечавшие за пополнение запасов и проведение наступа-

тельных операций АДС, занимали свои позиции непродолжительное время и ча-

сто передвигались с одной позиции на другую. Другие группы занимали полу-

постоянные лагеря и покидали их, когда АДС считал, что ВСДРК или 

МООНСДРК определили их местонахождение. По сообщениям бывших комба-

тантов, похищенных ранее лиц и представителей ВСДРК и МООНСДРК, в от-

четный период временные и полупостоянные лагеря были сконцентрированы в 

секторе Рувензори и в южных районах территории Ируму. 

13.  Два бывших комбатанта, сбежавших из АДС в начале 2021 года, предста-

вители ВСДРК, местных властей, гражданского общества и МООНСДРК и ис-

следователи сообщили, что, хотя Мадина, базовый лагерь АДС, скорее всего, 

остался на границе территорий Бени и Ируму между Банго и Лесе 

(см. S/2020/1283, п. 10), он мог быть перемещен в пределах этого района 

(см. приложение 3). Балуку и другие основные лидеры АДС находились в Ма-

дине вместе с другими комбатантами, женщинами и детьми. Существовало еще 

как минимум пять полупостоянных основных лагерей: один лагерь к северу от 

дороги Мбау-Каманго, один лагерь в Мамове, один лагерь в лесу Маянгосе и два 

лагеря вокруг Мвалики в районе, известном как Домейн (см. S/2019/469, п. 18). 

В этих точках в основном и находились опорные пункты АДС до начала опера-

ций ВСДРК в 2019 году (см. S/2019/974, п. 22), что свидетельствует об устойчи-

вости АДС, а также о трудностях, с которыми сталкиваются ВСДРК при попытке 

сохранить контроль над отвоеванной у АДС территорией. 

14. Лидеры АДС, идентифицированные ранее (см. S/2020/482, пп. 35 и 36), 

были еще живы, поскольку они, как правило, не участвовали в боевых дей-

ствиях. Балуку оставался главным лидером и командиром АДС, которому под-

чинялись другие лидеры и командиры (см. приложение 4). АДС сохранял более 

жесткую структуру командования и управления, наблюдаемую с 2019 года 

(см. S/2019/469, п. 21). Несколько бывших комбатантов и похищенных ранее 

лиц объяснили, что все операции или основные мероприятия по пополнению 

запасов проводились по указанию Балуку либо напрямую, либо через его заме-

стителя Лукваго Худа по прозвищу Пьерро.  

15. Однако отколовшаяся от АДС группа в составе примерно 30 комбатантов, 

возглавляемая Музайей, бывшим командиром в лагере в Мвалике, Бенджамином 

Кисокеранио, близким советником включенного в санкционный перечень Джа-

миля Мукулу (CDi.015), и Хасаном Ньянзи, сыном Мукулу, с 2019 года действо-

вала в основном в Национальном парке Вирунга в районе реки Семулики 

(см. приложение 5).  

 

  Вербовка 
 

16. Операции ВСДРК и аресты нескольких пособников и комбатантов АДС в 

2020 году привели к сокращению численности АДС и временному уменьшению 

числа каналов снабжения, что заставило АДС активизировать вербовку и напа-

дения2. АДС продолжал использовать три главных метода вербовки3: принуди-

тельная вербовка, в первую очередь путем захвата гражданских лиц во время 

нападений; вербовка обманом; и добровольная вербовка с помощью пропаганды 

и кооптации. Последние два метода также использовались для вербовки лиц за 

пределами территории Бени или за пределами Демократической Республики 

__________________ 

 2 Согласно информации, полученной от бывших комбатантов, похищенных ранее лиц, 

офицеров ВСДРК и полиции, местных властей, представителей гражданского общества, 

исследователей, Организации Объединенных Наций и дипломатических работников. 

 3 См. S/2015/19, пп. 16–24; и S/2018/1133, пп. 8–17. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/974
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2015/19
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/1133
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Конго (см. приложение 6). Побег из тюрьмы Бени, организованный членами 

АДС (см. п. 28), также был спланирован для массового укрепления Альянса.  

 

  Оружие, самодельные взрывные устройства, беспилотные летательные 

аппараты и военная подготовка 
 

  Поставки оружия и военная подготовка 
 

17. Последние видеозаписи, фотографии и материалы, проанализированные 

Группой, показывают, что боевики АДС были оснащены автоматами типа АК, 

пулеметами ПКМ, гранатометами РПГ-7 и неуправляемыми ракетами, миноме-

тами калибра 60 мм, тяжелыми пулеметами, радиостанциями «Моторола» и во-

енной формой (см. приложение 7; и S/2019/469, приложение 12). Для убийства 

и обезглавливания людей и нанесения им увечий использовались также мачете 

и ножи (см. приложение 8). В лагерях АДС оружие хранилось в специальных 

хижинах, контролируемых Кикуте и Мзее Якубу в Мадине и Амиго в Мвалике 

(см. п. 13). Двенадцать бывших комбатантов, 5 похищенных ранее лиц и 

15 представителей ВСДРК подтвердили, что АДС добывал оружие главным об-

разом в ходе нападений на менее укрепленные позиции ВСДРК и на солдат этих 

сил (см. приложение 28). На ВСДРК комбатанты нападали только тогда, когда 

возникала острая необходимость в пополнении запасов. Продолжались транс-

граничные незаконные поставки оружия из Уганды (см. S/2020/482, п. 39)4. Ни 

один из субъектов, которые предоставили информацию Группе и среди которых 

были бывшие комбатанты, близкие к руководству АДС, не упоминал о прямом 

или косвенном участии ИГИЛ в поставках оружия АДС (см. п. 31).  

18. Семь бывших комбатантов АДС и похищенных ранее лиц подтвердили, что 

наряду с исламскими учениями частью базовой подготовки новобранцев АДС 

оставалось обучение обращению с оружием, боевым приемам и методам напа-

дения из засады, и большинство из них идентифицировали Рафики и Амиси Ка-

садху (он же Мзее Вако или Калуме) в качестве военных инструкторов в Мадине 

(см. S/2019/469, пп. 33–36). Инструкторы в небольших лагерях, таких как 

«Амиго» в Мвалике/Домейне, иногда отправляли новобранцев АДС в Мадину 

для прохождения усиленной военной подготовки. Военная подготовка 10–30 но-

вобранцев обычно занимала от одной недели до трех месяцев, в зависимости от 

проводившихся в то время операций, после чего курсантов отправляли нападать 

на деревни и лагеря ВСДРК (см. приложение 9). 

 

  Изготовление и использование самодельных взрывных устройств и наличие 

беспилотных летательных аппаратов для наблюдения 
 

19. В отчетный период, и особенно в районах, где действует АДС, увеличилось 

число зарегистрированных случаев использования самодельных взрывных 

устройств, что отражает тенденцию к росту таких нападений, о которой со об-

щалось ранее (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 12–14). В период с ноября 2020 года по март 

2021 года Группой было зарегистрировано 36 инцидентов с предположитель-

ным или подтвержденным применением в общей сложности 64 самодельных 

взрывных устройств. Особенно часто в последние месяцы самодельные взрыв-

ные устройства использовались в районах вокруг Кайнамы и Эрингети вдоль 

границы между Северным Киву и Итури, что соответствует информации о рас-

ширении присутствия АДС и совершаемых им нападений в южной части терри-

тории Ируму и северной части региона Бени (см. приложение 10). Группа 

__________________ 

 4 Согласно информации, полученной от бывших комбатантов, похищенных ранее лиц, 

представителей гражданского общества, военнослужащих ВСДРК, правительственных 

чиновников и аналитиков. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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считает, что это было продиктовано, в частности намерением АДС взять под 

свой контроль соединительные дороги поблизости от границы с Угандой 

(см. п. 24)5. 

20. Самодельные взрывные устройства устанавливались главным образом для 

того, чтобы нанести урон ВСДРК. В период с ноября 2020 года по март 2021 года 

в результате подрыва самодельных взрывных устройств было ранено или убито 

не менее 45 военнослужащих ВСДРК. Лица, пострадавшие в результате таких 

инцидентов, похищенные ранее лица, бывшие комбатанты АДС, медицинские 

работники и представители ВСДРК объяснили, что самодельные взрывные 

устройства закладывались во время нападений вдоль тропинок, чтобы помешать 

ВСДРК преследовать нападавших и прикрыть отступление боевиков АДС. Са-

модельные взрывные устройства также закладывались на подъездных путях для 

нанесения урона пешим патрулям ВСДРК и гражданским лицам, приближав-

шимся к лагерям АДС (см. приложение 11). Похищенные ранее лица и бывшие 

комбатанты сообщили, что самодельные взрывные устройства были частью ор-

ганического оружия подразделений АДС и всегда оставались с подразделениями 

во время их перемещения. 

21. Группа также зафиксировала резкое увеличение числа жертв среди граж-

данского населения в результате подтвержденных или предполагаемых подры-

вов самодельных взрывных устройств. С ноября 2016 года по 15 ноября 

2020 года в восточной части Демократической Республики Конго не было заре-

гистрировано ни одного случая ранения гражданских лиц в результате подрыва 

самодельных взрывных устройств (см. S/2020/1283, п. 12). В период с ноября 

2020 года по март 2021 года в результате подрыва самодельных взрывных 

устройств было убито или ранено по меньшей мере 12 гражданских лиц 

(см. приложение 12). Гражданские лица становились либо сопутствующими 

жертвами подрыва самодельных взрывных устройств, приводившихся в дей-

ствие случайно самими жертвами, либо непосредственными объектами нападе-

ний АДС, особенно когда самодельные взрывные устройства закладывались на 

сельскохозяйственных угодьях в зонах действия АДС. По словам бывших ком-

батантов и похищенных ранее лиц, АДС использовал эти устройства, чтобы не 

допустить приближения к нему гражданских лиц, заставить фермеров и местные 

общины покинуть заминированную территорию и/или помешать фермерам со-

бирать урожай (см. п. 32). 

22. Обследования на местах, в том числе в Кайнаме, территория Ируму, пока-

зали, что АДС недавно использовал мины-ловушки (см. приложение 13). 28 ян-

варя 2021 года один солдат ВСДРК был ранен в результате подрыва самодель-

ного взрывного устройства в поле в Будаки, Кайнама, когда он поднимал тело 

гражданского лица, пострадавшего от нападения АДС; самодельное взрывное 

устройство было прикреплено к телу этого человека. Один из задержанных быв-

ших комбатантов рассказал о планах АДС по приобретению в будущем техно-

логии подрыва бомб смертниками. Однако Группа не может исключить того, что 

это утверждение могло быть частью усилий, направленных на то, чтобы прове-

сти связь между АДС и ИГИЛ. 

23. Шесть бывших комбатантов АДС и/или похищенных ранее лиц подтвер-

дили наличие у АДС и использование им как минимум двух беспилотных лета-

тельных аппаратов наблюдения в лагере Мадины. В марте 2021 года 

МООНСДРК сообщила о пролете беспилотного летательного аппарата рядом с 

новым лагерем АДС в районе между Тчаби и Ндалией, территория Ируму. Быв-

шие комбатанты и похищенные ранее лица заявили, что Медди Нкалубо по 

__________________ 

 5 Там же. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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прозвищу Каратель пилотировал этот аппарат и был изготовителем самодель-

ных взрывных устройств (см. приложения 4 и 14; и S/2019/469, приложение 6).  

24. Похищенные ранее лица и бывшие комбатанты указали, что самодельные 

взрывные устройства были установлены или собраны в лагерях АДС, в основ-

ном в Мадине и Мамове. Большинство компонентов самодельных взрывных 

устройств (батареи и детонаторы для взрывчатых веществ) поступали из Уганды 

(см. S/2020/482, п. 39). Пустые гильзы подбирали на местах боевых действий 

для повторного использования и закладывали в кастрюли, чтобы усилить мощ-

ность взрыва таких устройств. У ВСДРК были украдены минометные и гранат-

ные снаряды, которые затем использовались для установления мин-ловушек 

(см. приложение 15). Хотя было замечено несколько случаев использования ди-

станционно управляемых самодельных взрывных устройств, большинство из 

тех, которые были недавно задокументированы, случайно приводились в дей-

ствие жертвами (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 12–14). 

25. Ранее похищенные лица и бывшие комбатанты объясняли некоторое улуч-

шение техники изготовления самодельных взрывных устройств тем, что привле-

кались комбатанты АДС из-за рубежа, в частности из Бурунди, Кении и Объеди-

ненной Республики Танзания (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 12–14). Изготовителями 

бомб были названы Абвакаси и Сека Кахуми (см. приложения 4 и 16). В отчет-

ный период Группа не обнаружила специальной маркировки на самодельных 

взрывных устройствах или какой-либо технической документации, которая 

была найдена ВСДРК в Мадине или других захваченных лагерях АДС и которая 

указывала бы на прямое или косвенное участие ИГИЛ в изготовлении и уста-

новке самодельных взрывных устройств (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 12–14). Проведен-

ные Группой расследования подтвердили, что самодельные взрывные устрой-

ства устанавливались не в качестве инструмента террористической деятельно-

сти, а в тактических, наступательных и оборонительных целях и для ведения 

беспокоящих действий.  

 

  Нападения на гражданское население в Рувензори 
 

26. Хотя нападения на гражданских лиц продолжались на всей территории 

Бени и в южной части Итури, Группа отметила, что с середины 2020 года осо-

бенно увеличилось число нападений в секторе Рувензори, который ранее был 

относительно спокойным районом (см. пп. 17 и 32). С июня 2020 года было за-

регистрировано не менее 50 нападений, в результате которых погибло более 

250 гражданских лиц и тысячи были перемещены 6. По итогам поездок на места 

и с учетом более 70 свидетельских показаний Группа пришла к выводу, что боль-

шинство этих нападений совершал АДС (см. приложение 17). 

27. Группа расследовала два нападения, совершенные АДС в Нзенге и Лосе-

Лосе, Рувензори, 11 и 28 декабря 2020 года соответственно. Оба примера пока-

зывают, что АДС совершал нападения с целью пополнить запасы, отомстить 

и/или, возможно, по идеологическим причинам, включая нападения на нему-

сульман (см. приложение 18). Они также проиллюстрировали различные ме-

тоды и тактику АДС, включая использование разведчиков, похищения, неизби-

рательные убийства и нападения на гражданских лиц, а также уничтожение иму-

щества и мародерство, как это было ранее задокументировано7. Такие действия 

представляют собой серьезные нарушения прав человека и норм международ-

ного гуманитарного права и подпадают под санкции в соответствии с пунк-

том 7 e) резолюции 2293 (2016) Совета Безопасности, что было затем подтвер-

ждено в резолюции 2528 (2020) Совета. Хотя АДС обычно прибегает к тактике 
__________________ 

 6 Согласно информации, полученной от МООНСДРК. 

 7 См. S/2015/797, пп. 84–91; S/2019/469, пп. 109–115; S/2020/482, пп. 137–142. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2015/797
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
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рейдов (см. S/2020/482, п. 40), нападение на Лосе-Лосе стало одним из первых 

задокументированных случаев, когда АДС занимал населенный пункт в течение 

нескольких дней.  

 

  Побег из тюрьмы в Бени 
 

28. 20 октября 2020 года в результате нападения на «Кангбайи», тюрьму Бени, 

произошел массовый побег более 1300 из 1455 заключенных, содержавшихся в 

тюрьме8. На основании более 30 свидетельств бывших комбатантов, задержан-

ных, сбежавших заключенных, похищенных ранее лиц, сотрудников сил без-

опасности Демократической Республики Конго, персонала пенитенциарных 

учреждений, представителей гражданского общества, исследователей, сотруд-

ников МООНСДРК и дипломатических работников Группа установила, что это 

нападение было спланировано АДС, возглавлялось командирами Амиго и Му-

лало (см. приложение 19) и имело целью освободить комбатантов и пособников 

АДС9 и провести широкомасштабную вербовку (см. п. 16).  

 

  Идеологическая и пропагандистская деятельность АДС и связь АДС 

с ИГИЛ10 
 

29. Хотя АДС продолжал действовать тайно, с 2016 года он выпускал в соци-

альных сетях все больше видеороликов, демонстрирующих подготовку его бое-

виков, его военный потенциал и столкновения с ВСДРК, проповеди и внутрен-

ние дискуссии 11 . Видеоматериалы стали выпускаться после ареста Мукулу в 

2015 году в конъюнктурных и пропагандистских целях, что способствовало 

внешней пропаганде и региональной вербовке АДС и укреплению в то же время 

дисциплины, единства и морального духа этой группы12. 

30. Группа проанализировала более 45 видеозаписей, которые были сделаны 

за период с 2006 по 2020 год явно с целью представить АДС союзником ИГИЛ13: 

на видеозаписях, в частности, проповедуется радикальная интерпретация ис-

лама, например содержится призыв к убийству немусульман, и подчеркивается 

отход от первоначальной цели АДС — борьбы с правительством Уганды 

(см. приложение 20). Показательно, что в видеоролике, опубликованном в июле 

2019 года, Балуку поклялся в верности ИГИЛ. Балуку пошел еще дальше, заявив 

в видеозаписи от сентября 2020 года, что АДС больше не существует и что те-

перь Альянс превратился в организацию «Центральноафриканская провинция 

“Исламского государства”» (ЦАПИГ). Один из бывших комбатантов подтвердил 

аналогичное заявление Балуку, сделанное им в начале 2020 года во время про-

поведи в Мадине, целью которой было поднять боевой дух АДС во время опе-

раций ВСДРК. Этот и другие бывшие комбатанты рассказали, что в лагерях АДС 

регулярно демонстрировались несколько видеоматериалов АДС и другие 

__________________ 

 8 См. S/2020/1283, приложение 3. 

 9 По разным оценкам, их было от 100 до 260 человек, но Группа не смогла подтвердить эти 

данные. Однако, по словам бывших комбатантов, в тюрьме насчитывалось менее 

50 задержанных комбатантов, которые действительно принадлежали к АДС. 

 10 10 марта 2021 года Государственный департамент Соединенных Штатов Америки включил 

АДС в список иностранных террористических организаций, посчитав, что АДС связан с 

ИГИЛ в качестве одной из его структур в Центральной Африке, и дав Альянсу название 

«Исламское государство Ирака и Сирии — Демократическая Республика Конго (ИГИЛ-

ДРК)». См. www.state.gov/state-department-terrorist-designations-of-isis-affiliates-and-leaders-

in-the-democratic-republic-of-the-congo-and-mozambique/. 

 11 Некоторые сообщения АДС распространялись через записи на кассетах, аудиофайлы и 

послания, а не через социальные сети (см. S/2019/469, п. 33). 

 12 Это подтвердили также несколько бывших комбатантов, недавно опрошенных Группой 

экспертов. 

 13 См. S/2019/469, п. 33. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
http://www.state.gov/state-department-terrorist-designations-of-isis-affiliates-and-leaders-in-the-democratic-republic-of-the-congo-and-mozambique/
http://www.state.gov/state-department-terrorist-designations-of-isis-affiliates-and-leaders-in-the-democratic-republic-of-the-congo-and-mozambique/
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469


 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 13/369 

 

видеоматериалы структур ИГИЛ в Мозамбике и Западной Африке. Несмотря на 

эти попытки ассоциироваться с ИГИЛ, некоторые недавние видеозаписи, опуб-

ликованные АДС, не содержат ссылок на ИГИЛ, а некоторые видеоролики, де-

монстрируемые в лагерях, показывают проповеди и наказание неудавшихся бег-

лецов, например казнь путем обезглавливания. Более того, радикализация идео-

логии, доктрины, позиции и практики АДС уже относится к периоду руковод-

ства Мукулу 14 . Кроме того, несмотря на большое количество смертоносных 

нападений АДС на гражданских лиц, АДС не совершал систематических 

убийств немусульман. Напротив, нападения обычно преследовали стратегиче-

ские цели, заключавшиеся в том, чтобы пополнить запасы товаров и оружия, 

ускользнуть от операций ВСДРК или отомстить за них.  

31. Параллельно ИГИЛ продолжало брать на себя ответственность за нападе-

ния АДС на территории Бени и в Итури, причем в декабре 2020  года и феврале 

2021 года количество таких заявлений значительно возросло. Эти сообщения 

были взаимовыгодными15, поскольку они дополняли и усиливали местную про-

паганду АДС и создавали впечатление, что глобальный охват ИГИЛ расширя-

ется. Однако Группа продолжала отмечать расхождения между этими сообще-

ниями и реальным положением дел на местах (см. S/2020/1283, п. 16). В течение 

нескольких часов после нападения на Лосе-Лосе 28 декабря ИГИЛ выпустило 

видео до того, как информация о нападении была опубликована местными кон-

голезскими СМИ, что может свидетельствовать о повышении эффективности 

каналов связи между ИГИЛ и АДС. Однако Группа не нашла убедительных до-

казательств того, что ИГИЛ командует операциями АДС и контролирует их или 

что ИГИЛ оказывает прямую поддержку АДС — финансовую, кадровую или ма-

териальную (см. п. 25).  

 

 

 B. Сектор какао: участие некоторых военнослужащих 

Вооруженных сил Демократической Республики Конго и 

влияние вооруженных групп  
 

  Нападения АДС на фермеров  
 

32. За отчетный период АДС убили с помощью мачете или из огнестрельного 

оружия более 100 фермеров на полях по всей территории Бени, многие из кото-

рых выращивали какао, и похитили сотни других фермеров, иногда заставляя 

похищенных заниматься сельским хозяйством на полях АДС (см. приложе-

ние 21; см. п. 21 выше; S/2020/1283, пп. 18–20; S/2020/482, пп. 137–142; и 

S/2017/672, пп. 54 и 55). Целенаправленные нападения на фермеров соверша-

лись в Рувензори, вокруг Ойчи, на полях вдоль дороги Мбау-Каманго 

(см. S/2019/469, пп. 109–119) и начиная с середины 2020 года в южной части 

Ируму. Свои нападения в Рувензори боевики АДС оправдывали тем, что они 

осуществляют операции по расчистке земель и берут эти земли под свой кон-

троль (см. приложение 22)16. 

  

__________________ 

 14 См. S/2015/19, пп. 132, 133 и 137; S/2016/466, п. 60; S/2016/1102, п. 43; S/2018/531, п. 151; 

S/2019/469, пп. 14, 31, 37, 97 и 98. 

 15 Согласно информации, полученной от бывших комбатантов, представителей гражданского 

общества, исследователей, МООНСДРК и дипломатических работников.  

 16 По словам бывшего комбатанта, похищенного ранее лица, двух очевидцев и представителя 

профсоюза фермеров. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2017/672
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2015/19
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2016/466
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2016/1102
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
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33. АДС и его сообщники иногда собирали урожай какао, воровали какао и 

торговали им, особенно в Рувензори17. Однако Группа не обнаружила доказа-

тельств широкомасштабной систематической торговли какао со стороны АДС в 

отчетный период18. Торговцы какао иногда становились объектами нападений 

АДС в городских районах. По меньшей мере четыре торговца подверглись угро-

зам и вооруженному нападению и были похищены, а их помещения были ограб-

лены неизвестными вооруженными лицами.  

 

  Причастность ВСДРК к сбору урожая какао и торговле им 
 

34. Группа опросила 31 фермера, которые выращивают какао в районах Бени 

и Рувензори и которые не обрабатывали свои поля какао в 2020 году и в начале 

2021 года, опасаясь вооруженных нападений со стороны АДС, «майи-майи», не-

опознанных вооруженных лиц и членов ВСДРК (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 20 и 21). 

Шестнадцать фермеров заявили, что большая часть их какао была собрана чле-

нами ВСДРК или неизвестными молодыми людьми в военной и гражданской 

одежде.  

35. Группа задокументировала 11 свидетельств очевидцев о том, как некото-

рые солдаты подразделения «коммандос» ВСДРК под руководством майора 

Джона Зеро-Зеро из 312-го батальона «коммандос» (он же майор Типи Зеро-

Зеро19) собирали урожай какао в 2020 и 2021 годах на заброшенных полях во-

круг Халунгупы, Булонго и Мутванги, причем иногда им помогали молодые 

гражданские лица. К моменту подготовки настоящего доклада связаться с майо-

ром Зеро-Зеро Группе не удалось. Дополнительные доказательства причастно-

сти к этому ВСДРК см. в приложении 23. Представитель ВСДРК сообщил 

Группе, что, хотя жены солдат могут на законных основаниях заниматься тор-

говлей, военнослужащим ВСДРК это делать запрещено.  

 

  Производство, экспорт и контрабанда какао 
 

36. По крайней мере 3 из 19 официальных экспортеров какао попытались 

идентифицировать фермеров, у которых они закупали какао в 2020 году. Одна 

торговая ассоциация и один кооператив идентифицировали своих продавцов. 

Однако общее количество фермеров и фермерских участков на территории Бени 

неизвестно (см. приложение 24). Четыре торговца рассказали, что посредники 

регулярно продают какао, не проверяя цепочку поставок. Хотя некоторые экс-

портеры рассказали, что они пытались выявлять и избегать продавцов из 

ВСДРК, трое признались, что, как они обнаружили позднее, товар им был про-

дан членами ВСДРК, а другие экспортеры сказали, что продавцов очень трудно 

идентифицировать.  

37. Члены ВСДРК способствовали трансграничной контрабанде какао в 

Уганду в сговоре с некоторыми чиновниками конголезской пограничной 

службы. В одном случае три человека по отдельности подтвердили, что капитан 

Киомба из 312-го батальона «коммандос» ВСДРК управлял вместе с граждан-

ским лицом складом, через который какао экспортировалось из Халунгупы. К 

моменту подготовки настоящего доклада связаться с капитаном Киомбой Группе 

не удалось. В 2020 и 2021 годах по дороге RN4 еженедельно проезжали 

__________________ 

 17 Согласно информации, полученной от двух похищенных ранее лиц, двух очевидцев и 

представителей гражданского общества, и согласно фотодоказательствам.  

 18 Три недавно покинувших АДС комбатанта отметили незаинтересованность АДС в какао, 

сказав, что АДС получает доход другими способами.  

 19 Не путать с подполковником Джозефом Нганзоле Оликвой, он же Типи Зиро-Зиро 

(см. п. 97). 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283


 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 15/369 

 

грузовики, перевозившие какао от имени или в сопровождении членов ВСДРК20. 

Бывший контрабандист, занимавшийся ранее перевозкой какао, рассказал, что 

до 2019 года он платил 750 долл. США наличными за каждый грузовик коман-

диру ВСДРК за контрабанду какао ночью через реку Лубилиха в Уганду.  

38. Пять человек, которые сами были в такой ситуации, сообщили, что контра-

бандное какао отправлялось, в частности, в Бвере и Бундибугё, Уганда, где тор-

говцы прикрепляли угандийские сертификаты происхождения, в том числе для 

экспорта. В 2020 году из Демократической Республики Конго в другие страны 

мира было экспортировано более 47 500 тонн какао21. Чуть менее 34 500 тонн 

было экспортировано через Касинди, территория Бени 22, причем 10 процентов 

этих грузов было официально экспортировано в Уганду. Более подробный ана-

лиз см. в приложении 25. 

 

 

 C. Участие военнослужащих Вооруженных сил Демократической 

Республики Конго и сотрудников Конголезского института 

охраны природы в незаконном обороте боеприпасов на 

территории Бени 
 

 

39. В 2021 году Группа задокументировала изъятие в общей сложности 

83 ящиков с боеприпасами и сумки с различными боеприпасами к пулеметам 

ПКМ и автоматам типа АК, которые стали объектом торговли между некото-

рыми военнослужащими ВСДРК и некоторыми специалистами по охране при-

роды Конголезского института охраны природы (КИОП) в национальном парке 

Гарамба. Боеприпасы были изъяты органами конголезской военной юстиции, 

которые арестовали пять офицеров и трех солдат ВСДРК, четырех специалистов 

по охране природы КИОП и одного гражданского за продажу и незаконный обо-

рот боеприпасов. Группа осмотрела боеприпасы (см. приложение 26) и побесе-

довала с арестованными офицерами ВСДРК, специалистами по охране природы 

КИОП и гражданским лицом, а также с военными прокурорами, сотрудниками 

полиции и пятью лицами, осведомленными об этом деле.  

40. Из 83 ящиков с боеприпасами 5 были изъяты 13 марта 2021 года в резиден-

ции капитана ВСДРК Зине Боды из 32-й бригады быстрого реагирования в Мам-

банго, к югу от города Бени. Бода утверждал, что за торговлю боеприпасами 

несет ответственность специалист по охране природы КИОП Камбале Шарифе 

Идиока. Камбале сообщил Группе, что Алхаджи Сомба, заместитель директора 

КИОП по Национальному парку Гарамба, поручил ему приобрести у ВСДРК 

85 ящиков с боеприпасами для целей учебной подготовки и оперативного раз-

вертывания в Национальном парке. Сомба признал, что он знал о покупке бое-

припасов, сделанной Камбале. 

41. Камбале связался с Бодой насчет покупки ящиков с боеприпасами. В свою 

очередь, Бода связался со своим начальником, полковником ВСДРК Зимой Му-

сики, командиром (S4) 32-й бригады быстрого реагирования. Камбале сообщил 

Группе, что он договорился с Зимой о покупке не менее 34 ящиков и заплатил за 

них от 55 до 60 долл. США за ящик23. Камбале, Бода и второй лейтенант ВСДРК 

Деба подтвердили, что сделка состоялась. Зима передал Боде и Дебе 300 долл. 

США и 200 долл. США соответственно из наличных в размере 2000 долл. США, 

__________________ 

 20 По словам пяти очевидцев в Ойче и Мавиви. 

 21 База статистических данных Организации Объединенных Наций по международной 

торговле. 

 22 Официальные данные по экспорту, проанализированные Группой. 

 23 Полковник Зима отрицал свою причастность к незаконному обороту боеприпасов.  
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полученных от Камбале, который также сделал несколько мобильных денежных 

переводов Зиме для оплаты боеприпасов. Ящики с боеприпасами хранились в 

доме Сомбы в Бени (см. приложение 27).  

42. Камбале подтвердил, что с 2018 года его начальники регулярно отправляли 

его в Бени для покупки боеприпасов. Несколько задержанных заявили, что в 

2018 и 2019 годах они закупали боеприпасы, в частности, у подразделения  

ВСДРК, базирующегося в Ньялеке к востоку от города Бени. Группа получила 

документы и аудиозаписи, свидетельствующие о том, что Национальный парк 

Гарамба регулярно закупал боеприпасы по каналам ВСДРК и что Сомба контро-

лировал эти закупки. Руководство Национального парка Гарамба объяснило, что 

оно не знало об этих конкретных закупках боеприпасов и не давало на них раз-

решения, но что неофициальные закупки боеприпасов были обычной практикой 

в прошлом, поскольку компетентные органы не отвечали на официальные за-

просы.  

43. Этот случай свидетельствует о ненадлежащем управлении запасами бое-

припасов в соответствующих бригадах и подразделениях ВСДРК 24. Кроме того, 

специалисты по охране природы КИОП осуществляли закупки боеприпасов в 

обход официальных процедур КИОП в отношении представления запросов, ко-

торые должны направляться в Военный дом при президенте. Это создает значи-

тельный риск того, что боеприпасы попадут в руки вооруженных групп. Закуп-

ленные боеприпасы соответствовали некоторым типам боеприпасов, использу-

емых АДС (см. приложение 28). Однако Группа не смогла подтвердить сообще-

ния о том, что специалисты по охране природы КИОП поставляли оружие и бо-

еприпасы АДС, в отсутствие каких-либо сведений о том, что члены ВСДРК или 

специалисты КИОП, вовлеченные в это дело о торговле боеприпасами, имели 

какие-либо связи с АДС. 

 

 

 D. Столкновения и меняющийся состав альянсов вооруженных 

групп на территориях Масиси, Рутшуру, южной части Луберо 

и Валикале25 
 

 

44. Со времени представления предыдущего доклада (см. S/2020/1283, п. 29) 

продолжались периодические столкновения между вооруженными группами и 

ответные нападения, в основном в попытке взять под свой контроль территории 

Масиси, Рутшуру, южной части Луберо и Валикале, которые богаты полезными 

ископаемыми и приносят значительную финансовую прибыль (см. пункты 54–

56 и приложение 29). Вооруженные группы боролись за власть, особенно после 

вакуума, образовавшегося после раскола «Ндумских сил обороны Конго» (воз-

рожденные) (НОК (в))26. Столкновения привели к изменению позиций и состава 

альянсов вооруженных групп и серьезно ухудшили положение населения.  

 

  Изменение состава альянсов и динамики деятельности вооруженных групп 
 

45. Хотя ранее они воевали друг с другом, отколовшаяся от НОК (в) фракция 

Бвиры и Народные патриотические силы/Народная армия (НПС/НА) под 

__________________ 

 24 32-я бригада быстрого реагирования ВСДРК, базирующаяся в Мамбанго, имеет передовую 

базу материально-технического снабжения в Кисангани, которая провела миссию по 

оценке недостающих запасов. 

 25 Согласно информации, полученной от более 70 лидеров, комбатантов и бывших 

комбатантов вооруженных групп, лиц, близких к фракциям Бвиры и Гидона, КДП/СНО, 

ДСОР, представителей гражданского общества, местных властей, ВСДРК, КНП, 

Организации Объединенных Наций и дипломатических работников.  

 26 См. S/2020/1283, пп. 25–27.  

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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руководством «Кабидо» (см. приложение 30) объединились в январе 2020 года 

для борьбы с отколовшейся от НОК (в) фракцией Гидона в Валикале и южной 

части Луберо27.  

46. Одновременно с этим в конце февраля 2021 года фракция Гидона сформи-

ровала свободный альянс28 с несколькими вооруженными группами, с которыми 

она воевала ранее. Среди них, в частности, были «майи-майи» Мандаймы29 и 

Альянс патриотов за свободное и суверенное Конго (АПССК) Жанвье Карахири 

и «ньятура» Абазунгу Жана-Мари30, оба из которых являются членами Коалиции 

движений за перемены (КДП). Этот альянс, получивший название «Альфа 60» 

или «А60», был создан с целью противодействовать военным операциям фрак-

ции Бвиры, НПС/НА и ВСДРК. Между тем НПС/НА также сотрудничали с КДП, 

включая АПССК31, продемонстрировав тем самым оппортунистический харак-

тер этих альянсов. 

 

  Столкновения ВСДРК и фракции Бвиры с КДП/СНО, АПССК и ДСОР 
 

47. С ноября 2020 года фракция Бвиры, используемая ВСДРК в качестве своего 

посредника (см. S/2020/1283, п. 34), ведет боевые действия с АПССК вокруг 

Ньябиондо и города Масиси, а также с КДП/Силами народной обороны 

(КДП/СНО) в основном вокруг Калембе, причем оба города находятся на терри-

тории Масиси 32 . И наоборот, с конца ноября 2020 года комбатанты фракции 

Бвиры также участвовали в операциях ВСДРК против АПССК на территории 

Масиси, а с января 2021 года — против КДП/СНО и Демократических сил осво-

бождения Руанды — Боевых сил Абакунгузи (ДСОР-БОСА), главным образом в 

вождестве Бвито на территории Рутшуру (см. приложение 31).  

48. В результате проведения ВСДРК операций против КДП/СНО и ДСОР-

БОСА в вождестве Бвито, ключевом опорном пункте (см. S/2017/1091, п. 15; 

S/2020/482, п. 12), многие комбатанты покинули территорию Рутшуру и укры-

лись на территории Масиси, где они объединились с АПССК33. На территории 

Масиси, где группировки укрепили и расширили свой контроль после выхода из 

состава НОК (в), они оказывали сопротивление ВСДРК и фракции Бвиры 

(см. приложение 32). 

 

  Столкновения между фракциями Бвиры и Гидона, участие ВСДРК 

и передислокация фракции Гидона 
 

49. После относительного затишья в боевых действиях (см. S/2020/1283, п. 28) 

в январе 2021 года возобновились ожесточенные столкновения за контроль над 

территорией между фракциями Бвиры и Гидона, иногда с участием НПС/НА, в 

__________________ 

 27 Согласно информации, полученной от комбатантов фракции Бвиры, лиц, близких к обеим 

фракциям НОК (в), представителей гражданского общества, национальных и местных 

властей, исследователей, Организации Объединенных Наций и дипломатических 

работников.  

 28 Там же и согласно сообщениям лиц, близких к АПССК и Абазунгу, офицеров ВСДРК и 

полиции.  

 29 См. S/2018/531, п. 82.  

 30 См. в S/2019/469, п. 54, информацию о предыдущих столкновениях между НОК (в) и КДП, 

включая АПССК и группу «ньятура» Абазунгу Жана-Мари.  

 31 Согласно информации, полученной от представителей гражданского общества, 

исследователей, сотрудников МООНСДРК, лиц, близких к фракции Гидона, и НПС/НА.  

 32 Согласно информации, полученной от одного из комбатантов фракции Бвиры, 

руководителей фракции Гидона, КДП/СНО и ДСОР, представителей гражданского 

общества, национальных и местных властей, исследователей, ВСДРК, МООНСДРК и 

дипломатических работников.  

 33 Там же.  

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2017/1091
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
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частности вокруг богатой полезными ископаемыми Букумбирвы на юге терри-

тории Луберо34. Хотя ВСДРК в основном сосредоточились на борьбе с АПССК 

и КДП/СНО, они также использовали фракцию Бвиры в качестве посредника в 

борьбе с фракцией Гидона. Группа получила протокол состоявшегося в ноябре 

2020 года координационного совещания с участием командира батальона 

ВСДРК и командиров фракции Бвиры, на котором планировались операции про-

тив фракции Гидона. Кроме того, в официальном документе ВСДРК, изданном 

в феврале 2021 года, Бвира упоминается как один из участников операции «Со-

кола II» (см. приложение 33).  

50. Включенный в санкционный перечень Гидон Шимирай Мвисса (CDi.033) 

воспользовался тем, что ВСДРК фактически не проводили против него операций 

в конце 2020 года, чтобы восстановить и вернуть контроль над стратегическими 

районами и заминированными участками в Валикале и южной части Луберо 35.  

51. Восстановление доступа к экономическим ресурсам и постоянная под-

держка со стороны части населения позволили Гидону активизировать вербовку, 

пополнить запасы (см. приложение 34) и провести реорганизацию, в результате 

чего он смог несколько раз нанести поражение коалиции фракции Бвиры — 

НПС/НА. Более того, несколько офицеров фракции Бвиры перешли на сторону 

фракции Гидона: это сделал, в частности, Тондез  с 25 бойцами в апреле 

2021 года (см. приложение 35)36. 

 

  Последствия для гражданского населения 
 

52. Нападения одной стороны на другую, совершающиеся по принципу «око 

за око», привели к еще большему ухудшению безопасности и гуманитарной си-

туации на территориях Масиси, Рутшуру, южной части Луберо и Валикале и к 

убийствам и перемещению гражданских лиц, регулярно попадающих под пере-

крестный огонь и подвергающихся репрессиям. Гражданские лица также стано-

вились жертвами запугивания за предполагаемое сотрудничество с противопо-

ложной стороной и других актов насилия, таких как произвольные аресты и вы-

могательства, со стороны всех субъектов37. 

53. Как сообщалось ранее 38 , несколько вооруженных групп в этом районе, 

включая обе фракции НОК (в) и КДП/СНО, продолжали использовать детей в 

качестве носильщиков тяжелого и легкого оружия и комбатантов (см. приложе-

ние 36), что влечет за собой применение санкций согласно пункту 7 d) резолю-

ции 2293 (2016) Совета Безопасности, и это было подтверждено в резолю-

ции 2528 (2020) Совета. 

  

__________________ 

 34 Согласно информации, полученной от лидеров фракции Гидона и лиц, близких к этой 

группе, представителей гражданского общества, национальных и местных властей, 

исследователей, ВСДРК, Организации Объединенных Наций и дипломатических 

работников. 

 35 Согласно информации, полученной от фракций Бвиры и Гидона, лидеров, комбатантов и 

бывших комбатантов КДП/СНО и ДСОР, близких к этим группам людей, представителей 

гражданского общества, национальных и местных властей, ВСДРК, Организации 

Объединенных Наций и дипломатических работников. 

 36 Согласно информации, полученной от одного из комбатантов фракции Бвиры, 

представителей гражданского общества, исследователей и сотрудников МООНСДРК.  

 37 Согласно информации, полученной от представителей гражданского общества, 

национальных и местных властей, исследователей, представителей Организации 

Объединенных Наций и лидеров/(бывших) комбатантов большинства групп в этом районе, 

обвиняющих друг друга в совершении этих актов. 

 38 См. S/2015/19, пп. 118–130; S/2018/531, п. 79; S/2020/482, приложение 66. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2015/19
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
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  Прииски Матунгу 
 

54. С октября 2020 года по крайней мере до начала февраля 2021 года фракция 

Бвиры во взаимодействии с военнослужащими 3404-го полка ВСДРК, участво-

вавшими в операции «Сокола II» (см. пункт 49), взяла под контроль Матунгу, 

важный золотой прииск на территории Валикале (см. приложение 37). Этот при-

иск, на котором работает не менее 2500 кустарных землекопов 39, ранее находи-

лась под контролем Гидона (см. S/2020/1283, п. 28). Конголезские горнодобыва-

ющие предприятия зафиксировали присутствие членов ВСДРК в Матунгу и 

НОК (в) (фракция не уточняется) на 22 других золотых приисках Валикале 

(см. приложение 38). Золото, добытое в Валикале, продавалось в Руанде 

(направлялось туда через Букаву) и в Уганде (см. приложение 39). Конголезский 

горный кодекс и военные правила запрещают присутствие ВСДРК на местах до-

бычи полезных ископаемых. 

55. Гидону не удалось вернуть Матунгу под свой контроль во время столкно-

вений с ВСДРК в начале 2021 года. До этого, в октябре 2020 года, Гидон угрожал 

торговцам Матунгу, пытаясь перекрыть жизненно необходимые им поставки и 

подавить их деятельность в этом районе40.  

56. Группа расследовала сообщение о нападении 29 октября 2020 года на тор-

говцев, которые шли в Матунгу (см. приложение 40); фракции Бвиры и Гидона 

использовали это нападение, чтобы очернить репутацию друг друга. К моменту 

подготовки настоящего доклада Группа не смогла сделать вывод о том, какая 

сторона совершила нападение. 

 

 

 E. Участие вооруженных групп в добыче и контрабанде олова, 

тантала и вольфрама  
 

 

57. Продолжалась незаконная деятельность по добыче олова, тантала и воль-

фрама, что также мешало полноценному использованию механизмов отслежи-

вания и надлежащей проверки цепочки поставок, внедренных в Северном и Юж-

ном Киву.  

58. Хотя участие вооруженных групп в добыче олова, тантала и вольфрама по-

степенно сокращается, Группа зафиксировала вооруженную активность на не-

которых приисках, охваченных системами проявления должной предусмотри-

тельности, а также случаи мошенничества и трансграничной контрабанды не-

маркированного олова и тантала, о чем Группа сообщает с 2012 года (см. при-

ложение 41).  

 

  События в Рубайе 
 

59. После участившихся в отчетный период вооруженных столкновений 

Группа провела расследование событий на колтановых приисках вокруг города 

Рубайя, территория Масиси. На колтан, производимый в районе Рубайи, прихо-

дится, возможно, не менее 15 процентов от мирового объема первичного пред-

ложения этого металла41. Добыча колтана в Рубайе, который в прошлом был ис-

точником финансирования конфликтов во время войн в стране (см. S/2009/603, 

__________________ 

 39 По словам двух очевидцев и представителей Организации Объединенных Наций. 

 40 Согласно двум жителям Валикале и местному отчету о нападении за 28 октября — 

3 ноября. 

 41 По мнению четырех отраслевых аналитиков. Согласно исследованию 2021 года, на колтан, 

производившийся в Демократической Республике Конго и Руанде в период до 2019 года, 

приходилось в совокупности примерно 44 процента мировых поставок этого металла. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2009/603
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пп. 175, 215 и 230), давно является причиной напряженных споров по поводу 

земельных ресурсов (см. приложение 42).  

60. Группа опросила 61 человека, которые работают на колтановых приисках 

Масиси или иным образом связаны с ними, включая землекопов, представителей 

власти, торговцев, бывших комбатантов, жителей, военнослужащих ВСДРК, со-

трудников полиции и представителей Организации Объединенных Наций, а 

также ознакомилась с 67 документами и 39 видеоматериалами. 

 

  Вооруженные столкновения, распространение оружия и акты насилия 
 

61. На колтановых приисках, расположенных на концессии PE4731, принадле-

жащей горному предприятию «Сосьете миньер де Бисунзу» (СМБ) 

(см. S/2020/1283, п. 44; и S/2020/482, пп. 102 и 103), которое использует меха-

низм отслеживания источников ответственной добычи полезных ископаемых 

под названием “Better Mining”42, в течение 2020 года произошло более семи во-

оруженных столкновений между сотрудниками полиции по контролю горнодо-

бывающего и нефтегазодобывающего секторов (ПГН), размещенными на кон-

цессии PE4731, и вооруженными лицами, включая членов Кооператива старате-

лей-кустарей Масиси (КООПЕРАММА). КООПЕРАММА является членом Меж-

дународной инициативы в отношении цепи снабжения оловом Международной 

ассоциации по олову43 (см. S/2020/482, п. 93, и приложение 48).  

62. Тринадцать землекопов, два торговца и шесть представителей власти рас-

сказали, как ПГН и вооруженные лица, включая членов КООПЕРАММА, стре-

ляли в воздух и вели перекрестный огонь на протяжении 2020 года на приисках, 

включая Руказу/Лувово (также турмалиновый прииск, см. приложение 43) и 

Гакомбе на концессии PE473144. Девять очевидцев видели во время столкнове-

ний члена КООПЕРАММА Шамамбу Баругаруке Еноха среди нападавших. 

63. Одиннадцать очевидцев рассказали, как в конце 2019 года и в середине 

2020 года члены КООПЕРАММА Шамамба и Гаханга раздавали мачете и авто-

маты типа АК землекопам в Гакомбе и Руказе/Лувово для использования в этих 

столкновениях (см. приложение 44, где, в частности, приведены ответы отдель-

ных лиц и компаний).  

64. По словам семи очевидцев, член национального парламента Джастин 

Ндайишимийе, бывший член КООПЕРАММА, и Роберт Сенинга, бывший пред-

седатель КООПЕРАММА, член провинциального парламента и глава провинци-

альной ассамблеи Северного Киву (см. S/2011/345, приложение 5), присутство-

вали в Рубайе и знали по крайней мере об одной раздаче мачете и автоматов, 

имевшей место примерно в мае 2020 года. Сенинга был членом включенной в 

санкционный перечень организации «Ту пур ля пэ э пур ле девелопман» 

(CDe.008). Ответ Сенинги приведен в приложении 44. К моменту составления 

настоящего доклада Ндайишимийе не представил своего ответа. 

65. В то же время сотрудники ПГН, размещенные на концессии PE4731, совер-

шали насильственные действия в отношении землекопов (см. S/2020/1283, 

п. 44). Девять человек рассказали о том, как сотрудники ПГН их избивали и/или 

содержали в «тюрьме» или подземных камерах на концессии PE4731, или о том, 

__________________ 

 42 Ранее называлась Программой по более эффективному отслеживанию источников 

(см. S/2020/482, пп. 93, 102 и 103). “Better Mining” — это название механизма 

гарантирования ответственной добычи полезных ископаемых, разработанного компанией 

“RCS Global”.  

 43 См. www.itsci.org/.  

 44 Согласно показаниям семи свидетелей, официальной переписке и фотодоказательствам.  

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2011/345
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
http://www.itsci.org/
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что они были свидетелями таких избиений. Группа подтвердила два случая 

смерти (см. приложение 45). 

66. В ноябре 2020 года вооруженные лица, которые, по словам четырех оче-

видцев, были сотрудниками ПГН, подожгли около 20 небольших магазинов и 

жилых домов в Ква-Рутивумбуре, недалеко от прииска в Лувово. Предприятие 

«Сосьете миньер де Бисунзу» отрицало свою ответственность за действия со-

трудников ПГН и оспорило информацию об этих событиях (см. приложение 46, 

включая ответ «Сосьете миньер де Бисунзу»).  

 

  Межконцессионные махинации с минеральными ресурсами 
 

67. Концессия PE4731 и концессия PE76, принадлежащие Золотодобывающей 

компании Киву и Маниемы (САКИМА СА), продолжали осуществлять межкон-

цессионные махинации с минеральными ресурсами, несмотря на усовершен-

ствованные процедуры маркировки минеральных ресурсов, предложенные в 

рамках Международной инициативы в отношении цепи снабжения оловом 

(см. S/2020/482, п. 97).  

68. Тринадцать землекопов с участков Мулулу, Бихула, Ньягисеньи и Мутанга 

на концессии PE76 рассказали о своей собственной деятельности по торговле 

колтаном на концессии PE4731, деятельности сетей женщин и некоторых членов 

КООПЕРАММА (см. приложение 47)45. 

69. Группа проанализировала официальные уровни добычи колтана на участ-

ках PE76 и отметила, что зарегистрированные объемы добычи были высокими 

по сравнению с наблюдаемой горнодобывающей деятельностью на многих 

участках, включая Ньягисеньи, Мулулу, Бихулу и Бирамбо (см. приложение 48). 

Группа отметила, что межконцессионные махинации могут означать, что мине-

ральные ресурсы, являющиеся причиной вооруженных столкновений и актов 

насилия на концессии PE4731, попали в цепочки поставок концессии PE76, что 

представляет собой риск для любой цепочки поставок. В этой связи Группа про-

анализировала имеющиеся в открытом доступе отчеты о комплексной проверке 

цепочек поставок за 2020 год по компаниям, закупающим колтан на концессии 

PE76, а именно по Кооперативу старателей-кустарей Конго (КСКК) и компании 

«СОГЕКОМ Сарль».  

70. Группа также установила, что Кристоф Хубер (см. S/2009/603, пп. 175–177, 

214 и 215, и приложения 78, 79, 81 и 85) и Джон Кроули работали с КСКК в 

2020 году (см. S/2009/603, пп. 176, 177, 214 и 215)46 и направляли им сообщения 

об их действиях по обеспечению должной предусмотрительности в отношении 

цепочек поставок колтана из Рубайи. Хубер отрицал, что он сотрудничает с 

КСКК, а КСКК заявил, что Хубер не финансировал КСКК и не поддерживал ни-

каких управленческих или организационных связей с Кооперативом. К моменту 

подготовки настоящего доклада Кроули не представил своего ответа. Наконец, 

Группа проанализировала отчеты международных компаний, которые торговали 

колтаном с месторождения Рубайи в 2020 году, об их действиях по обеспечению 

должной предусмотрительности. Полные ответы и анализ содержатся в прило-

жении 49.  

71. Группа отмечает, что все стороны, покупающие минеральные ресурсы, тор-

гующие ими или финансирующие их добычу в зонах конфликта и зонах повы-

шенного риска, обязаны проверять информацию о проявлении должной 

__________________ 

 45 Также подтверждено тремя провинциальными и двумя национальными органами власти и 

двумя представителями гражданского общества. 

 46 По словам четырех торговцев и трех лиц, непосредственно осведомленных об этом 

вопросе. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2009/603
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2009/603
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предусмотрительности в отношении цепочки поставок и принимать соответ-

ствующие меры для снижения рисков. Несмотря на достигнутый в целом про-

гресс, повторяющиеся события в Рубайе вызвали обеспокоенность по поводу 

эффективности и тщательности усилий правительства и мер по снижению рис-

ков, принимаемых компаниями, осуществляющими поставки из этого района. 

Группа подчеркивает, что от реакции рынка зависит обеспечение средствами к 

существованию тысяч старателей и что уход с оптового рынка для решения этой 

проблемы не является ответственным решением и не приведет к стабилизации 

обстановки. Для решения основных земельных вопросов, в частности в Рубайе, 

также необходимо возобновить прозрачный диалог при посредничестве 

нейтральной стороны и с участием всех сторон. 

 

  Другие случаи нарушения цепочки поставок и контрабанды ресурсов 
 

72. Группа задокументировала несколько случаев мошеннических попыток от-

править в 2020 году немаркированный колтан и касситерит с рудников на терри-

тории Масиси в Гому и установила, что, как правило, грузовики перевозили раз 

в две недели47 от 10 до 30 мешков весом около 10 кг каждый для удобства со-

крытия (см. S/2019/469, п. 149), следуя ранее сообщенным маршрутам 

(см. S/2019/469, пп. 151 и 152). Контрабандист колтана, арестованный в декабре 

2020 года в Саке в 30 км от Гомы с 9,4 кг немаркированного колтана из Рубайи 

(см. приложение 50), был участником этой контрабандной сети.  

73. Немаркированное минеральное сырье перевозилось также из Северного 

Киву в Южное Киву для экспорта. Некоторые торговцы из Северного Киву, 

включая тех, кто покупает сырье в окрестностях Ньябиондо и Рубайи, предпо-

читали продавать немаркированный колтан в Южном Киву, где, по их мнению, 

было проще совершать неформальные продажи, а цены за килограмм были 

выше48. То же самое рассказали четыре торговца из Калунгу, территория Калехе, 

Южное Киву (см. S/2019/469, п. 151), которые покупали немаркированный кол-

тан на территории Масиси (см. приложение 51). Они показали Группе семь меш-

ков немаркированного касситерита и четыре мешка вольфрамита, ожидающих 

продажи, причем каждый весом от 15 до 20 кг, с рудников Нумби, территория 

Калехе (см. приложение 52).  

74. Продолжалась трансграничная контрабанда немаркированного тантала и 

олова в Руанду. Три владельца импровизированных складов на окраинах в Гоме, 

Минове и Калунгу (см. S/2019/469, п. 152) сообщили Группе, что их основными 

покупателями колтана и касситерита были торговцы из Гомы, которые прода-

вали металл в Руанде. Два должностных лица горнодобывающих предприятий 

Северного Киву и один представитель системы правосудия рассказали, как 

трансграничные контрабандисты использовали тайники в грузовиках, которые 

перехватывались на границе Гома –– Рубаву. В качестве наглядного примера 

можно привести случай, произошедший в марте 2021 года с грузовиком, загру-

женным 24 мешками колтана. Озеро Киву по-прежнему использовалось для кон-

трабанды сырья в Руанду (см. S/2019/469, п. 159), о чем говорили три человека, 

занимавшихся контрабандой олова, тантала и вольфрама с территории Калехе в 

Руанду (см. приложение 53). Представитель руандийских органов власти заявил, 

что в период с ноября 2020 года по апрель 2021 года не было выявлено ни одного 

__________________ 

 47 По данным четырех незарегистрированных торговцев и трех водителей грузовиков, 

курировавших между Гомой и Масиси. 

 48 Согласно информации, полученной от четырех должностных лиц горнодобывающих 

ведомств Северного и Южного Киву, сотрудников Национальной комиссии по борьбе с  

мошенничеством в горнодобывающем секторе (НКБМГ) и Службы помощи и содействия 

кустарным и мелким горнодобывающим предприятиям (САЕМАПЕ), а также сотрудника 

Национального агентства научных исследований (НАН).  

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
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случая контрабанды минеральных ресурсов, связанных с Демократической Рес-

публикой Конго. 

 

 

 F. Нападения из засады, похищения и убийства сотрудников 

дипломатических представительств и Всемирной 

продовольственной программы 
 

 

75. Утром 22 февраля 2021 года автоколонна Всемирной продовольственной 

программы (ВПП) в составе двух автомобилей и семи человек, включая посла 

Италии в Демократической Республике Конго, попала в засаду, устроенную се-

мью нападавшими, некоторые из которых были одеты в военную форму, а пятеро 

имели при себе автоматы типа АК, в месте, известном как “Trois Antennes”, на 

дороге Гома –– Кибумба (RN2) (см. приложение 54). Один из конголезских во-

дителей ВПП был немедленно казнен, а остальные шесть человек были вынуж-

дены последовать за нападавшими в заросли Национального парка Вирунга 49, 

где их ждала вторая группа вооруженных боевиков. Вскоре после этого вторая 

группа напала на восемь специалистов по охране природы КИОП, которые охра-

няли работы по строительству линии электропередач, после чего началась пере-

стрелка. Во время перестрелки посол Италии и его итальянский телохранитель 

были застрелены нападавшим из первой группы. Телохранитель скончался 

мгновенно, а посол умер по дороге в больницу.  

76. В день нападения правительство Демократической Республики Конго 

опубликовало коммюнике, возложив ответственность за нападения на ДСОР 

(см. приложение 55). Это заявление было сразу опровергнуто ДСОР и КДП. 

Группа провела расследование на месте в Кибумбе и побеседовала с 42 лицами, 

включая очевидцев, арестованных, представителей местных властей, диплома-

тических работников, представителей КИОП, ВСДРК, КДП/СНО и ДСОР, а 

также проанализировала видеозаписи, фотографические и документальные сви-

детельства. Однако установить личность тех, кто виновен в совершении этих 

нападений, Группе не удалось. Национальные и международные расследования 

продолжаются.  

 

 

 G. Нападения на специалистов по охране природы Конголезского 

института охраны природы в целях захвата оружия 
 

 

77. В 2020 и 2021 годах в Северном Киву, особенно вдоль оси Гома –– Бени 

(RN2), вооруженные группы часто совершали нападения на специалистов по 

охране природы КИОП, иногда со смертельным исходом. В 2020 году во время 

трех смертоносных нападений в Северном Киву были убиты 15 специалистов по 

охране природы КИОП и украдено 15 единиц обычного оружия (см. приложе-

ние 56).  

78. 10 января 2021 года семь специалистов по охране природы КИОП, осу-

ществлявших регулярное пешее патрулирование в Кабухендо, район Ньями-

лима, территория Рутшуру, попали в засаду и шесть из них были убиты (см.  при-

ложение 57). Нападавшие похитили пять автоматов типа АК и один пулемет 

ПКМ, которые позднее были провокационно засняты на камеру и показаны воз-

душным патрулям КИОП (см. приложение 58).  

__________________ 

 49 Двое из семи похищенных, один конголезец и один итальянец, находившиеся рядом с 

машинами и в зарослях, почти сразу были освобождены.  
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79. Три дня спустя, 13 января 2021 года, раненый мужчина, арестованный спе-

циалистами по охране природы КИОП, сообщил Группе, что он входил в группу 

«майи-майи» под командованием Кадиманче, подчинявшемуся непосред-

ственно лидеру «майи-майи» Палуку Мухукамбуто Джексону (см. S/2018/531, 

пп. 102 и 103; S/2017/1091, пп. 38–45) 50 . По словам мужчины, 10 января 

2021 года около 30 боевиков из группы Кадиманче, имевшие при себе оружие, 

включая 10 автоматов типа АК и два пулемета ПКМ, некоторые из которых были 

украдены у специалистов по охране природы КИОП, пытались разрушить уста-

новленное КИОП электрическое ограждение в Ньямилиме. Это подтвердили 

представители КИОП, ВСДРК и судебных органов (см. приложение 59).  

 

 

 III. Итури 
 

 

 A. Фракции Ассоциации развития Конго — КОДЕКО 
 

 

80. Выводы, приведенные в данном разделе, основаны на беседах со 170 пред-

ставителями различных сообществ, включая свидетелей, жертв, представителей 

провинциальных и местных органов власти и горнодобывающих предприятий, 

представителей неправительственных организаций (НПО) и гражданского об-

щества, лидеров/комбатантов Союза революционеров в защиту конголезского 

народа/Ассоциации развития Конго (СРЗКН/КОДЕКО), Сил сопротивления раз-

делению Конго (ССРК), Армии революционеров в защиту конголезского 

народа/КОДЕКО (АСЗКН/КОДЕКО), представителей частного сектора, землеко-

пов, представителей ВСДРК, Национального разведывательного управления 

(НРУ), Конголезской национальной полиции (КНП) и Организации Объединен-

ных Наций, а также на наблюдениях Группы, видеозаписях и фотографических 

и документальных свидетельствах. 

 

  Отсутствие прогресса в процессе разоружения, демобилизации 

и реинтеграции и последствия этого 
 

81. Со времени предыдущего отчетного периода и несмотря на возвращение 

делегации, назначенной президентом Чисекеди (см. S/2020/1283, приложе-

ние 21), в Киншасу для проведения консультаций в конце января 2021 года, был 

достигнут незначительный прогресс в процессе разоружения, демобилизации и 

реинтеграции фракций КОДЕКО, составляющих большинство народности 

ленду. Поскольку не было достигнуто никакого четкого прогресса в удовлетво-

рении требований шести фракций, подписавших односторонние соглашения о 

прекращении огня (см. приложения 60 и 61), они по-прежнему создают угрозу 

для гражданского населения всех общин. С февраля 2021 года ситуация в плане 

безопасности и гуманитарная обстановка на территории Джугу постепенно 

обострялись и рискуют ухудшаться и дальше, если не будет начат надлежащий 

процесс разоружения, демобилизации и реинтеграции.  

82. По крайней мере четыре из этих фракций — СРЗКН/КОДЕКО (см. прило-

жение 62), АРЗКН/КОДЕКО (см. приложение 63), Армия освобождения Конго/ 

КОДЕКО (АОК/КОДЕКО) и ССРК — продолжали вымогать деньги у граждан-

ского населения, в том числе посредством увеличения принудительного налого-

обложения на дорогах и рынках, навязывания принудительных взносов, приме-

нения параллельной системы правосудия и грабежей (см. приложение 64; 

см. S/2020/1283, приложение 21; и S/2019/274, п. 91, и приложение 32), и 

__________________ 

 50 Согласно одному комбатанту «майи-майи», документам полиции, представителям и 

документам КИОП, представителям МООНСДРК и пресс-коммюнике Национального 

парка Вирунга. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2017/1091
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/274
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заниматься незаконной добычей золота, в результате чего, в частности, 16–

20 февраля 2021 года было убито множество людей в богатом золотом районе 

Монгбвалу, Баньяли-Кило (см. приложение 65; и пп. 95–99)51. 

83. Продолжающаяся борьба между фракциями КОДЕКО за власть и ресурсы 

и последующие столкновения привели к разрушению домов и медицинских цен-

тров, грабежам, убийствам и перемещению населения, особенно в начале де-

кабря 2020 года, когда СРЗКН/КОДЕКО вытеснили АРЗКН/КОДЕКО из их 

штаба в Але, Валенду-Питси, и в январе 2021 года, когда ССРК вытеснили фрак-

цию «Бон темпл» из ее штаба в Ньянгарае, Валенду-Джатси (см. приложе-

ние 66)52.  

 

  Сексуальное насилие в связи с конфликтом 
 

84. Несмотря на то, что на протяжении 2020 и 2021 годов комбатантами фрак-

ций КОДЕКО было совершено множество актов связанного с конфликтом сек-

суального насилия, практически все они остались безнаказанными. Как пра-

вило, женщины и девочки подвергались изнасилованию или групповому изна-

силованию тогда, когда они выполняли повседневную работу, либо спасались 

бегством от нападения, либо под угрозой насилия переносили имущество, 

награбленное нападавшими (см. приложение 67, где содержится дополнитель-

ная информация о случаях изнасилования)53.  

85. В частности, в Баньяли-Кило, где находится множество золотых приисков, 

комбатанты группы «Бон темпл» под руководством Туво (см. приложение 68) 

совершали такие преступления, как групповое изнасилование, принуждение к 

браку и обращение в сексуальное рабство (см. приложение 69; и S/2020/1283, 

п. 48). Во время жестоких нападений, которые были совершены по отдельности 

на Бузензеле и Лисейи (см. S/2020/1283, приложение 33) в период с апреля по 

август 2020 года и в ходе которых было убито множество мирных жителей, ком-

батанты группы «Бон темпл» похитили девять женщин и одну 12-летнюю де-

вочку, включая шесть лиц народности ньяли и одно лицо народности ленду. Они 

совершили групповое изнасилование четырех из них в то время, когда женщины 

перевозили награбленное имущество, либо по прибытии женщин в опорные 

пункты группы «Бон темпл» в Ньянгарае или Нгото. Двух заставили находиться 

в браке с комбатантами в течение нескольких месяцев. Одну женщину шесть 

комбатантов насиловали в течение двух недель, что она описала как пытку. Еще 

семь комбатантов, изнасиловавших женщину народности ленду, заявили, что из-

насиловали ее в наказание за то, что у нее был муж народности хима54 . Две 

жертвы рассказали, что в Ньянгарае женщины из племен хима и мубира, кото-

рые были также похищены, были изнасилованы и насильственно выданы за-

муж55.  

__________________ 

 51 Согласно показаниям очевидцев, местных жителей, представителей местных властей, 

лидеров/комбатантов ССРК, СРЗКН/КОДЕКО и АРЗКН/КОДЕКО, одного из журналистов, 

представителей гражданского общества, КНП, ВСДРК, Организации Объединенных Наций 

и НРУ, а также согласно фотодоказательствам, видеозаписи и наблюдениям Группы. 

 52 Согласно информации, полученной от лидеров/комбатантов ССРК, СРЗКН/КОДЕКО и 

АРЗКН/КОДЕКО, местных властей, НПО, НРУ и Организации Объединенных Наций, и 

согласно фотодоказательствам и наблюдениям Группы.  

 53 Согласно показаниям 13 жертв изнасилования, медицинского персонала, НПО, одной из 

организаций гражданского общества и представителей НРУ. 

 54 Комбатанты ранее убили ее мужа и двух ее детей в возрасте двух и четырех лет.  

 55 Согласно показаниям четырех жертв изнасилования, представителей провинциальных и 

местных властей, представителей НПО и НРУ и согласно фотодоказательствам и 

документальным свидетельствам. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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86. В мае 2020 года комбатанты группы «Бон темпл» похитили 13-летнюю де-

вочку народности хема в то время, когда она шла за водой недалеко от Итендейи, 

Баньяли-Кило. Они подвергли ее групповому изнасилованию не менее 10 раз, а 

затем использовали ее в качестве домашней прислуги в течение нескольких ме-

сяцев, поскольку слишком серьезные травмы, полученные ею в результате груп-

повых изнасилований, не позволили им продолжать ее насиловать. В октябре 

или ноябре 2020 года восемь комбатантов «Генерала Туво» устроили засаду на 

двух молодых женщин народности хима, собиравших дрова на холме Дии, сек-

тор Валенду-Джатси. Одна из них была изнасилована тремя комбатантами и 

впоследствии убита вместе с ее ребенком. Другая была изнасилована двумя ком-

батантами, но ей удалось убежать. Ранее в том же районе были изнасилованы и 

другие женщины56. 

 

  Убийства гражданских лиц, в том числе детей 
 

87. Хотя после заключения односторонних соглашений о прекращении огня 

число смертоносных нападений на гражданских лиц сократилось 

(см. S/2020/1283, п. 47), 30 ноября 2020 года в ходе особенно жестокого нападе-

ния пять комбатантов КОДЕКО убили или покалечили мачете четырех женщин 

и шестерых детей в возрасте до 10 лет, причем все них народности хима, в де-

ревнях Тса, Мебле-Мбеле и Бандо недалеко от Буле, Бахема-Баджере. У одной 

женщины распороли живот и удалили плод, а другой отрубили руки. Еще два 

ребенка получили ранения. Свидетели рассказали, что нападавшие пришли из 

расположения группы Гокпы, Валенду-Джатси, и затем вернулись туда; там 

находится позиция СРЗКН/КОДЕКО57. 

88. Комбатанты АОК/КОДЕКО, возглавляемые Джастином Маки Гези по про-

звищу «Горный волчёнок» (см. S/2020/1283, п. 50, и приложение 21), убили че-

тырех гражданских лиц из племени ленду — трех мужчин и одну женщину — в 

сентябре или октябре 2020 года недалеко от Эзекере, Валенду-Татси. Совершая 

убийства, комбатанты обвиняли своих жертв в том, что они были ведьмами и 

предали их, перейдя на сторону ВСДРК58.  

89. Эти акты сексуального насилия и убийства подлежат санкциям в соответ-

ствии пунктом 7 e) резолюции 2293 (2016) Совета Безопасности, что было затем 

подтверждено Советом в его резолюции 2528 (2020). 

 

  Оружие 
 

90. Комбатанты АРЗКН/КОДЕКО, СРЗКН/КОДЕКО, АОК/КОДЕКО и группы 

«Бон темпл» совершали нападения, используя мачете, луки и стрелы, пулеметы, 

автоматы типа АК, гранатометы РПГ-7 и неуправляемые ракеты, и некоторые из 

них были одеты в военную форму. И оружие, и форма были похожи на те, кото-

рыми пользуются ВСДРК (см. S/2020/1283, приложение 28; S/2019/974, пп. 75 

и 83). Члены президентской делегации, командиры ВСДРК, бывшие комба-

танты, местные лидеры, представители гражданского общества и МООНСДРК 

отметили, что фракции КОДЕКО стали чаще использовать эти обычные виды 

оружия, открыто нося его в населенных пунктах (см. приложение 70; и 

S/2020/1283, приложение 21).  

__________________ 

 56 Согласно информации, полученной от жертвы, местного органа власти, НПО и 

представителей НРУ. 

 57 Согласно информации, полученной от семи очевидцев, местного органа власти, 

представителей гражданского общества, НПО и Организации Объединенных Наций, а 

также согласно фотодоказательствам. 

 58 По словам очевидцев и представителя местного органа власти.  

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/974
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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91. Большая часть военного имущества фракций КОДЕКО была получена в ре-

зультате нападений на базы и солдат ВСДРК 59 . Военнослужащие ВСДРК в 

Итури сообщили Группе, что в 2020 году были убиты 172 военнослужащих 

ВСДРК и что в ходе нападений, в основном совершавшихся группами КОДЕКО, 

были захвачены 130 автоматов типа АК, семь гранатометов РПГ-7, семь пулеме-

тов ПКМ, пять тяжелых пулеметов калибра 12,7 мм, один миномет и одна 

107-мм многоствольная реактивная система залпового огня типа 63. Нынешнее 

количество единиц награбленного оружия, скорее всего, выше, поскольку эти 

цифры не включают оружие, захваченное в ходе нападения на 31-ю бригаду. В 

первые месяцы 2021 года возобновились нападения КОДЕКО на ВСДРК 

(см. приложение 70).  

92. Фракциям КОДЕКО удалось захватить несколько позиций ВСДРК. После 

того как 8 мая 2020 года СРЗКН/КОДЕКО напали на ВСДРК в Ритси, Валенду-

Джатси, когда были захвачены 105 автоматов типа АК, пять пулеметов ПКМ, три 

РПГ-7, миномет и 107-мм ракетная пусковая установка и боеприпасы, они даже 

заявили, что скоро в их руки попадут вертолеты (см. приложение 71). В теле-

фонном разговоре с Группой экспертов представитель СРЗКН/КОДЕКО под-

твердил причастность своей группы к этому нападению. Однако Группа устано-

вила, что во время нападения 8 мая оружие ВСДРК было захвачено боевиками 

«Бон темпл», связанными с СРЗКН/КОДЕКО (см. приложение 72).  

93. Еще одним источником оружия для фракций КОДЕКО стали незаконные 

сделки с некоторыми солдатами и командирами ВСДРК, жаждущими наживы 60. 

В 2020 и 2021 годах за участие в такой торговле были арестованы несколько 

военнослужащих ВСДРК и гражданских лиц, четверо из которых были опро-

шены Группой. Две женщины, арестованные в 2020 году за незаконную пере-

дачу военного имущества, рассказали об особой роли некоторых женщин, со-

трудничающих с КОДЕКО, в контрабанде боеприпасов, в частности в деле о пе-

редаче боеприпасов некоторыми военнослужащими 112-го батальона ВСДРК, 

базирующегося в Пимбо, территория Джугу (см. приложение 73).  

94. В феврале 2021 года два вооруженных гражданина Южного Судана и граж-

данин ДРК были арестованы за хранение боеприпасов в Махаги и Кенгези, тер-

ритория Ару (см. приложение 74).  

 

  Золото 
 

95. В 2020 и 2021 годах комбатанты СРЗКН/КОДЕКО, «Бон темпл» и ССРК 

нападали на золотые прииски и захватывали их и грабили центры торговли зо-

лотом на территории западного Джугу в Баньяли-Кило и Валенду-Джатси, а 

также к западу от Ига-Баррьере (Бахема-Норд), включая холм Дии (см. пп. 85 

и 86). С середины 2020 года комбатанты СРЗКН/КОДЕКО и ССРК вели раскопки 

на золотых приисках вокруг Монгбвалу, одного из важнейших центров золото-

добычи на территории Джугу. Золото из Монгбвалу, добываемое кустарным спо-

собом в объеме примерно 50 кг еженедельно 61, ранее служило значительным ис-

точником финансирования конфликтов во время войн в Итури (см. S/2005/30, 

пп. 117, 127–134). 

__________________ 

 59 Согласно информации, полученной от двух командиров КОДЕКО, сообщников КОДЕКО, 

местных властей и представителей гражданского общества и ВСДРК. 

 60 Согласно информации, полученной от командиров КОДЕКО, официальных должностных 

лиц ВСДРК и разведки, представителей гражданского общества, исследователей и 

арестованных торговцев. 

 61 Согласно информации, полученной от трех чиновников горнодобывающих ведомств и 

двух местных аналитиков. В оценки включена информация по Монгбвалу и близлежащим 

приискам. 
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96. В период примерно с июня 2020 года по январь 2021 года до 5000 комба-

тантов КОДЕКО, многие из которых ранее были старателями, стали постепенно 

прибывать в бывший квартал Киломото, Сайо62 (см. S/2005/30, п. 131). Многие 

начали вести раскопки на приисках Монгбвалу. Примерно с января 2021 года до 

2000 человек, большинство из которых были комбатантами СРЗКН/КОДЕКО, 

вместе с комбатантами ССРК и гражданскими лицами, заняли участки, принад-

лежащие исключительно компании «Монгбвалу голд майнз» (МГМ), и добывали 

золото до середины февраля 2021 года63 вместе с некоторыми членами ВСДРК и 

ПГН (см. приложение 75, включая ответ компании «Монгбвалу голд майнз»).  

97. Комбатанты СРЗКН/КОДЕКО требовали уплаты налогов с торговцев золо-

том в окрестностях Монгбвалу, которые также подвергались вооруженным напа-

дениям (см. приложение 76; и п. 82). Жители Монгбвалу и торговцы золотом 

заявили, что нападавших бандитов не удалось опознать, но они включали ком-

батантов КОДЕКО и военнослужащих ВСДРК, принадлежащих к 312-му бата-

льону — «Индусскому отряду» подполковника Джозефа Нганзоле Оликвы по 

прозвищу Типи Зиро-Зиро. Группа связалась с Оликвой, но не получила ответа.  

98. В 2020 и 2021 годах бизнесмен и торговец золотом Нделе Бачебандей вме-

сте с другими бизнесменами обеспечивал продовольствием и финансовыми 

средствами комбатантов СРЗКН/КОДЕКО, добывавших золото на участке Кпа-

нгба на холме Маланга 64 , и торговал добытым золотом (см. приложение 77). 

Группа направила письмо Бачебандею, но на момент составления настоящего 

доклада ответа не получила. 

99. Золото, добытое в окрестностях Монгбвалу в этот период, продавалось 

торговцам, в том числе в Ига-Баррьере, Буниа и Кампале, Уганда. Яке Бья-

хуранга в Ига-Баррьере плавил и отливал золото, полученное из Монгбвалу, и 

экспортировал его в Уганду. Золото, полученное из Монгбвалу, покупали также 

Константин Мало Ломбела Нджело (см. S/2020/482, п. 62), Банга Нджело и Эк-

содус Дхена Кондо Аделард (см. S/2020/482, пп. 62 и 113) 65 . Оказание под-

держки физическим или юридическим лицам, включая вооруженные группы 

или преступные сети, участвующим в дестабилизирующей деятельности в Де-

мократической Республике Конго посредством незаконной эксплуатации или 

торговли природными ресурсами, включая золото, влечет за собой применение 

санкций согласно пункту 7 g) резолюции 2293 (2016) Совета Безопасности, что 

было подтверждено в резолюции 2360 (2017) Совета и затем вновь в резолюции 

2528 (2020) Совета. Представитель Банги Нджело отрицал, что золото закупа-

лось в Монгбвалу, и сказал, что Банга закупал золото в окрестностях Далы и 

Мамбасы, а легально продавал только в Дубае. Группа попыталась связаться с 

Бьяхурангой, Ломбелой и Аделардом, но не смогла побеседовать с ними к мо-

менту составления настоящего доклада.  

100. В 2020 году три зарегистрированных золотодобывающих предприятия 

Итури официально экспортировали только 14,213 кг золота. Остановилось стро-

ительство перерабатывающего завода «Экинокс сарль» (см. приложение 78). 

Продолжался крупномасштабный вывоз золота контрабандой из Итури в Уганду, 

а экспорт золота из Уганды в 2019 году вырос на 29 процентов, составив почти 

36 тонн (см. приложение 79). 

__________________ 

 62 По словам семи очевидцев и трех бывших комбатантов СРЗКН/КОДЕКО. 

 63 По словам двух бывших комбатантов СРЗКН/КОДЕКО, трех местных очевидцев и 

представителя местного органа власти. 

 64 Согласно информации, полученной от двух очевидцев, жителей Монгбвалу,  бывшего 

комбатанта СРЗКН/КОДЕКО, торговца золотом, и согласно видеозаписям. 

 65 Согласно информации, полученной от трех торговцев, трех горнодобывающих ведомств и 

четырех лиц, знакомых с этой ситуацией. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2005/30
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2360(2017)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
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 B. Патриотические и интеграционистские силы Конго  
 

 

101. Выводы, сделанные в данном разделе, основаны на интервью с 37 лицами 

из различных общин, включая свидетелей, жертв, местные власти и горнодобы-

вающие предприятия, землекопов, частный сектор, НПО, представителей граж-

данского общества и ВСДРК, НРУ, КНП и МООНСДРК, а также на наблюдениях 

Группы, аудиозаписях и фотодоказательствах и документальных свидетель-

ствах. 

 

  Район операций и использование детей 
 

102. Патриотические и интеграционистские силы Конго (ПИСК), большинство 

в которых составляют бира, продолжали оставаться одной из наиболее активных 

вооруженных групп на территории Ируму (см. S/2020/1283, п. 48, и приложе-

ние 29): с января 2021 года они активизировали вооруженные действия против 

сил безопасности Демократической Республики Конго и гражданского населе-

ния в окрестностях Буниа. Это еще больше обострило ситуацию в жилых райо-

нах Буниа и спровоцировало операции ВСДРК.  

103. Структура ПИСК оставалась неясной. Согласно информации, полученной 

из некоторых источников, одним из основателей этой группы является бывший 

кандидат на президентских выборах 2018 года Раджабхо Табабхо Соборабо, 

член политической партии «Конголезцы за перемены»66. В состав ПИСК вхо-

дили несколько женщин, и они использовали в качестве комбатантов детей в 

возрасте 15 лет и старше67. Информацию об участии ПИСК в золотодобываю-

щей деятельности см. в приложении 80. 

 

  Нападения на гражданское население и акты мести против него 
 

104. С мая 2020 года ПИСК совершили множество смертоносных нападений на 

территории Ируму, направленных против сил безопасности Демократической 

Республики Конго и гражданских лиц, в основном не относящихся к племени 

бира, в частности против хима, что привело к вынужденному перемещению 

населения. 20 октября 2020 года ПИСК напали на город Ируму и подожгли ад-

министративное здание этой территории и полицейский участок. Во время напа-

дения были убиты два офицера КНП, два комбатанта ПИСК, три военнослужа-

щих ВСДРК, две женщины и ребенок. Одна женщина, изнасилованная двумя 

комбатантами, опознала комбатанта ПИСК, который приказал ее изнасиловать68. 

Во время визита Группы в конце января 2021 года в город Ируму он все еще 

оставался практически пустым. Нападению предшествовала серия столкнове-

ний между бира и хима (см. приложение 81). 

105. ПИСК добыли часть своего оружия во время нападений на ВСДРК и КНП, 

в частности в Марабо 4 мая 2020 года и в городе Ируму (см. приложение 71) 69. 

Группа получила противоречивую информацию о предполагаемой коалиции 

между ПИСК и отколовшимися от ПФСИ боевиками, АОК/КОДЕКО и/или 

__________________ 

 66 Согласно информации, полученной от представителя одной НПО, четырех местных 

органов власти, представителей гражданского общества, НРУ и МООНСДРК. Согласно 

информации, полученной из всех источников, Соборабо находится за границей.  

 67 Согласно информации, полученной от двух очевидцев, местного органа власти, 

представителей гражданского общества и НРУ, а также согласно фотодоказательствам.  

 68 По данным очевидцев, четырех местных органов власти, представителей гражданского 

общества и МООНСДРК и согласно официальной документации ДРК. 

 69 По данным одного очевидца, представителей ВСДРК и МООНСДРК и согласно 

официальной документации ДРК. 
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группой «Бон темпл». На данном этапе Группа не может подтвердить точный 

характер возможной коалиции. 

106. Мирные жители из числа бира, не поддерживавшие ПИСК, считались пре-

дателями и подвергались риску мести70. Два представителя бира сообщили, что 

в конце октября 2020 года боевики ПИСК убили представителя гражданского 

общества бира, который осуждал деятельность ПИСК вокруг оси Мвенга-

Нкунда-Валу. Эти представители и третий свидетель получали телефонные 

звонки, текстовые сообщения и/или сообщения через WhatsApp, некоторые из 

которых были показаны Группе и в которых их называли предателями и им угро-

жали убийством. 

 

 

 C. Группа «Заир»  
 

 

107. Выводы, сделанные в данном разделе, основаны на интервью по меньшей 

мере с 70 представителями различных общин, включая свидетелей, жертв, пред-

ставителей местных властей и горнодобывающих предприятий, землекопов, 

представителей частного сектора, НПО, представителей гражданского обще-

ства, лидеров/комбатантов СРЗКН/КОДЕКО и ССРК, одного бывшего члена 

группы «Заир» и представителей ВСДРК, КНП, НРУ и МООНСДРК, а также на 

документальных свидетельствах. 

 

  Районы операций, вооруженные столкновения с фракциями КОДЕКО и 

ПИСК и нападения на гражданское население 
 

108. Группа самообороны «Заир», большинство членов которой составляют 

хима, намеренно старалась не привлекать к себе внимания и держала в тайне 

свою организационную структуру, несмотря на активизацию вооруженной дея-

тельности, включая вымогательства в отношении гражданского населения, на 

территориях Джугу и Ируму (см. S/2020/1283, п. 49, приложения 29 и 30).  

109. В отчетный период группа «Заир» сохраняла опорные пункты в Соте и 

Шари на территории Ируму, а также в Дале, Мбиджо и Дхего на территории 

Джугу, где находится лидер «Заира» Завади 71  (см. приложение 82). Группа 

«Заир» перекрыла доступ в эти районы мирным жителям ленду и бира, которые 

не могли пойти туда, не подвергая свою жизнь опасности72. Например, мужчина 

народности бира и его сын бежали из Далы после того, комбатанты «Заира» 

убили его работника ленду и угрожали убить его самого вместе с сыном. Группа 

«Заир» продолжала проверять этническую принадлежность людей и взимать 

налоги на дорожных заставах73. Два очевидца сообщили о ночных вооруженных 

патрулях «Заира» в Ига-Баррьере и Низи на территории Джугу в 2020 году. Ком-

батанты «Заира» носили с собой мачете и все чаще — автоматы типа АК.  

  

__________________ 

 70 Согласно информации, полученной от трех местных органов власти и представителей 

гражданского общества.  

 71 Согласно информации, полученной от бывшего члена «Заира», одного местного жителя, 

представителя одной НПО, одного горнодобывающего ведомства, а также согласно 

документам НРУ и военной разведки. 

 72 Согласно информации, полученной от одной жертвы, двух местных органов власти, 

представителей гражданского общества, одного местного жителя, журналиста, одного 

бывшего члена «Заира», НРУ и МООНСДРК. 

 73 Согласно информации, полученной от трех местных жителей, четырех местных органов 

власти, представителя одной НПО, представителей гражданского общества, одного 

комбатанта ССРК, одного бывшего члена «Заира», НРУ и МООНСДРК. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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110. Группа «Заир» участвовала в вооруженных столкновениях с фракциями 

КОДЕКО и ПИСК. Согласно информации, полученной от одного бывшего члена 

«Заира», НРУ и МООНСДРК, 15 и 16 марта 2021 года «Заир» и СРЗКН/КОДЕКО 

вели ожесточенные бои в Тчеле на территории Джугу, в которых также участво-

вали ВСДРК74 и которые привели к перемещению населения и гибели девяти 

гражданских лиц. Один из представителей хима также сообщил, что группа 

«Заир» прибыла из Соты, чтобы бороться против ПИСК во время нападения на 

город Ируму 20 октября 2020 года (см. пп. 104 и 105). Согласно информации, 

полученной из одного источника НРУ и от одного местного органа власти, 

группа «Заир» стала нападать на ВСДРК и КНП. Согласно информации, полу-

ченной из шести источников, группа «Заир» нападала на мирных жителей бира 

и ленду75. 

 

  Золото 
 

111. В отчетный период группа «Заир» занималась добычей золота и охраняла 

золотые прииски, в том числе вокруг Далы, Мабанги, Низи и Ига-Барьере на 

территории Джугу и вокруг Базакалы (Бабелебе) и Батале (Бабоа-Бокое) на тер-

ритории Ируму. Три человека, знакомых с этой ситуацией, подтвердили, что  ли-

дер группы «Заир» Завади был одним из старателей (см. S/2020/1283, приложе-

ние 30), который контролировал прииск в Ньяке на участке Дхего на территории 

Джугу в 20 километрах от Далы. 

112. На Вили-Вили, крупном прииске с более чем 20 механизированными экс-

каваторами, вблизи Мабанги на территории Джугу группа «Заир» защищала 

прииск во время нападения КОДЕКО 15 марта 2021 года. Этот участок, объем 

добычи золота на котором не известен горнодобывающим ведомствам, принад-

лежит Мамбо Камараги (см. S/2020/482, п. 62) по прозвищу Роффе. Два оче-

видца подтвердили, что молодые люди из племени хима охраняли горнодобыва-

ющий кооператив Камараги (КОМИСАРА) вместе с 10–20 членами ВСДРК76 . 

Группа направила письмо Камараги, но на момент составления настоящего до-

клада ответа не получила. 

 

 

 D. Вымогательства в отношении гражданского населения со 

стороны военнослужащих Вооруженных сил Демократической 

Республики Конго и сотрудников Конголезской национальной 

полиции на территориях Джугу и Ируму 
 

 

113. Выводы, сделанные в данном разделе, основаны на интервью с 52 лицами 

из различных общин, включая свидетелей, жертв, местные власти, НПО, пред-

ставителей гражданского общества, ВСДРК, НРУ, КНП и Организации Объеди-

ненных Наций, а также на наблюдениях Группы, фотодоказательствах и доку-

ментальных свидетельствах. 

114. Сотрудники сил безопасности Демократической Республики Конго, раз-

вернутые на территориях Джугу и Ируму, совершали вымогательства, включая 

связанные с конфликтом акты сексуального насилия (см. приложение 83), в част-

ности в отношении народностей бира и ленду, которые считаются связанными с 

ПИСК и фракциями КОДЕКО соответственно (см. S/2020/1283, п. 51; и 
__________________ 

 74 Группа уже документально подтвердила, что ВСДРК использовали боевиков «Заира» в 

качестве разведчиков (см. S/2020/1283, п. 49). 

 75 Согласно информации, полученной от двух местных органов власти, одного комбатанта 

ССРК, НПО, представителей гражданского общества и МООНСДРК.  

 76 Конголезский горный кодекс и военные правила запрещают присутствие ВСДРК на местах 

добычи полезных ископаемых. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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S/2019/274, пп. 93–95, 98 и 99, и приложение 32). Некоторые из этих деяний 

могут представлять собой военные преступления и подлежат санкциям в соот-

ветствии с пунктом 7 e) резолюции 2293 (2016) Совета Безопасности, что было 

затем подтверждено Советом в его резолюции 2528 (2020). 

115. В период с марта по крайней мере до июня 2020 года в ходе операций про-

тив фракций КОДЕКО, входящих в состав групп ленду в Нджукпе, Линге, Бубе, 

Дхендо и Лауджо, Валенду-Питси, военнослужащие ВСДРК, в том числе из 

3308-го и 3201-го полков 2-го батальона, разрушали и систематически грабили 

жилые дома, медицинские учреждения и школы, выгоняли ленду из их деревень 

и препятствовали доставке гуманитарной помощи (см. приложение 84) 77. Куль-

минацией актов насилия стала казнь 13 мирных жителей племени ленду в Гуджо/  

Нгалудзе 25 июня 2020 года (см. S/2020/1283, п. 51)78. 

116. Аналогичным образом, военнослужащие ВСДРК совершали вымогатель-

ства во время операций против АОК/КОДЕКО с 24 октября по середину ноября 

2020 года и после этого по крайней мере до конца января 2021 года в деревнях 

ленду вокруг Эзекере, Валенду-Татси, где вооруженная группа была неофици-

ально предварительно расквартирована. Командующий третьей зоной обороны 

генерал Филемон Яв руководил операциями, в которых участвовали военнослу-

жащие батальона оперативного вмешательства «коммандос» и 3308-го, 1301-го 

и 3202-го полков 2-го батальона79. Военнослужащие ВСДРК выгнали людей из 

их домов, препятствовали их доступу в деревни и на поля как минимум до конца 

января 2021 года и блокировали доступ к гуманитарной помощи в течение двух 

недель80.  

117. Несколько женщин ленду, пытавшихся вернуться в свои деревни и на поля, 

стали жертвами сексуального насилия. Когда одна 70-летняя женщина вернулась 

в Эзекере, ее схватили восемь военнослужащих ВСДРК, которые сильно избили 

ее, раздели, трогали за грудь и пытались изнасиловать после того, как она под-

твердила, что принадлежит к ленду81. В ноябре и декабре 2020 года четыре жен-

щины были изнасилованы военнослужащими ВСДРК в двух отдельных случаях, 

когда они возвращались в свои деревни, Камбутсо и Ладиле, чтобы забрать про-

дукты питания. Две женщины были освобождены после того, как отдали деньги 

двум насильникам82. 

118. Согласно информации, полученной из нескольких источников, военнослу-

жащие ВСДРК стреляли в мирных жителей, спасавшихся от боевых действий, 

убив при этом несколько человек83. В октябре или ноябре 2020 года два человека 

стали свидетелями того, как военнослужащие ВСДРК, вошедшие в Камбутсо, 

__________________ 

 77 Согласно информации, полученной от шести местных органов власти, двух НПО, 

представителей гражданского общества, ВСДРК и Организации Объединенных Наций, а 

также согласно документальным и фотографическим свидетельствам и наблюдениям 

Группы. См. также https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/bcnudh_-_maj_sur_la_ 

situation_des_droits_de_lhomme_en_ituri_mai-novembre_2020.pdf, пп. 23, 25 и 26 (дата 

последнего обращения — 14 апреля 2021 года).   

 78 Майор Бинду Сандока, он же майор Патрик, командовал 2-м батальоном 3308-го полка, 

участвовавшего в казнях, и находится под стражей с 13 января 2021 года.  

 79 Было проведено расследование в отношении трех членов батальона оперативного 

вмешательства, которые были задержаны за мародерство. 

 80 Согласно показаниям пяти очевидцев, одного представителя НПО и семи местных 

жителей.  

 81 Согласно показаниям пострадавшей и двух местных жителей. 

 82 Согласно показаниям двух жертв изнасилования и одного местного жителя.  

 83 Согласно показаниям трех очевидцев, одного представителя НРУ и одного представителя 

НПО. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/274
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/bcnudh_-_maj_sur_la_situation_des_droits_de_lhomme_en_ituri_mai-novembre_2020.pdf
https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/bcnudh_-_maj_sur_la_situation_des_droits_de_lhomme_en_ituri_mai-novembre_2020.pdf
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без суда и следствия казнили двух 60-летних родственниц84. В рассказах свиде-

телей постоянно упоминается систематическое разграбление военнослужащими 

ВСДРК имущества населения и частичное разрушение жилых домов и медицин-

ских центров85. Генерал Яв заявил, что ему ничего не известно о подобных со-

бытиях и что он проверит эту информацию у своих подчиненных. 

119. По крайней мере с октября 2020 года военнослужащие ВСДРК и сотруд-

ники КНП в произвольном порядке арестовывали и/или подвергали жестокому 

обращению мужчин из племен ленду и бира, которые подозревались в принад-

лежности к КОДЕКО или ПИСК в Буниа и вокруг него и на территории Ируму86. 

Один мужчина рассказал, как он и еще трое мужчин из племени ленду были 

избиты в Ладиле незадолго до начала операций в Эзекере двумя солдатами 

ВСДРК после того, как они сказали, что не знают, где находится «лагерь по-

встанцев». В декабре 2020 года и январе 2021 года в Котони и Ленгабо соответ-

ственно сотрудники КНП и военнослужащие ВСДРК проводили массовые аре-

сты мирных жителей, в том числе несовершеннолетних мальчиков 87. С некото-

рыми из арестованных обращались плохо, и им пришлось заплатить, чтобы их 

освободили (см. приложение 85). 

120. Группа обеспокоена тем, что постоянные злоупотребления своим положе-

нием со стороны некоторых сотрудников сил безопасности могут только еще 

больше усилить негативное отношение населения ленду и бира к силам безопас-

ности в целом, обострить напряженность и побудить ленду и бира присоеди-

ниться к вооруженным группам. 

 

 

 E. Патриотический фронт сопротивления в Итури88 
 

 

121. После подписания мирного соглашения от 28 февраля 2020 года и разору-

жения и демобилизации 31 октября 2020 года 31 комбатанта ПФСИ 

(см. S/2020/1283, пп. 45 и 46) процесс разоружения, демобилизации, реадапта-

ции и реинтеграции так и не возобновился. 

122. 29 декабря 2020 года лидеры ПФCИ подписали с президентской делега-

цией «резолюции» (см. приложение 86), в которых ПФCИ, в частности, подтвер-

дил свою готовность продолжать процесс разоружения, заявил, что он не сможет 

собрать вместе разрозненных комбатантов ПФCИ к 31 декабря 2020 года, и по-

просил предоставить ему больше времени для этого, а также выплатить одноме-

сячное пособие из девяти неоплаченных месяцев и провести встречу с участием 

всех сторон процесса для обсуждения порядка дальнейших действий и графика. 

123. 8 марта 2021 года руководители ПФСИ, включая начальника штаба «гене-

рала» Мбадху Адироду Ричарда, сообщили Группе, что они по-прежнему тре-

буют освободить всех заключенных, перечисленных в приложении 87, и инте-

грировать их в состав ВСДРК, даже если дело каждого из них потребует 

__________________ 

 84 Согласно показаниям двух очевидцев и представителя одного местного органа власти.  

 85 Согласно информации, полученной от 10 очевидцев, двух местных органов власти, шести 

местных жителей и представителей НПО и НРУ, а также согласно документальным 

свидетельствам. 

 86 Согласно информации, полученной от одного из очевидцев, местного жителя и 

представителей НПО и НРУ. 

 87 Согласно информации, полученной от шести очевидцев, представителей двух НПО, пяти 

органов местной власти и представителей гражданского общества, ВСДРК, КНП и 

Организации Объединенных Наций. 

 88 Согласно информации, полученной от трех жителей Гети, трех субъектов, знакомых с 

процессом разоружения, демобилизации, реадаптации и реинтеграции, и представителей 

ВСДРК, ПФСИ и МООНСДРК.  

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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индивидуальной оценки (см. приложение 88), а также требуют, чтобы Нацио-

нальная ассамблея приняла решение об амнистии, как это предусмотрено мир-

ным соглашением, и чтобы возобновилась деятельность по поддержке комба-

тантов в лагере Гети. На момент подготовки настоящего доклада эти операции 

продолжались. 

124. В ходе встречи 20 марта 2021 года с участием всех заинтересованных сто-

рон процесса разоружения, демобилизации, реадаптации и реинтеграции комба-

тантов ПФСИ, на которой ПФСИ не присутствовал, стороны признали важность 

успешного осуществления этого процесса, оценили его продвижение и реализа-

цию и предложили скорректировать график и определить точные сроки (см.  при-

ложение 89). 

125. После нападения, совершенного ПФСИ 30 сентября 2020 года в Гети и его 

окрестностях (см. S/2020/1283, п. 45) количество и масштабы нарушений без-

опасности со стороны ПФСИ оставались относительно ограниченными, не-

смотря на отдельные инциденты. 8 марта 2021 года Группа прошла через кон-

трольно-пропускной пункт ПФСИ в Лороби на главной дороге между Буниа и 

Гети, где комбатанты требовали налог в размере 200 конголезских франков 89 с 

мотоциклов, 1000 конголезских франков с небольших транспортных средств и 

2000 франков с грузовиков (см. приложение 90). 

 

 

 F. Незаконное присутствие военнослужащих Вооруженных сил 

Демократической Республики Конго на золотых приисках 
 

 

126. Группа документально подтвердила незаконное присутствие военнослужа-

щих ВСДРК на семи золотых приисках на территориях Джугу, Ируму и Мам-

баса. На шести приисках местные кооперативы добывали золото совместно с 

полупромышленными горнодобывающими компаниями, принадлежащими от-

дельным китайским инвесторам, четыре из которых в отчетный период подверг-

лись нападениям со стороны фракций КОДЕКО. Группа документально подтвер-

дила незаконное присутствие ВСДРК на участках добычи полезных ископае-

мых, разрабатываемых компанией «Голд дрэгон ресорсиз РДК» под руковод-

ством Вана Бина, и на участках, разрабатываемых компанией «Кимиа майнинг 

инвестмент сарль» (см. S/2016/1102, пп. 69–75) под руководством Линя Хао, в 

том числе на концессии, принадлежащей компании «МКК ресорсиз», владель-

цем которой является Конг Маохуай, в заповеднике дикой природы Окапи, где 

добыча полезных ископаемых запрещена. Эти случаи и ответы компаний по-

дробно излагаются в приложении 91. 

 

 

 IV. Южное Киву   
 

 

 A. Группа «майи-майи» (Якутумба) 
 

 

127. Несмотря на ослабление группы «майи-майи» (Якутумба), возглавляемой 

Уильямом Амури Якутумбой, и некоторые случаи дезертирства из нее, она оста-

валась одной из наиболее активных вооруженных групп в провинциях Южное 

Киву, Маниема и Танганьика (см. S/2020/1283, п. 67). Якутумба сохранил руко-

водство и фактический контроль над Национальной народной коалицией за 

__________________ 

 89 По состоянию на 31 марта 2021 года 1 долл. США равнялся 1976,8 конголезского фра нка.  

  См. https://www.fiscal.treasury.gov/files/reports-statements/treasury-reporting-rates-exchange/ 

treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange-as-of-march-31-2021.pdf (дата последнего обращения — 

31 марта 2021 года). 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2016/1102
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://www.fiscal.treasury.gov/files/reports-statements/treasury-reporting-rates-exchange/treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange-as-of-march-31-2021.pdf
https://www.fiscal.treasury.gov/files/reports-statements/treasury-reporting-rates-exchange/treasury-reporting-rates-of-exchange-as-of-march-31-2021.pdf
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суверенитет Конго (ННКСК) и опирался на поддержку лидеров ННКСК 

(см. S/2018/531, п. 49) для обеспечения контроля над территорией. В состав 

ННКСК входили группы «майи-майи», включая «майи-майи» (Эчило), «майи-

майи» (Реюньон), «майи-майи» (Рене), «майи-майи» (Нгальябату), «майи-майи» 

(Мулумба Марехуну), «майи-майи» (Малайка) (см. S/2020/482, п. 49), «майи-

майи» (Напата) и «майи-майи» («Апа на пале») (см. п. 139).  

128. В отчетный период в состав группы «майи-майи» (Якутумба), по оценкам, 

входило от 400 до 600 вооруженных комбатантов90. После того как от группы 

откололся бывший заместитель Алонда Бита по прозвищу Алида 

(см. S/2020/1283, п. 67) и из нее 4 апреля 2021 года дезертировал другой заме-

ститель, Эркюль Мусса, командная структура группы изменилась, о чем по-

дробно говорится в приложении 92. Эркюль покинул группу с несколькими ком-

батантами и оружием и попытался увести с собой другие группы «майи-майи», 

включая группы Алиды и «Апа на пале». Не все бойцы Якутумбы были воору-

жены. У них были автоматы типа АК, пулеметы ПКМ, гранатометы РПГ-7, лег-

кие пулеметы, минометы калибра 60 мм и ручные гранаты91. 

129. В начале января 2021 года Якутумба создал новый штаб в Конгве, в 5 км к 

северу от Кипупу, сектор Итомбве, чтобы находиться поближе к военным опе-

рациям против вооруженных групп баньямуленге в районе Высоких плато 

(см. п. 139)92, но продолжал активно перемещаться между этим штабом, Майи-

номбе (сектор Луленге), Маколом и Магембве (территория Физи).  

130. Группа «майи-майи» (Якутумба) продолжала получать финансовые сред-

ства от членов общины бембе внутри и за пределами Демократической Респуб-

лики Конго93 и выручку от продажи красного дерева и добычи золота (см. п. 165) 

и взимать налоги за рыболовство (см. S/2018/531, п. 63).  

 

 

 B. Конфликт в районе Высоких плато на территориях Мвенга, 

Физи и Увира 
 

 

131. Выводы, сделанные в данном разделе, основаны на интервью с 99 лицами 

из различных общин, лидерами и комбатантами/бывшими комбатантами «твир-

ванехо», «гумино» и «майи-майи» (Эбуэла), лицами, близкими к этим группам, 

внутренне перемещенными лицами, очевидцами, жертвами, аналитиками, пред-

ставителями местных органов власти, НПО, ВСДРК, КНП и Организации Объ-

единенных Наций, медицинскими и дипломатическими работниками, а также на 

наблюдениях Группы и видеозаписях и фотографических и документальных 

свидетельствах. 

132. Ситуация в плане безопасности и гуманитарная обстановка в районе Вы-

соких плато на территориях Физи, Увира и Мвенга ухудшилась с 2019 года 

(см. S/2019/974, пп. 30–33) в результате серии нападений сторон друг на друга, 

которые привели к разрушению деревень, убийствам гражданских лиц, 

__________________ 

 90 Согласно информации, полученной от двух действующих комбатантов, трех 

представителей гражданского общества, трех местных жителей, близких с Якутумбой, 

ВСДРК и МООНСДРК. 

 91 Согласно информации, полученной от двух действующих комбатантов, трех 

представителей гражданского общества, трех местных жителей и двух журналистов.  

 92 Согласно информации, полученной от двух местных жителей, близких к этой вооруженной 

группе, двух исследователей, трех представителей гражданского общества, двух 

журналистов, гуманитарных организаций и МООНСДРК. 

 93 Там же, а также согласно информации, полученной от лица, близкого к группам «майи-

майи», представителей гражданского общества, и согласно документам, имеющимся в 

распоряжении Группы. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/974
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изнасилованиям, массовым перемещениям населения и угону скота, особенно 

вокруг районов Минембве, Микенге и Биджомбо. Участились столкновения и 

репрессии, в которых иногда участвовали военнослужащие ВСДРК и были за-

действованы коалиции вооруженных групп, в основном связанные с общинами 

бабембе, бафулийру, баньинду и бавира с одной стороны и общиной баньяму-

ленге с другой. Причины и движущие силы конфликта имеют сложный характер 

и выходят за рамки этнической напряженности или межобщинной вражды. К 

ним также относятся доступ к земле и ресурсам, включая сезонный перегон 

скота и проблему скотокрадства (см. приложение 93), и вопросы, связанные с 

местным управлением, хотя этническая принадлежность все чаще используется 

обеими сторонами для оправдания мобилизации и применения силы. 

 

  Маканика, глава комбатантов «твирванехо»   
 

133. В 2019 году по мере эскалации нападений на мирных жителей баньяму-

ленге и активизации боевых действий группы и отдельные лица баньямуленге 

начали мобилизацию сил в деревнях во всем районе Высоких плато в рамках 

движения «твирванехо»  94, что на языке киньямуленге означает «давайте защи-

щаться» (см. приложение 94, где содержится справочная информация). Одно-

временно движение «твирванехо» усилилось за счет перехода на его сторону 

комбатантов из вооруженной группы «гумино» (см. S/2018/1133, пп. 36–48) и 

молодых людей баньямуленге из региональной диаспоры, называемых «андро-

идами»95. Движение «твирванехо» также получало значительную финансовую 

поддержку от некоторых баньямуленге, находящихся как внутри Демократиче-

ской Республики Конго, так и за ее пределами96. 

134. «Твирванехо» постепенно превратились в организованную и скоординиро-

ванную вооруженную группу. Этому процессу способствовало прибытие дезер-

тировавшего из ВСДРК полковника Мишеля Рукунды по прозвищу Маканика в 

район Высоких плато в начале 2020 года для принятия командования «твирва-

нехо»97. Маканика сказал Группе, что он дезертировал и приехал в район Высо-

ких плато, чтобы защищать права баньямуленге (см. приложение 95).  

135. Группа экспертов установила, что в составе «твирванехо» существует ос-

новная группа с определенной структурой командования и управления98, создан-

ной Маканикой. Эта основная группа недавно усилилась дезертирами из ВСДРК 

(см. п. 142) и новыми комбатантами, завербованными на местном, националь-

ном, региональном и международном уровнях, причем почти все из них — из 

общины баньямуленге. Такая вербовка, принимавшая иногда принудительную 

форму, активизировалась с середины 2020 года и в последующий период 

(см. приложение 96).   

__________________ 

 94 Согласно информации, полученной от лидеров, комбатантов и бывших комбатантов 

«твирванехо», близких им людей, представителей гражданского общества, внутренне 

перемещенных лиц, исследователей, местных властей, ВСДРК и Организации 

Объединенных Наций. 

 95 Название, данное местным населением, объясняется тем, что большинство молодых 

людей, прибывших в район Высоких плато, пользуются мобильными телефонами системы 

«Андроид». 

 96 Согласно информации, полученной от лидеров, комбатантов и бывших комбатантов 

«твирванехо», близких им людей, внутренне перемещенных лиц, представителей 

гражданского общества, ВСДРК и местных властей, исследователей, МООНСДРК и 

дипломатических работников. 

 97 Там же. 

 98 Несмотря на отрицания со стороны руководства «твирванехо», которое заявило, что 

«твирванехо» — это гражданская группа самообороны. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/1133
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136. Основная группа «твирванехо» опирается на поддержку гражданского 

населения, которое продолжает жить в деревнях и служит в качестве резерва. 

Эти гражданские лица обладают оружием и могут быть легко мобилизованы для 

проведения вооруженных операций в поддержку основной группы.  

137. Прибытие Маканики повысило общую военную мощь «твирванехо» и их 

способность участвовать в столкновениях и совершать нападения на другие во-

оруженные группы, ВСДРК, а иногда и на гражданское население99. Столкнове-

ния и нападения участились с середины 2020 года и в последующий период 

(см. приложение 97 и п. 146)100.  

 

  Коалиция «майи-майи» 
 

138. Группа экспертов выявила около десятка групп самообороны «майи-майи» 

и вооруженных групп «майи-майи», связанных с общинами бабембе, бафулиру, 

баньинду и бавира и действующих в районе Высоких плато (см. приложение 98). 

В течение многих лет эти группы дробились, множились и действовали в со-

ставе нескольких менявшихся коалиций, в том числе совместно с вооруженными 

группами, находящимися за пределами района Высоких плато. Они часто назы-

вали себя «автохтонными» группами101.  

139. С конца 2020 года Якутумба и Эбуэла102 объединили существовавшие коа-

лиции «майи-майи», в частности ННКСК (см. п. 127), Патриотические силы в 

защиту Конго — Освободительное движение (ПСЗК-ОД), возглавляемые Эбуэ-

лой (см. приложение 99), и Вооруженные силы Билозе Бишамбуке (ВСББ), воз-

главляемые Ассини Мбакани (см. приложение 100). Хотя эта более широкая осо-

бая коалиция не была строго подчинена единой структуре командования и 

управления 103 , новый альянс позволил укрепить связь, координировать дей-

ствия, проводить совместные операции против «твирванехо» и «гумино» 

(см. приложение 101) и оказывать поддержку каждому члену коалиции в случае 

нападения. Такие группы «майи-майи» были мобильны и могли быстро пере-

группировываться, что повышало численность групп и их военную мощь.   

140. Группы «майи-майи» также совершали, совместно или по отдельности, 

нападения на мирных жителей баньямуленге, часто угоняя при этом скот, кото-

рый является важным источником дохода для групп «майи-майи» (см. пп. 144 и 

146)104. 

 

  

__________________ 

 99 Согласно информации, полученной от лидеров, комбатантов и бывших комбатантов 

«твирванехо», «гумино» и «майи-майи» (Эбуэла), близких к этим группам людей, 

представителей гражданского общества, внутренне перемещенных лиц, исследователей, 

местных властей, ВСДРК, КНП, Организации Объединенных Наций и дипломатических 

работников. 

 100 Там же.   

 101 Согласно информации, полученной от лидеров/комбатантов этих групп, в том числе через 

публичные сообщения, руководства «твирванехо», представителей гражданского 

общества, внутренне перемещенных лиц, исследователей, местных властей, ВСДРК и 

МООНСДРК. 

 102 См. S/2018/531, пп. 49 и 69. 

 103 Согласно информации, полученной от представителей гражданского общества, внутренне 

перемещенных лиц, исследователей, местных властей, ВСДРК и МООНСДРК.  

 104 Согласно информации, полученной от лидеров, комбатантов и бывших комбатантов 

«твирванехо» и «гумино», представителей гражданского общества, внутренне 

перемещенных лиц, исследователей, местных властей, ВСДРК и Организации 

Объединенных Наций. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/531
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  Поставки оружия вооруженным группам в районе Высоких плато  
 

141. Группы «майи-майи» и «твирванехо» сами добывали военное имущество 

(см. приложение 102). Они добывали оружие и боеприпасы, в том числе в ходе 

нападений на базы и солдат ВСДРК (см. приложение 103). Эти нападения уча-

стились в районе Высоких плато с начала 2020 года, что совпало с прибытием 

Маканики в этот район (см. п. 134 и приложение 95)105. 

142. «Твирванехо» также получили военное подкрепление благодаря дезертир-

ству нескольких офицеров и солдат ВСДРК, которые присоединились к группе 

Маканики, причем иногда с оружием, как это сделал, например, полковник 

Чарльз Сематама в конце февраля 2021 года, а также благодаря оружию, предо-

ставленному Маканике местными гражданскими лицами из числа баньямуленге 

(см. приложение 104). В марте 2020 года Маканика планировал построить сек-

ретный аэродром для импорта оружия и других ресурсов для поддержки «твир-

ванехо», которые действовали в отдаленном районе. ВСДРК остановили строи-

тельство взлетно-посадочной полосы в июне 2020 года (см. приложение 105).  

143. Кроме того, как группы «майи-майи», так и «твирванехо» расширили свои 

запасы оружия и боеприпасов за счет незаконного оборота оружия внутри 

страны и перенаправления к себе оружия ВСДРК106. Военный прокурор сообщил 

Группе, что в период с конца 2019 года по конец 2020 года за такую торговлю 

оружием были арестованы в общей сложности 46 военнослужащих ВСДРК, 

многие из которых входят в состав 12-й бригады быстрого реагирования, дей-

ствующей в районе Высоких плато. В приложении 106 приводятся имена и фа-

милии нескольких солдат и командиров ВСДРК, подозреваемых в причастности 

к незаконному обороту оружия и/или арестованных за это.   

144. Несколько военнослужащих ВСДРК также вступали в сговор с группами 

«майи-майи», когда последние нападали на деревни баньямуленге и угоняли 

скот. Шесть представителей ВСДРК, лидеры гражданского общества, местные 

вожди баньямуленге, лица, близкие к вождям «майи-майи», исследователи и 

представители МООНСДРК назвали генерала Дьедонне Батенчи Мухиму, ко-

мандующего 12-й бригадой быстрого реагирования в Минембве с марта 

2020 года, одним из главных спонсоров групп «майи-майи» в ВСДРК. Группа не 

смогла связаться с Мухимой (см. приложение 107). 

145. Сговор между вооруженными группами в районе Высоких плато и некото-

рыми солдатами и командирами ВСДРК, включая материально-техническую и 

оружейную поддержку, оказываемую офицерами ВСДРК вооруженным груп-

пам, представляет собой нарушение режима санкций, который предусмотрен 

пунктом 7 резолюции 2293 (2016) Совета Безопасности и действие которого 

было продлено резолюцией 2528 (2020) Совета, и способствует продолжению и 

обострению конфликта в этом регионе. 

 

  

__________________ 

 105 Согласно информации, полученной от офицеров ВСДРК, местных властей, Маканики, 

МООНСДРК и исследователей, а также согласно официальным документам, имеющимся в 

распоряжении Группы. 

 106 Согласно информации, полученной от офицеров ВСДРК, представителей гражданского 

общества, местных властей, исследователей и МООНСДРК, а также согласно 

официальным документам Демократической Республики Конго, имеющимся в 

распоряжении Группы. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
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  Вымогательства в отношении гражданского населения и подстрекательские 

высказывания 
 

146. С февраля 2019 года 107  нападения со стороны коалиции «майи-майи» и 

«твирванехо» и вооруженные столкновения с их участием привели к тому, что 

географическое пространство было разделено по этническому признаку 

(см. приложение 108). Типичные схемы нападений включали поджоги жилых 

домов, зданий медицинских учреждений и школ, насильственное перемещение 

населения108, грабежи, в том числе кражу коров, в основном у мирных жителей 

баньямуленге, и несколько убийств, в том числе местных вождей и пастухов ба-

ньямуленге109.  

 

  Сексуальное насилие и похищения, связанные с конфликтами 
 

147. Коалиция «майи-майи» и «твирванехо» осуществляли стратегию целена-

правленных похищений, изнасилований и иногда убийств женщин, чтобы 

предотвратить доступ к сельскохозяйственным угодьям, фактически препят-

ствуя их доступу к продовольствию110. Это также резко ограничило свободу пе-

редвижения населения. 

148. Группа побеседовала с семью женщинами из племен бабембе и бафулиру, 

все из которых были изнасилованы одним-тремя комбатантами «твирванехо»  111 

на полях вокруг Камамбо, Микалати, Киташа и Марунде в период с мая по де-

кабрь 2020 года112. Двух держали в плену всю ночь. Почти все насильники ссы-

лались на этническую принадлежность своих жертв или их предполагаемую 

связь с «майи-майи», а в трех случаях говорили им, чтобы они не возвращались 

и что все бабембе будут изгнаны из этого района. Жертвы были свидетелями 

изнасилования или знали об изнасиловании комбатантами «твирванехо» в ана-

логичных обстоятельствах по меньшей мере 12 других женщин из числа бафу-

лиру или бабембе. Группа получила сообщения о других случаях изнасилования, 

похищения и/или убийства комбатантами «твирванехо» женщин из числа бафу-

лиру и бабембе из Микенге113 и из лагеря для внутренне перемещенных лиц в 

Бийомбо114 во втором полугодии 2020 года. 

149. Параллельно с этим в апреле 2020 года в окрестностях Кивуму комбатанты 

«майи-майи» убили мачете двух женщин баньямуленге, изуродовали их тела, в 

том числе их грудь и гениталии, а третью похитили. Когда ее освободили через 

несколько дней, ей сказали, чтобы она покинула Демократическую Республику 

__________________ 

 107 В сентябре 2019 года число нападений резко возросло после убийства местного вождя 

муньинду комбатантами «гумино».  

 108 Некоторые жители, заранее проинформированные о готовящемся нападении, покинули 

свои деревни до нападения.  

 109 Согласно информации, полученной от пяти внутренне перемещенных лиц, пяти местных 

органов власти, пяти НПО, медицинских работников и Организации Объединенных 

Наций.  

 110 Согласно информации, полученной от двух местных органов власти, семи НПО, 

представителей гражданского общества, медицинских работников и Организации 

Объединенных Наций.  

 111 Три бывших комбатанта «твирванехо» заявили, что «твирванехо» запрещают совершать 

изнасилования. 

 112 Маканика, три бывших комбатанта «твирванехо», одно внутренне перемещенное лицо, две 

НПО, медицинские работники и представители ВСДРК подтвердили присутствие или 

патрулирование «твирванехо» в этих местах. 

 113 Согласно информации, полученной от одного внутренне перемещенного лица, НПО, 

медицинских работников и МООНСДРК. 

 114 Согласно информации, полученной от двух внутренне перемещенных лиц, одного 

местного органа власти, представителей гражданского общества, медицинских работников 

и МООНСДРК.  
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Конго. Эти женщины были частью более многочисленной группы баньямуленге, 

которых первоначально сопровождали на поля военнослужащие 123-го баталь-

она 12-й бригады быстрого реагирования ВСДРК, но которые бросили их по до-

роге. «Майи-майи» также убили мужчину из племени баньямуленге, который 

входил в состав этой группы115. В январе 2020 года комбатанты «майи-майи» 

похитили еще одну женщину баньямуленге на полях Кивуму и держали ее в 

плену в течение двух дней. 

150. В ходе нападений и столкновений обе стороны116 совершали связанные с 

конфликтом акты сексуального насилия117. Например, во время нападения в ок-

тябре 2019 года от двух до шести комбатантов «майи-майи» из числа бафулиру 

изнасиловали трех женщин из племени баньямуленге недалеко от Ругези 118. 

 

  Вербовка и использование вооруженных детей 
 

151. Как коалиция «майи-майи», так и «твирванехо» вербовали детей, причем 

иногда в возрасте даже 12 лет, и использовали их, среди прочего, в качестве ком-

батантов или сопровождающих лиц, а также для несения службы на контрольно-

пропускных пунктах или выполнения домашних обязанностей. Некоторые из 

них имели оружие119. Одна жертва изнасилования из числа бабембе видела, как 

дети «твирванехо» в возрасте старше 16 лет насиловали других женщин. Пере-

мещенная внутри страны женщина из числа баньямуленге рассказала, что во 

время нападения «майи-майи» на ее деревню дети в возрасте старше 15 лет ис-

пользовались для кражи коров и поджога домов.  

152. Все такие деяния подлежат санкциям в соответствии с подпунктами 7 d) и 

e) резолюции 2293 (2016) Совета Безопасности, что было затем подтверждено 

Советом в его резолюции 2528 (2020). 

 

  Подстрекательство к дискриминации, вражде или насилию 
 

153. Одной из причин разжигания конфликта в районе Высоких плато стало 

большое количество подстрекательских речей и выступлений по вопросам иден-

тичности и национальной принадлежности. Опрошенные лица описали или под-

твердили крайне негативное отношение к баньямуленге со стороны многих чле-

нов общин бабембе, бафулиру, баньинду и бавира, включая лидеров общин и 

политиков120. Баньямуленге часто считаются руандийцами, а не конголезцами, и 

их называют «руандийцами» или «баньярванда — так называемые баньяму-

ленге». Ответственность за выплату налогов, вымогаемых вооруженными груп-

пами, регулярно возлагается на всю общину (см. приложения 110–112). 

154. После того как 28 сентября 2020 года бургомистр коммуны Минембве вре-

менно вступил в свою должность, возросли количество и масштабы призывов к 

насилию против баньямуленге, в том числе звучавших в политических 

__________________ 

 115 Согласно информации, полученной от одного очевидца, НПО и ВСДРК, а также согласно 

фотодоказательствам. 

 116 Некоторые военнослужащие ВСДРК также совершали изнасилования 

(см. приложение 109). 

 117 Согласно информации, полученной от НПО, медицинских работников и МООНСДРК. 

Группа не смогла установить личности виновных во всех случаях изнасилования, которые 

она документально подтвердила. 

 118 Согласно информации, полученной от одного очевидца, одной жертвы, одной НПО и 

ВСДРК.  

 119 Согласно информации, полученной от четырех очевидцев, шести бывших комбатантов 

«твирванехо», одной НПО и МООНСДРК. 

 120 Согласно информации, полученной от шести НПО, одного местного органа власти, 

представителей гражданского общества, ВСДРК и Организации Объединенных Наций.  

https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
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выступлениях, а также в обычных СМИ и социальных сетях121. По этому случаю 

Джастин Битаквира, бывший министр, уполномоченный президентом Чисекеди 

провести миротворческую миссию в районе Высоких плато, выступил с 23-ми-

нутной речью, в которой он отрицал, что баньямуленге все еще являются граж-

данами Демократической Республики Конго. Он обвинил баньямуленге, в част-

ности, в том, что они хотят занимать доминирующее положение в Демократи-

ческой Республике Конго и забыли о своих преступлениях, предупредив, что ис-

тория им отомстит и что, если баньямуленге не прекратят лгать и не раскаются, 

они будут вынуждены покинуть страну и им некуда будет идти (см. приложе-

ние 113).  

155. В апреле 2021 года Джон Касимбира, он же Маканаки, лидер «майи-майи» 

(Маканаки), действующий в районе Высоких плато (см. приложения 98 и 101), 

пообещал в видеоролике в социальных сетях «раздавить» всех баньямуленге и 

тех, кто их поддерживает (см. приложение 114). Одна из внутренне перемещен-

ных баньямуленге рассказала, что перед нападением коалиции «майи-майи» на 

ее деревню в октябре 2019 года молодые люди из племени бафулиру заявили, 

что убьют баньямуленге, а оставшихся в живых отправят в Руанду, поскольку 

баньямуленге являются руандийцами. В контексте событий в районе Высоких 

плато перечисленные выше заявления могут представлять собой как минимум 

подстрекательство к дискриминации, вражде или насилию 122 , а значит, быть 

наказуемыми деяниями в соответствии с пунктом 7 e) резолюции 2293 (2016) 

Совета Безопасности, что было затем подтверждено Советом в его резолю-

ции 2528 (2020). 

 

 

 C. Группа «майи-майи» («Апа на пале») 
 

 

156. Мундус (или Мундис) Мунанга Бабуйю, дезертировавший из ВСДРК 

(см. приложение 115), создал группу «майи-майи» («Апа на пале») 123  в 

2016 году после нападений ополченцев банту на лагеря для внутренне переме-

щенных лиц народности тва. Мундус присоединился к ННКСК в мае 2017 года 

и продолжал выполнять приказы Якутумбы (см. S/2018/531, п. 49; и S/2020/1283, 

п. 68). 

157. В 2018 году Мундус создал коалицию «Вооруженные силы за перемены в 

Конго» (ВСПК) после того, как было демобилизовано нескольких его комбатан-

тов. Коалиция по-прежнему состояла из шести небольших групп под его коман-

дованием, а именно: «Перси мото», к которой Мундус принадлежал до вступле-

ния в ряды ВСДРК, «майи-майи» (Кабеке), «Движение 42», «майи-майи» (Киса-

нола) 124 , «майи-майи» («Львиное сердце») и «майи-майи» («Фимбо на 

фимбо»)125. В состав ВСПК, включая эти группы, входило около 200 комбатан-

тов, большинство из которых составляли тва, и не все из них были вооружены. 

На момент составления настоящего доклада тремя основными заместителями 

Мундуса были Солей, Сенк-сюр-Сенк и Битонто. 

158. Штаб группы находился в Кодо, территория Калемие, на границе с Мание-

мой и Южным Киву. Группа в основном действовала к северу от Ниюнзу и Ка-

лемие в Танганьике, а также в районе Кабамбаре в Маниеме и на территории 

__________________ 

 121 Согласно информации, полученной от двух НПО и МООНСДРК.  

 122 См. пункт 2 статьи 20 Международного пакта о гражданских и политических правах. 

 123 Означает «здесь и там, трудно найти» на суахили. 

 124 Означает «расческа» на языке лингала. 

 125 Означает «кнут» на суахили и лингала. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2293(2016)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/RES/2528(2020)
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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Физи (см. приложение 116)  126, где она продолжала совершать акты насилия в 

отношении гражданского населения127. У них были автоматы типа АК, пулеметы 

ПКМ, РПГ-7 и ручные гранаты128.  

 
 

 D. Группа «Сопротивление во имя создания правового 

государства — Табара» 
 

 

159. В отчетный период бурундийская вооруженная группа «Сопротивление во 

имя создания правового государства —Табара» (СПГ-Табара), возглавляемая 

«генералом» Кисигой Ндагизиманой Жерве (см. S/2019/469, п. 80), имела следу-

ющую структуру военного руководства: «полковник» Ндайишимийе Соре,  заме-

ститель Кисиги; Калиопе Гереми (“S2”); Догита Али (“S3”); Биракиза Эгид, ко-

мандир батальона 1; Джон Бикоре, командир батальона 2; и Мапигано, командир 

батальона 3 (см. S/2019/469, п. 81). Группа старалась избегать столкновений во 

время операций ВСДРК, меняя свои позиции129. 

160. СПГ-Табара насчитывала около 300 комбатантов, причем все из них были 

граждане Бурунди и находились к северо-западу от Увиры — района, который 

являлся их тыловой базой. Группа имела штаб в Масанго и две другие позиции 

в Китавугамбегере и Кириаме (см. приложение 117; и S/2019/469, пп. 82 и 84)130. 

161. Четыре бывших комбатанта, четыре местных жителя, знакомых с этой си-

туацией, и два представителя гражданского общества заявили, что у СПГ-Табара 

были автоматы типа АК, пулеметы ПКМ, РПГ-7, тяжелые пулеметы ка-

либра 12,7 мм, минометы калибра 60 мм и ручные гранаты. 

162. В военном отношении эта группа была союзником «майи-майи» (Иллунга), 

члена коалиции «майи-майи», воевавшей с «твирванехо» и «гумино» 

(см. пп. 138–140; и S/2019/469, п. 88), и обменивалась информацией с «майи-

майи» (Кисангала). Стороны конфликта в районе Высоких плато обвиняли друг 

друга в сотрудничестве с иностранными вооруженными группировками, вклю-

чая СПГ-Табара и Национальный фронт освобождения. 

 

 

 E. Национальный фронт освобождения131 
 

 

163. В отчетный период бурундийская вооруженная группа НФО, возглавляе-

мая «начальником штаба» Алоисом Нзабампемой, базировалась на территориях 

Увира и Мвенга, которые обеспечивали ей тыловую поддержку 

__________________ 

 126 Согласно информации, полученной от двух местных жителей, близких к этой вооруженной 

группе, одного исследователя, представителей гражданского общества, гуманитарных 

организаций и МООНСДРК. 

 127 Согласно информации, полученной от двух местных жителей, близких к этой вооруженной 

группе, одного исследователя, представителей гражданского общества, гуманитарных 

организаций и МООНСДРК. 

 128 Согласно информации, полученной от двух местных жителей, включая одного жителя, 

близкого к этой вооруженной группе, представителей гражданского общества и 

МООНСДРК. 

 129 Согласно информации, полученной от бывших комбатантов СПГ-Табара, четырех местных 

жителей, включая двух жителей, близких к вооруженной группе, двух исследователей, 

одного журналиста и трех представителей гражданского общества. 

 130 Согласно информации, полученной от трех исследователей, двух сельских жителей, 

проживающих в районе действия вооруженной группы, представителей гражданского 

общества, гуманитарных организаций и ВСДРК.  

 131 Согласно информации, полученной от двух бывших комбатантов, двух исследователей, 

трех местных жителей, включая одного жителя, близкого к вооруженной группе, и двух 

представителей гражданского общества. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
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(см. приложение 118; и S/2019/469, п. 76). 24 октября 2020 года ВСДРК заняли 

штаб НФО в деревне Наомбе на территории Мвенга и позицию НФО в Ньябу-

рунде, где находится группа Биджомбо, на территории Увиры 132 . Вследствие 

этого комбатанты НФО укрылись в лесу Набомбе и сохраняли позиции в Му-

шуле, где находится группа Каталы, на территории Увира, и вернулись в ле с 

Ньябуранды в конце февраля 2021 года. 

164. Структура военного командования была следующей: «генерал» Пол 

Ндаджимана, заместитель Нзабампемы; «полковник» Серхио, офицер, отвечаю-

щий за проведение операций и разведку, (“G3” и “G2”); «полковник» Мельтос, 

офицер, отвечающий за административные вопросы, (“G1”); и «майор» Эрик, 

офицер, отвечающий за материально-техническое обеспечение, (“G4”). Эта 

группа насчитывала около 300 бурундийских комбатантов (см. приложе-

ние 119)133, но во время операций ВСДРК она потеряла более 50 комбатантов, в 

том числе в результате дезертирства из-за тяжелых условий жизни в лесу. Ком-

батанты НФО часто воровали урожай после операций ВСДРК, что снижало их 

способность покупать продукты питания на местных рынках. Комбатанты НФО 

использовали оружие, схожее с оружием СПГ-Табара. Дезертирство каралось 

смертной казнью (см. приложение 120). 

 

 

 F. Участие вооруженных групп в добыче золота, древесины и 

древесного угля  
 

 

  Золото 
 

  Группа «майи-майи» (Якутумба) 
 

165. Группа «майи-майи» (Якутумба) частично контролировала золотодобыва-

ющие секторы Мисиси и Барака на территории Физи, как сообщалось ранее 

(см. S/2020/1283, пп. 70 и 71), включая налогообложение в местах добычи, таких 

как Митондо, Макунгу и Кува в Ньянге, а также в Качанге-Хилл (см. приложе-

ние 121)134. Алида (см. п. 128) отделился от группы Якутумбы отчасти из-за раз-

ногласий по поводу распределения доходов от продажи золота, как это сделал 

Эбуэла (см. п. 129) в 2016 году.  

166. Золото, добывавшееся Якутумбой и отколовшимися от него фракциями, 

продавалось на международном рынке, в том числе в Объединенных Арабских 

Эмиратах и Гонконге (Китай), зарегистрированными и/или незарегистрирован-

ными торговцами золотом из Южного Киву. В декабре 2020 года зарегистриро-

ванная в Букаву экспортер золота компания «Аваниш сарль», отправила 5,103 кг 

золота из Митондо, Макунгу и Качанги через Руанду ювелирной компании 

«Эль-Халлак джуэлри, ллк» в Дубае135. В другом случае компания «КМК сарль», 

также зарегистрированная в Букаву как экспортер золота, отправила 4,795 кг зо-

лота из Кувы и Качанги-Хилл через Руанду компании «Голд фан корпорейшн, 

лтд.», расположенной в Гонконге136.  

__________________ 

 132 Согласно информации, полученной от ВСДРК, четырех местных жителей и двух 

представителей гражданского общества. 

 133 Согласно информации, полученной от бывших комбатантов, местных жителей и двух 

представителей гражданского общества. 

 134 Согласно информации, полученной от трех должностных лиц правительственной службы 

безопасности, четырех торговцев и четырех мотоциклистов.  

 135 Согласно информации, полученной от двух должностных лиц горнодобывающих ведомств, 

офицера НРУ и шести торговцев, которые платили «майи-майи» (Якутумба) налоги за 

право получения доступа. 

 136 Там же. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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167. Однако Постоянное представительство Руанды при Организации Объеди-

ненных Наций сообщило Группе, что у авиакомпании «Руандэйр» нет данных 

об этих поставках, хотя в сертификатах Международной конференции по району 

Великих озер (МКРВО), сопровождавших экспортные грузы, указано, что оба 

груза были отправлены через Руанду (см. приложение 122); об этом несоответ-

ствии сообщалось ранее (см. S/2020/1283, п. 70).  

168. Конголезские должностные лица горнодобывающих ведомств заявили, что 

информацию, предоставленную экспортерами в экспортных сертификатах Меж-

дународной конференции по району Великих озер о конечных получателях зо-

лота, зачастую трудно подтвердить, поскольку большинство получателей не от-

вечают на запросы о предоставлении квитанции о получении золота. Например, 

в 2020 году только один получатель из семи (компания «Таша голд энд джуэлс, 

ллк») признался Группе, что получил золото (см. S/2020/1283, п. 70, и приложе-

ние 51).  

 

  Преступные сети  
 

169. Остались неучтенными большие объемы добычи золота в Мисиси, часть 

которых облагалась налогом группой «майи-майи» (Якутумба) во время транс-

портировки золотосодержащих пород в Бараку перед экспортом в Бурунди и 

Объединенную Республику Танзания137. Группа «майи-майи» (Якутумба) требо-

вала уплаты налогов по меньшей мере с трех кооперативов по торговле золотом, 

расположенных в Бараке: Горнорудного кооператива по переработке отходов 

(КОМИТРАИД), Горнорудного кооператива Кимби (КООМИКИ) и Кооператива 

по добыче полезных ископаемых и переработке отходов в золотоносных районах 

(СЕМИРЕРА)138. Информация, изученная Группой, показала, что только эти три 

кооператива произвели более 8,6 кг плавленого золота139, в то время как офици-

альная статистика производства золота в более широком секторе золотодобычи 

Мутамбалы, частью которого являлась Барака, зафиксировала чуть менее 3,8 кг 

(см. приложение 123). Золото Бараки незаконно экспортировалось в Бурунди и 

Объединенную Республику Танзания из-за простоты логистики, отсутствия про-

верок, лучших цен и более быстрой оплаты по сравнению с Букаву 140.  

170. В другом случае 17 марта 2021 года на границе между Букаву и Cьянгугу 

по пути в Руанду был арестован подозреваемый контрабандист, перевозивший 

четыре золотых слитка. Золото общим весом 8 кг поступило от посредников, 

связанных с Якутумбой и работающих на приисках в Ньянге и Качанге-Хилл 

(см. приложение 124), согласно данным Главного управления по делам мигра-

ции, Национальной комиссии по борьбе с мошенничеством в горнодобывающем 

секторе и должностных лиц НРУ, а также судебному документу, с которым озна-

комилась Группа. 

171. Продолжалось строительство предприятия «Конго гоулд раффинери» 

(см. приложение 125 и S/2020/482, п. 89), которое в конечном счете может выве-

сти золотодобычу в Южном Киву из каналов незаконной торговли к регулируе-

мой торговле.  

__________________ 

 137 Перед переработкой порода перевозилась в Бараку, поскольку если бы золотые слитки 

производились в Мисиси, торговцы подвергались бы большему риску ограбления со 

стороны вооруженных групп.  

 138 Согласно информации, полученной Группой во время посещения Бараки, и информации, 

полученной от находящихся в Бараке должностных лиц горнодобывающих ведомств, 

должностного лица службы безопасности, офицера ВСДРК и двух торговцев. 

 139 Согласно информации, полученной от трех должностных лиц горнодобывающих ведомств, 

ни один из этих кооперативов не предоставил статистику производства.  

 140 См. сноску 140. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/482
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  Участие военнослужащих ВСДРК и сотрудников КНП 
 

172. Как и в предыдущих случаях (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 71 и 72), некоторые во-

еннослужащие ВСДРК из 33-го военного округа участвовали в деятельности, 

связанной с золотом. В марте 2021 года некоторые военнослужащие ВСДРК 

около двух недель занимали недавно обнаруженный карьер на золотом прииске 

в Лухихи на территории Кабаре141. Военнослужащие ВСДРК при поддержке не-

которых сотрудников КНП каждые два дня продавали золото торговцам в Букаву, 

что побудило канцелярию губернатора Южного Киву издать указ, призывающий 

к немедленной эвакуации и закрытию прииска в Лухихи (см. приложение 126) 142. 

В другом случае в марте 2021 года полковник Манассе (33-й военный округ 

ВСДРК, батальон 21042, специальная рота) приказал своим солдатам в течение 

72 часов взять под свой контроль горнодобывающую деятельность на приисках 

в Макунгу, Митондо и Миланга в районе Мисиси и собирать от его имени золо-

тосодержащие породы, добывавшиеся гражданскими лицами (см. приложе-

ние 127)143. Полковник Манассе отрицал свою ответственность.  

 

  Красное дерево и древесный уголь 
 

173. Группа установила, что преступные сети, действующие в некоторых райо-

нах Южного Киву, продолжают финансировать свою деятельность за счет до-

бычи красного дерева и торговли им (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 73–75). Тем временем 

фракции группы «Райя мутомбоки» расширили и активизировали торговлю дре-

весным углем и налогообложение гражданских лиц, имеющих доступ к лесу.  

 

  Красное дерево 
 

174. Красное дерево, в том числе из Бараки и Калемие, незаконно заготавлива-

лось и продавалось в Калемие (Танганьика), а затем в Бурунди, Объединенную 

Республику Танзания и Замбию без уплаты ежегодных лицензионных сборов и 

налогов конголезским властям, что подтвердили четыре нелицензированных 

торговца красным деревом в городе Увира и операторы портов Калунду, Кивово 

и Касенга/Ольга-Хаус (см. приложение 128), откуда вывозилась древесина. Со-

гласно судовым декларациям Калунду за ноябрь 2020 года, большинство из 

24 судов, включенных в список, курсировали между Увирой и Кигомой, Объеди-

ненная Республика Танзания (см. приложение 129).  

175. Портовые операторы заявили, что даже лицензированные экспортеры вы-

нуждены закупать продукцию у нелицензированных торговцев/криминальных 

сетей, которые получают товар от вооруженных групп, поскольку большинство 

процессов переработки красного дерева находятся под контролем вооруженных 

групп и криминальных сетей. Посещение портов Группой показало, что не при-

нимаются даже элементарные меры по борьбе с контрабандой. Руководство пор-

тов признало, что введение проверок заставит их клиентов перейти к конкурен-

там, поскольку основное предназначение портов заключается в предоставлении 

услуг всем, кто может за них заплатить.   

176. Группа установила, что конголезская экспортная корпорация «Глобал веб 

интернешнл» экспортировала красное дерево, поступавшее от преступных се-

тей, связанных с «майи-майи» (Якутумба). Сети платили «майи-майи» (Яку-

тумба) за доступ к заповедникам Нганджа (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 74 и 75), Лвама-

__________________ 

 141 Согласно информации, полученной от офицера НРУ, торговца золотом из Лухихи и 

провинциального горнодобывающего ведомства. 

 142 Там же.  

 143 Согласно информации, полученной от двух должностных лиц горнодобывающих ведомств 

в Мисиси и двух торговцев, и согласно одному документу. 

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
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Киву и Итомбве и продавали красное дерево в Бурунди, Китай и Объединенную 

Республику Танзания144. Корпорация «Глобал веб интернешнл» экспортировала 

древесину, включая поставку 6 ноября 2020 года груза стоимостью 716 928 кон-

голезских франков из порта Барака в Объединенную Республику Танзания 

(см. приложение 130)145. Агент корпорации «Глобал веб интернешнл» подтвер-

дил отправку груза, которая, согласно экспортной декларации, была совершена 

при посредничестве компании «Акреп транзит» (см. приложение 131). Группа 

обратилась к властям Танзании за дополнительной информацией, но на момент 

подготовки настоящего доклада ответа не получила.  

177. В двух других случаях та же компания экспортировала красное дерево, что 

пополнило казну вооруженных групп. В первом случае груз красного дерева сто-

имостью 50 000 долл. США, которое было получено от посредников из группы 

«майи-майи» (Якутумба) 146  и было заготовлено в заповеднике Нганджа, был 

экспортирован в октябре 2020 года в Китай для корпорации «Цзянсу энимал бай-

продакт импорт энд экспорт груп корпорейшн» (корпорация «Цзянсу») (см. при-

ложение 132). Древесина была отправлена транзитом через Бурунди в Уганду, 

откуда компания «Скайфэт тэннери ко., лтд», связанная с корпорацией 

«Цзянсу», экспортировала ее в Китай через Кению (см. приложение 133). Во 

втором случае, имевшем место 19 февраля 2020 года, эта компания отправила на 

экспорт корпорации «Цзянсу» 20 кубометров красного дерева, использовав экс-

портный сертификат Конвенции о международной торговле видами дикой фа-

уны и флоры, находящимися под угрозой исчезновения (СИТЕС) (см. приложе-

ние 134). Эта древесина была заготовлена криминальными сетями на юге тер-

ритории Ируму, где действует несколько вооруженных групп 147. Группа напра-

вила письмо корпорации «Цзянсу», но на момент составления настоящего до-

клада ответа не получила.  

178. В другом случае, имевшем место в ноябре 2020 года, корпорация «Глобал 

веб интернешнл» продала 18 тонн красного дерева, заготовленного в провинции 

Центральное Конго (бывшая провинция Нижнее Конго), компании «Импекс по-

тра», Бельгия 148  (см. приложение 135), согласно информации, полученной от 

двух нелицензированных лесозаготовителей, знакомых с этим вопросом, и со-

трудника лесного хозяйства в Киншасе. Они подтвердили, что нелицензирован-

ные лесозаготовители, работающие в провинциях Центральное Конго и Эквато-

риальная, поставляли красное дерево корпорации «Глобал веб интернешнл». 

Группа направила письмо компании «Импекс потра», но на момент составления 

настоящего доклада ответа не получила.  

 

  Древесный уголь 
 

179. С октября 2020 года на территории Калехе вырос местный спрос на дре-

весный уголь (см. S/2020/1283, пп. 81 и 82), что побудило фракции Хамакомбо 
__________________ 

 144 Согласно информации, полученной от трех торговцев красным деревом в Увире, 

правительственного чиновника из Бараки и эколога из Букаву.  

 145 Согласно информации, полученной Группой во время посещения пяти 

незарегистрированных магазинов продажи красного дерева в городе Увира, и согласно 

экспортным декларациям грузоотправителей. 

 146 Согласно информации, полученной от эколога из Южного Киву, сотрудника лесного 

хозяйства из Бараки и двух торговцев красным деревом, знакомых с этой ситуацией.  

 147 Согласно информации, полученной от сотрудника лесного хозяйства Итури, таможенного 

чиновника и торговца древесиной из Буниа, знакомого с этой ситуацией.   

 148 Постановление Европейского союза в отношении древесины запрещает размещение 

незаконно заготовленной древесины на рынке Европейского союза и требует от операторов 

действовать в соответствии со стандартами, предусматривающими проявление должной 

предусмотрительности, чтобы избегать попадания незаконно заготовленной древесины в их 

цепочку поставок. См. https://eia-global.org/subinitiatives/eu-timber-regulation-eutr.  

https://undocs.org/ru/S/2020/1283
https://eia-global.org/subinitiatives/eu-timber-regulation-eutr
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и Бутачиберы группы «Райя мутомбоки» взаимодействовать с фракциями Лансе 

и Качамбы группы «Райя мутомбоки», чтобы максимально повысить налоги, 

взимаемые с гражданского населения за доступ к лесу, особенно в районе Нья-

касесе. Это побудило вооруженные группы удвоить налоги за доступ к лесу с 

500 до 1000 конголезских франков с человека в день для тех, кто пользуется дре-

весным углем, и с 10 000 до 20 000 франков в день для тех, кто заготавливает 

древесину149. Вооруженные группы похищали членов общин, неспособных пла-

тить налоги, для получения выкупа в натуральной форме. Например, 21 декабря 

2020 года в деревне Каленга, Буньякири, комбатанты Хамакомбо угнали скот и 

похитили двух мужчин, которые позднее были освобождены после уплаты неиз-

вестного выкупа150. Повышение налогов, взимаемых вооруженными группами, 

привело к тому, что на рынках в Букаву выросли цены на древесный уголь из 

Буньякири151.  

 

 

 V. Рекомендации 
 

 

180. Группа выносит следующие рекомендации. 

 

  Правительству Демократической Республики Конго  
 

181. Группа рекомендует правительству Демократической Республики Конго:  

 a) срочно принять меры по защите гражданских лиц на территориях 

Джугу и Ируму в соответствии со стандартами в области прав человека и меж-

дународного гуманитарного права, независимо от общины происхождения этих 

лиц, и предотвратить нападения сил безопасности Демократической Республики 

Конго на всю общину в наказание за действия отдельного лица или группы лиц 

(см. пп. 113–120); 

 b) срочно принять меры для предотвращения подстрекательств к дис-

криминации, вражде или насилию и осудить такие подстрекательства, в частно-

сти в контексте ситуации в районе Высоких плато, и преследовать такие под-

стрекательства в судебном порядке в соответствии с международными стандар-

тами в области прав человека, касающимися прав на свободу выражения мнений 

и ассоциации (см. пп. 153–155); 

 c) проводить расследования и привлекать в соответствующих случаях к 

ответственности: 

 i) лиц, включая военнослужащих ВСДРК и сотрудников КНП, ответ-

ственных за серьезные нарушения права прав человека и/или международ-

ного гуманитарного права, включая связанное с конфликтом сексуальное 

насилие, на территориях Джугу, Ируму и Бени и в районе Высоких плато в 

рамках судебных процессов, которые в полной мере гарантируют осу-

ществление права на справедливое судебное разбирательство (см. пп. 26, 

27, 32, 82–89, 103–106, 110, 113–120 и 146–155);  

 ii) преступных сетей, занимающихся контрабандой красного дерева из 

заповедников Лвама-Киву, Нганджа и Итомбве (см. пп. 174–178); 

__________________ 

 149 Согласно информации, полученной от трех торговцев из Буньякири и лица, ограбленного 

комбатантами Хамакомбо. 

 150 Там же, а также согласно информации, полученной от МООНСДРК. 

 151 Согласно информации, полученной от двух оптовых продавцов древесного угля из Букаву 

и перевозчика древесного угля, который переправлял уголь на пароме из Буньякири в 

Букаву.  
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 d) обеспечить создание условий для того, чтобы комбатанты ПФСИ 

оставались в местах предварительного расквартирования, пока принимается ре-

шение об условиях амнистии и интеграции в ВСДРК соответствующих комба-

тантов ПФСИ (см. пп. 121–125); 

 e) безотлагательно разработать и внедрить — отдельно от процесса 

разоружения ПФСИ — всеобъемлющую и четкую стратегию разоружения, де-

мобилизации и реинтеграции членов фракций КОДЕКО, предоставив в этой 

связи достаточные ресурсы и гарантии привлечения к ответственности винов-

ных (см. пп. 81–83); 

 f) активизировать усилия по поиску возможностей для участия в пере-

говорах с АДС, направленных на разъединение его сил и на разоружение, реин-

теграцию и репатриацию его членов, сообразно обстоятельствах (см. пп. 11–31); 

 g) выделить разведывательные и технические ресурсы, необходимые 

для повышения эффективности военных операций против АДС (см. пп. 11 и 19–

25); 

 h) активизировать усилия и срочно принять меры для того, чтобы пре-

кратить оказание военнослужащими ВСДРК поддержки вооруженным группам 

в районе Высоких плато, что они, в частности, делают путем перенаправления 

оружия и боеприпасов (см. пп. 143–145); 

 i) обеспечить соблюдение официальных процедур получения КИОП 

оружия и боеприпасов и своевременное реагирование компетентных органов на 

запросы КИОП (см. пп. 39–43); 

 j) предоставить необходимые средства, чтобы горнодобывающие ве-

домства могли до начала экспорта проверять подлинность контактных данных 

получателей золота, указанных экспортерами в экспортных сертификатах Меж-

дународной конференции по району Великих озер (см. п. 168);  

 k) создать транспарентный общий реестр или базу данных о фермерах и 

торговцах какао на территории Бени и в более широком районе, чтобы обеспе-

чить возможность идентификации незаконных операций по торговле какао и 

предотвращать их (см. пп. 34–38);  

 l) возобновить прозрачный диалог при посредничестве нейтральной 

стороны и с участием всех сторон для устранения напряженности в Рубайе 

(см. пп. 59–74). 

 

  Правительству Демократической Республики Конго 
 

182. Группа рекомендует правительству Демократической Республики Конго и 

МООНСДРК разработать в контексте военных операций всеобъемлющую стра-

тегию защиты гражданского населения от нападений вооруженных групп на тер-

ритории Бени и в южных районах территории Ируму (см. пп. 11–33). 

 

  Совету Безопасности  
 

183. Группа рекомендует Совету Безопасности поручить МООНСДРК укрепить 

их способность бороться с использованием самодельных взрывных устройств, 

в том числе их способность повышать осведомленность об опасности самодель-

ных взрывных устройств и искать, обнаруживать и обезвреживать такие устрой-

ства, а также их способность проводить базовые расследования и криминали-

стическую экспертизу в связи с самодельными взрывными устройствами 

(см. пп. 19–25). 
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  Органам Организации Объединенных Наций и МООНСДРК 
 

184. Группа рекомендует органам Организации Объединенных Наций и 

МООНСДРК: 

 a) оказывать правительству Демократической Республики Конго содей-

ствие в повышении осведомленности военнослужащих ВСДРК об опасности са-

модельных взрывных устройств и в укреплении их способности сообщать о та-

ких устройствах, оценивать создаваемую ими угрозу и обезвреживать такие 

устройства, причем это особенно касается тех военнослужащих, которые дей-

ствуют в районах, заминированных АДС (см. пп. 19–25);  

 b) оказывать правительству Демократической Республики Конго содей-

ствие в более широком распространении базовой информации об опасности са-

модельных взрывных устройств среди гражданских лиц, проживающих в райо-

нах, где АДС установил большое количество таких устройств, и оказывать граж-

данским лицам помощь в обследовании предполагаемых опасных районов 

(см. пп. 19–25). 
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Приложения 
 

Annex 1 
 
Organizations and entities the Group officially met with during its mandate 
  
Organisations et entités que le Groupe a officiellement rencontrées pendant son mandat   

 

 

GREAT LAKES REGION / REGION DES GRANDS LACS 

 

Democratic Republic of the Congo / République démocratique du Congo 

Agence nationale de renseignement (ANR) 

Auditorat militaire 

Centre d’évaluation, d’expertise et de certification (CEEC) 

Commission nationale de lutte contre la fraude minière (CNLFM) 

Direction générale des douanes et accises (DGDA) 

Direction générale des migrations (DGM) 

Forces armées de la République démocratique du Congo (FARDC) 

Ministère des mines  

Police des mines et hydrocarbures (PMH) 

Police nationale congolaise (PNC) 

Service d’assistance et d’encadrement de l’exploitation minière artisanale et à petite échelle (SAEMAPE)  

 

Organizations 

Embassy of United Kingdom / Ambassade du Royaume Uni 

Embassy of France / Ambassade de France 

Embassy of United States of America / Ambassade des États-Unis d’Amérique 

Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) / Bureau de la coordination des affaires humanitaires 

United Nations Joint Human Rights Office (UNJHRO) / Bureau conjoint des Nations Unies pour les Droits de 

l’homme (BCNUDH) 

United Nations Organization Stabilization Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (MONUS CO) / Mis-

sion de l’Organisation des Nations Unies pour la stabilisation en République démocratique du Congo 

United Nations World Food Programme (WFP) / Programme alimentaire mondial  
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OUTSIDE THE GREAT LAKES REGION / EN DEHORS DE LA REGION DES GRANDS LACS 

 

Belgium / Belgique 

Government / Gouvernement 

Ministry of Foreign Affairs / Ministère des affaires étrangères  

Ministry of Defense / Ministère de la défense 

 

France  

Government / Gouvernement  

Ministry of Foreign Affairs / Ministère des affaires étrangères 

Ministry of Defense / Ministère de la défense 

 

Organizations 

Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) / Organisation de coopération et de dévelop-

pement économiques (OCDE) 

 

United States of America 

Organizations 

United Nations Department of Peace Operations / Département des operations de paix des Nations Unies  

United Nations Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General for Children and Armed Conflict / Bureau de 

la Représentante spéciale du Secrétaire général pour le sort des enfants en temps de conflits armés des Nations unies 

United Nations Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Sexual Violence in Conflict / 

Bureau de la Représentante spéciale du Secrétaire général chargée de la question des violences sexuelles com-

mises en période de conflit 

  

Kenya 

Organizations 

Office of the Special Envoy of the Secretary-General for the Great Lakes Region / Bureau de l’Envoyé spécial du 

Secrétaire général pour la région des Grands Lacs  
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Annex 2 

  

Group’s official communications 

 

Communications officielles du Groupe  

 

During this mandate, the Group addressed 85 official communications to Member States, international organiza-

tions, entities and individuals (including multiple communications to some of the same addresses).  

For the letters sent during this mandate, the Group received responses from the Governments of South Africa, 

Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, and Zambia. The Group also received a response from the Governor of Ituri (Dem-

ocratic Republic of the Congo). 

For the letters sent during this mandate, the Group did not receive responses from the Governments of Belgium, 

the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Kenya, Mozambique, Tanzania, and United Kingdom.  

The Group received responses from Burundi, China, Rwanda et Uganda, only to some of the letters it sent during 

this mandate. 

The Group received responses from the following international organizations, entities and individuals: Better 

Mining, Coopérative des artisanaux miniers du Congo (CDMC), International Tin Association (ITA) Ltd, Inte r-

national Criminal Court Registrar, Halcyon Inc, Christoph Huber, Mosston Engineering Ltd, Robert Seninga, 

RwandAir Limited, SOGECOM Sarl, Star Dragon Corporation Ltd, Tasha Gold and Jewels Trading LLC, Tullow 

Oil Plc.  

The Group did not receive responses from the following entities and individuals: ABSA Bank, Coopérative 

des exploitants artisanaux miniers de Masisi (COOPERAMMA), Ding Sheng sprl, Fametal Mining and Re-

sources Holding Group Ltd, Al-Hallaq Jewellery LLC, Gold Dragon Ressources, Gold Fun Corporation, Impex 

Potra, Jiangsu Animal By-Product Import and Export Group Corp, Juba Express, John Crawley, Justin Nday-

ishimiye, Kimia Mining and Investment, Mambo Kamaragi, MCC Resources, Mile Dragic Cooperation, Ori-

ental Resources Congo Sarl, Moneyland Ltd, Ndele Bachebandey, Rawbank, Skyfat, Tropical Bank, Turkish 

Post Office, Vodacom DRC, and Sakima SA. 

 

Au cours de ce mandat, le Groupe a adressé 85 communications officielles aux États membres, aux organisations 

internationales, entités et individus (y compris de multiple communications à certains destinataires).  

Pour les lettres envoyées durant ce mandat, le Groupe a reçu des réponses des Gouvernements d’Afrique du sud, 

de la Suède, de la Suisse, de la Turquie et de la Zambie. Le Groupe a aussi reçu une rép onse du Gouverneur de 

l’Ituri (République Démocratique du Congo).  

Pour les lettres envoyées durant ce mandat, le Groupe n’a pas reçu de réponse des Gouvernements de la  

Belgique, de République Démocratique du Congo, du Kenya, du Mozambique, de la Tanzanie et du Royaume  

Uni. 

Le Groupe a reçu des réponses du Burundi, de la Chine, du Rwanda et de l’Ouganda à seulement certaines des 

lettres qu’il a envoyées pendant son mandat.  

Le Groupe a reçu des réponses des organisations internationales, entités et individu s suivants : Better Mining, 

Coopérative des artisanaux miniers du Congo (CDMC), International Tin Association (ITA) Ltd, le Greffe de la 

Cour pénale internationale, Halcyon Inc, Christoph Huber, Mosston Engineering Ltd, Robert Seninga, RwandAir 

Limited, SOGECOM Sarl, Star Dragon Corporation Ltd, Tasha Gold and Jewels Trading LLC, Tullow Oil Plc.  

Le Groupe n’a pas reçu de réponses des entitées et individus suivants  : ABSA Bank, Coopérative des exploitants 

artisanaux miniers de Masisi (COOPERAMMA), Ding Sheng sprl, Fametal Mining and Resources Holding Group 

Ltd, Al-Hallaq Jewellery LLC, Gold Dragon Ressources, Gold Fun Corporation, Impex Potra, Jiangsu  
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Animal By-Product Import and Export Group Corp, Juba Express, John Crawley, Justin Ndayishimiye,  Kimia 

Mining and Investment, Mambo Kamaragi, MCC Resources, Mile Dragic Cooperation, Oriental Resources Congo 

Sarl, Moneyland Ltd, Ndele Bachebandey, Rawbank, Skyfat, Tropical Bank, Turkish Post Office, Vodacom DRC, 

and Sakima SA. 
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Annex 3 

Information on ADF main camps 

Information sur les principaux camps ADF 

At the time of drafting, there were at least five main ADF camps: one in Mamove, one north of the Mbau-Kamango 

road, one in the Mayangose forest and two around Mwalika in “Domaine” and Madina. As explained in para. 13, 

they were semi-permanent camps and can be relocated as necessary, although usually within a limited perimeter. 1 

Most of these camps were inhabited by combatants as well as by women and children, the main one being Madina, 

which according to recent testimonies hosted over 200 persons in early 2021. The camps usually had 5-10 combat-

ants positioned on the outskirts to warn and protect them in case of attacks. The division of tasks and responsibilities 

within the camps was well organized, usually enforced through a culture of fear and harsh discipline as previously 

reported (see S/2019/469, para. 35). All camps had a mosque and/or a large prayer area, sometimes also called 

risala, which was a gathering place particularly for Islamic teaching but also for important preaching, information 

and public punishments (see S/2015/19, annex 8). Depending on their size, some camps also had schools for 

qur’anic teaching, as well as a clinic and prison (see S/2014/428, paras. 31-33 and annex 8). 

 

Madina 

As previously reported, Madina, also sometimes called Madina at Tauheed Wau Mujahedeen (MTM) 2 by ADF, 

refers to ADF headquarters, regardless of its location. Since at least 2008, when ADF first established Madina 

camp,3 it has at least moved positions five times due to FARDC operations. However, ADF continued calling it 

Madina. It is now referred to as Madina 5 by ADF and located at the limit between Beni and southern Irumu 

territories, between Bango and Lese (see para. 13). According to two ex-combatants and a former abductee, Madina 

was still subdivided into four smaller camps,4 each led by an ADF commander: Kajaju, Whisper, Bango and “HQ” 

(as in headquarters). Baluku resided at HQ which was located in the middle of the other camps. 5 Lumisa (see annex 

4) headed up Bango camp.  

According to several ex-combatants and former abductees, living conditions in Madina were extremely difficult, 

particularly regarding food supplies given the high number of persons to feed within the camp. As a result, many 

inhabitants spent most of their time gathering food outside the camp, sometimes duri ng missions that lasted for 

days and were far away. Three ex-combatants explained that one of the missions to steal hundreds of cows in Boga 

in 2019, ordered by Baluku, gathered combatants from various camps. Also, combatants were often sent from 

Madina to other camps to collect goods, and conversely combatants from other camps were regularly sent to Madina 

to bring supplies collected during operations/attacks or through collaborators. Division and allocation of supplies 

and goods between and within camps was carefully monitored at the highest level and through record keeping (see 

S/2014/428, para. 34).  

 

Irungu / Mwalika / Domaine  

Irungu, often referred to as Mwalika and/or Domaine, 6 is one of the oldest ADF camps, which also kept its name 

throughout the years. Located near Mwalika7 within an area called Domaine near Issale in the Virunga National 

Park, usually by the Semuliki river, it was also composed of several nearby camps, including advanced positions . 

It was regularly moved and even disbanded on at least two occasions in 2012 (see S/2015/19, annex 8) and in 2014. 

Amigo was the main commander in Irungu/Mwalika. According to three ex-combatants, in 2018, Baluku ordered 

Amigo to reestablish the camp, given its strategic location and function for ADF. Indeed, since at least 2009, 

__________________ 

1 Several ex-combatants and abductees explained that they were ordered to hide whenever a drone or a helicopter would pass over 

their camps. After the second or third passage, they were ordered to move. For example, a former abductee explained that her camp 

changed locations four times in two months in Mwalika. Others explained that when someone escaped, ADF often changed locations 

fearing being traced back by FARDC. See also S/2019/469, annex 35. 
2 Translation: “The city of monotheism and holy warriors.”  
3 It was also called Nadui before being definitively called Madina. 
4 See S/2019/469, annex 4. 
5 He was previously in Kajaju’s camp, see S/2019/469, annex 4. 
6 Other names were Karuamba, used by ex-combatants and FARDC to refer to Irungu/Mwalika.  
7 Ex-combatants and former abductees. See also S/2019/469, para. 18.  

https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2015/19
https://www.undocs.org/S/2014/42
https://www.undocs.org/S/2014/42
https://www.undocs.org/S/2015/19
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
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Irungu/Mwalika was mainly used as a transit and training camp for new recruits 8 coming from Uganda and other 

countries through the Kasindi border crossing or through Goma and South Kivu via Butembo, before being trans-

ferred to Madina (see S/2019/469, para. 29 and annex 8). The main trainers were Amigo and before the split, 

Muzaya (see para. 18). Irungu/Mwalika also provided an important part of the food and agricultural supplies of 

ADF as it was located in the middle of fields, where Amigo managed field distribution through collaborators (see 

annex 22). ADF demanded a portion of harvests from farmers in exchange for access to the park and protection.  

 

The other main Irungu/Mwalika camp was headed by Abwakasi, 9  alias Jundi (see para. 25 and annex 4 and 

S/2019/469, annex 7). Located at a 30-minute walk beyond Amigo’s camp deeper into the Park, the  trainings were 

conducted there. According to two ex-combatants, Baluku also ordered Abwakasi, who was previously in Madina, 

to establish a camp near Amigo’s to relieve him from a heavy workload.  

 
In early 2020, part of Irungu/Mwalika camps were taken by FARDC (see S/2020/482, para. 33), however ADF 

recently returned to this location. According to an ex-combatant who left Irungu/Mwalika early in 2021, there were 

about 300 persons in each camp, including women and children, in addition to new recruits. Other important ADF 

commanders in Irungu/Mwalika included Mzee Mubindo and Kikute (see annex 4).  

 

 

Mamove  

A relatively new camp, Mamove was first established around 2014 by Amigo after leaving Irungu and serv ed as a 

main logistical resupply hub. According to several ex-combatants, given its proximity to bigger towns such as 

Oicha and Beni, collaborators easily accessed Mamove, directly bringing food and goods. Attacks were also often 

conducted on nearby villages. Some of these supplies were then regularly brought by combantats to Madina, while 

combatants from other camps, such as Mapobu, travelled to Mamove to collect some of the goods.  

 

Mayangose 

ADF has been operating in Mayangose since at least 2012, from where the armed group conducted a series of 

attacks in 2013 (see S/2013/433, annex 41). In 2017, Mulalo established a mobile unit near Lahe (see S/2019/469, 

annex 5) from where he led attacks in the area for resupply or to chase away FARDC and civilians to allow ADF 

movements between Madina and Mwalika camps. The camp was a transit point for new recruits and abductees 

before travelling to Mwalika or Madina. Mulalo remained in the area until mid/end-2020 when he moved to 

Rwenzori. However, according to several ex-combatants, the camp still existed at time of drafting.    

 

Mapobu 

Situated on the Mbau-Kamango road, the camp was also used as a logistical hub (see S/2019/469, para. 20). Mzee 

Mugonza was the commander of the camp, which according to ex-combatants and former abductees was relatively 

large with at least five advanced positions and hosting over 200 combatants and  dependents in 2020.  

 

 

Au moment de la rédaction du rapport, il existait au moins cinq principaux camps des ADF, à Mamove, a u nord de 

la route Mbau-Kamango, dans la forêt de Mayangose et deux autour de Mwalika dans le « Domaine » et Madina. 

Comme expliqué au paragraphe 13, il s’agissait de camps semi-permanents qui pouvaient être relocalisés si néces-

saire, bien qu'ils restaient généralement dans un périmètre limité.10 La plupart de ces camps étaient habités par des 

combattants ainsi que par des femmes et des enfants, le principal étant Madina, qui, selon de récents témoignages, 

__________________ 

8 Already in 2010, the Group mentioned that training was conducted in Mwalika camp in 2009, including by foreign trainers from 

Pakistan and Morocco. See S/2010/596, para. 111.  
9 Although Amigo has overall responsibility for the all the camps in the area.  
10 Plusieurs ex-combattants et personnes enlevées ont expliqué qu'on leur avait ordonné de se cacher chaque fois qu'un drone ou un 

hélicoptère passait au-dessus de leurs camps. Après le deuxième ou le troisième passage, ils avaient reçu l'ordre de déplacer le 

camp. Par exemple, une personne ayant été enlevée a expliqué que son camp avait changé de lieu quatre fois en deux mois à 

Mwalika. D'autres ont expliqué que lorsque quelqu'un s'échappait, les ADF changeaient souvent de lieu de peur d'être retrouvé par 

les FARDC. 

https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
https://www.undocs.org/S/2013/433
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2010/596
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accueillait plus de 200 personnes début 2021. Ces camps avaient généralement des positions avancées autour d'eux 

avec cinq à dix combattants pour les avertir et les protéger en cas d'attaques. La répartition des tâches et des res-

ponsabilités au sein des camps était bien organisée, généralement dans le cadre d’une culture de peur et de discipline 

sévère, comme indiqué précédemment (voir S/2019/469, par. 35). Tous les camps avaient une mosquée et/ou une 

grande zone de prière, parfois aussi appelée risala, lieu de rassemblement en particulier pour l'enseignement isla-

mique mais aussi pour d'importantes prédications, informations et punitions publiques (voir S/2019/469, annexe 

8). Selon la taille du camp, certains avaient également des écoles d'enseignement coranique, ainsi qu'une clinique 

et une prison (voir S/2014/428, par. 31 à 33 et annexe 8). 

 

Madina 

Comme indiqué précédemment, Madina, également parfois appelée Madina at Tauheed Wau Mujahedeen (MTM) 11 

par les ADF, désigne le quartier général des ADF, quel que soit l'endroit où il se trouve. En effet , depuis au moins 

2008, lorsque les ADF ont établi leur camp de Madina,12 il a été au moins déplacé cinq fois en raison des opérations 

des FARDC, mais les ADF ont continué à l'appeler Madina. Le camp est désormais dénommé Madina 5 par les 

ADF et serait situé à la limite des territoires de Beni et du sud d'Irumu, entre Bango et Lese (voir par. 13). Selon 

deux ex-combattants et une personne ayant été enlevé, Madina était toujours subdivisée en quatre camps 13 plus 

petits, chacun dirigé par un commandant des ADF: Kajaju, Whisper, Bango et « QG » (pour « quartier général ». 

Le QG était situé au milieu des autres camps et était l'endroit où Baluku résidait. Lumisa (voir annexe 4) dirigeait 

le camp de Bango. 

 

Selon plusieurs ex-combattants et des personnes ayant été enlevées, les conditions de vie à Médina étaient extrê-

mement difficiles, notamment concernant l'approvisionnement en nourriture compte tenu du nombre élevé de per-

sonnes à nourrir dans le camp. En conséquence, beaucoup d'entre eux passaient la plupart de le ur temps à collecter 

de la nourriture à l'extérieur du camp, parfois lors de missions qui duraient plusieurs jours et qui étaient éloignées. 

Trois ex-combattants ont expliqué que l'une de ces missions consistait à voler des centaines de vaches à Boga en 

2019, sur ordre de Baluku, et avait rassemblé des combattants de divers camps. En outre, les combattants étaient 

souvent envoyés de Madina vers d'autres camps pour collecter des marchandises, et inversement, des combattants 

d'autres camps étaient régulièrement envoyés à Madina pour apporter l’approvisionnement collecté lors d'opéra-

tions/attaques ou par l'intermédiaire de collaborateurs. La division et la répartition de la nourriture et des biens 

entre les camps et à l'intérieur de ceux-ci était soigneusement contrôlée au plus haut niveau et grâce à la tenue de 

registres (voir également S/2014/428, par. 34). 

 

Irungu / Mwalika / Domaine 

Irungu, souvent appelé Mwalika et/ou Domaine,14 est l'un des plus anciens camps ADF, qui a également gardé son 

nom au fil des ans. Situé près de Mwalika15 dans une zone appelée Domaine près d'Issale dans le Parc nationale des 

Virunga, généralement au bord de la rivière Semuliki, il était également comp osé de plusieurs camps à proximité, 

y compris des positions avancées. Irungu/Mwalika a été régulièrement déplacé et même dissout à au moins deux 

reprises en 2012 (voir S/2015/19, annexe 8) et en 2014. Amigo était le commandant principal à Irungu/Mwalika. 

Selon trois ex-combattants, en 2018, Baluku avait ordonné à Amigo de ré-établir le camp, compte tenu de son 

emplacement et fonction stratégiques pour les ADF. En effet, depuis au moins 2009, Irung u/Mwalika était princi-

palement utilisé comme camp de transit et d'entraînement pour les nouvelles recrues 16 en provenance d'Ouganda et 

d'autres pays via le poste frontière de Kasindi ou via Goma et le Sud Kivu via Butembo, avant d'être transférés à 

Madina (voir S/2019/469, par. 29 et annexe 8). Les principaux formateurs étaient Amigo et, avant la scission d’une 

faction dissidente, Muzaya (voir par. 18). Irungu a également fourni une part importante des approv isionnements 

alimentaires et agricoles des ADF étant situé au milieu des champs, où Amigo gérait la distribution des terrains par 

__________________ 

11 « La ville du monothéisme et des guerriers saints ». 
12 Madina s'appelait aussi Nadui avant de s'appeler définitivement Madina.  
13 Voir S/2019/469, annexe 4. 
14 D’autres noms tel que Karuamba étaient utilisés par les ex-combattants et les FARDC pour se référer à Irungu/Mwalika. 
15  Ex-combattants et personnes ayant été enlevés. Voir également S/2019/469, par. 18. 
16 En 2010 déjà, le Groupe avait évoqué la tenue de formations dans le camp de Mwalika en 2009, notamment par des formateurs 

étrangers du Pakistan et du Maroc. Voir S/2010/596, par. 111. 

https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2014/42
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2014/428
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2015/19
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2010/596
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l'intermédiaire de collaborateurs (voir annexe 22). Les ADF exigeaient une partie de la récolte des membres de la 

population agricole en échange d'un accès au parc et d'une protection. 

 

L'autre camp principal d'Irungu/Mwalika était dirigé par Abwakasi, 17  alias Jundi (voir par. 25, annexe 4 et 

S/2019/469, annexe 7). Situé à environ 30 minutes de marche après le camp d’Amigo plus profondément dans le 

parc, les formations y étaient dispensées. Selon deux ex-combattants, Baluku avait aussi ordonné à Abwakasi, qui 

se trouvait auparavant à Madina, d’établir un camp près d’Amigo pour le soulager de sa lourde charge de travail. 

 

Début 2020, une partie des camps d'Irungu/Mwalika avait été prise par les FARDC (voir S/2020/482, par. 33). 

Toutefois, les ADF sont récemment retournés vers cet endroit. Selon un ancien combattant qui a quitté Irungu/Mwa-

lika début 2021, il y avait environ 200-300 personnes dans chaque camp, y compris des femmes et des enfants, sans 

compter les nouvelles recrues. Les autres commandants importants des ADF à Irungu/Mwa lika comprenaient Mzee 

Mubindo et Kikute (voir annexe 4). 

 

Mamove 

Camp relativement nouveau, Mamove a été établi pour la première fois en 2014 par Amigo après avoir quitté Irungu 

et a servi de centre principal de réapprovisionnement logistique. Selon plusi eurs ex-combattants, étant donné sa 

proximité avec de plus grandes villes telles que Oicha et Beni, les collaborateurs pouvaient facilement accéder à 

Mamove, apportant directement de la nourriture et des biens. Des attaques à partir de ce camp étaient égal ement 

souvent menées contre les villages voisins. Certains de ces approvisionnements étaient ensuite régulièrement ap-

portés par des combattants à Madina, tandis que des combattants d'autres camps, comme Mapobu, se rendaient à 

Mamove pour récupérer une partie des biens. 

 

Mayangose 

 

Les ADF ont opéré à Mayangose depuis au moins 2012, à partir d’où ils ont mené une série d'attaques en 2013 

(voir S/2013/433, annexe 41). En 2017, Mulalo a établi son unité mobile près de Lahe (voir S/2019/469, annexe 5) 

à partir d’où il avait mené des attaques dans la région pour se réapprovisionner ou pour chasser les FARDC et l es 

civils afin de permettre les mouvements des ADF entre les camps de Madina et de Mwalika . Le camp était ainsi un 

point de transit pour les nouvelles recrues et les personnes enlevées avant de se rendre à Mwalika ou à Madina. 

Mulalo est resté dans la zone jusqu’à la mi/fin 2020 lorsqu'il s’est relocalisé à Rwenzori. Cependant, selon plusieurs 

ex-combattants, le camp existait toujours au moment de la rédaction.  

 

Mapobu 

 

Situé sur la route Mbau-Kamango, le camp était également utilisé comme centre logistique (voir S/2019/469, par. 

20). Mzee Mugonza était le commandant du camp, qui, selon les ex-combattants et êrsonnes enlevées, était relati-

vement important avec au moins cinq postes avancés. Il hébergeait plus d e 200 combattants et personnes à charge 

en 2020. 

  

__________________ 

17 Bien qu'Amigo avait la responsabilité globale de tous les camps de la région. 

 

https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/482
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Annex 4 

 

ADF leadership 

Leadership des ADF 

On the basis of interviews conducted by the Group with ex-combatants, former abductees, victims and eyewitnesses 

of attacks, FARDC officers, researchers, UN and diplomatic sources as well as documentary evidence such as 

videos and photographs, currently active ADF leaders were identified and described as follows:  

 

Sur la base d'entretiens menés par le Groupe avec des ex-combattants, de personnes ayant été enlevées par les ADF, 

des victimes et des témoins oculaires d'attaques, des officiers des FARDC des  chercheurs, des sources de l’ONU et 

diplomatiques ainsi que des preuves documentaires telles que des vidéos et des photographies, les dirigeants  actifs 

actuels des ADF ont été identifiés et décrits comme suit:  

 

   

Seka Baluku, alias Musa (CDi.036). Ugandan, from Kasese and a member of the 8,000, an elite society of senior 

ADF leaders (see S/2015/19, annex 10). At the time of drafting he was still the overall commander of ADF, main-

taining tight control over ADF commanders and combatants. He consolidated power following Mukulu’s arrest in 

2015. Several ex-combatants and former abductees explained how most ADF operations and activities were ordered 

by Baluku, often through his deputy Mzee Pierro. Described as reserved and mainly praying or preaching, Baluku 

still decided on punishments carried out in Madina, similar to when he served as ADF’s chief Isl amic “judge”, prior 

to Mukulu’s arrest (see S/2015/797, paras. 9-12). He was described as having no mercy as a “judge”. As at 20 April 

2021, he was living in Madina camp. 

 

Seka Baluku, alias Musa (CDi.036). Ougandais, originaire de Kasese et membre des 8 000, un groupe d’élites de 

hauts gardés ADF (voir S/2015/19, annexe 10). Au moment de la rédaction du rapport, il était toujours le comman-

dant général des ADF et gardait un contrôle étroit sur les commandants et les combattants des ADF. Il avait conso-

lidé son pouvoir après l'arrestation de Mukulu en 2015, et plusieurs ex-combattants et personnes enlevées ont ex-

pliqué comment la plupart des opérations et activités des ADF étaient ordonnées par Baluku, souvent par l'intermé-

diaire de son adjoint Mzee Pierro. Décrit comme réservé et principalement priant ou prêchant, il a continué de 

décider des punitions infligées à Madina, de façon similaire à lorsqu'il était « juge » islamique en chef des ADF, 

avant l'arrestation de Mukulu (voir S/2015/797, par. 9-12). Il a été décrit comme n'ayant aucune pitié en tant que 

« juge ». À la date du 20 avril 2021, il vivait dans le camp de Madina. 

 

 

  

 

Mzee Pierro, alias Lukwago Hood. Ugandan and member of the 8,000, approximately 65 years old. Most ex-

combatants and former abductees described him as Baluku’s deputy and ADF’s army commander, responsible for 

all commanders and ADF combatants’ deployments and operations (upon Baluku’s ins tructions). An ex-combatant 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2015/19
https://www.undocs.org/S/2015/797
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2015/19
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told the Group that he was often seen talking on the radio, giving orders. Contrary to what was reported in 2019 

(see S/2019/469, annex 6), he was not killed in 2018 and lived in Madina at the time of drafting. 

 

Mzee Pierro, également connu sous le nom de Lukwago Hood. Ougandais et membre des 8000, âgé d'environ 65 

ans. La plupart des ex-combattants et personnes ayant été enlevées l’ont décrit comme l’adjoint de Baluku et com-

mandant de l’armée des ADF, responsable de tous les déploiements et opérations des commandants et des combat-

tants des ADF (sur instruction de Baluku). Un ex-combattant a déclaré au Groupe l’avoir souvent vu parler à la 

radio, donnant des ordres. Contrairement à ce qui était rapporté en 2019 par le Groupe (voir S/2019/469, annexe 

6), il n'a pas été tué en 2018 et vivait à Madina au moment de la rédaction.  

 

 

  

Mzee Wa Kazi alias Lumisa or Lumwisa. Ugandan, approximately 60 years old. Currently commander of the 

Bango camp in Madina. In charge of receiving and handling recruits and abductees, including “ bazanas”(slaves) 

(see S/2015/19, para. 6) and women in general, for whom he decided their spouses. Seen, in recent ADF vid eos and 

photographs, preaching or discussing (see annex 20).  

 

Mzee Wa Kazi également connu sous le nom de Lumisa ou Lumwisa. Ougandais, environ 60 ans. Actuellement 

commandant du camp de Bango à Madina. Chargé de recevoir et de gérer les recrues et les pe rsonnes enlevées, y 

compris les « bazanas » (esclaves) (voir S/2015/19, par. 6) et les femmes en général, pour lesquelles il décidait 

d’avec qui les marier. Vu en train de prêcher ou de discuter dans des vidéos et photographies récentes des ADF 

(voir annexe 20). 

 

 

   

Mzee Wako, alias Dr. Amisi Kasadha or Kalume. Ugandan and a member of the 8,000. He used to be Jamil’s 

bodyguard and an instructor, particularly teaching how to use weapons. Currently in Mad ina and deputy army 

commander, he was in charge of administration and food resupply, as well as placing new recruits and abductees 

in the various camps. He was described as close to Baluku. He is also a medical doctor.  

 

Mzee Wako, également connu sous le nom de Dr. Amisi Kasadha ou Kalume. Ougandais et membre des 8000. Il 

était autrefois le garde du corps de Jamil et un instructeur, enseignant en particulier le maniement des armes. Ac-

tuellement à Madina et commandant militaire adjoint, il était en charge de  l'administration et du réapprovisionne-

ment alimentaire, ainsi que du placement des nouveaux arrivants dans les différents camps. Il a été décri t comme 

proche de Baluku. Il est également médecin.  

 

 

 

Mzee Mayor, alias Nassa. Ugandan. Military commander close to Baluku, he was trusted to transmit orders from 

him and Mzee Pierro, particularly regarding operations and the designation of their command ers. Based in Madina. 

An ex-combatant explained how, similarly to Mzee Pierro, Mzee Mayor called through the rad io or phoned other 

https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
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camps to order combatants to go on operations and he could send reinforcements from other camps for larger 

operations.  

 

Mzee Mayor, également connu sous le nom de Nassa. Ougandais. Commandant militaire proche de Baluku, il était 

également chargé de transmettre ses ordres et ceux de Mzee Pierro, notamment concernant les opérations et la 

désignation de leurs commandants. Basé à Madina. Un ex-combattant a expliqué comment, à l'instar de Mzee Pierro, 

il appelait à la radio ou au téléphone d'autres camps pour ordonner aux combattants de conduire des opérations, et 

qu’il pouvait envoyer des renforts d'autres camps pour des opérations plus importantes. 

 

 

  

Mzee Kayiira, alias Ogundipe and Muhammad. Ugandan and a member of the 8,000. He used to be in charge of 

combat operations (CCO). At time of drafting, he was in Madina in charge of administration and finances, particu-

larly supplies and coordination with collaborators. Contrary to what was reported  in 2019 (see S/2019/469, annex 

6), he was not killed in 2018. 

 

Mzee Kayiira, également connu sous le nom d'Ogundipe et Muhammad. Ougandais et membre des 8000. Aupa-

ravant en charge des opérations de combat (CCO), il était, au moment de la rédaction du r apport, à Madina en 

charge de l'administration et des finances, en particulier des approvisionnements et de la coordination avec les  

collaborateurs. Contrairement à ce qui a rapporté en 2019 par le Groupe (voir S/2019/469, annexe 6), il n'a pas été 

tué en 2018 et vivait à Madina. 

 

 

 

 

Mzee Ibuha, alias Butambala or Abdul Lubega. Ugandan and a member of the 8,000. He used to be a “judge” 

and was close to Baluku. Based in Madina, he was seen in a 2020 video with Seka Baluku, discussing about ADF’s 

history and name (see annex 20). 

 

Mzee Ibuha, également connu sous le nom de Butambala ou Abdul Lubega. Ougandais et membre des 8000. Il 

était « juge » et proche de Baluku. Basé à Madina, il a été vu dans une vidéo de 2020 avec Seka Baluku, discutant 

de l’histoire et du nom des ADF (voir annexe 20).  

 

 

  

 

Amigo, alias Amigo Kibirige, aka Simba Amigo, Mzee Amigo or Marin or Chauffeur by some ex -combatants. 

Ugandan and member of the 8,000. Approximately 50 years old. Mil itary commander and hunchback following an 

injury to his right shoulder several years ago. Currently commander of the Irungu/Mwalika camp (see annex 3) and 

https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
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former commander of the Mamove camp, he was in charge of organizing the transit of international rec ruits and 

receiving and training them in Irungu/Mwalika. He was also in charge of food supplies and goods in Mamove and 

Irungu, particularly dealing with field distribution in the Virunga National Park with/through collaborators (see 

annex 22). He led Kangbayi Beni Prison’s jailbreak in October 2020.  

 

Amigo, également connu sous le nom d'Amigo Kibirige, alias Simba Amigo, Mzee Amigo ou Marin ou Chauffeur 

par certains ex-combattants. Ougandais et membre des 8000. Environ 50 ans. Commandant militaire et boss u suite 

à une blessure à l'épaule droite il y a plusieurs années. Actuellement comm andant du camp d'Irungu/Mwalika (voir 

annexe 3) et ancien commandant du camp de Mamove, il était chargé d'organiser le transit des recrues internatio-

nales, de les recevoir et de les former à Irungu / Mwalika. Il était également en charge de l'approvisionne ment en 

vivres et produits de première nécessité à Mamove et à Irungu, en particulier dans la distribution des terrains dans 

le Parc national des Virunga avec/par l'intermédiaire de collaborateurs (voir annexe 22). Il a dirigé l’évasion de la 

prison de Kangbayi à Beni en octobre 2020. 

 

 

 

  

Kikute or Kikutte (pronounced “Chi-ko-té”), alias Abdu Hamid Diiru, Diiro, Jaja, Mukulu Kikutte. Ugandan and 

member of the 8,000. Military commander who used to be Jamil Mukulu’s bodyguard and Amigo’s deputy in Ma-

move and Irungu camps. He was deployed with Mulalo in Rwenzori sector at time of drafting.  

 

Kikute ou Kikutte (prononcer « Chi-ko-té »), également connu sous le nom d'Abdu Hamid Diiru, Diiro Jaja, 

Mukulu Kikutte. Ougandais et membre des 8000. Commandant militaire qui était autrefois le garde du corps de 

Jamil Mukulu et l’adjoint d’Amigo dans les camps de Mamove et d’Irungu. Il était déployé a vec Mulalo dans le 

secteur de Rwenzori au moment de la rédaction. 

 

 

 

Mulalo, alias Fezza or Feeza and Elias Segujja. Ugandan and member of the 8,000. Senior military commander, he 

was described as fearless in combat, often going to the frontline himself and was as such popular amongst combat-

ants. Very mobile and leading most ADF main operations, he used to be the commander of a mobile camp in the 

Mayangose, named after him, but operated, at time of drafting, in Rwenzori sector where he led the attacks sinc e 

the end of 2020. He was also involved in the Kangbayi Beni Prison jailbreak in October 2020. Two ex-combatants 

however mentioned that he was sick and/or weakened.  

 

Mulalo, également connu sous le nom de Fezza ou Feeza et Elias Segujja. Ougandais et memb re du 8000. Haut 

commandant militaire, il est décrit comme intrépide au combat, allant souvent lui-même au front. Il était ainsi 

populaire parmi les combattants. Très mobile et commandant la plupart des opérations principales des ADF, il était 

autrefois le commandant d'un camp mobile dans le Mayangose, qui portait son nom, mais opérait, au moment de la 

rédaction du rapport, dans le secteur de Rwenzori où il a mené les attaques depuis fin 2020. Il a également été 

impliqué dans l’évasion de la prison de Kangbayi à Beni en octobre 2020. Deux ex-combattants ont cependant 

mentionné qu'il était malade et/ou affaibli.  
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Rafiki, alias Katembo. Ugandan, although born in the DRC. His father was a National Army for the Liberation of 

Uganda (NALU) leader with which ADF allied at their arrival in the DRC in  the 1990s. He decided to stay despite 

the ADF-NALU split and his father’s departure from the DRC. Approximately 35-40 years old. Military commander 

and instructor in Madina. He also managed people’s movements in Madina, recording arrivals and deaths and s end-

ing people for food resupplies. Described as short and very nice.   

 

Rafiki, également connu sous le nom de Katembo. Ougandais, bien que né en RDC. Son père était un des chefs de 

l'Armée nationale de libération de l'Ouganda (NALU) avec qui les ADF s’éta ient alliés à leur arrivée en RDC dans 

les années 1990. Il a décidé de rester malgré la scission ADF-NALU et le départ de son père de la RDC. Environ 

35 à 40 ans. Commandant militaire et instructeur à Madina. Il gérait également les mouvements des combatta nts et 

personnes à charge à Madina, enregistrant les arrivées et les décès, et choisissant qui devait aller en mission de 

ravitaillement. Décrit comme petit et sympathique. 

 

 

 

Punisher, alias Meddie Nkalubo. Ugandan, who joined ADF around 2016-2017. Approximately 30 years old. Cur-

rently based in Madina, he was in charge of ADF communication and propaganda, including filming and editing 

videos, and was one of the drone pilots. He was also identified as one of the IED makers (see annexes 14 and 16).  

 

Punisher, également connu sous le nom de Meddie Nkalubo. Ougandais, qui a rejoint les ADF vers 2016-2017. 

Environ 30 ans. Actuellement basé à Madina, il était en charge de la communication et de la propagande des 'ADF, 

y compris le tournage et le montage des vidéos. Il était un des pilotes des drones. Il a également été identifié comme 

l'un des constructeurs de bombes artisanales (voir annexes 14 et 16).  

 

 

 

   

Abwakasi, alias Mwarabu and Ahmad Mahmoud Hassan. Tanzanian, approximately 30 years old, joined ADF prob-

ably around 2017 from South Africa. Commander of a camp in Irungu/Mwalika (see annex 3), he received new 

recruits to whom he provided military and ideological training. Responsible for building most ADF IEDs and the 

armory in his camp (see annex 16).  

 

Abwakasi, également connu sous le nom de Mwarabu et Ahmad Mahmoud Hassan. Tanzanien, âgé d'environ 30 

ans, a rejoint les ADF probablement vers 2017 en provenance d'Afrique du Sud. Commandant d'un camp à 

Irungu/Mwalika (voir annexe 3), où il recevait les nouvelles recrues auxquelles il dispensait une formation militaire 

et idéologique. Responsable de la construction de la plupart des bombes artisanales des ADF et de l'armurerie dans 

son camp (voir annexe 16). 
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Bonge La Chuma, alias Suleiman. Ugandan. He was a section commander and intelligence officer until he was 

arrested. He escaped during the 2017 Kangbayi Beni prison break and was in charge of Quranic teaching in Madina 

at time of drafting. Seen preaching in recent ADF videos (see annex 9).   

 

Bonge La Chuma, également connu sous le nom de Suleiman. Ougandais. Il était commandant de section et officier 

du renseignement jusqu'à son arrestation. Il s'est évadé lors de l'évasion de la prison de Kangbayi à Beni en 2017 

et était responsable de l'enseignement coranique à Madina, au moment de la rédaction. Vu prêchant dans les vidéos 

récentes des ADF (voir annex 9). 

 

 

Mzee Mubindo, Congolese. He was in charge of relations with farmers and collaborators in Amigo’s absence. 

Described as particularly skilled at hunting and fishing as well as to covering ADF tracks and serving as a scout, 

given his mastery of the terrain. Seen calling for would-be fighters to join the ADF in a 2020 video.   

 

Mzee Mubindo, Congolais. En charge des relations avec les agriculteurs et les collaborateurs en l'absence d'Amigo. 

Décrit comme particulièrement doué pour chasser et pêcher ainsi que pour couvrir les pistes ADF et servir d'éclai-

reur, compte tenu de sa maîtrise du terrain. Vu dans une vidéo de 2020 appelant de potentiels combattants à rejoindre 

les ADF. 

 

 

 

Boaz. Approximately 25-30 years old, some ex-combatants stated he was Congolese while others mentioned he 

was Ugandan but grew up in the DRC. Military commander, also known for being fearless on the battlefield and 

leading many operations and attacks. He has a distinctive scar on his face, “as if he had been shot in the mouth” 

(see S/2020/482, para. 140). He was identified by several victims of recent attacks in Rwenzori, where he was with 

Mulalo as one of his deputies.  

 

Boaz. Âgé d'environ 25 à 30 ans, certains ex-combattants ont déclaré qu'il était congolais tandis que d'autres ont 

mentionné qu'il était ougandais mais qu'il avait grandi en RDC. Commandant militaire, également con nu pour être 

intrépide sur le champ de bataille et mener de nombreuses opérations et attaques. Il a une cicatrice distinctive sur 

le visage, « comme s'il avait reçu une balle dans la bouche » (voir S/2020/482, par. 140). Il a été identifié par 

plusieurs victimes d'attaques récentes à Rwenzori, où il était avec Mulalo comme l'un de ses adjoints.  
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Annex 5   

 

ADF splinter group 

Groupe dissident des ADF 

The Group identified a splinter faction within ADF that had existed since at least 2019, led in the bush by Muzaya, 

who used to be a military commander and chief instructor in Mwalika camp (see S/2019/469, paras. 36 and 99). 

ADF commander Benjamin Kisokeranio,18  a close advisor to Jamil Mukulu, and Hassan Nyanzi,19 Mukulu’s son 

also led the group, according to two ex-combatants, including one who was lured into joining the group, a collab-

orator, two researchers, FARDC and diplomatic sources. They mainly led the group from abroad where they un-

dertook recruitment. 

 

Five ex-combatants explained that this group remained loyal to Mukulu’s objective to overthrow the Ugandan 

government and therefore they claimed to be ADF’s legitimate leadership, and reportedly also ref used Baluku’s 

allegiance to ISIL. This splinter group’s membership grew, but remained limited to up to 30 combatants. Its are a of 

operations was concentrated in the Virunga National Park, near the Semuliki river.  

 

Le Groupe a identifié une faction dissidente au sein des ADF depuis au moins 2019, dirigée sur le terrain par 

Muzaya, qui était auparavant commandant militaire et instructeur en chef dans le camp de Mwalika (voir 

S/2019/469, par. 36 et 99). Benjamin Kisokeranio,20 commandant des ADF, proche conseiller de Jamil Mukulu, et 

Hassan Nyanzi,21 le fils de Mukulu dirigeaient également le groupe, selon deux ex-combattants, dont un qui a été 

trompé pour rejoindre le groupe, un collaborateur, deux chercheurs, des  sources FARDC et des sources diploma-

tiques. Ils dirigeaient le groupe principalement de l'étranger d’où ils effectuaient d es recrutements. 

Cinq ex-combattants ont expliqué que ce groupe restait fidèle à l’objectif de Mukulu de renverser le gouvernement 

ougandais et prétendait donc être le leadership légitime des ADF. Ils auraient également refusé l’allégeance de 

Baluku à l’EIIL. Bien que le nombre des membres de ce groupe dissident eût augmenté, il restait limité à 30 com-

battants au maximum. Sa zone d'opérations était concentrée dans le Parc national des Virunga, près de la rivière 

Semuliki. 

  

__________________ 

18 See S/2011/738, para 42; S/2013/433, para. 96; S/2014/42, para. 75; S/2015/19, paras. 9 and 27; S/2017/672/Rev.1, para 53, 

S/2019/469, annex 6. 
19 Also known as Isaac or Isaaka, S/2011/738, para. 55; S/2012/348, para.17; S/2012/843, paras. 105-106; S/2015/19, annex 3. 
20 Voir S/2011/738, par. 42; S/2013/433, par. 96; S/2014/42, par. 75; S/2015/19, par. 9 and 27; S/2017/672/Rev.1 par. 53; S/2019/469 

annex 6. 
21 Également connu sous le nom de Isaac ou Isaaka, S/2011/738, par. 55; S/2012/348, par. 17, S/2012/843 par. 105 et 106; 

S/2015/19, annexe 3. 
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Annex 6 

 

Recruitment and ADF composition 

Recrutement et composition des ADF 

 

As mentioned in paragraph 16, in addition to the abduction of civilians as a main recruit ment method, deception 

continued to be widely used to attract new combatants to ADF. They were promised employment, studies or simply 

better living conditions by recruiters outside the camps as well as by combatants who phoned family members or 

friends, luring them to come to the area. Some of the recruiters accompanied new recruits to transit points, often in 

Goma, Bunia and/or Butembo where they were received by focal points and then transported mainly by motorbike 

to the various nearby camps. The Group was informed of several active recruitment networks in Goma and in South 

Kivu, particularly around Baraka and Fizi, since at least mid-2020, despite the dismantlement of a similar recruit-

ment cell there in 2017-2018. An ex-ADF combatant explained that at the end of 2020, as he was living in Baraka, 

he was promised work in a gold mine around Goma and was instead brought to Irungu/Mwalika camp with his 

father, passing through Goma and Butembo. He saw seven other persons from South Kivu arriving in his camp in 

the same conditions, although recruited by another person. Three ex-combatants also explained that several ADF 

combatants joined willingly the group after having seen ADF propaganda videos and/or being sensitized through 

their mosque or other combatants in the camps. Mwalika was still functioning as a transit and training camp at the 

time of drafting (see annex 3). 

 

According to most ex-combatants and former abductees, ADF was still mainly composed of Ugandans, particularly 

at command level. The second represented nationality was Congolese, however most Congolese were forcefully 

enrolled.22 They were followed by Tanzanians, Burundians and to a lesser extent Kenyans and Rwandans. 23 The 

Group was also informed by ex-combatants and FARDC that a few Somalians, South Africans and Mozambicans 

were in the group, although most of those individuals joined a few years ago. Congolese combatants and those who 

were forcefully recruited were often mistreated as they were considered at higher flight risk. All new recruits had  

their picture taken upon arrival and were threatened to be hunted down in their places of origin in c ase of escape.  

 

 

Comme indiqué au paragraphe 16, outre l'enlèvement de civils comme principale méthode de recrutement, la trom-

perie a également été largement utilisée pour attirer de nouveaux combattants dans les camps des ADF. Un emploi, 

des études ou simplement de meilleures conditions de vie leur étaient promises par des recruteurs en dehors des 

camps ainsi que par des combattants qui appelaient des membres de leur famille ou des amis, les incitant à venir 

dans la zone. Certains des recruteurs ont accompagné les nouvelles recrues à des points de transit, souvent à Goma, 

Bunia et/ou Butembo où elles étaient reçues par des points focaux puis transportées, principalement à moto, vers 

les différents camps voisins. Le Groupe a également été informé de plusieurs réseaux de recrutement actifs à Goma 

et au Sud Kivu, en particulier autour de Baraka et Fizi, malgré le démantèlement d'une cellule de recrutement 

similaire en 2017-2018. Un ancien combattant des ADF a expliqué qu'à la fin de 2020, alors qu'il vivait à Baraka, 

il s'était vu promettre un travail dans une mine d'or près de Goma mais avait en fait été emmené au camp 

d'Irungu/Mwalika avec son père, en passant par Goma et Butembo. Il avait vu sept autres personnes du Sud Kivu 

arriver dans son camp dans les mêmes conditions, bien que recrutées par une autre personne. Trois ex-combattants 

ont également expliqué que plusieurs combattants des ADF avaient volontair ement rejoint le groupe après avoir vu 

des vidéos de propagande des ADF et/ou avoir été sensibilisés à  leur mosquée ou par d'autres combattants dans les 

camps. Selon les ex-combattants et des personnes ayant été enlevées, le camp d'Irungu/Mwalika, avait ét é recons-

titué après avoir été repris par les FARDC début 2020 et fonctionnait toujours comme un camp d e transit et d'en-

traînement (voir annexe 3). 

__________________ 

22 Eight ex-combatants, six former abductees, FARDC, civil society, researchers and MONUSCO sources. 
23 Seven ex-combatants, two researchers, FARDC, MONUSCO and diplomatic sources.  
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Selon la plupart des ex-combattants et des personnes ayant été enlevées, les ADF étaient encore majoritaireme nt 

composés d'Ougandais, en particulier les commandants. La deuxième nationalité représentée était les  Congolais, 

mais la plupart d'entre eux avaient été enrôlés de force. 24 Ils étaient suivis par les Tanzaniens, les Burundais et dans 

une moindre mesure les Kenyans et les Rwandais.25 Le Groupe a également été informé par des ex-combattants et 

les FARDC que quelques Somaliens, Sud-Africains et Mozambicains faisaient partie du groupe, bien que la plupart 

d'entre eux avaient déjà rejoint le groupe il y a quelques années. Les combattants congolais et ceux qui avaient été 

recrutés de force ou par tromperie étaient souvent maltraités car ils étaient considérés comme ayant un risque de 

fuite plus élevé. Cependant, toutes les nouvelles recrues se faisaient photographier à leur arrivée et étaient menacées 

d'être traquées dans leurs lieux d'origine en cas de fuite.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

__________________ 

24 Huit ex-combattants, six personnes ayant été enlevées, FARDC, société civile, chercheurs et sources de la MONUSCO. 
25 Sept ex-combattants, deux chercheurs, FARDC, MONUSCO et sources diplomatiques 
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Annex 7 

 

ADF weaponry 

 

Armement des ADF 

 

Sample of photographs of AK-type assault rifles and ammunition seized from ADF by FARDC and inspected by 

the Group in January and March 2021, in Beni and Kainama, respectively.  

 

Échantillons de photographies de munitions et de fusils d’assauts de type AK, saisis aux  ADF par les FARDC, et 

inspectés par le Groupe en janvier 2021 à Beni et en mars 2021 à Kainama.  

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photographs taken by the Group in Beni in March 2021 

Photographies prise par le Groupe à Beni en mars 2021 
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Sample of photographs of ADF weaponry (AK-type assault rifles, rockets and mortar bombs) seized by FARDC 

when they took Madina camp in August 2020. The photographs were given to the Group by FARDC when the 

Group was in Kainama for field investigations in March 2021.  

Échantillons de photographies d’une armurerie des ADF (fusils d’assaut de type AK, roq uettes et obus de mortier) 

saisie par les FARDC lors de la prise du camp de Madina en août 2020. Les photographies ont été données au 

Groupe par les FARDC, lorsque le Groupe se trouvait à Kainama pour des investigations sur le terrain en mars 

2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by one FARDC source 

Fournie au Groupe par une source FARDC 
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Photographs and screenshots of videos, part of the claims, released by ISIL (see para. 31) show ADF military 

equipment including weaponry robbed from FARDC. For example, on 11 April 2021, ISIL released a video the day 

after the ADF attack in Nzenga, Beni territory. The screenshots show seven AK-type assault rifles, one PKM ma-

chine gun, one 60mm mortar, 10 boxes of ammunition, a belt of PKM-pattern ammunition, and 7.62x39mm ammu-

nition in bulk. The Group confirmed that there was an attack on 11 April 2021 on the 3203th regim ent in Nzenga, 

during which four FARDC members were killed. The type and number of weapons and ammunition which FARDC 

reported to have lost (seven AK-type assault rifles, one PKM machine gun, one mortar bomb, and four boxes of 

ammunition) largely correspond with the materiel on the released photograph.26 The Group could not, however, 

confirm that the materiel shown on the screenshots were the weaponry robbed from FARDC. 

 

Photographies et captures d’écran de vidéos réalisées par EIIL (voir par. 31), montrant  des équipements militaires 

des ADF ainsi que de l’armement volé aux FARDC. Par exemple, le 11 avril 2021, EIIL a diffusé une vidéo, le 

lendemain de l’attaque des ADF, à Ngenga, en territoire de Beni. Les photos montrent sept fusils d’assauts de type 

AK, une mitraillette PKM, un mortier de 60 mm, dix boites de munitions, une ceinture de munitions à ruban de 

pistolet mitrailleur PKM, ainsi que des munitions 7,62x39 mm en vrac. Le Groupe a confirmé qu’il y avait bien eu 

une attaque le 11 avril 2021 contre le 3203ème Régiment de Ngenga, durant laquelle, quatre militaires FARDC ont 

été tués. Le type et le nombre d’armes et de munitions que les FARDC ont rapporté avoir perdu (sept fusils d’assauts 

de type AK, une mitrailleuse PKM, un obus de mortier, et quatre bo ites de munitions) correspondent en grande 

partie avec le matériel visible sur la photographie publiée.  27 Le groupe ne peut néanmoins, confirmer que le maté-

riel sur les captures d’écran était bien le matériel volé aux FARDC.  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

Fournie au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet 

__________________ 

26 FARDC officers, analysts and MONUSCO sources. 
27 Officiers des FARDC, analystes et sources MONUSCO. 
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In 2020 and 2021, ISIL released several other claims according to which ADF seized FARDC weaponry. Amongst 

others, on 18 and 23 March 2021, ISIL claimed that ADF attacked FARDC barracks in Rwenzori and seized military 

equipment. The photos show two AK-type assault rifles, one AKM, one mortar, eight mortar shells and numerous 

RPG-7 rockets. On 18 April 2021, the FARDC camp in Mabule, Beni territory, was indeed attacked. 28 The Group 

could not confirm that the materiel shown on photographs released by ISIL on 23 March 2021 corresponded with 

the materiel robbed from FARDC. 

En 2020 et 2021, EIIL a diffusé plusieurs autres revendications selon lesquelles ADF avait volé de l’armement aux 

FARDC. Entre autres, EIIL a revendiqué, les 18 et 23 mars 2021, que les ADF avaient attaqué la caserne des FARDC 

dans le Rwenzori et volé des équipements militaires. Les photographies montrent  : deux fusils d’assauts de type 

AK, un AKM, un mortier, huit obus de mortier et de nombreuses roquettes de type RPG -7. Le 18 avril 2021, le 

camp FARDC de Mabule en territoire de Beni a bien été attaqué.29 Le Groupe ne peut confirmer que le matériel 

visible sur les photographies diffusées le 23 mars 2021 soit celui volé aux FARDC.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant sujet  

 

*** 

  

__________________ 

28 FARDC and MONUSCO sources. 
29 Sources des FARDC et de la MONUSCO. 
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The following pictures are a sample of other ISIL claims released between January and April 2021:  

 

Les images ci-dessous sont des exemples d’autres revendications de EIIL entre janvier et avril 2021:  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Al-Naba n°274. Released on 18 February 2021. ISIL claimed to have robbed FARDC weaponry during 

the attack in Ndalya, southern Irumu territory. 

Source: Al Naba n°274. Diffusé le 18 février 2021. EIIL a revendiqué avoir volé de l’armement FARDC durant 

l’attaque de Ndalya, dans le sud du territoire d’Irumu.  

 

… 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Al-Naba n°275. Released on 25 February 2021. ISIL claimed to have robbed FARDC weaponry during an 

attack in a village in Rwenzori. 

Source: Al Naba n°275. Diffusé le 25 février 2021. EIIL a revendiqué avoir volé de l’armement aux FARDC du-

rant l’attaque d’un village dans le Rwenzori.  
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Annex 8  
 
Decapitation and maiming of human beings with knifes and machetes  
 
Décapitation et mutilation d’êtres humains avec des couteaux et machettes 
 

 

The Group received hundreds of pictures and numerous graphic videos of corpse of ADF victims, including women, 

children, babies and elderly, who were often mutilated and/or decapitated with mach etes and knives.  

 

Out of deep respect for the victims, and also their families and communities, the Group has opted on this occasion 

not to publicly provide photographic evidence of these violent acts.  

 

However, out of urgent concern for the victims and their communities, and the belief that the scale of the violence 

and exactions against the civilian population needs to be urgently understood and acted upon by decision -makers 

at all levels, these images and videos on file with the Group are available, upon request, to the Committee and other 

concerned parties. 

 

 

Le Groupe a rassemblé des centaines de photos et vidéos de corps de victimes des ADF, y compris des femmes, des 

enfants, des bébés et des personnes âgées, qui ont la plupart du temps été mutilés e t/ou décapités avec des machettes 

et des couteaux.  

 

Dans ce rapport, par respect profond pour les victimes, leurs familles et leurs communautés, le Groupe a choisi de 

ne pas publier des images de ces actes de violence.  

 

Cependant, avec un souci urgent pour les victimes et leurs communautés, et avec la conviction que l'ampleur de la 

violence et des exactions contre la population civile doit être comprise de toute urgence et prise en compte par les 

décideurs à tous les niveaux, les images et lcs vidéos détenues dans fichiers du Groupe sont disponibles, sur de-

mande, au Comité et aux autres parties concernées.  
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Annex 9 

 
Military training in ADF camps 

 

Entrainement militaire dans les camps ADF 

 

Rafiki and Mzee Wako were repeatedly identified as the military instructors of Madina camp by ex-combatants who 

were with ADF in 2020 and interviewed by the Group between December 2020 and April 2021. Several former 

abductees also mentioned Bonge La Chuma being active as a military trainer in Madina (see annex 4 and 

S/2018/531, para. 168).  

 

Rafiki et Mzee Wako ont été désigné à plusieurs reprises comme les instructeurs militaires du camp de Madina, par 

des ex-combattants qui étaient avec ADF en 2020, et interviewés par le Groupe entre décembre 2020 et avril 2021. 

Plusieurs personnes enlevées ont également mentionné Bonge La Chuma, comme étant un formateur militaire actif 

(voir annexe 4 et S/2018/531, par. 168).   

 

  

https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2018/531
https://www.undocs.org/en/S/2018/531
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Annex 10 

 

Trends and figures on IED use and on their victims, and map illustrating the locations of suspected 

IED use in ADF areas of operations 
 

Tendances et chiffres de l’utilisation de bombes artisanales et de leurs victimes, et carte illustrant 
les lieux d’utilisation des bombes artisanales dans les zones d’opérations des ADF 
 

During a field mission in Kainama early March 2021, the Group verified and confirmed the use of IEDs in several 

incidents in the days and months before. For other reported incidents in North Kivu and Ituri between November 

2020 and March 2021, the use of IEDs was confirmed by UNMAS and/or researchers. The Group used the ter mi-

nology “suspected IED” once it had collected enough information regarding the type of shrapnel, circumstances of 

the explosion and/or wounds, as applicable.  

  

- In November 2020, 8 incidents involving 18 suspected and/or confirmed IEDs were reported.  

- In December 2020, 10 incidents involving 11 suspected and/or confirmed IEDs were reported. 

- In January 2021, 11 incidents involving 20 suspected and/or confirmed IEDs were reported.  

- In February 2021, 5 incidents involving 6 suspected and/or confirmed IEDs were r eported. 

- In March 2021, 2 incidents involving 9 suspected and/or confirmed IEDs were reported.  

 

At the time of drafting, the Group continued to receive several reports and/or pictures of suspected IEDs, in partic-

ular in/around Kainama, southern Irumu territory.  

 

The data collected by the Group show fewer incidents involving IEDs in February and March 2021 compared to 

the months of November and December 2020 and January 2021. Still, the Group expects that increased field re-

search in contaminated areas will result in additional reports of IEDs for February and March 2021, as the re is often 

a time lapse between the actual date of the incidents and the reporting/collection of information .   

 

 

Durant une mission de terrain à Kainama début mars 2021, le Groupe a vérifié et confirmé l’utilisation de bombes 

artisanales dans plusieurs incidents survenus les jours et les mois auparavant. Pour d’autres incidents rapportés au 

Nord Kivu et en Ituri, l’utilisation de bombes artisanales a également été confirmée par UNMAS et/ou des cher-

cheurs. Le Groupe a utilisé la terminologie de bombes artisanales suspectées dès qu’il avait collecté suffisamment 

d’informations concernant le type de d’éclats, les circonstances de l’explosion et/ ou des blessures, le cas échéant.  

 

- En novembre 2020, 8 incidents impliquant 18 bombes artisanales suspectées et/ou confirmées ont été rap-

portés ; 

- En décembre 2020, 10 incidents impliquant 11 bombes artisanales suspectées et/ou confirmées ont été 

rapportés ; 

- En janvier 2021, 11 incidents impliquant 11 bombes artisanales suspectées et/ou confirmées ont été rap-

portés ; 

- En février 2021, 5 incidents impliquant 6 bombes artisanales suspectées et/ou confirmées ont été rapportés  ; 

- En mars 2021, 2 incidents impliquant 9 bombes artisanales suspectées et/ou confirmées ont été rapportés  ; 

Au moment de l’élaboration de ce rapport, le Groupe continuait de recevoir des rapports et des photographies de 

bombes artisanales suspectées, en particulier à et autour de Kainama dans le sud du territoire d’Irumu.  

Les données collectées par le Groupe indiquent qu’il y a eu moins d’incidents impliquant des bombes artisanales 

en février et mars 2021 que pendant les mois de novembre et décembre 2020, ainsi que janvier 2021. Néanmoins, 

le Groupe s’attend à ce que des recherches de terrain supplémentaires dans les zones contaminées génèrent des 

rapports additionnels d’incidents impliquant des bombes artisanales pour les mois de février et mars 2021, sachant 

qu’il y a un souvent un laps de temps entre la date des incidents et le retour d’informations.  
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Annex 11  
 
FARDC victims of IEDs 
 
FARDC, victimes des bombes artisanales 
 

In Beni and Kainama, the Group spoke with three FARDC victims of suspected and/or confirmed IEDs. The Group 

also spoke to several FARDC commanders and soldiers who witnessed ADF attacks involving the use of IEDs.  

 

The Group collected information on 14 FARDC wounded in November 2020, 21 in December 2020, nine in January 

2021, none in February 2021 and one in March 2021.  

 

 

À Beni et Kainama, le Groupe a parlé avec trois militaires FARDC victimes de bombes artisanales suspecté es et/ou 

confirmées. Le Groupe a également parlé à plusieurs commandants et soldats FARDC, qui ont été témoins d’at-

taques des ADF impliquant l’utilisation de bombes artisanales.  

 

Le Groupe a collecté des informations sur 14 militaires FARDC blessés en nove mbre 2020, 21 en décembre 2020, 

neuf en janvier 2021, aucun en février 2021 et un en mars 2021.  
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Annex 12 
 
Use of IEDs in agricultural areas causing civilian casualties 
 
Utilisation de bombes artisanales dans les zones agricoles causant des victimes civiles  
 

MONUSCO reported a total of 29 civilians injured by suspected IEDs in and around Kainama between December 

2020 and February 2021, 14 of whom were admitted to hospital . The Group was able to independently confirm at 

least 12 civilians wounded or killed by suspected IEDs. 

 

The Group documented two incidents of suspected IED explosions involving civilians in November and December 

2020. The two incidents took place in and around Kainama, in cocoa fields (see para. 32). On 28 November 2020, 

two civilians were wounded by a single suspected IED detonation when working in a cocoa field in 

Kainama/Mutido. The victims suffered head, arm and leg injuries. On 4 December 2020, o ne suspected IED deto-

nation wounded two other civilians harvesting cocoa, again in Kainama/Mutido. One victim lost his foot and the 

other victim got injured on his leg. Five other unexploded suspected IED devices were found in the same area.  

 

The Group confirmed reports of six civilians being wounded, in January 2021, by IED blast s in six separate inci-

dents that took place in Kainama, Batonga, Kamuvoyo, Mulangu, Mbangi and Budaki.  

 

The Group confirmed one IED explosion involving a civilian in Kamuvuyo in February 2021. Four other non-

exploded suspected IEDs were found by civilians. 

 

On 27 March 2021, after an ADF attack on Kainama, four unexploded suspected IEDs were found in agricultural 

fields in Kainama. Two other IEDs exploded, wounding one civilian.  

 

Civil society sources, ADF ex-combatants and survivors explained that IEDs have been used to prevent the local 

communities from having access to their farmland as ADF planned to harvest the land for food crops.  

 

Earlier IED attacks with civilian victims date from 2016.30 On 8 November 2016, an IED was detonated in Kyeshero 

suburb, Goma town, killing one civilian and wounding 32 Indian peacekeepers. There is no confirmation to date 

that this IED attack had been planned by individuals directly or indirectly linked with ADF. 

 

 

La MONUSCO a rapporté un total de 29 personnes civiles blessées par des bombes artisanales à Kainama et ses 

environs entre décembre 2020 et février 2021. Quatorze d’entre elles ont été admises à l’hôpital. Le Groupe a été 

en mesure de confirmer indépendamment au moins 12 personnes civiles blessées ou tuées par des bombes artisa-

nales. 

 

Le Groupe a documenté deux incidents d’explosion de bombe artisanale présumée affectant des civils en novembre 

et décembre 2020. Les incidents ont eu lieu à Kainama et ses environs, dans des champs de cacao (voir par. 32). Le 

28 novembre 2020, deux civils ont été blessés par l’explosion d’une seule bombe artisanale présumée, alors qu’ils 

travaillaient dans un champ de cacao à Kainama/Mutido. Les victimes présen taient des blessures à la tête, aux bras 

et aux jambes. Le 4 décembre 2020, l’explosion d’une présumée bombe artisanale a blessé deux autres civils récol-

tant du cacao, toujours à Kainama/Mutido. Une victime a perdu son pied et l’autre a été blessée à la ja mbe. Cinq 

autres bombes artisanales présumées, qui n’ont pas explosé ont été trouvées dans la même zone. 

 

  

__________________ 

30 Between December 2016 and November 2020, the Group did not find any report of suspected IED explosions resulting in civilian 

casualties, i.e. wounded or killed. 
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Le Groupe a confirmé le rapport selon lequel six civils avaient été blessés par l’explosion d’une bombe artisanale, 

en janvier 2021, dans six lieux différents : Kainama, Batonga, Kamuvoyo, Mulangu, Mbangi et Budaki.  

Le Groupe a confirmé l’explosion d’une bombe artisanale présumée, affectant un civil à Kamuvuyo, en février 

2021. Quatre autres bombes artisanales présumées, non explosées, ont été trouvées par des civils.  

 

Le 27 mars 2021, après une attaque à Kainama, quatre autres bombes artisanales présumées, non explosées, ont été 

trouvées dans des champs agricoles à Kainama. Deux autres bombes artisanales présumées, qui ont explosé, ont 

blessé un civil.  

 

Des sources de la société civile, des ex-combattants ADF et des survivants ont confirmé que des bombes artisanales 

ont été utilisées afin d’empêcher l’accès aux champs des communautés locales, pour permettre aux ADF d’en ré-

colter la production vivrière.  

 

L’utilisation précédent de bombes artisanales faisant des victimes civil es date de 2016. 31 Le 8 novembre 2016, 

l’explosion d’une bombe artisanale à Kyeshero, dans la ville de Goma, a tué un civil et blessé 32 Casques bleus 

(contingent indien). À ce jour, il n’est pas confirmé que cette attaque par une bombe artisanale avait ét é planifiée 

par une personne directement ou indirectement liée aux ADF. 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________ 

31 Le Groupe n’a pas trouvé, entre décembre 2016 et novembre 2020, de rapports faisant état d’explosions de bombes artisanales 

suspectées ayant occasionné des pertes civiles (blessés ou morts). 
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Annex 13  

 

ADF booby-trapping of bodies with IEDs 

  

ADF : bombes artisanales avec des corps piégés 

 

 

A booby-trap is defined in Article 2 (4) of the Protocol on prohibitions or restrictions on the use of mines, booby-

traps and other devices (Protocol II) as “any device or material which is designed, constructed or adapted to kill or 

injure, and which functions unexpectedly when a person disturbs or approaches an apparently harm less object or 

performs an apparently safe act”. 

 

Incidents of booby-trapping of bodies were reported by FARDC sources, civil society and medical staff, especially 

in and around the area of Kainama, including, amongst others, in Kainama itself, Budaki, Muk ondi, Kakuka and 

Mutido. 

 

For example, the Group met one FARDC soldier wounded by a suspected IED explosion on 28 January 2021. The 

FARDC soldier on duty was evacuating the abandoned corpse of a man killed by ADF in Budaki/Kainama when 

the explosion occurred. According to the FARDC soldier, the IED was hidden on the corpse and activated when it 

was moved.  

 

 

Un engin piégé est défini par l’article 2 (4) du Protocole sur l’interdiction ou la limitation de l’emploi des mines, 

pièges et autres dispositifs (Protocole II) comme : « tout dispositif ou matériel qui est conçu, construit ou adapté 

pour tuer ou blesser et qui fonctionne à l'improviste quand on déplace un objet en apparence inoffensif ou qu'on 

s'en approche, ou qu'on se livre à un acte apparemment sans danger ». 

 

Des incidents impliquant des pièges avec des corps humains ont été rapportés par des sources FARDC, de la société 

civile et du personnel médical, en particulier à Kainama et autour, y compris à Kainama, Budaki, Mukondi, Kakuka 

et Mutido. 

 

A titre d’exemple, le Groupe a rencontré un soldat FARDC qui a été blessé par une bombe artisanale présumée, le 

28 janvier 2021. Le soldat FARDC était en train de déplacer le corps abandonné d’un homme tué par les ADF à 

Budaki/Kainama, lorsque l’explosion a eu lieu. Selon le soldat FARDC, la bombe artisanale était cachée sur le 

corps et s’est activée lors du déplacement du corps.  
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Annex 14  

 

Use of drones by ADF 

 

Utilisation de drones par les ADF 

 

At least six ADF abductees confirmed the use of drones in Madina camp. There was however no consistency in the 

reported drone usage. Some referred to drones being used for surveillance when foodstuffs, medicine and wea-

ponry/IED components, brought by ADF collaborators, were picked up along the road. Others said a  drone was 

used for taking pictures and videos of ADF camps for propaganda reasons, as well as of FARDC camps for intelli-

gence purposes, especially when preparing attacks on these camps. Three ADF abductees seen by the Group be-

tween December 2020 and April 2021 pointed at Meddie Nkalubo, alias “Punisher”, as being the drone pilot and 

two confirmed that he was involved in IED manufacturing in Madina camp.  

 

Au moins six personnes kidnappées par les ADF ont confirmé l’utilisation de drones dans le camp de Madi na. Les 

rapports quant à l’utilisation de ce drone n’étaient pas cohérents. Certains ont dit que les drones étaient utilisés pour 

surveiller les abords de la route lors des approvisionnements de nourriture, de médicaments, d’armement ou de 

matériel pour des bombes artisanales, par des collaborateurs des ADF. D’autres ont dit que le drone était utilisé afin 

de faire des photographies et vidéos de propagande, mais aussi à des fins de renseignements sur les positions des 

FARDC, essentiellement lors de la préparation d’attaques sur ces camps. Trois personnes kidnappées rencontrées 

par le Groupe entre décembre 2020 et avril 2021 ont indiqué que Meddie Nkabulo, alias «  Punisher » était le pilote 

du drone. Deux d’entre eux ont confirmé son implication dans la fabrication de bombes artisanales au camp de 

Madina. 

 

 

Photograph of Meddie Nkalubo 

 

Photographie de Meddie Nkalubo 
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` 

 

 

Map of the area where there was a reported presence of a drone with 3 km reach in February - March 2021, in the 

vicinity of Masangalo. In that same area, there were consecutive ADF attacks and a new ADF camp was identified 

by MONUSCO. 

 

Carte de la zone où la présence de drones avec une autonomie de 3 km a été rapportée en février – mars 2021 

dans les environs de Masangalo. Dans la même zone il y a eu trois attaques consécutives des ADF et un nouveau 

camp des ADF a été identifié par la MONUSCO. 
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Annex 15  
 
Manufacturing of IEDs and timid improvement in IED construction techniques  
 
Fabrication de bombes artisanales et légère amélioration des techniques de fabrication 
 

 

The technical IED analysis by the Group was done with the support of Gregory ROBIN, Technical Advisor, Peace 

and Security Cluster (New York). Collection of information and data by the Group was done with the support of 

ACOLAM, UNMAS, MONUSCO, FARDC and civil society sources.  

 

The following photographs are a sample of some basic IEDs with components, including explosives, batteries, 

detonators, cartridges and stones. 

 

 

L’analyse technique des bombes artisanale par le Groupe a été réalisée par Gregory ROBIN, Conseiller technique 

au Groupe Paix et Sécurité (New York).  La récolte d’informations et de données par le Groupe a été réalisée avec 

le soutien de : ACOLAM, UNMAS, MONUSCO, FARDC et des sources de la société civile. 

 

Les photographies suivantes montrent des exemples de bombes artisanales basiques avec des éléments tels que des 

explosifs, batteries, détonateurs, cartouches et des pierres.  

 

 

Six photographs of IEDs and components discovered by farmers and FARDC in Kainama in February and 

April 2021. 

 

Six photographies de bombes artisanales et de leurs éléments découverts par des agriculteurs et des militaires 

FARDC à Kainama en février et avril 2021  
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Photographs taken by the Group in March 2021 

Photographies prises par le Groupe en mars 2021 

 

*** 
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Photograph of an unexploded IED, including a car battery as one of its components, discovered in Baeti 

where ADF carried out an armed attack on 8 November 2020 

 

Photographie d’une bombe artisanale non explosée avec une batterie de voiture comme composant, décou-

verte à Baeti où les ADF ont mené une attaque armée le 8 novembre 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Fournie au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet 

 

*** 

 

The Group also documented several cases of more conventional tripwire systems in ADF areas. For example, on 26 

February 2021, while working in the field, a farmer found a booby trap device prepared with two 60 HE mortar 

projectiles and one F1 grenade connected to a tripwire attached to a wooden stick in Kainama.  

 

Le Groupe a également documenté plusieurs cas d’utilisation de système de déclenchement par un fil de détente 

dans les zones des ADF. Par exemple, le 26 février 2021, à Kainama et alors qu’il travaillait aux champs, un agri-

culteur a trouvé un engin piégé préparé avec deux projectiles de mortier 60HE et une grenade F 1, reliés à un fil de 

détente attaché à un morceau de bois. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

Fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet  
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On 4 January 2021, a trapping system consisting of a 60mm mortar shell, clothespin switch and battery p ack, i.e. 

mortars modified in IED charge, was discovered in the vicinity of Beni town.  

 

Le 4 janvier 2021, un engin piégé constitué d’un obus de mortier  de 60mm, de pinces à linge et d’un paquet de 

piles, à savoir un mortier modifié en bombe artisanale, a  été découvert dans les environs de la ville de Beni.  

 

` 

 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

Fournie au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 87/369 

 

Photograph of two IEDs discovered in Kambi Ya Miba on 14 November 2020, prepared with 82mm mortar shells 

and a clothespin switch 

 

Photographie de deux bombes artisanales découvertes à Kambi Ya Miba le 14 novembre 2020, préparées avec un 

obus de mortier de 82 mm et des pinces à linge 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Fournie au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet  
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Annex 16 
 
Reported involvement of foreigners in IED manufacturing 
 
Implication d’étrangers dans la fabrication de bombes artisanales 
 

The following foreigners have repeatedly been referred to with regard to their implication in the manufacturing of 

IEDs.  

 

1. Meddie Nalubo, alias “Punisher”, Ugandan national (see photograph in annex 4 and para. 32);  

 

2. Abwakasi, alias “ Leblanc” or “Mwarabu”, Tanzanian national (see photograph in annex 4 and para. 25); 

 

3. Seka Kahuma, Tanzanian national active in the ADF group of Mulalu (see annex 4).  

 

Les étrangers suivants ont été mentionnés à maintes reprises pour leur implication dans la fabrication des bomb es 

artisanales : 

1. Meddie Nalubo, alias “Punisher”, citoyen ougandais (voir photographie à l’annexe 4 et par. 32);  

 

2. Abwakasi, alias “ Leblanc” or “Mwarabu”, citoyen tanzanien (voir photographie à l’annexe 4 et par. 25);  

 

3. Seka Kahuma, citoyen tanzanien, actif dans le groupe ADF de Mulalu (voir annexe 4). 
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Annex 17 

ADF location history and reasons for increased recent attacks in Rwenzori sector 

Historique des localisations des ADF dans le secteur de Rwenzori et raisons de l'augmentation ré-

cente des attaques  

On their arrival in the DRC in 1995 from Uganda, ADF first settled in Rwenzori sector, where it allied with the 

NALU armed group which was already fighting against President Museveni’s government in Uganda. While several 

FARDC operations since at least 2005, including “Operation Rwenzori” in 2010 (see S/2010/596, para. 29 and 

S/2011/738, para. 50), scattered them around Beni territory, they maintained a low-profile presence in the area, 

close to the Ugandan border and where ADF had built an extended network of collaborators, particularly around 

Kasindi.32 Rwenzori sector seemed thus less affected by attacks than other areas, although attacks were still o cca-

sionally reported around the cocoa harvesting seasons around Halungupa since 2019. 

 

The Group identified several possible reasons for the recent increase in attacks, including a possible diversion 

strategy by ADF to attract FARDC in an area where the latter were less present, with the view to removing the 

pressure imposed by FARDC operations on ADF in other vital areas, such as Kainama where  the ADF leadership 

was located.33 This was part of a broader “cat-and-mouse game” whereby FARDC operations dislodged ADF and 

disrupted their supply chains in certain areas, to which ADF responded by increased attacks in other areas, including 

with a reprisal logic against the population. 

 

The spike in attacks set off violent popular reactions, such as the use of “mob j ustice” against alleged ADF but also 

Mai-Mai combatants. Notably, on 16 January 2021, an FARDC officer and the former Mai -Mai spokesperson of 

the Union des patriotes pour la liberation du Congo (UPLC) who were conducting a demobilization campaign in 

Lume were lynched to death by the local population who suspected them to be ADF. These repeated attacks also 

deepened distrust and/or frustrations with Congolese authorities and MONUSCO resulting in mass demonstrations 

notably in Beni and Butembo, as well as attacks against FARDC and PNC officers and convoys. For example, on 

8 January 2021, the convoy of an FARDC commander was attacked and his vehic le destroyed.  

 

Also, as FARDC operations dislodged ADF from some of their positions where they had fields and/or ea sy access 

to collaborators and due to the arrest of many of their collaborators throughout 2020, several ex-combatants and 

FARDC sources mentioned the need for ADF to reach “new” areas to resupply for food and goods.  Rwenzori sector 

with its important concentration of fields could thus offer this possibility. As mentioned in paragraph 32 and an-

nexes 21 and 22, this could explain the many attacks against farmers, some of whom declared having heard ADF 

claiming that the land belongs to them and/or ordering c learance of the fields.  

 

Some ex-combatants, FARDC, civil society sources, victims and eyewitnesses also mentioned possible score -set-

tling between ADF and collaborators in the area, who either had stopped collaborating with ADF or were considered 

as having collaborated with the authorities. In particular, several sources mentioned the presence of a number of 

escapees of the Kangbayi prison break from Rwenzori who returned to the area, including ADF collaborators who 

might have sought revenge for their arrests.  

 

À leur arrivée en RDC en 1995 en provenance d’Ouganda, les ADF se sont d’abord installés dans le secteur de 

Rwenzori, où ils se sont alliés aux NALU qui combattaient déjà le gouvernement du Président Museveni en Ou-

ganda. Alors que plusieurs opérations des FARDC depuis au moins 2005, y compris l’« Opération Rwenzori » en 

2010 (voir S/2010/596, par. 29 et S/2011/738, par. 50), les avaient dispersées sur le territoire de Beni, les ADF 

avaient maintenu une présence discrète dans la zone, proche de la frontière ougandaise et où ils avaien t établi un 

__________________ 

32 Ex-combatants, local authorities, researchers, civil society, FARDC, UN and diplomatic sources. 
33 Ex-combatants, local authorities, civil society, FARDC and MONUSCO sources.  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2010/596
https://www.undocs.org/S/2011/738
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2010/596
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2011/738
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réseau étendu de collaborateurs, en particulier autour de Kasindi.  34 Le secteur de Rwenzori semblait donc moins 

touché que d'autres zones par les attaques, bien que des attaques avaient été rapportées périodiquement autour des 

saisons de récolte du cacao autour de Halungupa. 

 

Le Groupe a identifié plusieurs raisons possibles pouvant expliquer l'augmentation récente des attaques, y compris 

une éventuelle stratégie de diversion par les ADF pour attirer les FARDC dans une zone où ces derniers étai ent 

moins présents, afin d’ôter la pression imposée par les opérations des FARDC contre les ADF dans d'autres des 

zones vitales, telles que Kainama où se trouvaient les leaders des ADF.  35 Cette stratégie faisait partie d'un « jeu du 

chat et de la souris » plus global selon lequel les opérations des FARDC délogent les ADF et perturbent leurs 

chaînes d'approvisionnement dans certaines zones, ce à quoi les ADF répondent en multipliant les attaques dans 

d'autres zones, y compris avec une logique de représailles contre la population.  

 

Les attaques accrues ont déclenché de violentes réactions populaires, telles que le recours à la « justice populaire » contre 

des présumés ADF mais aussi des combattants Maï-Maï. Notamment, le 16 janvier 2021, un officier des FARDC et l'ancien 

porte-parole Maï-Maï de l'Union des patriotes pour la libération du Congo (UPLC) qui menaient une campagne de démobi-

lisation à Lume ont été lynchés à mort par la population locale qui les soupçonnait d’être ADF. Ces attaques répétées ont 

également aggravé la méfiance et/ou les frustrations à l'égard des autorités congolaises et de la MONUSCO, entraînant des 

manifestations de masse notamment à Beni et Butembo, ainsi que des attaques contre des officiers et convois des FARDC 

et de la PNC. Par exemple, le 8 janvier 2021, le convoi d'un commandant des FARDC a été attaqué et son véhicule détruit.  

 

De plus, alors que les opérations des FARDC ont délogé les ADF de certaines de leurs positions où ils avaient des 

champs et/ou ils avaient un accès facile aux collaborateurs, ainsi qu’en raison de l'arrestation de plusieurs de leurs 

collaborateurs tout au long de 2020, plusieurs ex-combattants et sources des FARDC ont mentionné la nécessité 

pour les ADF d’atteindre de « nouvelles » zones pour se réapprovisionner en nourriture et en biens de première 

nécessité. Le secteur de Rwenzori avec son importante concentration de champs pouvait donc offrir cette possibi-

lité. Comme évoqué au paragraphe 32 et dans les annexes 21 et 22, cela pourrait notamment expliquer les nom-

breuses attaques contre les agriculteurs, dont certains ont déclaré avoir entendu les ADF dire que la terre leur  

appartenait et/ou ordonner de libérer les champs. 

 

Certains ex-combattants, les FARDC, des sources de la société civile, des victimes et des témoins oculaires ont 

également évoqué d'éventuels règlements de compte entre les ADF et des collaborateurs de la zone, qui avaient soit 

cessé de collaborer avec les ADF, soit étaient considérés comme ayant collaboré avec les autorités. En particulier, 

plusieurs sources ont mentionné la présence d'un certain nombre de personnes évadées de la prison de Kangbayi 

originaires du Rwenzori qui seraient retournées dans la région, y compris des collaborateurs des ADF, qui auraient 

pu chercher à se venger de leurs arrestations.  

 

 

 

 

  

__________________ 

34 Ex-combattants, autoritées locales, chercheurs, société civile, sources FARDC, UN et diplomatic. 
35 Ex-combattants, autorités locales, société civile, sources FARDC et MONUSCO.  
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Annex 18  

Nzenga and Lose Lose attacks 

Attaques de Nzenga et Lose Lose 

Nzenga attack 

On 11 December 2020, a large group of ADF combatants arriving from Virunga National Park attacked Nzenga (30 

km from Beni town) and surrounding areas (see map below), resulting in the killing of at least 20 civilians, the 

abduction of over 20 others as well as looting and destruction of property.  

 

In the afternoon of 11 December, ADF first captured seven persons in their fields near Nzenga, in Mulua, and killed 

them by machete, except for one man whom they used as a scout to guide them to Nzenga. According to this 

individual, their leader had an important scar on the chin “as if he had received a bullet”,36 and forced him to 

convert to Islam on the spot when he was captured. He then explicitly asked him to bring them to Nzenga as they 

were looking for “a friend” and for shops where they could find salt, soap, rice, plastic boots, tarps and cellphones. 

On their way to Nzenga, ADF killed two civilians and injured a third, but they spared a pregnant woman.  

 

When they arrived in Nzenga they split in several groups, killing and abducting civilians as well as looting and 

burning several shops and houses (see pictures below). The scout saw a combatant shooting a young boy in the 

chest who died on the spot. A woman who owned a restaurant and one of her customers explained that a small 

group of ADF combatants, including a 13-year-old child, entered in the premises and requested all customers to 

hand over their phones. The restaurant owner managed to escape, but three other customers in the restaurant, in-

cluding the village chief, were captured and brought to a gathering point near the gas station where they found at 

least 20 other captured villagers, including the scout and a journalist.  Similarly, another 14 -year old abductee 

explained that four ADF combatants burst into her house and abducted her along with four other children younger 

than her and her neighbor, bringing them all first to a gathering point. An abductee interviewed by the Group 

reported that an ADF commander asked the abductees to point at the  local authorities’ houses but declined to pro-

ceed when he realized they were too far.   

 

Eyewitnesses and victims declared not having observed clashes with FARDC who they said quickly fled, and that 

“strangely” the assailants seemed mindful to not attract  too much attention by shooting with their weapons, killing 

mostly by machete. It is mainly when the ADF reached the Sicovir soap factory, guarded by ICCN guards, and 

crossed fire with them that shots were heard. Eyewitnesses and victims mentioned that the group of assailants was 

composed of at least 100-200 combatants, including children mainly wearing military uniforms and armed with 

machetes and AK-type assault rifles. They spoke Swahili, Kinyarwanda, Kiganda and Arabic according to several 

sources.  

 

All eyewitnesses reported that ADF looted several houses and grabbed goats and chickens wandering around, which 

the abductees had then to carry with others looted goods. Some of the abductees managed to escape and/or were 

killed as ADF left Nzenga after the attack. One abductee explained that ADF killed an old lady with a machete just 

outside the village, then grabbed the three-month-old baby of the abductee and two other young children from their 

mothers and piled them on the woman’s body, without however ki lling them. 

 

On their way back, ADF requested the scout to bring them to two military positions in Ratsa and Mabondo which they 

attacked, as confirmed by FARDC and another abductee. One of the abductees explained that they then walked all 

night to reach a temporary camp where they were asked to convert to Islam the following day. The commander ex-

plained that they attacked to spread Islam and that all non-Muslims should be killed unless they converted. In the 

second camp which they reached after a week’s walk, near Makisabo, all the women and girls were quickly given as 

wives to ADF combatants, including one as young as 12 years old. The abductee also mentioned the presence of other 

__________________ 

36 The Group notes that this description seems to match the one of an ADF commander called Boaz. Over the years, ex-combatants, 

former abductees, victims and eyewitnesses have described him to the Group as having a scar in his face. See S/2020/482, para. 

140. 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
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abductees taken during other attacks in the area in the past months, such as in Lisasa and Mutwanga. 

Attaque de Nzenga  

 

Le 11 décembre 2020, un grand groupe de combattants des ADF en provenance du Parc national des Virunga ont 

lancé une attaque contre Nzenga (à 30 km de la ville de Beni) au cours de laquelle au moins 20 civils ont été tués 

et 20 autres enlevés, et plusieurs maisons et magasins pillés et détruits.  

 

Dans l’après-midi du 11 décembre, les ADF ont d'abord capturé sept personnes dans leurs champs à proximité de 

Nzenga, à Mulua, et les ont tués à la machette, à l'exception d'un homme qu'ils  ont utilisé comme pisteur pour les 

guider vers Nzenga. Selon cet individu, leur commandant avait une importante cicatrice au menton « comme s'il 

avait reçu une balle »,37 et l'a forcé à se convertir à l'Islam sur-le-champ. Le commandant lui a ensuite explicitement 

demandé de les amener à Nzenga où ils cherchaient un « ami » et des magasins où ils pourraient trouver du sel, du 

savon, du riz, des bottes en plastique, des bâches et des téléphones portables. Sur le chemin de Nzenga, les ADF 

ont tué deux civils et en ont blessé un autre, mais ont épargné une femme enceinte.  

 

Lorsqu'ils sont arrivés à Nzenga, ils se sont séparés en plusieurs groupes, tuant et enlevant des civils , et pillant et 

incendiant plusieurs magasins et maisons (voir les photos ci -dessous). L'éclaireur a notamment vu un combattant 

tirer sur la poitrine d'un jeune garçon qui est mort sur le coup. Une femme qui possédait un restaurant et l'un de ses 

clients ont expliqué qu'un petit groupe de combattants des ADF, dont un enfant de 13 ans, est entré dans le restaurant 

et a demandé à tous les clients de remettre leurs téléphones. La propriétaire du restaurant a réussi à s'échapper, mais 

trois autres clients dans le restaurant, y compris le chef du village, ont été capturés et amenés à un point de rassem-

blement près de la station-service où ils ont trouvé au moins 20 autres villageois ligotés, y compris le pisteur et un 

journaliste. De même, une jeune fille de 14 ans a expliqué que quatre combattants des ADF ont fait irruption chez 

elle et l'ont enlevée avec quatre autres enfants plus jeunes qu'elle et sa voisine, les amenant tout d'abord à un point 

de rassemblement. Une personne ayant été enlevée a rapporté au Groupe qu’un commandant des ADF avait de-

mandé aux personnes enlevées de lui montrer les habitations des autorités locales mais avait décidé de ne pas s’y 

rendre lorsqu’il avait réalisé qu’elles étaient trop loin.  

 

Des témoins oculaires et des victimes ont déclaré ne pas avoir observé d'affrontements avec les FARDC qui, selon 

eux, ont rapidement fui, et que « étrangement » les assaillants semblaient attentifs à ne pas trop attirer l'attention 

en tirant avec leurs armes, tuant principalement à la machette. C'est principalement lorsque les ADF ont atteint la 

savonnerie de Sicovir, gardée par des gardes de l'ICCN, et qu’ils se sont affrontés avec eux que des coups de feu 

ont été entendus. Des témoins oculaires et des victimes ont mentionné que le groupe d'assaillant s était au moins 

composé de 100 à 200 combattants, dont des enfants, portant principalement des uniformes militaires et armés de 

machettes et de fusils de type AK. Ils parlaient le swahili, le kinyarwanda, le kiganda et l'arabe selon plusieurs 

sources. 

 

Tous les témoins oculaires ont rapporté que les ADF avaient pillé plusieurs maisons et a ttrapé des chèvres et des 

poules errants, qu’ils avaient obligé les personnes enlevées à transporter, avec d'autres, les biens pillés lors de 

l’attaque. Certaines des personnes enlevées ont réussi à s'échapper et/ou ont été tuées alors que les ADF quittaie nt 

Nzenga après l'attaque. Une personne ayant été enlevée a raconté que les ADF ont tué à la machette une vieille 

dame juste à la sortie de la ville, puis lui ont arraché  le bébé de trois mois à la personne enlevée ainsi que deux 

autres jeunes enfants à leurs mères et les ont déposés sur le corps de la vielle femme, sans toutefois les tuer.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________ 

37 Le Groupe note que cette description semble correspondre à celle d'un commandant des ADF appelé Boaz. D'anciens combattants, 

des personnes enlevése, des victimes et des témoins oculaires l'ont décrit sur plusieurs années au Groupe comme ayant une cicatrice 

au visage. Voir S/2020/482, par. 140. 

https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/482
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Sur le chemin du retour, les ADF ont demandé au pisteur de les amener à deux positions militaires, à Ratsa et 

Mabondo, qu'ils ont attaqué, ainsi que confirmé par les FARDC et une autre personne ayant été enlevée. Cette 

dernière a expliqué qu'ils avaient ensuite marché toute la nuit pour atteindre un camp temporaire où on leur a  

demandé le lendemain de se convertir à l'islam. Le commandant leur a expliqué qu'ils avaient attaqué le village 

pour répandre l'Islam et que tous les non-musulmans devraient être tués, à moins qu'ils ne se convertissent. Dans 

le deuxième camp qu'ils ont atteint au bout d'une semaine de marche, près de Makisabo, toutes les femmes et filles,  

y compris la plus jeune de 12 ans, ont été rapidement données comme épouses aux combattants des ADF. La per-

sonne enlevée a également mentionné la présence d'autres personnes enlevées lors d'autres attaques dans la région 

les mois précédents, comme à Lisasa et Mutwanga. 

 

 

 

Shops looted and burnt down by ADF in Nzenga - Photographs taken by the Group in January 2021 

Boutiques pillées et incendiées par les ADF à Nzenga - Photographies prises par le Groupe en janvier 2021 
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Lose Lose attack  

On the morning of 28 December 2020, ADF attacked the village of Lose Lose (approximately 35 km from Beni 

town). According to several eyewitnesses, former abductees, FARDC and an ex-combatant present near the attack, 

they first attacked the FARDC position of the 312 th battalion at the entrance of the village, briefly clashing with 

them before the FARDC fled. The ADF then started looting houses and shops in the village, as we ll as gathering 

all civilians they could find. One former abductee explained that they sorted people by age and she saw her mother 

and three other older persons killed on the spot by machete. They also asked for the village chief, interrogated him, 

asking whether he was a Mai-Mai. He was later decapitated trying to escape. ADF combatants attached his head  on 

a spike that they left in the Lose Lose (see photo below). Two former abductees and the ex-combatant recounted 

that ADF and the abductees proceeded to another FARDC position, in Chamunana 1-2 km walk outside of the 

village, which ADF looted and burnt (see map below). An abductee explained that they returned to Lose Lose, 

where they met with a second group of ADF combatants. Some ADF combatants and the gr oup of 12 abductees, 

including three children, left for an ADF camp carrying looted goods during a tw o-day walk from Lose Lose. 

During the walk, four women and one man who were older than the rest were put aside and probably killed accord-

ing to one of the former abductees who never saw or heard of them again even after her return in Lose Lose.  

An ex-combatant and FARDC sources confirmed that Lose Lose was occupied for at least 4-5 days from 28 De-

cember 2020 until 1 January 2021, when FARDC managed to retake the village. As mentioned in paragraph 17, 

this is unusual as ADF usually resorted to hit-and-run tactics, retreating quickly after attacks.  

According to an ex-combatant who was present during the planning of the attack and who cared for the wounded 

nearby, the operation was led by Mulalo, seconded by Boaz. Baluku was also closely monitoring the unfold ing of 

the operation through his commanders and instructed Mulalo to withdraw when FARDC started launching the of-

fensive to retake control of Lose Lose on 1 January 2021.   

During the attack on Lose Lose at least 11 civilians were killed and 20 others abdu cted. Two FARDC officers who 

retook control of Lose Lose on 1 January 2021 told the Group that ADF were numerous and well -armed, and that 

the fighting lasted more than five hours. Overall, at least a dozen ADF were killed as well FARDC, some of whom 

were beheaded after the 28 December 2020 fighting. However, contrary to what was reported initially by FARDC 

and in the media,38 no one identified as of Arab origin were found amongst those killed in Lose Lose. This was also 

confirmed by two abductees and an ex-combatant. Two ADF combatants killed during clashes on 28 December 

were relatively light-skinned, possibly from Burundi, which may have created the confusion.  

Three videos were released shortly after the attack (see below). The first one was published by I SIL within just a 

few hours, showing the Chamunana FARDC position on fire, which one abductee recognized when showed the 

video. Several ex-combatants also recognized various active ADF combatants in the video, including “Dr. Jeph”, 

one of ADF’s senior doctors, usually present during combat. They also recognized the voice of Chalamanda, who 

was often described as filming operations (see annex 20). The two other videos were published by ADF the follow-

ing days, one showing ADF combatants dressed in a mix of civilian and military clothes advancing through the 

bush and what looks like an abandoned FARDC camp while shooting. According to an ex -combatant, an abductee 

and FARDC sources, this was filmed during the attack of the first position in Lose Lose. Ex-combatants interviewed 

by the Group also recognized several combatants who were present at Lose Lose during the time of the attacks, 

such as Chalamanda who was seen filming, and Dr. Jeph. The last video published by ADF exhibited an injured 

FARDC soldier allegedly captured during the attack and interrogated in Lingala. However, while shots are heard 

throughout the video, FARDC or those supposedly clashing against ADF are never visible. In addition, several 

inhabitants from the area did not recognize the location of the video, explaining that there are no hills around Lose 

Lose. After analysis of satellite images of Lose Lose village and surroundings, the Group was unable to find 

__________________ 

38 https://actualite.cd/2021/01/02/rdc-beni-larmee-reprend-le-controle-de-loselose-apres-quelques-jours-doccupation-rebelle 
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topography similar to the one visible in the video and thus unable to fully confirm tha t the third video was actually 

filmed in Lose Lose.  

Attaque de Lose Lose 

Le 28 décembre 2020 au matin, les ADF ont attaqué le village de Lose Lose (appro ximativement à 35 km de Beni). 

Selon plusieurs témoins oculaires, des personnes enlevées et un ex-combattant présent à proximité de l'attaque, ils 

ont d'abord attaqué la position FARDC du 312ème bataillon à l'entrée du village, avec lesquels ils se sont br ièvement 

affrontés jusqu’à ce que ces derniers fuient. Les ADF ont alors commencé à piller des maisons  et des magasins du 

village, ainsi qu'à rassembler tous les civils qu'ils trouvaient. Une personne ayant été enlevée a expliqué qu'ils ont 

trié les personnes par âge et qu'elle a vu sa mère et trois autres personnes plus âgées être tuées sur place par 

machette. Les ADF ont également demandé où était le chef du village et l'ont interrogé, lui demandant s'il était un 

Mai-Mai. Il a par la suite été décapité alors qu'il tentait de s'échapper. Les combattants des ADF ont attaché sa tête 

sur une pointe qu'ils ont laissée dans le centre de Lose Lose. Deux personnes enlevées et l'ex-combattant ont raconté 

que les ADF et les personnes capturées se sont rendus dans une autre position des FARDC, à Chamunana à 1-2 km 

à l’extérieur du village que les ADF ont pillé et brûlé (voir plan ci-dessous). Une des personnes enlevées a expliqué 

qu'ils sont ensuite retournés à Lose Lose, où ils ont rencontré un deuxième groupe de com battants ADF. Certains 

combattants des ADF et le groupe de personnes enlevées, au nombre de 12 dont trois enfants, transportant les biens 

pillés, sont partis pour un camp des ADF à deux jours de marche de Lose Lose. Au cours de la marche, quatre 

femmes et un homme plus âgés que les autres ont été mis de côté et probablement tués selon l'une des personnes 

enlevées qui ne les a plus jamais revues même après son retour à Lose Lose. 

Un ex-combattant et des sources des FARDC ont confirmé que Lose Lose a été occupé pendant au moins quatre à 

cinq jours du 28 décembre 2020 au 1er janvier 2021, date à laquelle les FARDC ont réussi à reprendre le village. 

Comme mentionné au paragraphe 27, ceci est inhabituel car les ADF ont généralement recours à des attaques 

éclairs, se retirant rapidement après les attaques. 

Selon un ex-combattant qui était présent lors de la planification de l'attaque et qui s'est occupé des blessés à proxi-

mité, l'opération a été menée par Mulalo, secondée par Boaz. Baluku a également surveillé de p rès le déroulement 

de l'opération par l'intermédiaire de ses commandants et a ordonné à Mulalo de se r etirer lorsque les FARDC ont 

commencé à lancer l'offensive pour reprendre le contrôle de Lose Lose le 1 er janvier 2021. 

Au cours de l'attaque de Lose Lose, au moins 11 civils ont été tués et 20 autres enlevés. Deux officiers des FARDC 

qui ont repris le contrôle de Lose Lose le 1er janvier 2021 ont déclaré au Groupe que les ADF étaient nombreux et 

bien armés et que les combats avaient duré plus de cinq heures. Au total, au moins une douzaine d'ADF ont été tués 

ainsi que des FARDC dont certains ont été décapités après les combats du 28 décembre 2020. Cependant, contrai-

rement à ce qui a été rapporté initialement par les FARDC et dans les médias, personne identi fié comme étant 

d’origine arabe n'a été tué à Lose Lose.39 Cela a également été confirmé par deux personnes enlevées et un ex-

combattant. Deux combattants des ADF, venus peut-être du Burundi, tués lors des affrontements du 28 décembre 

avaient la peau relativement claire, auraient peut-être créé la confusion. 

Trois vidéos ont été diffusées peu de temps après l'attaque (voir ci-dessous). La première a été publiée par l'EIIL 

en quelques heures à peine. Elle montre la position des FARDC de Chamunana en feu, qu' une personne enlevée a 

reconnue. Plusieurs ex-combattants ont également reconnu divers combattants des ADF dans la vidéo, dont « Dr. 

Jeph », l’un des principaux médecins des ADF, généralement présent lors des combats, ainsi que la voix de Chala-

manda, qui filmait souvent les opérations (voir annexe 20). Les deux autres vidéos ont été publiées par les ADF les  

jours suivants, l'une montrant des combattants des ADF vêtus à la fois en vêtements civils et militaires avançant 

dans la brousse et à travers ce qui ressemble à un camp des FARDC abandonné. Selon un ex-combattant, une 

personne enlevée et des sources FARDC, la vidéo a été tournée lors de l'attaque de la première position à Lose 

__________________ 

39 https://actualite.cd/2021/01/02/rdc-beni-larmee-reprend-le-controle-de-loselose-apres-quelques-jours-doccupation-rebelle 
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Lose. Cependant, et alors que l’on peut entendre des coups de feu tout au long  de la vidéo, les FARDC ou ceux qui 

contre qui les ADF se battent ne sont jamais visibles. En outre, plusieurs habitants de la région n'ont pas reconnu 

l'emplacement de la vidéo, expliquant qu'il n'y a pas de collines de ce type autour de Lose Lose. Après analyse des 

images satellites du village de Lose Lose et de ses environs, le Groupe n'a pas été en mesu re de trouver une topo-

graphie similaire à celle visible dans la vidéo et ainsi de confirmer pleinement que la vidéo avait effectivement été 

filmée à Lose Lose. Néanmoins, les ex-combattants interrogés par le Groupe ont également reconnu plusieurs com-

battants qui étaient présents à Lose Lose au moment des attaques, comme Chalamanda qui est vu en train de filmer, 

et Dr Jeph. La dernière vidéo publiée par les ADF montrait un soldat blessé des FARDC capturé lors de l'attaque et 

interrogé en lingala. 

Satellite image of Lose Lose 

Image satellite de Lose Lose 

 

 

 

Image from Google earth (April 2020), annotated by the Group 40 

 

Image de Google Earth (avril 2020), annotée par le Groupe41 

 

  

__________________ 

40 Coordinates: 00°25'19"N 29°42'35"E or 0.421944, 29.709722 
41 Coordonnées: 00°25'19"N 29°42'35"E ou 0.421944, 29.709722 
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ISIL video of Chamunana FARDC position 

Vidéo de l’EIIL de la position FARDC à Chamunana 

 

 

 

Screenshot of the video circulating in social media a few hours after the attack.  

Capture d’écran de la video circulant dans les médias sociaux quelques heures après l’attaque.  

 

An abductee, an ex-combatant and FARDC officers recognized the FARDC position in Chamunana. The abductee 

remembered sitting close to the person filming. The combatant on the far right looking at the camera wa s identified 

by three ex-combatants as Dr. Jeph, and the voice of the person filming the video was recognized as C halamanda, 

who says they are in Chamunana. Two ex-combatants also recognized the child on the left as Mulalo’s son and in 

front of him another ADF doctor called Aboubakar.  

Une personne enlevée, un ancien combattant et des officiers des FARDC ont reconnu l a position des FARDC à 

Chamunana. Une personne enlevée s’est rappelé avoir été assise près de la personne qui filmait. Le combattant à 

l'extrême droite de la capture d’écran regardant la caméra a été identifié par trois ex -combattants comme étant Dr 

Jeph et la voix de la personne qui filme la vidéo a été reconnue comme celle de Chalamanda, qui dit être à Chamu-

nana. Deux ex-combattants ont également reconnu l’enfant à gauche comme le fils de Mulalo et, devant lui, un 

autre médecin des ADF appelé Aboubakar. 
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Video published by ADF and shot in Lose Lose according to ADF  

Vidéo publié par les ADF et tournée à Lose Lose selon les ADF 

 

   

 

 

Progression of ADF combatants through a hill and an FARDC position in Lose Lose.  

Progression des combattants ADF à travers une colline et une position des FARDC à Lose Lose. 

 

 

 

Dr. Jeph, recognised by two ex-combatants 

Dr Jeph, reconnu par deux ex-combattants 
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Second video published by ADF on Lose Lose attack  

Deuxième vidéo publiée par les ADF sur l’attaque de Lose Lose 

 

 

Screenshot of a video circulating on social media, showing a captured FARDC soldier 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo circulant dans les médias sociaux, montrant un soldat FARDC capturé 
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Annex 19  

Beni Kangbayi prison break 

Évasion de la prison de Kangbayi à Beni 

On 20 October 2020, ADF attacked Kangbayi, Beni’s prison, freeing most of its detainees. Three ADF ex -combat-

ants including two who were detained in Kangbayi prison during the attack explained that a few months prior to 

the attack, several ADF inmates had been exchanging directly and/or through intermediaries with Seka Baluku, 

begging for their liberation. These ex-combatants as well as FARDC sources also named Fabrice Kamulete, a for-

mer prisoner who became close with several ADF detainees while in Kangbayi, as a key intermediary player be-

tween them and Amigo in the preparation of the attack. Several weeks before the jailbreak , Beni’s military prose-

cutor had actually warned the FARDC and police authorities in a letter of a possible attack against K angbayi’s 

prison. 

 

Two ex-combatants explained that the operation was led by Mulalo and Amigo upon Baluku’s orders. According to 

one of these ex-combatants, the commando group was composed of around 130 combatants, including 20 combat-

ants who were sent from Madina, led by Boaz, with ammunitions and weapons. They met Mulalo and 40 of his 

combatants on the way and then joined Amigo near Irungu/Mwalika camps, from where they left with 70 additional 

combatants, including ADF commander Kikute. Another ex-combatant and a former abductee who were in one of 

the Irungu/Mwalika camps, confirmed that several combatants departed their camp to parti cipate in the operation.42 

This ex-combatant also saw two ADF collaborators from Butembo bring the generator and the chainsaw  that were 

meant to be used to break the prison’s door. A bit further, still in Domaine area, the commando group reportedly 

split in two and Mulalo stayed behind, ready to intervene in case of necessity.  

 

Most detainees explained that the attack started around four in the morning. They were awakened by gunshots and 

what they described as a short clash with the security forces guarding  the prison.43 Using a generator and chainsaw, 

the ADF quickly broke in the prison. Several detainees recognized Amigo as one of the first assailants to enter the 

premises, while others saw him later. Most sources affirmed that the assailants were about 60 -70 individuals, in-

cluding children, heavily armed with RPG-7, PKM and AK-type assault rifles, and wearing a mix of military and 

civilian clothes, including dresses and scarves. They mainly spoke Swahili and Kiganda and some explicitly told 

detainees that they were ADF. Some detainees affirmed that they were specifically looking for some of their com-

batants, notably a certain Jamil.44 Several detainees saw an ISIL flag, as confirmed in a video shot shortly after the 

prison break (see below). Detainees were rushed outside, by force sometimes, and put in a single line walking 

towards Kalau, south of Beni and then through Domaine in Virunga National Park (see below a map and video 

filmed in Domaine) where they met Mulalo’s group.  

 

Several escapees recounted that in the following hours they were asked to choose between leaving or joining ADF. 

About 100 ADF collaborators from Issale, mainly farmers, were also freed and sent back in exchange for their 

continued fidelity to ADF according to two ex-combatants. Several escapees told the Group that during the journey 

and particularly when they were in Domaine, at least 50 persons were killed,  including several FARDC who were 

detained in Kangbayi. A mass grave of over 30 persons was found by the Semuliki River near Lahe , which the 

military judicial authorities identified as Kangbayi detainees. Several escapees explained that the remaining in-

mates, around 150, received military and physical training in a temporary camp near Irungu/Mwalika for one month, 

mainly by provided by ADF commanders Boaz, Skeikh Kahamu and Madogodo. They were then divided into two 

groups, one which went to Amigo’s camp and another one with Mulalo to Rwenzori. This group led most of the 

__________________ 

42  They also saw them coming back from the operation, some of them wounded and accompanied by escapees, most of them 

collaborators. 
43 However, Beni’s Military Prosecutor noted that almost no ammunition was fired by the Congolese security forces and that most 

were not at their posts that night. This was interpreted by many as a possible complicity of FARDC with the assailants, howev er 

the Group was not able to confirm that. 
44 Most probably Jamil Mulongo, an ADF combatant who surrendered in 2014. According to an ex-combatant he was later killed 

in Lose Lose end December 2020.  
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attacks in Rwenzori since end of 2020 according to two ex-combatants and former abductees (see annex 18 on 

attacks in Rwenzori).   

 

Several sources, including escapees, raised the possibility  of collaboration between ADF and Mai-Mai groups in 

the planning and conduct of the operation, notably as ADF passed through a ro ute in a Mai-Mai-controlled area 

south of the Kangbayi prison, and that Amigo was seen conferring a few hours after the jailbreak with two Mai-

Mai leaders detained in Kangbayi, including Safari, accused of the attack against Butembo’s hospital in 2019. The 

Group was unable to confirm such collaboration.  

 

Le 20 octobre 2020, les ADF ont attaqué Kangbayi, la prison de Béni, libéran t ainsi la plupart des détenus. Trois 

ex-combattants, y compris deux qui étaient détenus à la prison Kangbayi au moment des faits ont expliqué que 

quelques mois avant cette attaque, plusieurs détenus ADF avaient eu des échanges, directs et/ou à travers des  inter-

médiaires, avec Seka Baluku et qu’ils l’avaient supplié de les libérer. Ces ex-combattants ainsi que plusieurs sources 

FARDC ont également mentionné Fabrice Kamulete, un prisonnier qui s’était rapproché de certains détenus ADF 

lorsqu’il était à Kangbayi, comme étant un intermédiaire clé entre eux et Amigo lors des préparatifs de l’attaque. 

Plusieurs semaines avant l’évasion, le Procureur Militaire de Beni avait adressé une lettre aux autorités militaires 

et policières, les prévenant de la possibilité d’une attaque contre la prison de Kangbayi. 

 

Deux ex-combattants ont expliqué que l’opération avait été menée par Mulalo et Amigo, sur ordre de Baluku. Selon 

un de ces ex-combattants, le groupe commando était composé d’environ 130 combattants, y compris 20  combattants 

envoyés depuis Madina et dirigés par Boaz, avec des munitions et des armes. Ils ont rencontré Mulalo et 40 de s es 

combattants sur la route et ont ensuite rejoint Amigo près des camps d’Irungu/Mwalika, d’où ils sont partis avec 

70 éléments en plus, y compris le commandant ADF Kikute. Un autre ex-combattant et une personne qui avait 

préalablement été enlevée par les ADF, et qui se trouvaient alors dans un des camps d’Irungu/Mwalika, ont confirmé 

que plusieurs combattants avaient quitté leur camp afin de participer à l’opération d’évasion.45 Cet ex-combattant 

a également pu observer deux collaborateurs ADF de Butembo qui avaient amené un générateur et une meuleuse 

qui devaient servir pour casser la porte de la prison. Peu après leur départ du camp, alors qu’ils se trouvaient encore 

dans la zone appelée « Domaine », le groupe commando se serait scindé en deux laissant Mulalo et son équipe 

derrière eux, prêts à intervenir en cas de besoin.  

 

La plupart des détenus ont expliqué que l’attaque a débuté vers quatre heures du matin. Ils se sont réveillés suite à 

des coups de feu et ce qu’ils ont décrit comme un bref affrontement avec les forces de sécurité gardant la prison. 46 

Utilisant un générateur et une meuleuse, les ADF ont rapidement pu accéder à la prison. Plusieurs détenus ont 

reconnu Amigo comme étant l’un des premiers assaillants à rentrer dans le bâtiment; d’autres l’ont vu plus tard 

également. La plupart des sources ont affirmé qu’il y avait entre 60 et 70 assaillants, y compris des enfants, lour-

dement armés avec des RPG-7, PKM et fusils d’assaut de type AK. Certains portaient des uniformes militaires, 

alors que d’autres étaient en tenues civiles, y compris avec des robes longues et des foulards. Les assaillants par-

laient majoritairement le Swahili et le Kiganda, et certains ont explicitement mentionné aux détenus qu’ils étaient 

des ADF. Certains détenus ont affirmé qu’ils cherchaient certains de leurs combattants, notamment un certain Ja-

mil.47 Plusieurs détenus ont déclaré avoir vu un drapeau de l’EIIL, ce qui a été confirmé par une vidéo prise direc-

tement après l’attaque de la prison (voir plus bas). Les détenus ont été conduit vers l’extérieur de la prison, parfois 

de force, et instruit de s’aligner et de marcher vers Kalau, en direction du sud de Be ni, et ensuite à travers Domaine 

dans le Parc national des Virunga (voir ci-dessous pour une carte et vidéo tournée dans Domaine), où ils ont alors 

rejoint le groupe de Mulalo. 

 

 

__________________ 

45 Ils les ont également vus revenir de l'opération, certains d'entre eux blessés et accompagnés d ’évadés, pour la plupart des 

collaborateurs des ADF. 
46 Cependant, le procureur militaire de Beni a noté que presqu’aucune munition n’avait été tirée par les forces congolaises et que 

la plupart n’étaient pas à leur poste cette nuit-là. Cela a été interprété par beaucoup comme une possible complicité des FARDC 

avec les assaillants, mais le Groupe n'a pas été en mesure de le confirmer.  
47 Très probablement Jamil Mulongo, un combattant des ADF qui s'est rendu en 2014. Selon un ex -combattant, il a ensuite été tué à 

Lose Lose fin décembre 2020. 
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Plusieurs évadés ont expliqué que dans les heures suivantes, il leur a été demandé de choisir de partir ou de rejoindre 

les ADF. Environ 100 collaborateurs ADF d’Issale, pour la plupart des agriculteurs, ont alors été relâchés et ren-

voyés chez eux en échange de leur fidélité aux ADF, selon deux ex -combattants. Plusieurs évadés ont également 

déclaré au Groupe que durant leur séjour, et plus particulièrement lorsqu’ils étaient au « Domaine », au moins 50 

personnes ont été tuées, y compris plusieurs FARDC qui étaient détenus à Kangbayi au moment de l’attaque. Une 

fosse commune avec plus de 30 corps a été retrouvée près de la rivière Semuliki, proche de Lahe, et les autorités 

judiciaires militaires ont pu identifier ces corps comme étant des détenus de Kangbayi. Plusieurs évadés ont expli-

qué que les détenus qui sont restés, environ 150, ont reçu une formation militaire et physique dans un camp tem-

poraire proche d’Irungu/Mwalika durant un mois. Cette formation a été notamment dispensée par les commandants 

ADF Boaz, Skeikh Kahamu et Madogodo. Ils ont ensuite été divisés en deux groupes, un qui a rejoint le camp 

d’Amigo et l’autre s’est dirigé vers le Rwenzori mené par Mulalo. Ce dernier groupe a commis la plupart des 

attaques dans le Rwenzori depuis fin 2020, selon deux ex-combattants et des personnes qui avaient été enlevées 

par les ADF (voir annexe 18 pour les attaques dans le Rwenzori) 

 

Plusieurs sources, y compris des évadés, ont soulevé la possibilité d’une collaboration entre les ADF et les groupes 

Mai-Mai lors de la planification et l’exécution de l’opération d’évasion de Kangbayi, not amment car les ADF 

étaient passés par une route dans une zone contrôlée par les Mai-Mai au sud de la prison, et car Amigo a été observé 

quelques heures après l’attaque discutant avec deux chefs Mai-Mai détenus à Kanbayi, dont Safari, accusé de l’at-

taque contre l’hôpital de Butembo en 2019. Toutefois, le Groupe n’a pas pu confirmer l’existence d’une telle col-

laboration. 

 

Map of Beni Kangbayi Prison 

 

Carte de la prison de Kangbayi à Beni 

 

 

Image from Google earth (April 2021), annotated by the Group  

Image de Google Earth (avril 2021), annotée par le Groupe 
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Videos of escapees filmed by ADF 

 

Vidéos d’évadés fimés par les ADF 

 

 

 

 

Screenshot of a video obtained by the Group from a source with knowledge of the matter. Several escapees who 

were shown the video recognized passing through this road, near Manjiko shortly after the prison break. Some 

also mentioned seeing the ISIL flag. The man filming is heard singing, Dawlah al Islam (Dawlah islamiyyah),48 

which has become one of the ISIL slogans.  

 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo fournie au Groupe par une source familière de la question. Plusieurs rescapés figurant 

sur la vidéo ont pu témoigner être passé par cette route, proche de Manjiko, quelques heures après l’attaque de la 

prison. Plusieurs ont également témoigné avoir vu le drapeau de l’EIIL. L’homme qui filmait chantait Dawlah al 

Islam (Dawlah islamiyyah)49, et les membres du groupe y répondaient alors “Baqiya”,50 un des slogans d’EIIL. 

 

 

__________________ 

48 Translation: Remaining. 
49 Traduction: État Islamique.  
50 Translation: Rester. 
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Screenshot of a video obtained by the Group from a source with knowledge of the matter. Several escapees were 

recognized in that video by other escapees, detainees, FARDC, judicial and penitentiary authorities as well as ex -

combatants and former abductees. As in the previous video, the man filming sang, Dawlah al Islam (Dawlah islam-

iyyah), which was responded by “Baqiya”. Several escapees remembered passing through that area in Domaine and 

having been told to scream “Baqiya”.  

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo fournie au Groupe par une source familière de la question. Plusieurs rescapés ont été 

reconnus sur cette vidéo, notamment par d’autres rescapés, des FARDC, des autorités pénitentiaires et judiciaires, 

des ex-combattants et des personnes enlevées par les ADF. Comme dans l’autre vidéo, l’homme qui filmait chantait 

Dawlah al Islam (Dawlah islamiyyah), et les membres du groupe y répondaient “Baqiya”, un des slogans de l’EIIL. 

Plusieurs rescapés se sont souvenus avoir marché dans cette zone à Domaine et disent avoir été obligés de crier 

“Baqiya”. 
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Annex 20  

Analysis of ADF videos  

Analyse des vidéos des ADF 

As mentioned in paragraphs 29-31, ADF is one of the most secretive armed groups in the DRC, including within 

its own ranks. While some videos filmed by ADF existed and circulated in a limited way since at least 2006, 51 ADF 

only started publicizing their videos since 2016. The videos, mainly in Kiganda, Swahili and Arabic, were dissem-

inated including on Facebook, WhatsApp, Telegram, YouTube. In 2020, ADF also created their own TV (or TV 

channel) called Mujahedeen TV, but it was recently shut down. 

Their quantity and quality have relatively increased over the years. Ex-combatants mentioned that several ADF 

combatants in the various camps or operations were in charge or particularly active with the filming of the videos, 

which were then usually sent to Madina for processing. Among those were a combatant named Chalamanda from 

Tanzania, who often filmed operations, and Meddie Nkalubo, alias Punisher, who edited and processed the videos 

in Madina. The two men were thus key elements of ADF propaganda. Some of these videos were then posted on 

social media, but many were displayed only internally, particularly those of punishments such as beheadings, to 

inspire fear and discipline within combatants. Most were filmed with phones, al though two ex-combatants men-

tioned the use of drones, especially by Punisher, to make some videos (see para. 23).  

The Group noted an evolution in the use of logos in the videos, with some of the initial videos using only the MTM 

logo, looking like the ISIL and Al-shabab flags, and more recent ones using the logos of the Central Africa Province 

as well as As’habul Kahfi Media,52 which seems to represent the ADF brand (see below for the pictures of the 

logos). Some videos also showed a flag such as the one used by ISIL (see S/2019/469, annex 10), which demon-

strated ADF’s will to appear close to ISIL.  

ADF pledge of allegiance to ISIL 

 

The first reference to the Islamic state was in a 2017 video of Abwakasi who sta ted in Arabic:53 “I swear to God 

that this is ‘Dar al-Islam’54 of the Islamic State in Central Africa”, although it is still unclear for the Group whether 

he referred to ISIL or more generally to the Islamic nature of ADF. The Group notes that it is not be fore the July 

2019 Baluku video in which he pledged allegiance to the Islamic State, that ADF made publicly clear their intention 

to be an ISIL affiliate. The video, which was posted by the Islamic State, is of increased quality and contains both 

the logos of the Islamic State and Central Africa Province as well as frames filmed possibly in Somalia and in 

Mozambique with Ahlu Sunna Wal Jammah (ASWJ) combatants also seen pledging. Several ex -combatants recog-

nized Baluku speaking in the video. This video, which was analysed by the Group, opens with a text in Arabic 

stating “we renew our pledge of allegiance to the Caliph” Abu Bakr al -Baghdadi, the leader of the Islamic State. 

An ex-combatant interviewed by the Group who was present when the video was shot in 2 019 also explained that 

the video was actually a second pledge of allegiance, as al-Baghdadi had requested Baluku to do another allegiance 

video. Another ex-combatant told the Group that Abwakasi had shown him a pledge of allegiance video with Baluku 

already in June 2018, which could confirm the possibility that Baluku may have pledged allegiance already since 

2018. Also, in August 2018, Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi mentioned the existence of a Central Africa Province for the 

first time and in April 2019 he was seen handling documents about some of its affiliates, including one entitled 

“Wilayat Central Africa” with the same logo that appeared in the Baluku pledge of allegiance video three months 

later. This, and the release of exclusive pictures showing Baluku and/or ADF camps in 2019 and 2020 as well as 

ISIL communications claiming responsibility for supposed ADF attacks since April 2019 seem to indicate that the 

ADF pledge of allegiance was accepted by ISIL. The Group notes that Baluku’s pledge of allegiance was n ot met 

with a public response by ISIL, contrary to what ISIL did with respect to Boko Haram.  

__________________ 

51 Some were posted externally on social media, for example https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-BvVmKy2g78&t=5s  
52 Translation: Media of the Cave Dwellers. 
53 The video which is only in Arabic illustrates well it was for propaganda and external purposes as Congolese do not usually 

speak Arabic.  
54 Translation: House of Islam. 

https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-BvVmKy2g78&t=5s
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In a September 2020 video, Baluku whose face is blurred, is seen discussing ADF’s history, objectives and name 

with Lumisa and other ADF commanders. The video is shot and presented as a talk show in which the various ADF 

commanders are addressing an audience they call “listeners” and “viewers”. Lumisa also specifically mentioned 

that this was Mujahedeen TV broadcasting from the Central African Caliphate under Calip h Abu Ibrahim Al-Hash-

imi Al Quraishi, current ISIL leader. In the video, Baluku explained that they had initially called themselves ADF 

to be better accepted at their arrival in the DRC, concealing their Islamic identity and pretending they had the 

“democratic objective” of overthrowing Museveni’s government in Uganda to ally more easily with the NALU and 

the Congolese government. This helped them to “build their capacity”. He also explained that ultimately, they had 

overpowered the NALU but that they had continued operating under the shadows of their alliance using the ADF 

name until today. Three other ADF commanders made similar statements. Baluku concluded by saying that ADF 

no longer existed and was now an Islamic State Province, and that the name ADF wa s now only used by infidels to 

scare away people who would be interested in joining the group. Interestingly, one of the commanders intervening 

in the video, identified as being Butambala (see annex 4), was opposed to an alliance with ISIL in 2018 and as s uch 

punished and demoted by Baluku, according to two ex-combatants.  

The precise nature of the relationship between the two groups remained unclear, despite this pledge of allegiance 

and possible links or contacts. The Group was not able to confirm any direct command-and-control of ISIL over 

ADF nor any direct support of any kind to ADF. Further, there are still discrepancies in ISIL claims of attacks in 

the DRC, some of which may again not have been conducted by ADF, although the communication channels mig ht 

have slightly improved, as suggested by the swift publication of the Lose Lose video. This is indicative of ISIL 

overall limited knowledge of ADF actions, the use of indirect communication channels (through intermediaries) 

and/or an opportunism in the claiming of certain attacks. As mentioned in para. XX and reported in S/2020/1283, 

paras. 14 and 17, the techniques, modus operandi and tactics of ADF have not significantly changed since ISIL 

started claiming responsibility for attacks, nor since ADF pledged allegiance and started releasing videos trying to 

project alignment with ISIL. 

Possible links to ISIL should not preclude decision makers from taking into consideration all factors contribu ting 

to the violence.  

Propaganda purposes of the videos 

In fact, some of the videos contained content purely for propaganda purposes, mainly for recruitment, such as 

several videos released at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, in which combatants encouraged new 

recruits to join them in their COVID-19-free camps where they would be safe. These videos and other videos also 

purposefully used radical language to attract would-be combatants sensitive to such ideology, such as a video fea-

turing Mzee Mubindo in which, at the end, he sings Dawlah al Islam (Dawlah islamiyyah) to which children respond 

“Baqyia”, ISIL’s slogan in Arabic (see annex 19). 

 

Comme indiqué aux paragraphes 29-31, les ADF sont l'un des groupes armés les plus secrets en RDC, y compris 

au sein de ses propres rangs. Alors que certaines vidéos filmées par les ADF existaient et circulaient de manière 

limitée depuis au moins 2006, les ADF n'ont commencé à publier ces vidéos que depuis 2016. Les vidéos, princi-

palement en kiganda, en swahili et en arabe, ont notamment été diffusées sur Facebook, WhatsApp, Telegram, 

YouTube. En 2020, les ADF ont également créé leur propre télévision (ou chaîne de télévision) appelée Mujahedeen 

TV, mais elle a récemment été fermée. 

La quantité et la qualité des vidéos ont relativement augmenté au fil des années. Les ex-combattants ont mentionné 

que plusieurs combattants des ADF dans les différents camps ou opérations étaient particulièrement chargés ou 

actifs pour filmer les vidéos, qui étaient ensuite généralement envoyées à Madina pour traitement. Il s'agit notam-

ment d'un combattant nommé Chalamanda de Tanzanie qui filmait souvent les opérations et Meddie Nkalubo, alias 

Punisher, qui montait et traitait les vidéos à Madina. Tous deux étaient ainsi des éléments clés de la propagande des 

ADF. Certaines de ces vidéos ont ensuite été publiées sur les réseaux sociaux, mais beaucoup n'ont été diffusées 

qu'en interne, en particulier celles de punitions telles que les décapitations, pour inspirer la peur et la disci pline 

chez les combattants. La plupart ont été filmés avec des téléphones, bien que deux ex-combattants aient mentionné 

l'utilisation de drones notamment par Punisher pour réaliser des vidéos (voir par. 23).  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Le Groupe a noté une évolution de l'utilisation des logos dans les vidéos, certaines des premières vidéos n'utilisant 

que le logo MTM, ressemblant aux drapeaux d’EIIL et dAl-shabab, et les plus récentes utilisant les logos de la 

Province d’Afrique centrale ainsi que As'habul Kahfi Media, qui semblent êt re la marque ADF (voir ci-dessous 

pour les photos des logos). Certaines vidéos montraient également un drapeau tel que celui utilisé par l'EIIL (voir 

S/2019/469, annexe 10), démontrant ainsi la volonté des ADF de se montrer proche de EIIL. 

La première référence à l'État islamique a été trouvée dans une vidéo de 2017 montrant Abwakasi qui déclarait en 

arabe :55  « Je jure devant Dieu qu'il s'agit du « Dar al-Islam », de l'État islamique en Afrique centrale », même si 

ce n’est toujours pas clair pour le groupe s'il faisait référence à l’EIIL ou plus généralement à la nature islamique 

des ADF. Le Groupe note que ce n'est donc pas avant la vidéo de juillet 2019 de Baluku dans laquelle il avait juré 

allégeance à l'État islamique, que les ADF ont fait savoir publiquement leur intention d'être affilié à l'EIIL. La 

vidéo, qui a été postée par l'État islamique, est de qualité accrue et contient également les logos de l'État islamique 

et de la province de l'Afrique centrale ainsi que des images filmées peut-être en Somalie et au Mozambique avec 

des combattants Ahlu Sunna Wal Jammah (ASWJ) que l’on peut voir prêter allégeance. Plusieurs ex -combattants 

ont reconnu Baluku s'exprimant dans la vidéo. La vidéo, qui  a été analysée par le Groupe, s'ouvre sur un texte en 

arabe déclarant « nous renouvelons notre serment d'allégeance au Calife » Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi, le chef de l'État 

islamique. Un ex-combattant interrogé par le Groupe qui était présent lors du tournage de la vidéo en 2019 a éga-

lement expliqué que la vidéo était en fait un deuxième serment d'allégeance, car al-Baghdadi avait demandé à 

Baluku de faire une autre vidéo d'allégeance. Un autre ex-combattant a déclaré au Groupe qu'Abwakasi lui avait 

déjà montré une vidéo de serment d'allégeance avec Baluku en juin 2018, ce qui pourrait éventuellement confirmer 

la possibilité que Baluku ait déjà prêté allégeance depuis 2018. De plus, en août 2018, al -Baghdadi avait mentionné 

pour la première fois l'existence d'une province d'Afrique centrale et en avril 2019, il avait été vu manipulant des 

documents concernant certains de ses affiliés, dont un intitulé « Wilayat Central Africa » avec le même logo qui 

figurait dans la vidéo de serment d'allégeance de Baluku trois mois plus tard. Ces éléments, et la publication de 

photos exclusives montrant des camps de Baluku et/ou des ADF en 2019 et 2020 ainsi que les communications de 

l'EIIL revendiquant la responsabilité d'attaques supposées des ADF depuis avril 2019, semblent in diquer que le 

serment d'allégeance des ADF a été accepté par l'EIIL. Le serment d’allégeance de Baluku n’a pas été accueilli par 

une réponse publique de la part de l’EIIL, à la différence de ce que EIIL avait fait pour Boko Haram.  

Dans une vidéo de septembre 2020, Baluku, dont le visage est flou, est vu en train de discuter de l’histoire, des 

objectifs et du nom des ADF avec Lumisa et d’autres commandants des ADF. La vidéo est tournée et présentée sous 

forme de programme télévisé dans laquelle les différents commandants des ADF s'adressent à un public qu'ils 

appellent « auditeurs » et « téléspectateurs ». Lumisa mentionne spécifiquement également qu'il s'agissait d'une 

émission télévisée des Moudjahidines du Califat d’Afrique Central placé sous le calife Abu  Ibrahim Al-Hashimi Al 

Quraishi, actuel dirigeant de l'EIIL. Dans la vidéo, Baluku a expliqué qu'ils s'étaient initialement appelés ADF pour 

être mieux acceptés à leur arrivée en RDC, cachant leur identité islamique et prétendant avoir « l'objectif démocra-

tique » de renverser le gouvernement de Museveni en Ouganda pour s'allier plus facilement avec les NALU et le 

gouvernement congolais. Cela les aurait aidés à « renforcer leurs capacités ». Baluku explique qu’après avoir sup-

planté les NALU, ils ont continué à opérer dans l’ombre de leur alliance jusqu'à aujourd'hui en utilisant le nom 

ADF. Trois autres commandants de l'ADF sont vus dans la vidéo faisant des déclarations similaires auxquels Baluku 

conclu en disant que les ADF n'existent plus, qu'ils sont main tenant une province de l'État islamique, et que le nom 

ADF n'est maintenant utilisé que par les infidèles pour effrayer les personnes qui seraient intéressées de rejoindre 

le groupe. Fait intéressant, l'un des commandants intervenant dans la vidéo, identif ié comme étant Butambala (voir 

annexe 4) était opposé à une alliance avec l'EIIL en 2018 et à ce titre puni et rétrogradé par Baluku, d’après deux 

anciens combattants. 

La nature précise de la relation entre les deux groupes reste incertaine, malgré le serm ent d’allégeance et des liens 

ou contacts possibles. Le Groupe n'a pu confirmer aucun lien de commandement et contrôle direct de l'EIIL sur les 

ADF ni aucun soutien direct de quelque type que ce soit aux ADF. En outre, il existe encore des erreurs dans les  

revendications d'attaques de l'EIIL en RDC, dont certaines n'ont peut-être pas été menées par les ADF, bien que les 

canaux de communication aient pu être légèrement améliorés, comme l’a suggéré la publication rapide de la vidéo 

de Lose Lose. Ceci est indicatif de la connaissance globalement limitée de l'EIIL sur les actions des ADF, de l'uti-

lisation de canaux de communication indirects (par des intermédiaires), et/ou d’un opportunisme dans la revendi-

cation de certaines attaques. Comme mentionné au paragraphe 19 et rapporté dans S/2020/1283, par. 14 et 17, les 

techniques, le mode opératoire et les tactiques des ADF n'ont pas changé de manière significative depuis que l'EIIL 

__________________ 

55 La video qui ets seulment en arabe montre que c’était à des fins de propaganda et externs car les Congolais ne parlent 

généralement pas arabe.  

https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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a commencé à revendiquer la responsabilité des attaques, ni depuis que les ADF ont prêté allégeance et commencé 

à diffuser des vidéos essayant de projeter l'alignement avec l'EIIL.  

Des liens éventuels avec l’EIIL ne devraient pas empêcher ceux qui prennent les décisions de prendre en compt e 

tous les facteurs qui contribuent à la violence. 

L’objectif de propagande des vidéos 

D’ailleurs, certaines vidéos démontrent des fins purement de propagande, principalement pour le recrutement, 

comme dans plusieurs vidéos publiées au début de la pandémie de la COVID-19 en 2020, dans lesquelles les com-

battants encourageaient de nouvelles recrues à les rejoindre dans leurs camps qui étaient sans COVID-19 t où ils 

seraient en sécurité. Ces vidéos et d’autres ont également utilisé à dessein un langage  radical pour attirer des com-

battants potentiels sensibles à une telle idéologie, comme la vidéo de Mzee Mubindo dans laquelle, à la fin, il 

chante « Dawlah al Islam (Dawlah islamiyyah) » auquel les enfants répondent « Baqyia », le slogan de l'EIIL en Arabe 

(voir annexe 19). 

Logos used in ADF videos 

Logos utilisés dans les vidéos ADF 

      

Screenshot of MTM logo already visible in videos in 2017  

(for example the 2017 video with Abwakasi aforementioned)  

 

Capture d'écran du logo MTM déjà visible dans les vidéos en 2017 

(par exemple la vidéo 2017 avec Abwakasi susmentionnée) 

 

          
 

Screenshots of the Central Africa Province and the Media of Cave Dwellers logo, often used one after the other in 

videos since 2019 

 

Captures d'écran du logo la Province d'Afrique centrale et du Media of Cave Dwellers, souvent utilisés l'un après 

l'autre dans les vidéos depuis 2019 
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Screenshot of the Mujahideen TV logo (and ISIL flag) also used in videos in 2020  

Capture d'écran du logo Mujahideen TV (et du drapeau de l'EIIL) également utilisé dans des vidéos en 2020 

 

Flags used in videos  

Drapeaux utilisés dans les vidéos 

 

 

Screenshot of a 2020 video in which Mzee Mubindo called the people from Kasese (at the Ugandan-DRC border) 

and Muslims to join them, otherwise they would be killed. 

 

Capture d'écran d'une vidéo de 2020 dans laquelle Mzee Mubindo appelle les gens de Kasese (à la frontière Ou-

ganda-RDC) et les musulmans à les rejoindre, sinon ils seront tués.  
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Screenshot of a video filmed end of 2020 or beginning of 2021 in Madina or Mapobu, in which combatants sing 

religious chants and encourage others to join them.  

 

Capture d'écran d'une vidéo filmée fin 2020 ou début 2021 à Madina ou à Mapobu, dans laquelle des combattants 

chantent des chants religieux et encouragent d'autres à se joindre à eux. 

 

First video mentioning the Islamic State 

Première vidéo mentionnant l’État Islamique 

 

 

Screenshot of the first ADF video in which the Islamic State is mentioned.  

 

Capture d’écran de la première vidéo des ADF dans laquelle l’État islamique est mentionné.  
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July 2019 Baluku pledge of allegiance video 

Vidéo du serment d’allégeance de Baluku de juin 2019 

 

 

Screenshot of an image at the beginning of the video which states the renewal of ADF’s allegiance to ISIL 

Capture d'écran d’une image au début de la vidéo indiquant le renouvellement de l'allégeance des ADF à l'EIIL 

 

 

 

Screenshot of a frame in which Baluku appears, recognized by several ex -combatants. 

Capture d'écran d'une image dans laquelle apparaît Baluku, reconnu par plusieurs ex-combattants. 
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Screenshot of frames at the beginning and end of the video, filmed in Mozambique and possibly Somalia 

Capture d'écran des images au début et à la fin de la vidéo, filmée au Mozambique et peut-être en Somalie 

 

 

Picture of the first public appearance of “Wilayat Central Africa” logo in ISIL documents 

Photographie de la première apparition publique du logo « Wilayat Central Africa » dans les documents de 

l'EIIL 

 

        

Screenshot of a video released by ISIL in April 2019. Al-Baghdadi, handling documents including the one enti-

tled “Wilayat Central Africa”. The logo later used in the Baluku pledge of allegiance video and other ADF videos 

is visible.  

Capture d'écran d'une vidéo publiée par l'EIIL en avril 2019. Al-Baghdadi, manipulant des documents dont celui 

intitulé « Wilayat Central Africa ». Le logo utilisé plus tard dans la vidéo du serment d'allégeance de Baluku et 

d'autres vidéos de l'ADF est visible. 
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Photographs of Baluku and ADF camps published by ISIL 

Photographies de Baluku et des camps ADF publiés par l’EIIL 

 

 

Photograph published by ISIL in June 2019, showing Eid-al-Ftr celebrations in the DRC. Several ex-combatants 

recognized Baluku (fifth from the left), kneeling in front of an unknown speaker.  

 

Photographie publiée par l'EIIL en juin 2019, montrant les célébrations de l'Aïd-al-Ftr en RDC. Plusieurs ex-com-

battants ont reconnu Baluku (cinquième à partir de la gauche), agenouillé devant un orateur inconnu.  

 

 

Photographs published by ISIL during Eid al-Adha in July 2020. Several ex-combatants recognized Baluku in the 

first photograph as well as Rafiki and Bonge La Chuma in the second one, both ADF commanders.  

 

Photographies publiées par l'EIIL lors de l'Aïd al-Adha en juillet 2020. Plusieurs ex-combattants ont reconnu Ba-

luku dans la première photo ainsi que Rafiki et Bonge La Chuma dans la seconde, tous deux commandants des 

ADF. 
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September 2020 Baluku video 

Vidéo de Baluku de septembre 2020  

 

 

Translation: “What is ADF????? Part 1” Screenshot of the opening of the video, after the logos, showing that this 

is the first episode of discussions on ADF. 

 

Traduction: « Qu'est-ce que les ADF ????? Partie 1 ». Capture d'écran de l'ouverture de la vidéo, après les logos, 

montrant qu'il s'agit du premier épisode de discussions sur les ADF.  

 

 

 

Screenshot of the video, Baluku seating in the middle and on his left Lumisa as recognized by several ex-combat-

ants 

 

Capture d'écran de la vidéo, Baluku assis au milieu et à sa gauche Lumisa, reconnus par plusieurs ex -combattants 
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Annex 21 
 
Summary of farmers’ eyewitness accounts of ADF attacks in cocoa fields across Beni territory 
 

Résumé des témoignages d’agriculteurs sur les attaques des ADF dans les champs de cacao sur le 

territoire de Beni 

 

The Group interviewed 23 farmers who tended cocoa fields across Bashu, Rwenzori and Beni  sectors of Beni 

territory. During interviews with the Group, these individuals named a total of 30 other cocoa farmers, whom they 

knew personally, who had been killed in their fields during 2020 by ADF.  

 

The Group provides these examples to demonstrate the regularity of ADF attacks against farmers across Beni 

territory. Almost every cocoa farmer interviewed by the Group lamented the impact that the conflict had had on 

their families, livelihoods and household prospects. 

Three civil society sources from Rwenzori sector provided the Group with lists of names of farmers killed by ADF, 

which the Group was unable to corroborate by the time of drafting. According to the civil society lists, a t least 58 

cocoa farmers were killed by ADF in fields around Bulongo during intensive ADF attacks in Rwenzori in early 

February 2021, over 200 were killed in their fields during 2020 in the same area, and a further 100 cocoa farmers 

were killed in fields around Mutwanga in January and February 2021. 

 

Amongst the 23 farmers interviewed by the Group between December 2020 and March 2021, one was attacked by 

ADF and escaped on five separate occasions (not all during 2020) before she abandoned her cocoa field near 

Mamove. Another, who had a field along the Beni-Mbau road, recounted how his uncle was killed by machete by 

ADF in their cocoa fields during 2020, to which the farmer had not returned since.  

 

A cocoa farmer who was captured by ADF in the morning of 23 March  2020 whilst cultivating his cocoa, near 

Mabatundu village, saw four other farmers being killed by machete, before being captured with 23 other ADF 

abductees, and being held hostage for one month. A farmer at Kisimia told the Group that he knew eight other  

farmers killed in their cocoa fields by ADF in November 2020, and could name them. A representative of a farming 

association near Bulongo said that attacks on farmers were “regular” and could name ten cocoa farmers killed in 

February 2020 alone. A farmer who owned a field three kilometers from Oicha and grew cocoa, maise and palm 

nuts there, listed the names of five cocoa farmers she knew personally, killed during 2020 and 2019 in fields around 

Oicha, and for whom she personally assisted to the burials. A cocoa farmer who had been injured during an ADF 

attack at Mamove in 2019, and whose leg had been amputated subsequently, told the Group that on 2 October 2020 

his little brother was killed by machete by ADF in palm nut and cocoa fields close to Mamove. The  same man’s 

mother-in-law was decapitated by ADF at Maliki, in her fields. Another farmer, from Bulongo, told the Group in 

February 2021 that the day before, a nurse whom he knew and his wife and five children had been kidnapped from 

a Rwenzori cocoa field by ADF. 

 

Le Groupe a interrogé vingt-trois agriculteurs de cacao qui travaillaient dans les champs dans les régions de Bashu, 

Rwenzori et Beni dans le territoire de Beni. Lors d'entretiens avec le Groupe, ces personnes ont cité un total de 30 

autres agriculteurs de cacao qu'ils connaissaient personnellement, qui avaient  été tués dans leurs champs en 2020 

par les ADF. 

Le Groupe fournit ces exemples pour démontrer la régularité des attaques des ADF sur la population civile et 

agricole dans le territoire de Beni. Presque tous les producteurs de cacao interrogés par le Groupe ont déploré 

l'impact du conflit sur leurs familles, leurs moyens de subsistance et l’avenir de leurs ménages.  

Trois sources de la société civile du Rwenzori ont fourni au Groupe des listes  de noms d'agriculteurs tués par les 

ADF, que le Groupe n'a pas pu corroborer au moment de la rédaction du rapport. Selon les listes de la société civile, 

au moins 58 producteurs de cacao ont été tués par les ADF dans leurs champs autour de Bulongo lors d' attaques 

intensives des ADF à Rwenzori début février 2021, plus de 200 ont été tués dans leurs champs en 2020 dans la 

même zone, et encore 100 autres agriculteurs de cacao ont été tués dans leurs champs autour de Mutwanga en 

janvier et février 2021. 
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Parmi les 23 agriculteurs interrogés par le Groupe entre décembre 2020 e t mars 2021, une a été agressée par les 

ADF et leur a échappé à cinq reprises (pas toutes en 2020) avant d'abandonner son champ de cacao près de Mamove. 

Un autre, qui avait un champ le long de la route Beni-Mbau, a raconté comment son oncle paternel avait été tué 

par machette par les ADF dans leurs champs de cacao en 2020, où le fermier n'était pas non plus revenu depuis.  

Un producteur de cacao qui a été capturé par les ADF le matin du 23 mars 2020 alors qu'il cultivait son cacao, près 

du village de Mabatundu, a vu quatre autres agriculteurs se faire tuer par machette, avant d’être capturé par les 

ADF avec 23 autres personnes. Il a été maintenu en captivité pendant un mois. Un agriculteu r de Kisimia a déclaré 

au Groupe qu'il connaissait huit autres agriculteurs tués par les ADF en novembre 2020, qu’il a pu nommer. Un 

représentant d'une association d’agriculteurs proche de Bulongo a déclaré que les attaques contre les agriculteurs 

étaient « régulières » et qu’ils pouvaient lui-même nommer au moins dix agriculteurs de cacao tués rien qu'en 

février 2020. Un agriculteur qui possédait un champ à trois kilomètres d'Oicha, où il y faisait pousser du  cacao, 

du maïs et des noix de palme, a énuméré les noms de cinq producteurs de cacao qu'elle connaissait personnellement, 

tués en 2020 et 2019 dans des champs autour d'Oicha, et pour lesquels elle a personnellement aidé aux enterre-

ments. Un producteur de cacao qui avait été blessé lors d'une attaque des ADF à Mamove en 2019 et dont la jambe 

avait été amputée par la suite, a déclaré au Groupe que le 2 octobre 2020, son petit frère avait été tué par machette 

par des ADF dans leurs champs de noix de palme et de cacao près de Mamove. La belle -mère du même homme a 

été décapitée par les ADF à Maliki, dans ses champs. Un autre agriculteur, de Bulongo, a déclaré au Groupe en 

février 2021 que la veille, une infirmière qu'il connaissait, sa femme et ses cinq enfants avaient été enlevés dans 

un champ de cacao du Rwenzori, par les ADF. 
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Annex 22 
 
ADF declarations about land ownership and clearance, and existant ADF farming activities   
 

Déclarations des ADF sur la propriété et le décampement des terres, et les activités agricoles exis-

tantes des ADF 

 
Four cocoa farmers interviewed by the Group, who all farmed in Rwenzori sector, recounted that they had heard 

ADF make declarations about landownership or clearance, during attacks.  

One farmer, who escaped an ADF attack near his field on the Mbau-Kamango road, heard the ADF attackers say 

“we have already bought this land”, at the beginning of the attack. Another told the Group that he had narrowly 

escaped an ADF attack in fields near to Kisanga village, Rwenzori sector. The farmer had gone to get oil from the 

oil press, and on his return found the attackers in his field, who spoke in “Tanzan ian” Swahili and said “they lied 

to us when they said that we could install ourselves here soon, we see that there are many people still here who do 

not obey”. Another farmer at Bulongo heard ADF attackers say, also in Swahili “not from Congo”, that the area 

belonged to them. A fourth cocoa farmer, during a November 2020 attack at Kisima, heard ADF attackers saying 

“we already bought this part”. The Kisimia attackers spoke in Kiganda an d Kinyarwanda, according to the farmer, 

who was an eyewitness and escaped.  

As previously reported by the Group, two ADF ex-combatants, a former abductee and three local researchers con-

firmed that ADF farmed rice, manioc and beans around their camps, particularly around Mwalika/Domaine for their 

own subsistence (see S/2020/482, para. 41). Amigo was charged with field distribution for collaborators, around 

Mwalika/Domaine. 

ADF also regularly raided populations’ fields, sometimes in groups of up to 100 mainly composed of women and 

children, to gather food in their areas of operation, according to five ex-combatants and two former abductees. ADF 

rarely stole cocoa, although three interviewees and MONUSCO reported examples of cocoa theft by ADF, during 

attacks. Around Mwalika, in Virunga National Park, ADF demanded a contribution of farmers’ harvest in exchange 

for access and protection, according to ex-combatants, four farmers and two civil society. In documentary evidence 

reviewed by the Group, four farmers described how they paid taxes to ADF. One, farming in Domaine area, de-

scribed how he and 35 other farmers paid $10 for the right to a field and two basins of rice and beans, or $20, per 

harvest to an ADF called Benjamin. A farmer at Oicha contributed a basin of rice, manioc and bea ns per harvest, 

to ADF.  

 

Quatre producteurs de cacao interrogés par le Groupe, qui étaient tous cultivateurs dans le secteur de Rwenzori, 

ont raconté qu'ils avaient entendu les ADF faire des déclarations concernant les propriétés foncières ou de décam-

pement, lors d'attaques. 

Un agriculteur, qui a échappé à une attaque des ADF près de son champ sur la route Mbau-Kamango, a entendu les 

assaillants ADF dire « nous avons déjà acheté cette terre », au début de l'attaque. Un autre a dit au Groupe qu'il 

avait échappé à une attaque des ADF dans des champs proches du village de Kisanga, secteur de Rwenzori. Le 

fermier était allé chercher de l'huile dans la presse à huile et, à son retour, a trouvé les assaillants dans son champ, 

qui parlaient en swahili « tanzanien » et disaient « ils nous ont menti quand ils ont dit qu'on pourrait s'installer ici 

bientôt, on voit qu'il y a encore beaucoup de gens ici qui n'obéissent pas. Un autre cultivateur à Bulongo avait 

entendu des assaillants ADF dire, également en swahili « non congolais », que la zone leur appartenait. Un qua-

trième producteur de cacao, lors d'une attaque de novembre 2020 à Kisima, a entendu des assaillants dire « nous 

avons déjà acheté cette parcelle ». Les assaillants de Kisimia se sont exprimés en k iganda et en kinyarwanda, selon 

l'agriculteur, qui a été témoin oculaire et s'est échappé de l’attaque. Un ex-combattant des ADF a déclaré au Groupe 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
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que les ADF avaient des collaborateurs dans la communauté locale et que les ADF essayaient d'éloigner les p er-

sonnes qui refusaient de collaborer. 

Comme indiqué précédemment par le Groupe (voir S/2020/482, par. 41), deux ex-combattants des ADF, une per-

sonne enlevée et trois chercheurs locaux ont confirmé que les A DF cultivaient du riz, du manioc et des haricots 

autour de leurs camps, en particulier autour de Mwalika/Domaine. Amigo a été chargé de la distribution sur le 

terrain pour les collaborateurs, autour de Mwalika/Domaine.  

Les ADF ont également régulièrement effectué des pillages des champs des populations, parfois en groupes de 100 

personnes, principalement composés de femmes et d’enfants, pour recueillir de la nourriture dans leurs zones d’opé-

rations, selon cinq ex-combattants et deux personnes enlevées. Les ADF volaient rarement du cacao, bien que trois 

personnes interrogées par le Groupe et des rapports de la MONUSCO aient rapporté des informations sur des vols 

de cacao par les ADF lors d'attaques. Autour de Mwalika, dans le Parc national des Virunga, les AD F ont exigé une 

contribution de la récolte des agriculteurs en échange d'un accès et d'une protection, selon d'anciens combattants, 

quatre agriculteurs et deux de la société civile. Dans des preuves documentaires examinées par le Groupe, quatre 

agriculteurs ont décrit comment ils payaient des taxes aux ADF. Un agriculteur dans la région de Domaine a décrit 

comment lui et 35 autres agriculteurs ont payé 10 dollars et deux bassins de riz et de haricots, ou 20 dollars améri-

cains par récolte, pour avoir le droit d’accéder à un champ à un ADF appelé Benjamin. Un agriculteur d'Oicha a dit 

au Groupe qu’il a fourni un bassin de riz, de manioc et de haricots par récolte à l'ADF.  

 

 

 

  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
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Annex 23 
 
Some FARDC involvement in theft, trade and smuggling of cocoa 
 

Implication de certains membres des FARDC dans le vol, le commerce et la contrebande de cacao 

Nineteen cocoa farmers interviewed by the Group had first-hand experience of FARDC involvement in cocoa theft or 

trade.  

Three of these farmers were attacked by FARDC members in their fields at Mavivi and along the Mbau-Kamango 

road, when they attempted to confront soldiers stealing their cocoa. Seven of them personally saw cocoa drying in an 

Oicha FARDC residence, at FARDC positions at Mamiki and PK20, and at the Adventist church at Halungupa, which 

was used by some FARDC members as a cocoa depot. Some FARDC members and their wives traded cocoa at Oicha, 

Bulongo, Halungupa and Beni town, and used networks of motorbike and taxi-drivers to transport cocoa to trading 

towns for onward sale, including Oicha, Nobili and Bunia, according to seven eyewitnesses including traders, two 

taximen, and two passengers of taximotos whose drivers stopped to pick up parcels of cocoa from some FARDC 

members at the roadside, during their journeys.  

Most farmers were unable to identify the names of the FARDC members involved. Several noted that looking FARDC 

in the eye was “dangerous”, and so they kept their gaze lowered. Of the 19 farmers interviewed, ten were able to 

identify the uniform of the “Commando” battalion worn by FARDC they witnessed stealing or drying cocoa. They 

also described the Commando soldiers as “Major Zero-Zero’s men” or “Zero-Zero’s men”. As described in the main 

text, the Group notes that Major John Zero-Zero, alias Major Tipi Zero-Zero, commanded the 312th Commando bat-

talion, during the period under review. 

Farmers and traders alike consistently told the Group that the FARDC members based in Rwenzori and around Oicha 

in particular, were more interested in trading cocoa than they were in protecting the population. The Group also inter-

viewed three farmers from Kainama, in southern Irumu territory, who also noted that the FARDC stationed there did 

not adequately protect farmers who needed to access their fields to cultivate and harvest coco a. All farmers told the 

Group that they wished for peace and security to return, so that they could return to their fields in safety.  

 

Dix-neuf producteurs de cacao interrogés par le Groupe avaient une expérience de première main de l'implication des 

FARDC dans le vol ou le commerce du cacao. 

Trois de ces agriculteurs ont été attaqués par des membres des FARDC dans leurs champs à Mavivi et le long de la 

route Mbau-Kamango, lorsqu'ils ont essayé de confronter des soldats qui volaient leur cacao. Sept d'entr e eux ont 

personnellement vu du cacao en train de sécher dans une résidence des FARDC à Oicha, et dans les positions des 

FARDC à Mamiki et PK20 et aussi à l'église adventiste de Halungupa, qui était utilisée par certains membres des 

FARDC comme dépôt de cacao. Certains membres des FARDC et leurs épouses ont fait du commerce du cacao à 

Oicha, Bulongo, Halungupa et Beni, et ont utilisé des réseaux de chauffeurs de motos et de taxis pour transporter 

le cacao vers les villes commerciales en vue de le revendre, notamment Oicha, Nobili et Bunia, selon sept témoins 

oculaires dont des commerçants, deux chauffeurs de taxis, et deux passagers de taxi motos dont les chauffeurs se 

sont arrêtés pour ramasser des colis de cacao auprès de certains membres des FARDC au bord  de la route, lors de 

leurs déplacements. 

La plupart des agriculteurs n'ont pas été en mesure d'identifier les noms des membres des FARDC impliqués. Plusieurs 

ont noté que regarder les FARDC dans les yeux était « dangereux » et ils ont donc gardé le regard baissé. Sur les 19 

agriculteurs interrogés, dix ont pu identifier l'uniforme du bataillon « Commando » porté par  
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les FARDC qu’ils ont vu en train de voler ou de sécher du cacao. Ils ont également décrit les soldats du Commando 

comme des « hommes du Major Zero-Zero » ou des « hommes de Zero-Zero ». Comme indiqué dans le texte principal, 

le Groupe note que le Major John Zero-Zero, alias Major Tipi Zero-Zero, a commandé le 312e bataillon Comman-

dos pendant la période considérée. 
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Annex 24 
 
Farmers and fields in Beni territory  
 
Les agriculteurs et leurs champs sur le territoire de Beni 

 

The Group noted that, although some companies had issued types of company membership or adherence card to 

farmers whom they bought from, which helped them identify their farmer base, the total number of cocoa-produc-

ing farmers and fields across Beni territory was unknown to authorities. The Group spoke to two local authorities 

who recorded land titles in Beni territory, and who explained that, officially, famers should hold  a long-lease cer-

tificate for a field, which should normally be renewed every 25 years. Alternatively, a farmer could also rent a field 

for a three-year renewable period. However, only one of the farmers interviewed by the Group had a long -lease 

certificate, the others all said that they owned their land via an arrangement with a local customary authority, such 

as a village chief. In most cases, farmers said that they contributed a pig or goat to the customary authority, usually 

annually, to maintain access to their cocoa field.  

 

The Group notes that a registry or database of farmers, if properly and transparently managed, could help the 

government and private sector to better support and protect rights of farmers. A registry or database could also help 

to ensure that only farmers, and not some FARDC members, sold cocoa. Three interviewees, all in the private 

sector, also noted that it was important for the companies buying and trading cocoa to understand their supply 

chains and that agronomic staff played an important role in recording production and training farmers in techniques 

such as crop and field management.  

 

Le Groupe a noté que, bien que certaines entreprises aient émis des types de carte d'adhésion ou d'appartenance 

aux agriculteurs auprès desquels elles achetaient, ce qui les aidait à identifier leur base de producteurs, le nombre 

total de producteurs de cacao et de champs sur le territoire de Beni était inconnu des autorités. Le Groupe s'est 

entretenu avec deux autorités locales qui ont enregistré les titres fonciers sur le territoire de Beni, qui ont expliqué 

que, officiellement, les agriculteurs devraient détenir un certificat de bail emphytéotique pour un champ, qui devrait 

normalement être renouvelé tous les 25 ans. Un agriculteur peut également louer un champ pour une période re-

nouvelable de trois ans. Cependant, un seul des agriculteurs interrogés par le Groupe avait un certificat de bail 

emphytéotique, les autres ont tous déclaré qu’ils étaient propriétaires de leurs terres via un accord ave c une autorité 

culturelle locale, telle qu’un chef de village. Dans la plupart des cas, les agriculteurs ont déclaré qu'ils avaient 

fourni un porc ou une chèvre à l'autorité culturelle, généralement chaque année, pour maintenir l'accès à leur champ 

de cacao. 

Le Groupe note qu'un registre ou une base de données des agriculteurs, si géré correctement et de manière transpa-

rente, pourrait aider le gouvernement et le secteur privé à mieux soutenir et protéger les droits des agriculteurs. Un 

registre ou une base de données pourrait également aider à garantir que seuls les agriculteurs, et non certains 

membres des FARDC, vendent du cacao. Trois personnes interrogées, toutes du secteur privé, ont également sou-

ligné qu'il était important pour les entreprises qui achètent et commercialisent du cacao de comprendre leurs chaînes 

d'approvisionnement et que les agronomes jouaient un rôle important dans l'enregistrement de la production et la 

formation des agriculteurs à des techniques telles que la gestion des cultures et des champs. 

  



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 123/369 

 

Annex 25 
 
Brief analysis of DRC and Uganda cocoa production and export statistics  
 
Brève analyse des statistiques de production et d'exportation de cacao en RDC et en Ouganda 

 

The Group interviewed ten cocoa traders who noted that cocoa smuggling into Uganda was often motivated by high 

Congolese taxes on cocoa exports and a desire to avoid bank-related costs (see S/2020/1283, annex 7), and that 

official taxes were much lower in Uganda. Three individuals who bought cocoa close to the Ugandan border, and 

then smuggled it into Uganda, told the Group that their transactions were done in Ugandan shillings, to avoid 

currency changing charges in Uganda. A border official and a trader at Nobili, Beni territory,  also told the Group 

that Ugandan shillings were used for cocoa sales around the area, including because it was difficult to access Con-

golese banks and that the nearest banks were on the Ugandan side of the border.  

 

Two Congolese border authorities told the Group that conducting seizures of smuggled cocoa was difficult, because 

insecurity prevented border agents from leaving their offices.  

 

Le Groupe a interrogé dix négociants de cacao qui ont noté que la contrebande de cacao en Ouganda était s ouvent 

motivée par des taxes élevées congolaises sur les exportations de cacao, le désir d’éviter les frais bancaires (voir 

S/2020/1283, annexe 7) et que les taxes officielles étaient beaucoup plus faibles  en Ouganda. Trois personnes qui 

ont acheté du cacao près de la frontière ougandaise, puis l'ont fait passer en contrebande en Ouganda, ont déclaré 

au Groupe que leurs transactions étaient effectuées en shillings ougandais, afin d'éviter les frais de chang e en Ou-

ganda. Un responsable des frontières et un commerçant à Nobili, dans le territoire de Beni, ont également déclaré 

au Groupe que des shillings ougandais étaient utilisés pour les ventes de cacao dans la région, notamment parce 

qu'il était difficile d'accéder aux banques congolaises et que les banques les plus proches se trouvaient du côté 

ougandais de la frontière. 

 

Deux autorités frontalières congolaises ont déclaré au Groupe qu'il était difficile de procéder à des saisies de cacao 

de contrebande, car les mesures de sécurité empêchaient les agents frontaliers de quitter leurs bureaux. 

 

Congolese cocoa production figures/ Chiffres de la production congolaise de cacao 

 

Official data for Congolese cocoa production was not available at the time of draftin g.  

 

Les données officielles sur la production congolaise de cacao n'étaient pas disponibles au moment de la rédaction.  

 

Congolese cocoa export figures/ Chiffres des exportations congolaises de cacao 

 

At a national level, UN COMTRADE recorded the following cocoa exports for the DRC for 2019 and 2020.  

 

Au niveau national, UN COMTRADE a enregistré les exportations de cacao suivantes pour la RDC pour 2019 et 

2020. 

 

      
Period/ 

Période 
 HS Code 

Value/Valeur 

(US$) 

Netweight/Poids 

(kg) 

2019 Export 1801 $66,175,786  40,036,766 

2020 Export 1801 $87,274,447  47,507,653 

 
COMTRADE data for 2019 and 2020, available at https://comtrade.un.org/data 

Données COMTRADE pour 2019 et 2020, disponibles à https://comtrade.un.org/data 
(last accessed 12 April 2021/ dernier accès le 12 avril 2021).  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://comtrade.un.org/data
https://comtrade.un.org/data
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Congolese cocoa export figures for 2018 were not available on UN COMTRADE. The Group was unable to obtain 

national export figures directly from the Ministry of Agriculture by time of drafting.   

 

The Group reviewed available data for international cocoa exports via Kasindi border post, for which a complete 

data set was only available for 2020. The Group requested 2019 and 2018 data, which it rec eived but which was 

incomplete. Graph 1 below lays out the available data by exported weight, per year. Graph 2 shows export destina-

tion by weight, for 2020, according to official Congolese data.  

 

Les chiffres des exportations congolaises de cacao n'étaient pas disponibles pour 2018, sur UN COMTRADE. Le 

Groupe n'a pas été en mesure d'obtenir les chiffres des exportations nationales directement du Ministère de l'agri-

culture au moment de la rédaction. 

 

Le Groupe a examiné les données disponibles pour les exportations internationales de cacao via le poste frontière 

de Kasindi, pour lesquelles les données complètes n'étaient disponibles que pour 2020. Le graphique 1 ci -dessous 

présente les données disponibles par poids exporté, par an. Le graphique 2 montre la d estination des exportations 

en poids, pour 2020, selon les données officielles congolaises. 

 

Graph 1/Graphique 1 
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Graph 2/Graphique 2 

 

 

 

 

Ugandan cocoa production figures/Chiffres de la production de cacao ougandais  

 

The Group consulted Agricultural Production of Uganda (2004 – 2019) data, published on 13 November 2020 by 

the Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS) and found that no production data was recorded for cocoa in that database.  

The Group officially requested cocoa production figures from the authorities of the Government of Uganda but had 

not received a response by time of drafting.  

 

Le Groupe a consulté les données de Production agricole de l'Ouganda (2004-2019), publiées le 13 novembre 2020 

par le Bureau ougandais des statistiques (UBOS) et a constaté qu'aucune donnée de production n'avait été enregis-

trée pour le cacao pour l'Ouganda dans cette base de données. Le Groupe a officiellement demandé les chiffres de 

la production de cacao aux autorités du gouvernement ougandais, mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment de 

la rédaction. 

 

Ugandan export figures/Chiffres d’exportation ougandais  

 

Publicly available Uganda Revenue Authority (URA) figures for 2019, which was the latest data available at the 

time of drafting, recorded exports of just over 32 tonnes of cocoa beans, whole or broken, raw or roasted (HS Code 

1801) from Uganda.56 In 2018, this figure was just over 30.5 tonnes.57 Information for Ugandan re-exports of cocoa 

was not available disaggregated by country of origin.58  

 

 

 

__________________ 

56https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10158_Annua l_Fo

rmal_Export_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)_2019.pdf (last accessed on 21 April 2021/ dernier accès le 21 avril 2021) . 
57https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticConten t//TOPMENU//10082//10085_Annual_Tr

ade_Statistics_Formal__Exports_2018.pdf (last accessed on 21 April 2021/ dernier accès le 21 avril 2021). 
58https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//1 0160_Annual_Fo

rmal_Re-Export_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)__2019_.pdf (last accessed on 21 April 2021/ dernier accès le 21 avril 2021). 

https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10158_Annual_Formal_Export_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)_2019.pdf
https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10158_Annual_Formal_Export_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)_2019.pdf
https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10085_Annual_Trade_Statistics_Formal__Exports_2018.pdf
https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10085_Annual_Trade_Statistics_Formal__Exports_2018.pdf
https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10160_Annual_Formal_Re-Export_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)__2019_.pdf
https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10160_Annual_Formal_Re-Export_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)__2019_.pdf
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Based on publicly available information for 2019, the Group noted a discrepancy between the volume of recorded 

Congolese cocoa imports by Uganda, which was officially just under 1708 tonnes for the whole year, 59 and recorded 

Congolese exports of cocoa from the DRC to Uganda for 2019, which was just over 1410 tonnes for only four 

months (only data for January, September, October and November 2019 were available in the official records, 

according to officials).  

 

For 2020, for which a full data set was available from Congolese authorities, Congolese cocoa exports via Kasindi 

to Uganda totalled just over 3337 tonnes for the year. Ugandan import data for Congolese cocoa for 2020 was not 

available at the time of drafting. 

 

 

Les chiffres publiquement disponibles de l'Uganda Revenue Authority (URA) pour 2019, qui étaient les dernières 

données disponibles au moment de la rédaction, ont enregistré des exportations d'un peu plus de 32 tonnes de fèves 

de cacao, entières ou concassées, brutes ou torréfiées (Code HS1801) de l'Ouganda. En 2018, ce chiffre était d'un 

peu plus de 30,5 tonnes. Les informations sur les réexportations ougandaises de cacao n'étaient pas disponibles 

ventilées par pays d'origine. 

 

Sur la base des informations accessibles au public pour l’année 2019, le Groupe a noté un écart entre le volume des 

importations enregistrées de cacao congolais par l'Ouganda, qui était officiellement d'un peu moins de 1708 tonnes 

pour toute l'année, et les exportations congolaises enregistrées de cacao en provenance de la RDC à l'Ouganda pour 

2019, soit un peu plus de 1410 tonnes pour seulement quatre mois (seules les données pour janvier, septembre, 

octobre et novembre 2019 étaient disponibles dans les registres officiels, selon les responsables).  

 

Pour 2020, pour laquelle un ensemble complet de données était disponible auprès des autorités congolaises, les 

exportations congolaises de cacao via Kasindi vers l'Ouganda ont totalisé un peu plus de 3337 tonnes pour l'année. 

Les données sur les importations ougandaises de cacao congolais pour 2020 n'étaient pas disponibles au moment 

de la rédaction. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

__________________ 

59https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10159_Annual_Fo

rmal_Import_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)-_2019.pdf (last accessed on 21 April 2021/ dernier accès le 21 avril 2021). 

 

 

https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10159_Annual_Formal_Import_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)-_2019.pdf
https://www.ura.go.ug/openFile.do?path=//webupload//upload//download//staticContent//TOPMENU//10082//10159_Annual_Formal_Import_Trade_Report_(SITC_grouping)-_2019.pdf
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Annex 26  

 
Photographs of the 7.62x39 mm and 7.62x54 mm ammunition seized by the Military Prosecution 
and photographed by the Group in Beni on 25 March 2021 
 
Photographies des munitions 7.62x39 mm et 7.62x54 mm saisies par l’Auditorat militaire, et pho-
tographiées par le Groupe à Beni le 25 mars 2021 
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Annex 27  
 
Involvement of the ICCN conservator of Virunga National Park in the documented 2021 ammuni-
tion trafficking case 
 
Implication du conservateur de l'ICCN du Parc National des Virunga dans le cas documenté de 
trafic de munitions en 2021  
 
On 14 March 2021, when ICCN Deputy Director Alhadji Somba of Garamba National Park was in formed of the 

seizure of five ammunition boxes in the house of FARDC Second Lieutenant Deba, he contacted the ICCN conser-

vator of the northern sector of the Virunga National Park, Olivier Baheni, and requested Baheni’s permission to 

move the remaining 78 boxes of ammunition, stored in Somba’s house, and destined for Garamba National Park,60 

to Baheni’s house. Baheni told the Group that he omitted to ask for the regular deposit slip but that he was convinced 

that the ammunition was part of a regular batch transiting to Garamba National Park. Baheni’s version was con-

firmed by Somba, Kambale, the arrested civilian and FARDC members. The Military Prosecutor seized a total of 

83 boxes and a bag with conventional ammunition in the ICCN guest house belonging to Vir unga National Park in 

Beni. 

 

Le 14 mars 2021, lorsque Alhadji Somba, le Directeur adjoint de l’ICCN a été informé de la saisie de cinq boîtes 

de munitions dans la maison du Sous-Lieutenant Deba, il a contacté Olivier Bahemi, le conservateur de l’ICCN du 

secteur nord du Parc national du Virunga et lui a demandé l’autorisation de déplacer le reste des 78 boites de 

munitions, stockées dans la maison de Somba et destinées au Parc National de Garamba 61, dans la maison de Baheni. 

Baheni a déclaré au Groupe qu'il avait omis de demander le bordereau de dépôt, mais qu'il était convaincu que les 

munitions faisaient partie d'un lot en règle, transitant pour le Parc National de Garamba. La version de Baheni a été 

confirmée par Somba et Kambale, des civils interpelés et des militaires FARDC. L’Auditeur militaire a saisi 83 

boîtes et un sac avec des munitions conventionnelles dans la maison d'hôtes de l’ICCN du Parc national des Virunga 

à Beni.  

__________________ 

60 Several sources reported that the end destination was not the Garamba National Park but the Okapi Reserve. 
61 Plusieurs sources ont déclaré que la destination finale n’était pas le Parc national de Gramba mais la Réserve de faune à okapis. 



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 129/369 

 

Annex 28  
 
Analysis of a sample of the inspected ammunition showing that this type of ammunition, part of the 
DRC State stockpile, was regularly recorded as being used by armed groups 
 
Analyse d'un échantillon de munition inspecté montrant que ce type de munition, qui faisait partie 
des stocks de l’État congolais, a régulièrement été documentée comme étant utilisée par des groupes 
armés 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Table established by the Group with the support of the MONUSCO Arms Embargo Cell  

 

Tableau réalisé par le Groupe avec le soutien de la Cellule embargo sur les armes de la MONUSCO 

 

 

 

The Group notes that the fact that similar ammunition were used by ADF does not necessarily indicate  that ADF 

were the final destination of this specific batch of seized ammunition . 

 

Le Groupe note que le fait que des munitions similaires ont été utilisées avec les ADF n'indique pas nécessairement 

que les ADF étaient le destinataire final du lot précis de munitions saisies. 

  

Markings of 

the 

inspected 

ammunition 

 

fCaliber Documented 

ammunition 

with ADF 

Location of the 

documentation 

with the ADF 

Frequency of 

documentation by 

MONUSCO with 

armed groups 

Provinces of  

documentation 

964_71 7.62x39 

mm 

Yes Kasindi 134 times with 39 

armed groups 

Ituri, North Kivu, 

South Kivu, 

Tanganyika 

811_10 7.62x39 

mm 

No None 34 times with 15 

armed groups 

North Kivu, South 

Kivu, Tanganyika 

61_02 7.62x39 

mm 

No None 62 times with 20 

armed groups 

Ituri, North Kivu, 

South Kivu, 

Tanganyika 

31_70 7.62x39 

mm 

Yes Beni 122 times with 30 

armed groups 

Ituri, North Kivu, 

South Kivu, 

Tanganyika 

31_72 7.62x54R 

mm 

Yes Beni and 

Kasindi 

7 times with 4 

armed groups 

Ituri, North Kivu 

188_84 7.62x54R 

mm 

Yes Kasinga, Ngite 

and Beni 

13 times with 12 

armed groups 

Ituri, North Kivu, 

South Kivu, 

Tanganyika 

811_14 7.62x54R 

mm 

Yes Beni 9 times with 7 

armed groups 

Ituri, North Kivu, 

South Kivu, 

Tanganyika 
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Annex 29 

Map of main clashes locations in Masisi, southern Lubero, Rutshuru and Walikale territories since 

end 2020 

Carte des principaux lieux d’affrontements dans les territoires de Masisi, du sud du Lubero, de 

Rutshuru et de Walikale depuis fin 2020 

 

 

 

Map provided by MONUSCO and edited by the Group 

Carte fournie par la MONUSCO et éditée par le Groupe 
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Annex 30 

FFP/AP - Mai-Mai Kabido 

FPP/AP - Mai-Mai Kabido 

 

Kasereka Kasyano alias Kabido was the leader of FPP/AP, often referred to as Mai -Mai Kabido. Kabido formed 

FPP/AP mid-2018 after splitting from Mai-Mai Mazembe-UPDI (Union des patriotes pour la défense des inno-

cents), led by Kitete Bushu and of which he was the deputy, notably because of their diverging views on fighting 

NDC-R, that Kabido considered as an enemy. His group continued however to be most co mmonly called Mai-Mai 

Mazembe, which is a generic name to designate armed groups, mainly Nandi, in Libero territory (see 

S/2017/672/Rev.1 para. 58). Both groups also continued to collaborate together.  According to several sources, 

Kabido strongly opposed the alliance of Mai-Mai Mazembe-UPDI with NDC-R in 2019 (see S/2020/482, para. 24) 

and killed Kitete in July 2020 as the latter was trying to rally the group to Guidon after the NDC-R split.62 Although 

FPP/AP announced its willingness to demobilize mid-2020, it recently became one of the most powerful armed 

groups in Southern Lubero, taking over several key mine sites in the area, such as Buleusa, before and after NDC-

R split. FFP/AP headquarters were located, at the time of drafting, near Bukumbwira, in Mbuwavywa, southern 

Lubero. They were estimated at a maximum of 200-300 combatants.  

 

 

Kasereka Kasyano alias Kabido était le chef du FPP/AP, souvent appe lé Mai-Mai Kabido. Kabido a formé le 

FPP/AP mi-2018 après sa séparation de Mai-Mai Mazembe-UPDI (Union des patriotes pour la défense des inno-

cents), dirigée par Kitete Bushu et dont il était l'adjoint, notamment en raison de leurs points de vue divergents sur 

les combats contre le NDC- R, que Kabido considérait comme un ennemi. Son groupe a cependant continué à être 

souvent appelé Mai-Mai Mazembe, nom générique pour désigner les groupes armés, principalement Nande, dans 

le territoire du Lubero (voir S/2017/672/Rev.1, par. 58). Les deux groupes ont également continué à collaborer 

ensemble. Selon plusieurs sources, Kabido s'est toutefois fermement opposé à l'alliance des Mai -Mai Mazembe-

UPDI avec le NDC-R en 2019 (voir S/2020/482, par. 24) et a tué Kitete en juillet 2020 alors que ce dernier tentait 

de rallier le groupe à Guidon après la scission du NDC-R.63 Bien que FPP/AP ait annoncé sa volonté de démobiliser 

mi-2020, il est récemment devenu l'un des groupes armés les plus puissants du sud du Lubero, prenant le contrôle 

de plusieurs sites miniers clés de la région, tels que Buleusa, avant et après la scission du NDC -R. Au moment de 

la rédaction du rapport, le quartier général du FPP/AP était situé près de Bukumbwira, à Mbuwavywa, sud du 

Lubero. Leur effectif était estimé à un maximum de 200 à 300 combattants.  

 

  

__________________ 

62 Civil society, researchers, MONUSCO, an NDC-R Bwira combatant and an individual close to FPP/AP.  
63 Société civile, chercheurs, MONUSCO, un combattant du NDC-R Bwira et un individu proche du FPP/AP. 

 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2017/672/Rev.1
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2017/672/Rev.1
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/482
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Photograph of FFP/AP Leader Kabido 

Photographie du leader du FPP/AP Kabido  

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by a researcher 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par un chercheur 
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Annex 31  
 

NDC-R Bwira faction and FARDC cooperation 
 
Coopération entre les FARDC et la faction NDC-R Bwira 

 
From late November 2020, NDC-R Bwira faction combatants also participated in some FARDC operations against 

APCLS in Masisi territory, and, from January 2021, against CMC/FDP and FDLR-FOCA mainly in Bwito chefferie, 

Rutshuru territory (see also S/2020/1283, para 34). For instance, combatants of the Bwira faction reinforced the 

FARDC 3410th Regiment when they fought against APCLS in Kinyumba, Masisi territory. 64 Civil society sources, 

NDC-R Bwira, CMC, FARDC and MONUSCO sources have repeatedly referred to weapons su pplies by the 

FARDC 3410th Regiment to NDC-R Bwira faction, including in Kinyamba and Mutobo, Masisi territory, in early 

December 2020 and late January 2021, respectively.  

 

The cooperation between Bwira faction and FARDC was criticized by many, including b y civil society in Walikale, 

in a 20 January 2021 communiqué addressed to the FARDC hierarchy, local and national authorities, as well as to 

the international community. In April 2021, the civil society of Basakara also criticized the cooperation between 

FARDC and Bwira (see the communiqués below). 

 

 

Depuis la fin novembre 2020, la faction des combattants NDC-R de Bwira a participé à certaines opérations des 

FARDC contre les APCLS dans le territoire du Masisi et à partir de janvier 2021, contre le CMC/FDP e t les FDLR-

FOCA, principalement dans la chefferie de Bwito, territoire de Rutshuru (voir aussi S/2020/1283, par. 34). Parmi 

d’autres combattants, ceux de la faction de Bwira, ont renforcé les FARDC du 3410ème régiment, lorsque ces 

derniers ont combattu les APCLS à Kinyumba, territoire de Masisi65. Des sources de la société civile, de la faction 

Bwira, du CMC, des FARDC et de la MONUSCO ont affirmé à plusieurs reprises que des armes ont été fournies 

par les FARDC du 3410ème Régiment à la faction Bwira, entre autres, à Kinyamamba et Mutobo, territoire de 

Masisi, respectivement début décembre 2020 et fin janvier 2021.  

 

La coopération entre les FARDC et la Bwira faction a été critiquée par la société civile de Wa likale dans un com-

muniqué du 20 janvier 2021 adressé à la hiérarchie FARDC et aux autorités locales et nationales, ainsi qu’à la 

communauté internationale. En avril 2021, la société civile de Basakara a également critiqué la coopération entre 

les FARDC et Bwira (voir les communiqués ci-dessous).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________ 

64 MONUSCO, Bwira faction, CMC/FDP and civil society sources.  
65 Sources de la MONUSCO, de la faction Bwira, du CMC/FDP et de la société civile.  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Excerpt of the 20 January 2021 communiqué of La nouvelle société civile de Walikale referring to the FARDC -

NDC-R cooperation. 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

 

Extrait du communiqué du 20 Janvier 2021 publié par La nouvelle société civile de Walikale référant à la coopé-

ration FARDC-NDC-R 

Fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le dossier  
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Excerpt of the 17 April 2021 communiqué of Basakara civil society referring  to the FARDC-NDC-R cooperation 

and weapons supplies 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

 

Extrait du communiqué du 17 avril 2021 publié par la société civile de Busaraka référant à la coopération 

FARDC-NDC-R et à des transferts d’armes 

Fourni au Groupe par une source avec connaissance du dossier 

 

*** 
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The Group also obtained photographs and videos of FARDC Colonel Masudi and FARDC soldiers of the 3404th 

Regiment together with NDC-R commanders Bwira and Talbot, and Bwira faction combatants, in Matungu early 

December 2020 (see also annex 37).  

 

Le Groupe a également obtenu des photographies et des vidéos du Colonel FARDC Masudi et de soldats FARDC 

du 3404e régiment, associé aux commandants de NDC-R Bwira et Talbot et des combattants de la faction Bwira à 

Matungu, début décembre 2020 (voir aussi annexe 37). 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

 

Fournies au Groupe par une source connaissant le dossier  



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 137/369 

 

Annex 32 

 

Meeting report between FARDC and the NDC-R Bwira faction 

Notes d’une rencontre entre les FARDC et la faction NDC-R Bwira 

 

While focused on fighting APCLS and CMC/FDP (see para. 49), FARDC again used the Bwira faction as a proxy 

against Guidon faction (see S/2020/1283, para. 34).  

 

The Group obtained the minutes of a meeting held on 11 November 2020 in Matungu and organized by “General” 

Bwira and the FARDC military region commander. The meeting was attended by several FARDC officers of the 

3404th and 3410th Regiments, and several leaders of the Bwira faction, as shown on the presence list (see below). 

Several FARDC and Bwira faction sources confirmed that this meeting took place.  

 

Several topics were discussed during the meeting: the security situation , operations planning, attitude of the officers 

during operations. When discussing the security situation, the speakers of both FARDC and Bwira faction assessed 

the position, reduced military strength and lack of weaponry of “the enemy” identified as the G uidon faction. 

FARDC members also mentioned that “the money” would be given only after neutralization of the enemy. In the 

operations planning, they discussed the installment of several military camps and strategic movements aiming at 

the “cleaning” of several locations. 

 

 

Alors qu’ils étaient engagés à combattre les APLCS et le CMC/FDP (voir par. 49), les FARDC ont une nouvelle 

fois utilisé la faction Bwira comme sous-traitant contre la faction Guidon (voir S/2020/1283, par. 34).  

 

Le Groupe  a obtenu le compte-rendu d’une réunion qui s’est tenue le 11 novembre 2020 à Matungu et organisée 

par le “Général” Bwira et le Commandant de la Région militaire des FARDC. Plusieurs officiers des FARDC des 

3404e et 3410e régiments et plusieurs responsables de la faction Bwira ont participé à la réunion, comme le montre 

la feuille de présence (voir ci-dessous). Plusieurs sources FARDC et de la faction Bwira ont confirmé la tenue de 

cette réunion.  

 

Plusieurs sujets ont été abordés lors de la réunion: la situation sécuritaire, la planification des opérations et le 

comportement des officiers pendant les opérations. Lors des discussions sur la situation sécuritaire, les membres 

des FARDC et la faction Bwira ont évalué la position, la réduction des forces militaires et le manque d’armement 

de “l’ennemi”, identifié comme la faction Guidon. Les membres des FARDC ont aussi mentionné que “l’argent” 

serait donné uniquement après la neutralisation de l’ennemi. Concernant la planifica tion des opérations, ils ont 

discuté de l’installation de plusieurs campements militaires et des stratégies de déplacement, dans le but de “net-

toyer” plusieurs sites. 

 

 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Fourni au groupe par une source connaissant le dossier 
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Annex 33 

FARDC document mentioning Bwira as “a collaborator of SOKOLA II operational sector” 

Document des FARDC mentionnant Bwira comme “un collaborateur du secteur opérationnel 

SOKOLA II ” 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le dossier  
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Annex 34  

Guidon faction weaponry 

Armement de la faction Guidon 
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Photographs of Guidon and several of his combatants showing their weaponry in November 2020 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

Photographies de Guidon et plusieurs de ses combattants montrant leur armement en Novembre 2020  

Fournies au Groupe par une source connaissant le dossier 
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Annex 35  

Photograph of Claude Sita Masiya, alias “Tondeuse”, former NDC-R Sector Commander who re-

cently joined Guidon 

Photographie de Claude Sita Masiya, alias “Tondeuse”, ancien Commandant Secteur du NDC-R 

qui a récemment rejoint Guidon 

 

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by a researcher 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par un chercheur 
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Annex 36  

CMC/FDP child soldiers  

Enfants soldats du CMC/FDP 

 

Analysis of video recordings, interviews conducted by the Group with 10 sources belongin g to armed groups and 

field missions of the Group in areas controlled by CMC/FDP and FDLR show that several armed groups, including 

both NDC-R factions and CMC/FDP, continued to use children, sometimes carrying heavy and lights weapons, as 

combatants. 

 

L’analyse d’enregistrements vidéo, les interview menées par le Groupe auprès de 10 sources proches des groupes 

armés et les missions de terrain du Groupe dans les zones contrôlées par le CMC/FDP et les FDLR montrent que 

plusieurs groupes armés, y compris les factions NDC-R et le CMC/FDP, continuaient d’utiliser des enfants, parfois 

comme porteurs d’armes légères ou lourdes et/ou comme combattants . 

 

 

 

CMC child soldier, part of the escort of CMC leader Mbitezi  

Provided to the Group by a MONUSCO source 

 

Enfant soldat du CMC, faisant partie de l’escorte du chef du CMC Mbitezi 

Fournie au Groupe par une source de la MONUSCO 
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Photograph of a CMC female child soldier (second from the left) and CMC weaponry including heavy machine 

guns 

Provided to the Group by source with knowledge of the matter 

 

Photographie d’une jeune fille enfant soldat au sein du CMC (deuxième à partir de la gauche) et de l’armement 

CMC, y compris des mitrailleuses lourdes 

 

Founie au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet  
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Screenshot of a November 2020 video with a CMC child soldier carrying an AK-type assault rifle 

Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

 

 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo filmée en novembre 2020 montrant un enfant soldat au sein du  CMC et portant un 

fusil d’assaut de type AK 

Fournie au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet  
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Annex 37 
 
Photograph of FARDC General Masudi, 3404 th regiment, and Bwira at Matungu gold mine circa 
December 2020. Below, an extract of conversation with a Bwira faction combatant, confirming 
FARDC and Bwira faction collaboration at the mine 
 
Photographie du Général Masudi des FARDC, 3404e régiment, et Bwira à la mine d’or de Matungu, 
vers décembre 2020. Ci-dessous, un extrait d’une conversation avec un combattant de la faction 
Bwira qui confirme la collaboration sur le site  
 
The Group received over 20 photographs and pieces of video footage showing the presence of the FARDC 3404th 

regiment working alongside Bwira faction at Matungu gold mine, around 60 kilometres from Walikale centre, Wal-

ikale territory, between October 2020 and February 2021.  

 

Le Groupe a reçu plus de 20 photographies et de vidéos montrant la présence du 3404e régiment des FARDC 

travaillant aux côtés de la faction Bwira à la mine d'or de Matungu, à environ 60 kilomètres du centre de Walikale, 

territoire de Walikale, entre octobre 2020 et février 2021.  

 

 

 

Bwira on the left and FARDC General Masudi on the right at Matungu 

Bwira à gauche et le Général FARDC Masudi à droite à Matungu 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by an FARDC source 

 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par une source FARDC 
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The below text extract is lifted from a 22 December 2020 video interview, reviewed and authenticated by the 

Group, with a Bwira faction combatant who confirmed collaboration with FARDC. 

 

L'extrait du texte ci-dessous est tiré d'un entretien vidéo du 22 décembre 2020, revu et authentifié par le 

Groupe, avec un combattant de la faction Bwira qui confirmait sa collaboration avec les FARDC. 

 

A: I worked with Sheka, Guidon and today I work with Bwira and the government; 

B: OK, you worked with Sheka! 

A: Exactly, and we stay at Matungu. 

A: Currently I work with the rebel Bwira and it is he who integrated me into the government.  

A: The NDC-Rénové movement is annexed to the government 

B: So you are working with the FARDC? 

A: Yes, we are indeed working with the FARDC. 

B: I see. 

A: Nothing is biased between us, we really collaborate. 

B: The operations are joint 

A: Yes, even the rations are shared. 

A: There is no problem. 

B: You attack Guidon together with the FARDC! 

[..] 

B: We are the ones who dislodged Guidon with a helping hand from the FARDC. 

A: Was it in the Matungu mining site in Walikale, that you attacked while supported by the FARDC?  

B: At Matungu? 

A: Yes 

B: We had carried out joint operations with the FARDC at Matungu, Ruvungi, and Munjoli.  

A: And so until now, the FARDC have remained there. 

B: We deployed dynamic soldiers there, so that we could deploy elsewhere.  

A: Really ! 

 

 

A : Moi j'ai travaillé avec Sheka, Guidon et aujourd'hui je travaille avec Bwira et le gouvernement; 

B : Eh ben, tu avais travaillé avec Sheka!  

A : Effectivement chez nous c'est à Mutongo.  

B : Actuellement je travaille avec le rebelle Bwira et c'est lui qui m'a intégré a u gouvernement.  

A : Le mouvement NDC-Rénové est annexé au gouvernement.  

B : Donc vous travaillez conjointement avec les FARDC?  

A : Effectivement nous travaillons avec les FARDC. 

B : Ah oui. 

A : Aucune chose n'est biaisée, nous collaborons vraiment.  

B : Les opérations sont conjointes 

A : Oui, voire même la ration. 

B : Il n'y a aucun problème. 

A : Vous attaquez Guidon ensemble avec les FARDC!  

[..] 

B : C'est nous qui avons délogé Guidon avec le coup de main des FARDC.  

A : Est-ce dans le site minier de Matungu à Walikale vous l'aviez frappé étant toujours soutenu par les FARDC? 

B : À Matungu? 

A : Oui 

B : Nous avions fait des opérations conjointes avec les FARDC à Matungu, à Ruvungi, à Munjoli.  

A : Et jusqu'à présent ce sont les FARDC qui y sont restés.   

B : On y avait déployé des soldats dynamiques, de façon que nous autres, nous étions déployés ailleurs.  

A : C'est vrai! 
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Annex 38 
 
Excerpt from 7 December 2020 SAEMAPE table of active mines in North Kivu 
 
Extrait du tableau des mines actives au Nord Kivu daté du 7 décembre 2020 de la SAEMAPE  
 
The table shows 22 mines in Walikale territory, identified by mining authorities as under ND C-R control (unspec-

ified faction) and that Matungu was officially recognised as being under FARDC control.  

 

Le tableau montre 22 mines sur le territoire de Walikale, identifiées par les autorités minières comme étant sous 

contrôle du NDC-R (faction non-spécifiée) et que Matungu était officiellement reconnue comme étant sous con-

trôle des FARDC. 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a mining authority 

 

Fourni au Groupe par une autorité minière   
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Annex 39 
 
Copy of a judicial document detailing the arrest of a gold smuggler intercepted en route to Rwanda, 
via Bukavu, carrying a total of 117g of gold from Walikale  
 
Copie d'un document judiciaire détaillant l'arrestation d'un contrebandier d'or en route pour le 
Rwanda via Bukavu transportant un total de 117g d'or de Walikale 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by a mining authority 

 

Fourni au Groupe par une autorité minière 
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The Group also spoke to two individuals involved in brokering gold smuggling from Walikale into Rwanda, and 

one gold trader who noted that gold produced in Walikale was either clandestinely transited via Goma to Rwanda 

or, was smuggled into Uganda. The trader noted that although the distance to Uganda was greater, the Kampala 

market often gave higher per gram prices than those in Kigali, attracting smugglers.  

 

The Group spoke to three mining authorities in North Kivu, who noted that almost all of Wa likale’s gold production 

went unrecorded in 2020. Efforts were underway to improve information capture at some of North Kivu’s artisanal 

gold sites – for example one mining source was able to inform the Group that between 23 and 29 November 2020, 

North Kivu had produced and recorded 123.68 grams of gold. Official statistics for 2020 documented 1961.8 grams 

of gold production for Walikale, and 5293.11 grams for all of North Kivu, a tiny fraction of actual production.  

 

 

Le Groupe s'est également entretenu avec deux personnes impliquées dans la contrebande d'or de Walikale vers le 

Rwanda, et un négociant d’or qui a noté que de l'or produit à Walikale soit transitait clandestinement via Goma 

vers le Rwanda, soit était transporté en contrebande en Ouganda. Le négociant a noté que bien que la distance vers 

l'Ouganda fût plus grande, le marché de Kampala offrait souvent des prix au gramme plus élevés que ceux de 

Kigali, attirant les fraudeurs. 

 

Le Groupe s'est entretenu avec trois autorités minières du Nord-Kivu, qui ont noté que la quasi-totalité de la pro-

duction d'or de Walikale n’était pas enregistrée en 2020. Des efforts étaient en cours pour améliorer la collecte 

d'informations sur certains sites aurifères artisanaux du Nord Kivu - par exemple, une source minière a informé le 

Groupe qu'entre le 23 et le 29 novembre 2020, le Nord Kivu avait produit et enregistré 123,68 grammes d'or. 

Cependant, les statistiques officielles pour 2020 n’ont documenté que 1961,8 grammes de production d'or pour 

Walikale et 5293,11 grammes pour l'ensemble du Nord Kivu, une quantité très minime par rapport à la production 

actuelle.  
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Annex 40 
 
Conflicting accounts of killings and abuses around Matungu between 27 and 29 October 2020  
 
Récits contradictoires des meurtres et des abus autour de Matungu entre les 27 et 29 octobre 2020 
 
At the end of October 2020, reports began circulating about an alleged mass killing of over 100 civilians in the 

locality of Matungu gold mine. Matungu is one of Walikale’s richest gold mines and is in Wanyanga sector, Utunda 

groupement. The entrance to the mine is between the three villages of Mpofi, Ruvungi and Kembe. Kembe is 60 

kilometres from Walikale centre, Walikale territory.  The incident distilled media attention around the NDC-R split 

and concomitant infighting, and illustrated attempted levels of manipulation of events by both sides, in a context 

of heightened insecurity and shifting dynamics.  

 

According to a victim, a member of civil society, three FARDC members and a PNC member, a Guidon faction 

combatant called Kalao and at least ten of his men attacked a group of traders and civilians walking towards 

Matungu mine, around 29 October 2020. However, information provided to the Group by analysts who investigated 

the attack, suggested that Talbot of Bwira faction (see S/2020/1283, annexes 12 and 31) could be the perpetrator of 

the attack.  

 

Soon after the alleged killing, Bwira’s faction issued public statements denouncing Guidon faction as responsible 

for the events. Guidon, on the other hand, blamed Bwira faction, saying his (Guidon’s) faction did not control the 

zone at that time, that Bwira’s men conducted the attack and committed the killings in order to blame his faction. 

 

The Group interviewed one victim, six local civil society sources, two representatives from international non-

governmental organisations, an elected representative, FARDC and PNC officers, NDC-R leadership from both 

factions and reviewed over 20 photographs and videos, social media announcements issued by Bwira faction, two 

civil society reports and UN sources. The Group was unable to conduct on site investigations given the inaccessi-

bility of the area and on-going FARDC operations. Although the Group was able to establish that at least nine 

people had been killed in the vicinity of Matungu at the end of October 2020, the Group was also unable to draw 

clear conclusions about the nature and author of the attacks, wh ich may have been multiple, and the exact number 

of victims. The Group also noted the high level of manipulation including by both NDC-R factions surrounding 

these events, with each side accusing the other, notably to tarnish each other’s reputations.  

 

 

À la fin du mois d'octobre 2020, des rapports ont commencé à circuler sur un présumé meurtre de masse de plus de 

100 civils dans la localité de la mine d'or de Matungu. Matungu est l’une des mines d’or les plus riches de Walikale 

et se trouve dans le secteur de Wanyanga, dans le groupement d’Utunda. L'entrée de la mine se situe entre les trois 

villages de Mpofi, Ruvungi et Kembe. Kembe est à 60 kilomètres du centre de Walikale, territoire de Walikale. 

L'incident a attiré l'attention des médias notamment concernant la scission NDC-R et des luttes internes concomi-

tantes, et a illustré les tentatives de manipulation des événements des deux côtés, dans un contexte d'insécurité 

accrue et de dynamiques changeantes. 

 

Selon une victime, un membre de la société civile, trois membres des FARDC et un membre de la PNC, un com-

battant de la faction Guidon appelé Kalao et au moins dix de ses hommes ont attaqué un groupe de commerçants 

et de civils qui marchaient vers la mine de Matungu, autour du 29 octobre 2020. Cependant, des informations 

fournies au Groupe par des analystes qui ont enquêté sur l'attaque, suggèrent que Talbot de la faction Bwira (voir 

S/2020/1283, et annexes 12 et 31) pourrait en fait être l'auteur de l'attaque.  

 

Peu de temps après le meurtre présumé, la faction de Bwira a publié  des déclarations dénonçant la faction Guidon 

comme responsable de l’incident. Guidon, de son côté, a imputé la responsabilité des mas sacres présumés à la 

faction Bwira, affirmant que sa faction (celle de Guidon) ne contrôlait pas la zone à ce moment -là et que les hommes 

de Bwira avaient mené l’attaque et avaient commis les massacres dans le but de ternir la réputation de sa faction.  

Le Groupe a interrogé une victime, six sources locales de la société civile, deux représentants d’organisations non -

gouvernementales internationales, un élu, des membres des FARDC et des policiers, le leadership du NDC-R des 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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deux factions et examiné plus de 20 photographies et des vidéos, des messages sur les réseaux sociaux publiés par 

la faction Bwira, deux rapports de la société civile et de sources onusiennes. Le Groupe n’a pas été en mesure de 

conduire des enquêtes sur place en raison de l’inaccessibilité  de la zone et d’opérations des FARDC en cours. Bien 

que le Groupe ait été capable d’établir qu’au moins neuf personnes avaient été tuées dans les environs de Matungu 

à la fin d’octobre 2020, mais n'a pas été en mesure de tirer des conclusions claires sur la nature et l'auteur des 

attaques, qui peuvent avoir été multiples. Le Groupe a également noté le niveau élevé de manipul ation lié à ces 

événements, y compris par les deux factions du NDC-R, chaque partie accusant l'autre, notamment pour nuire à la 

réputation de l’autre.  
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Annex 41 
 
Past reporting by the Group on supply chain issues, progress and challenges 
 
Rapports antérieurs du Groupe sur les problèmes des chaînes d’approvisionnement, les progrès et 
les défis 
 

In accordance with its mandate, the Group evaluated the impact of minerals traceability schemes and the evolution 

of a responsible minerals trade in the Great Lakes region. The Group noted some improvements in some infor-

mation and trading transparency in the tin, tantalum, tungsten (3T) sectors.  The Group also underlined that illicit 

activities and broader governance and working condition challenges in the 3T secto rs continued. The 2012 Congo-

lese law requires companies in 3T and gold sectors to undertake mineral traceability and due diligence mea sures.66 

Trends in illicit trading, for example, have been reported on consistently by the Group since at least 2012, see 

S/2020/1283, paras. 42-44; S/2020/482, paras. 102-107; S/2019/469, paras. 149-164; S/2018/531, paras. 136-146; 

S/2017/1091, paras. 46-47; S/2016/466, para. 119; S/2015/19, paras. 114, 119, 158, 164, 165, 168, 170).67  

For instance, observations made by the Group in S/2016/466 para. 119, still applied at the time of drafting, and 

point to the need for continued systemic reform in the way in which minerals are produced and traded: 

119. Nevertheless, tin, tantalum and tungsten supply chains face numerous challenges, such as the involve-

ment of FARDC elements, corruption of government officials and smuggling and leakage of miner als from 

non-validated mining sites into the legitimate supply chain. All these represent a threat to due diligence im-

plementation in the country’s tin, tantalum and tungsten sector. The Group believes that, if this issue is not 

practically addressed by all stakeholders, these challenges will jeopardize the credibility of the due diligence 

process and negate the tangible achievements realized thus far.  

The Group also underscores the limitations of focusing too heavily on mineral traceability processes that focus on 

classifying the production and trade history of minerals, at the risk of overlooking underlying problems in mining 

areas like access to land, proper payment and treatment of workers, illicit trading at local, national and international 

level, and environmental issues – all of which can also be drivers of conflict and instability. 

In addition, although direct armed control over 3T mines and trading routes is much less now than 15 years ago, 

in part thanks to greater attention and reforms in this sector and in part due to broader politics, artisanal mining at 

many of eastern DRC’s 3T mines remains hazardous, exposed to violence and abuses and often lacking proper and 

transparent governance by all parties. Meanwhile, artisanal mining is often the only available livelihood, and a 

critical one, for communities, with very few protections, safeguards or means of recourse in place.  

Conformément à son mandat le Groupe a évalué l'impact des systèmes de traçabilité et de l'évolution d'un com-

merce responsable des minéraux dans la région des Grands Lacs. Le Groupe a pris note de certaines améliorations 

continues dans la gestion de certaines informations et la transparence des échanges dans les secteurs de l'étain, du 

tantale et du tungstène (3T). Le Groupe a également souligné que les activités illicites et les défis plus larges de 

gouvernance et des conditions de travail dans les secteurs 3T se poursuivaient. Une loi congolaise de 2012 oblige 

les entreprises des secteurs 3T et aurifère à mettre en place des mesur es de traçabilité et le devoir de diligence 

raisonnable.68 

__________________ 

66 Ministerial Decision No. 0057/CAB.MIN/MINES/01/2012 of 29 February 2012. The legislation is in accordance with the due 

diligence standards set by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development and the recom mendations on guidelines 

for due diligence for importers, processing industries and consumers of Congolese mineral products produced by the Group, which 

the Security Council supported taking forward (Council resolution 1952 (2010), para. 7) and which were subsequently incorporated 

into International Conference on the Great Lakes Region (ICGLR) guidance.  

 
 
68 Arrêté Ministériel n° 0057/CAB.MIN/MINES/01/2012 du 29 février 2012. La législation est conforme aux normes de diligence raison-

nable fixées par l'Organisation de coopération et de développement économiques et aux recommandations sur les directives de diligence 

raisonnable pour les importateurs, les industries de transformation et les consommateurs de produits minéraux congolais fabriqués par le 

Groupe, que le Conseil de sécurité a appuyées (résolution 1952 (2010) du Conseil, par. 7) et qui ont ensuite été incorporées dans les 

orientations de la Conférence internationale sur la région des Grands Lacs (CIRGL).  

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2018/531
https://www.undocs.org/S/2017/1091
https://www.undocs.org/S/2016/466
https://www.undocs.org/S/2015/19
https://www.undocs.org/S/2016/466
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Les tendances du commerce illicite, par exemple, ont été régulièrement signalées par le Groupe depuis au moins 

2012, voir S/2020/1283, par. 42-44; S/2020/482, par. 102-107; S/2019/469, par. 149-164; S/2018/531, par. 136-

146; S/2017/1091, par. 46-47; S/2016/466, par. 119; S/2015/19, par. 114, 119, 158, 164, 165, 168, 170). 

Ainsi, les observations formulées par le Groupe dans S/2016/466, par. 119, étaient toujours d’actualité au moment 

de la rédaction du rapport et soulignent la nécessité de poursuivre la réforme systémique de la maniè re dont les 

minerais sont produits et commercialisés: 

119. Néanmoins, les chaînes d’approvisionnement en étain, tantale et tungstène se heurtent à de nombreux 

problèmes, notamment l’implication d’éléments des FARDC, la corruption d’agents de l’État et la c ontre-

bande et l’introduction de minerais issus de sites n’ayant pas été validés dans la chaîne d’approvisionnement 

légitime20. Tous ces problèmes mettent en péril l’exercice du devoir de diligence dans le secteur national de 

l’étain, du tantale et du tungstène. Le Groupe d’experts estime que, si toutes les parties prenantes ne résolvent 

pas ce problème dans la pratique, cela portera atteinte à la crédibilité du devoir de diligence et réduira à 

néant les résultats concrets obtenus jusqu’ici.  

Le Groupe souligne également les limites d'une trop forte concentration sur les processus de traçabilité des miné-

raux qui visent à classer définitivement l'historique de production et de commerce des minerais, notamment au 

risque d'oublier alors les autres problèmes dans les zones minières comme l'accès à la terre, le paiement et le 

traitement appropriés des travailleurs, le commerce illicite aux niveaux local, national et international, et les pro-

blèmes environnementaux - qui peuvent tous aussi être des moteurs de conflit et d'instabilité. 

En outre, bien que le contrôle armé direct sur les mines 3T et les routes commerciales soit bien moindre qu'il ne l’a 

été quinze ans plus tôt, en partie grâce à une plus grande attention et aux réformes apportée à ce secteur et en partie  

au raison d'une politique plus large, l'exploitation minière artisanale dans de nombreuses mines 3T de l'est de la 

RDC restait dangereuse, exposée à la violence et aux abus et manquait souvent d'une gouvernance adéquate et 

transparente de la part de toutes les parties. En même temps, l'exploitation minière artisanale était souvent le seul 

moyen de subsistance disponible, et un moyen essentiel, pour les communautés, mais qui offrait très peu de pro-

tections, de garanties ou de moyens de recours en place.   

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2018/531
https://www.undocs.org/S/2017/1091
https://www.undocs.org/S/2016/466
https://www.undocs.org/S/2015/19
https://www.undocs.org/S/2016/466


 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 157/369 

 

Annex 42 
 
History of Rubaya 
 
Histoire de Rubaya 
 
The region around Rubaya is rich in tantalite-columbite, known commonly as coltan. A recent report by BGR, 

estimated the combined DRC and Rwanda production at around 44 percent of global supply at 2019. 69 The richness 

of the mineral deposit in the Rubaya area provides the backdrop to long-standing and land-based tensions, which 

the Group has summarised very briefly here.  

 

In 2001, Edouard Mwangachuchu, a national member of parliament at the time of draftin g, obtained a license to 

exploit mines around Rubaya (see S/2008/773, para. 58), during a period when eastern DRC was under rebel occu-

pation of the Rwandan-backed Rassemblement congolais pour la démocratie Goma (RCD-Goma) between 1998-

2003 (see S/2009/603, para.175). The permit was granted at the time by the “Mining Department” of the RCD -

Goma government, while Mwangachuchu was a political cadre of the movement. In 2008 and 2009, the Group 

reported the presence of FARDC/Congrès national pour la défense du peuple (CNDP) presence at the Rubaya 

mines, of which Edouard Mwangachuchu was aware (see S/2008/773, para. 58 and S/2009/603, para. 203). At the 

time of drafting, the Mwangachuchu concession was registered on the Congolese Mining Cadastre as PE4731, 

belonging to his company Société Minière de Bisunzu (SMB). It covers an area of around 3,000 hectares, a swathe 

of land covering mines, villages and habitations belonging to artisanal miners.  

 

In 2004, Robert Habinshuti Seninga, also formerly involved in RCD-Goma and member of sanctioned entity Tous 

pour la Paix et le Développement (TPD) (CDe.008) (see S/2011/345, annex 5) established the Coopérative des 

exploitants artisanaux miniers de Masisi (COOPERAMMA) of which he became president.  

 

On 28 November 2013, COOPERAMMA and SMB (at the time operating under trading name Mwangachuchu Hizi 

International (MHI)) signed an agreement, the summary of which was that both parties agreed that COOPERAMMA 

could continue to mine the sites artisanally but must sell all of the production to MHI. Should MHI be unable to 

buy all the production, COOPERAMMA could sell the minerals elsewhere (see S/2014/42, para. 203). During this 

period, SMB contributed $0.3 per kilogram of coltan to COOPERAMMA, which was agreed as an “institutional 

support”.  

 

The 2013 agreement ended on 2 May 2018. From 12 June 2018 a further agreement was applied, which expired on 

12 September 2019 (see S/2019/974, para. 47). Separately, the Group has reviewed a 21 December 2020 act of 

engagement between the Coopérative des artisanaux miniers du Congo (CDMC), another coltan exporter, and 

COOPERAMMA, in which COOPERAMMA committed to respect the Organisation for Economic Cooperation 

and Development (OECD) due diligence and traceability recommendations.  

 

Disputes around land and concession ownership at Rubaya have continued thro ughout. In a 2 March 2018 Mining 

Cadastre report describing the boundaries of concessions PE4731 and its neighbouring mining concession PE76, 

owned by Société aurifère du Kivu et du Maniema (SAKIMA SA), and a 22 March 2018 SAKIMA SA communi-

cation, both reviewed by the Group, SAKIMA SA accused SMB of having invaded a part of their PE76 concession. 

SAKIMA SA contested the area around Longitude 28° 52' 48,5" E Latitude 1° 32' 52,7" S, a nd Longitude 28° 54' 

15,2" E,  Latitude 1° 32' 58,8" S.  

 

 

 
 
 
 

__________________ 

69 See Sustainability Information Tantalum, Phillipe Schutte, Bundesanstalt für Geowissenschaften und Rohstoffe (March 2021) 

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/350401182_Sustainability_Information_Tantalum (last consulted on 14 April 2021).  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2008/773
https://www.undocs.org/S/2009/603
https://www.undocs.org/S/2008/773
https://www.undocs.org/S/2009/603
https://www.un.org/securitycouncil/sanctions/1533/materials/summaries/entity/tous-pour-la-paix-et-le-developpement-%28ngo%29
https://www.undocs.org/S/2011/345
https://www.undocs.org/S/2014/42
http://www.undocs.org/S/2019/974
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/350401182_Sustainability_Information_Tantalum
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La région autour de Rubaya est riche en tantalite-colombite, communément appelée coltan. Un 
rapport récent de BGR, estimait la production combinée de la RDC et du Rwanda à environ 44 
pourcents de l'offre mondiale en 2019,70 La richesse du gisement minéral de la zone de Rubaya 
sert de toile de fond à des tensions anciennes et liées au foncier, que le Groupe a très 
brièvement résumées ici. 
 
En 2001, Édouard Mwangachuchu, député national au moment de la rédaction, a obtenu un permis 
d'exploitation des mines autour de Rubaya (voir S/2008/773, par. 58), à une époque où l'est de 
la RDC était sous occupation rebelle du Rassemblement congolais pour la démocratie de Goma 
(RCD-Goma), soutenu par le Rwanda, entre 1998 et 2003 (voir S/2009/603, par. 175). Le permis a 
été accordé à l'époque par le « département des mines » du gouvernement RCD-Goma, tandis que 
Mwangachuchu était un cadre politique du mouvement. En 2008 et 2009, le Groupe a signalé la 
présence des FARDC/Congres national pour la défense du peuple (CNDP) dans les mines de Rubaya, 
ce dont Édouard Mwangachuchu était au courant (voir S/2008/773, par. 58 et S/2009/603, par. 
203). Au moment de la rédaction de ce rapport, la concession Mwangachuchu était inscrite au 
cadastre minier congolais sous le numéro de concession PE4731, appartenant à sa société Société 
Minière de Bisunzu (SMB). Il couvre une superficie d'environ 3 000 hectares, une bande de 
terre couvrant les mines, les villages et les habitations appartenant aux creuseurs artisanaux. 
 
En 2004, Robert Habinshuti Seninga, également anciennement impliqué dans le RCD-Goma et membre 
de l'entité sanctionnée Tous pour la paix et le développement (TPD) (CDe.008) (voir S/2011/345, 
annexe 5) a créé la Coopérative des exploitants artisanaux miniers de Masisi (COOPERAMMA) dont 
il devient président. 
 
Le 28 novembre 2013, COOPERAMMA et SMB (à l'époque opérant sous le nom commercial Mwangachuchu 
Hizi International (MHI)) ont signé un accord dont le résumé était que les deux parties étaient 
convenues que COOPERAMMA pouvait continuer à exploiter les sites de manière artisanale mais 
devait vendre toute la production à MHI. Si MHI ne pouvait pas acheter toute la production, 
COOPERAMMA pourrait vendre les minerais ailleurs (voir S/2014/42, par. 203). Au cours de cette 
période, SMB a versé 0,3 dollars américains par kilogramme de coltan à COOPERAMMA, sur lesquels 
les parties étaient tombées d’accord comme « appui institutionnel ». 
 
L'accord de 2013 a pris fin le 2 mai 2018. À partir du 12 juin 2018, un autre accord a été 
appliqué, qui a expiré le 12 septembre 2019 (voir S/2019/974, par. 47). Par ailleurs, le Groupe 
a examiné un acte d'engagement du 21 décembre 2020 entre la Coopérative des artisans mineurs 
du Congo (CDMC), un autre exportateur de coltan, et COOPERAMMA, dans lequel COOPERAMMA s'est 
engagée à respecter le devoir de diligence de l'Organisation de coopération et de développement 
économiques (OCDE) et les recommandations de traçabilité. 
 
Les différends concernant la propriété des terres et des concessions à Rubaya n’ont jamais 
cessé. Dans un rapport du Cadastre Minier du 2 mars 2018 décrivant les limites des concessions 
PE4731 et de sa concession minière voisine PE76, détenue par la Société aurifère du Kivu et 
du Maniema (SAKIMA SA), et une communication du 22 mars 2018 de la SAKIMA SA, tous les deux 
examinés par le Groupe, SAKIMA SA a accusé SMB d'avoir envahi une partie de sa concession 
PE76. SAKIMA SA a contesté la zone suivante : longitude 28 ° 52 '48,5 "E, latitude 1 ° 32' 
52,7" S, et longitude 28 ° 54 '15,2 "E et latitude 1 ° 32' 58,8" S.  

__________________ 

70 Voir Sustainability Information Tantalum, Phillipe Schutte, Bundesanstalt für Geowissenschaften und Rohstoffe (mars 2021) 

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/350401182_Sustainability_Information_Tantalum (dernier acces 14 avril 2021). 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2008/773
https://www.undocs.org/S/2009/603
https://www.undocs.org/S/2008/773
https://www.undocs.org/S/2009/603
https://www.un.org/securitycouncil/sanctions/1533/materials/summaries/entity/tous-pour-la-paix-et-le-developpement-%28ngo%29
https://www.undocs.org/S/2011/345
https://www.undocs.org/S/2014/42
http://www.undocs.org/S/2019/974
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/350401182_Sustainability_Information_Tantalum
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Annex 43 
 
Tourmaline at Luwowo 
 
Tourmaline à Luwowo 
 

Four diggers, two mining authorities and a trader told the Group that tourmaline was dug at Luwowo, specifically 

in an area called Rukaza. All six individuals noted that the conflict at Luwowo mine was also linked to tourmaline 

production at Rukaza, and that the production rights for tourmaline at the mine were contested.  

The Group notes that the “top” quality tourmaline was highly valuable. Three individuals who sold or bought 

tourmaline at Rukaza said price varied, but that good quality finds could be sold upwards of $200 per gram. One 

digger at Rukaza mined the lowest grade of tourmaline, called “déchets”, and earned $10 per kilo. Rukaza’s tour-

maline was sold to trading houses in Goma, according to the six individual s.  

 

Quatre creuseurs, deux autorités minières et un commerçant ont déclaré au Groupe que la tourmaline était exploitée 

à Luwowo, particulièrement dans une zone appelée Rukaza. Les six individus ont noté que le conflit à la mine de 

Luwowo était lié à la production de la tourmaline à Rukaza et que les droits de production de la tourmaline à la 

mine étaient contestés. 

Le Groupe note que la tourmalines de qualité « supérieure » était de grande valeur. Trois personnes qui ont vendu 

ou acheté de la tourmaline à Rukaza ont déclaré que le prix variait, mais que la tourmaline de bonne qualité pouvait 

être vendue à plus de 200 $ le gramme. Un creuseur de Rukaza, qui extrayait la plus basse teneur de tourmaline, 

appelée « les déchets », gagnait 10 $ par kilo. La tourmaline de Rukaza était vendue à des maisons de commerce à 

Goma, selon les six personnes. 
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Annex 44 
 
Further information on armed activity at Luwowo and Gakombe mines, COOPERAMMA threats 
to diggers, and, separately, responses of Seninga, ITA and SMB 
 
Informations complémentaires sur les activités armées dans les mines de Luwowo et Gakombe, les 
menaces de COOPERAMMA contre les creuseurs et, séparément, les réponses de Seninga, ITA et 
SMB 
 

Amongst the eyewitnesses, the Group notably spoke to two individuals who had received machetes and one who 

had received an AK-type assault rifle during arms distributions by COOPERAMMA members Shamamba and Ga-

hanga. Two diggers heard Shamamba say that the machete should be used “to cut” or “attack” the police. One of 

these diggers, who was not a COOPERAMMA member, refused to take the machete he was offered. He told the 

Group that “he did not understand the objectives of the armed men”. One of the diggers described how he went on 

to use the weapon he had been given, which was new, to attack the PMH at Gakombe mine site, in an assault led 

by Shamamba. 

 

In addition to interviews with eyewitnesses, the Group provides here two transcripts of video footage reviewed and 

authenticated by the Group, in which diggers discuss the machete d istribution in May 2020. 

Example 1, at Gakombe mine, May 2020 

A: Sorry! 

B: Those machetes? 

A: Precisely 

B: It was the president of the mining site who distributed these machetes to the diggers. 

A: What is his name? 

B: His name is Gahanga 

A: Gahanga? 

B: Indeed 

A: Was he the one who distributed them? 

B: Exactly 

B: He distributed them with the approval of the coordinator 

A: Which coordinator? 

B: Mumm 

A: Justin? 

B: Exactly 

A: Apparently he's an MP? 

B: Yes 

A: What was the purpose of these machetes being distributed to the diggers? 

B: Sorry? 

A: What was the purpose of these machetes being distributed? 

B: These SMB police frequent the mining site too much 

A: Ok 

B: They bothered the diggers a lot 

A: Ok 

B: That's how they decided to cut them with machetes. 

A: With machetes? 

B: COOPERAMMA will suffer all possible consequences 

A: Oh I see 

B: Are they often here? 

A: Absolutely 

Example 2, Gakombe mine, May 2020 

A: Did these machetes come on board a vehicle? 
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B: Exactly 

A: From where? 

B: From Goma 

A: Oh I see 

B: He had brought a vehicle full of machetes to distribute to the diggers. 

A: Filled with machetes? 

B: Yes 

A: They were double-edged machetes. 

[…] 

B: Why did he distribute these machetes to the diggers? 

[…] 

A: Since here there are a lot of buyers and they disagree with each other 

B: The bosses? 

A: Yes indeed 

B: They deeply disagree 

A: Ok 

B: Why did he give these machetes to the diggers? 

A: It is to cause banditry 

B: Sorry? 

A: It's to cause banditry. 

B: When they encounter people, they take everything. 

A: Especially these “rastas”, when they meet someone, they rough them up. 

B: Yeah 

A: Do you think that machetes can drive out SMB police who carry weapons? 

B: Not at all 

A: Sorry ? 

B : it’s impossible 

A : so then why did you take them? 

A: you can stand up to an arm, with a machete? 

B: not at all. 

 

The Group contacted Shamamba and Gahanga but had not received a response by the time of drafting. 

Three authorities, four diggers, and three security agents said the armed COOPERAMMA members belonged to 

an armed group, although they cited different names for the group including Forces de défense des droits de 

l’homme (FDDH) (see S/2020/482, para. 99), Groupement or Mouvement pour la libération et la protection du 

peuple hutu dans le Masisi (GLPPH/MLPPH), “Ibirara” and “volontaires Hutu”.  

The Group documented a particularly intense period of instability at Rukaza/Luwowo during November 2020,  

including multiple clashes between PMH stationed on the SMB PE4731 concession and armed diggers , including 

COOPERAMMA members, at Luwowo mine site.  

SMB officially suspended digging at Luwowo mine between November 2020 and beginning of March 2021. In late 

November 2020 around 40 FARDC Sokola II members were sent to Rubaya to calm the security situat ion.  

The Group also interviewed five individuals who worked at coltan mines on concession PE76 owned by SAKIMA 

SA (see S/2020/482, paras. 97 and 99, and annex 48; and S/2018/531, paras. 142 and 146), where COOPERAMMA 

members also worked. The five described how armed COOPERAMMA members, including Shamamba, visited 

their sites during 2020 and early 2021 and demanded money, including for diggers’ burials, and ta xed diggers in 

Congolese Francs for passing along roads to the mines. Two diggers who refused to join COOPERAMMA described 

how they were consequently subjected to verbal intimidation. One man had $3000 stolen from him by 

COOPERAMMA members who hit him on the leg with a machete.  

 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://www.undocs.org/S/2018/531
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Parmi les témoins oculaires, le Groupe s'est notamment entretenu avec deux personnes qui ont reçu des machettes 

et un autre qui a reçu un fusil d'assaut de type-AK lors de distributions d'armes par les membres de COOPERAMMA, 

Shamamba et Gahanga. Deux creuseurs ont entendu Shamamba dire que la machette devait être utilisée « pour 

couper » ou « attaquer » la police. L'un de ces creuseurs, qui n'était pas membre de COOPERAMMA, a refusé de 

prendre la machette qui lui avait été offerte. Il a déclaré au Groupe qu' « il ne comprenait pas les objectifs des 

hommes armés ». L'un des creuseurs a décrit comment il a continué à utiliser l'arme qui lui avait été donnée, qui 

était nouvelle, pour attaquer la PMH sur le site minier de Gakombe, lors d 'un assaut mené par Shamamba. 

Outre les entretiens avec des témoins oculaires, le Groupe fournit ci-dessus deux transcriptions de séquences vidéo 

revues et authentifiées par le Groupe, dans lesquelles des creuseurs discutent de la distribution de machettes  en mai 

2020. 

Exemple 1 : au mine de Gakombe, mai 2020 

A : Pardon! 

B: Ces machettes? 

A : Justement 

B: C'est le président du site minier qui avait distribué ces machettes aux creuseurs. 

A : Son nom c'est quoi? 

B: Il s'appelle Gahanga  

A: Gahanga ? 

B : Effectivement 

A : C'est lui qui les avait distribuées? 

B : Justement 

B: Il les avait distribuées par l'approbation du coordonnateur 

A: Quel coordonnateur? 

B : Mumm 

A: Justin? 

B : Justement 

A : Apparemment il est un député? 

B: Oui 

A : C'était pour quel objectif que ces machettes étaient distribuées aux creuseurs? 

B: Pardon ? 

A : C'était dans quel objectif que ces machettes étaient distribuées? 

B: Ces policiers de la SMB fréquentaient tellement dans le site minier 

A: Ok 

B: Ils tracassaient beaucoup 

A : Ok 

B : C'est ainsi qu'ils avaient décidé de les couper avec des machettes. 

A: Avec des machettes? 

B: La COOPERAMMA subira toutes conséquences possibles  

A: Ah bon 

B: Ils fréquentaient ici tellement? 

A: Absolument 

Exemple 2, mine de Gakombe, mai 2020 

A : Est-ce que ces machettes étaient venus au bord d'un véhicule? 

B : Justement 

A : En provenance d'où? 

B : De Goma 

A : Ah bon 

B : Il avait amené un véhicule rempli de machettes pour les distribuer aux creuseurs. 

A : Rempli de machettes? 

B : Oui 

A : C'était des machettes à double tranchant. 

[…] 
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B : Pourquoi il avait distribué ces machettes aux creuseurs? 

[…] 

A : Puisqu'ici il y a beaucoup de preneurs et ils s'opposent tellement 

B : Les patrons? 

A : Oui 

B : S'opposer a de l'avantage 

A : Ok 

B : Pourquoi il avait donné ces machettes aux creuseurs? 

A : C'est pour occasionner le banditisme 

B : Pardon! 

A : C'est pour occasionner le banditisme. 

B : Lorsqu'ils rencontrent les gens, ils ravissent tout. 

A : Surtout ces rasta, lorsqu'ils rencontrent quelqu'un, ils tracassent  

B : Ah oui 

A : Est-ce que vous avez vu que les machettes peuvent chasser les policiers de la SMB possédant des armes? 

B : Rien 

A : Pardon ? 

B : C'est impossible 

A : Maintenant pourquoi vous les avez prises? 

A : Tu peux résister face à une arme et pourtant tu as une machette? 

B : Rien 

Le Groupe a contacté Shamamba et Gahanga mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment de la rédaction du rapport. 

Trois autorités, quatre creuseurs et trois agents de sécurité ont déclaré que les membres armés de la COOPERAMMA 

appartenaient à un groupe armé, bien qu'ils aient cité des noms différents pour le groupe, notamment les Forces de 

défense des droits de l'homme (FDDH) (voir S/2020/482, par. 99), le Groupement ou Mouvement pour la libération 

et la protection du peuple hutu dans le Masisi (GLPPH/MLPPH), « Ibirara » et « volontaires Hutu ». 

Le Groupe a documenté une période d'affrontements particulièrement intenses à Rukaza/Luwowo, en novembre 

2020, et multiples affrontements entre la PMH stationnée sur la concession SMB PE4731 et des creuseurs armés, y 

compris des membres de COOPERAMMA, sur le site minier de Luwowo. 

SMB a officiellement suspendu l’exploitation de la mine de Luwowo entre novembre 2020 et début mars 2021. Fin 

novembre 2020, une quarantaine de membres des FARDC Sokola II ont été envoyés à Rubaya pour calmer la situa-

tion. 

Le Groupe a également interrogé cinq personnes qui travaillaient dans les mines de coltan de la concession PE76 

appartenant à SAKIMA SA (voir S/2020/482, par. 97 et 99, et annexe 48 ; et S/2018/531, par. 142 et 146), où les 

membres de la COOPERAMMA ont également travaillé. Les cinq ont décrit comment des membres  armés de 

COOPERAMMA, y compris Shamamba, ont visité leurs sites en 2020 et début 2021 et ont exigé de l'argent, y 

compris pour les enterrements de creuseurs, et ont taxé les creuseurs en Francs congolais pour avoir emprunté les 

routes menant aux mines. Deux creuseurs qui ont refusé de rejoindre COOPERAMMA ont décrit comment ils ont 

par conséquent été soumis à des intimidations verbales. Un homme s'est fait voler 3000 $ par des membres de 

COOPERAMMA qui l'ont frappé à la jambe avec une machette.  

 

*** 

  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://www.undocs.org/S/2018/531
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The Group contacted stakeholders for an opportunity to reply. A summary of replies is included below. Full re-

sponses, some of which ran to over 100 pages, are available to the Committee on request.  

 

The Group contacted Better Mining, CDMC, COOPERAMMA, Gahanga, Justin Ndayishimiye, ITA, Robert Sen-

inga, SAKIMA SA, Shamamba Enoch, SMB and SOGECOM Sarl about distribution of machetes and arms to 

diggers at Gakombe and Luwowo.  

 

Better Mining requested that its reply remain confidential. Better Mining provided the Group with a list of 2020 

security incidents at PE4731, which the Group has reviewed and which is available to the Committee on request.  

 

CMDC told the Group that it was unaware of any distribution of machetes and, had such an event taken place, it 

would have been discussed at local mining meetings held by la Commission de suivi des activités minières (CSAM), 

which it had not. CDMC added that, had this been the case, CDMC would have already stopped working with 

COOPERAMMA per the OECD guidance on due diligence.  

  

ITA told the Group that “thus far ITSCI does not have any information or evidence on the use of machetes by 

miners on PE4731.” ITA added that “Information available to ITSCI indicates machetes were distributed by an 

individual (who is also a member of COOPERAMMA) in his capacity as a member of the National Parliament to 

support his voters.”   

  

ITA also told the Group that “while it appears that individuals are resorting to armed violence on PE4731 and 

elsewhere, including on PE76, to date ITSCI is not aware of evidence that COOPERAMMA leadership or manage-

ment has supported or been involved in armed activities.”  

   

Regarding clashes in November 2020 and the use of AK-type assault rifles, ITA said that this may correspond to a 

17 November 2020, recorded in an iTSCi incident, in which a convoy of SMB vehicles was attacked by one armed 

bandit near Humule village. ITA noted that there was no confirmed affiliation or link of COOPERAMMA in this 

case. ITA was not aware of any allegations about the distribution of AK-type assault rifles by COOPERAMMA to 

their members and that local monitoring committees had not raised any such concerns in this regard.  

 

Finally, ITA also told the Group that armed public security forces and non-state armed groups’ presence, interfer-

ence, or involvement in mining activities at and around ITSCI mining areas and the alleged involvement of, or 

impact on ITSCI members was taken very seriously by ITSCI and local stakeholders. ITA also noted that 

COOPERAMMA had issued a public statement on 17 December 2020 on steps taken with its membership to miti-

gate risks and to reaffirm its policy of non-engagement with any armed groups.  

  

Seninga stated that all allegations brought against him were false and unfounded and designed to tarnish his image. 

He told the Group that regarding distribution of machetes and weapons, he was an actor of peace and socio-eco-

nomic development in the province of North Kivu and territory of Masisi in particular, and that he would in no way 

act as an impediment to the population, who were his electoral base.  

  

He added that the PE4731 concession was secured by PMH, Industrial Guards, traceability monitors and whistle-

blowers who watched the site day and night. He added that FDDH did not exist, and that Ibirara was a group of 

bandits. 

 

SMB told the Group that it had heard about cases of machete and weapons distributions, but had not seen concrete 

evidence of that, itself.   

  

SOGECOM Sarl told the Group that they conducted several site visits to ensure that the company was “making a 

best efforts judgement” in the material it purchased and that the average assays/grades of its material was not of an 

extremely ‘high’ level distinct with PE4731 material, and that where Sogecom had been offered such material, it 

had rejected it for avoidance of contribution to any conflict.”  
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Le Groupe a contacté les parties prenantes pour leur donner une opportunité de réponse. Un résumé des réponses 

est inclus ci-dessous. Les réponses complètes, dont certaines comptaient plus de 100 pages, sont disponible au 

Comité sur demande. 

 

Le Groupe a contacté Better Mining, CDMC, COOPERAMMA, Gahanga, Justin Ndayishimiye, ITA, Robert Se-

ninga, SAKIMA SA, Shamamba Enoch, SMB et SOGECOM Sarl au sujet de la distribution de machettes et d'armes 

aux creuseurs de Gakombe et Luwowo. 

 

Better Mining a demandé que sa réponse reste confidentielle. Better Mining a fourni au Groupe une liste d’incidents 

de sécurité 2020 à PE4731, que le Groupe a revu et qui est à la disposition du Comité sur demande.  

  

CDMC a indiqué au Groupe qu'elle n'était au courant d'aucune distribution de machettes et que, si un tel événement 

avait eu lieu, il aurait été débattu lors des réunions minières locales de la Commission de suivi des activités minières 

(CSAM), qu'elle ne l’avait pas été. CDMC a ajouté que, si tel avait été le cas, CDMC aurait déjà cessé de travailler 

avec COOPERAMMA conformément aux directives de l'OCDE sur la diligence raisonnable.  

  

L'ITA a déclaré au Groupe que «j jusqu’à présent, l'ITSCI ne dispose d'aucune information ou preuve sur l'utilisation 

de machettes par des mineurs sur la PE4731 ». ITA a ajouté que "les informations dont dispose l'ITSCI indiquent 

que les machettes ont été distribuées par un individu (qui est également membre de COOPERAMMA) en sa qu alité 

de membre du Parlement national pour soutenir ses électeurs." 

  

ITA a également déclaré au Groupe que « s'il semble que des individus recourent à la violence armée sur PE4731 

et ailleurs, y compris sur PE76, à ce jour, l'ITSCI n'a pas connaissance de preuves que le management ou la direction 

de COOPERAMMA a soutenu ou participé à des activités armées. »  

 

Concernant les affrontements de novembre 2020 et l'utilisation de fusils d'assaut de type AK, ITA a déclaré que 

cela pourrait correspondre à un cas enregistré le 17 novembre 2020, lors d'un incident iTSCi, au cours duquel un 

convoi de véhicules SMB a été attaqué par un bandit armé près du village de Humule. ITA a noté qu'il n'y avait pas 

d'affiliation ou de lien avec COOPERAMMA dans ce cas. ITA n'était  courant d'aucune allégation concernant la 

distribution de fusils d'assaut de type AK par COOPERAMMA à ses membres et que les comités de surveillance 

locaux n'avaient pas soulevé de telles préoccupations.  

  

Enfin, ITA a également déclaré au Groupe que la présence, l'ingérence ou l'implication des forces armées de sécurité 

publique et des groupes armés non étatiques dans des activités minières dans et autour des zones minières de l'ITSCI 

et l'implication présumée ou l'impact sur les membres de l'ITSCI étaient pris très au sérieux par ITSCI et les acteurs 

locaux. ITA a également noté que COOPERAMMA avait publié une déclaration publique le 17 décembre 2020 sur 

les mesures prises avec ses membres pour atténuer les risques et réaffirmer sa politique de non -engagement avec 

les groupes armés. 

  

Seninga a déclaré que toutes les allégations portées contre lui étaient fausses et infondées et visaient à ternir son 

image. Il a déclaré au Groupe qu'en ce qui concerne la distribution de machettes et d'armes, il était un ac teur de la 

paix et du développement socio-économique dans la province du Nord-Kivu, et dans le territoire de Masisi en 

particulier, et qu'il n'agirait en aucun cas comme un obstacle à la population. qui était sa base électorale.  

 

Il a ajouté que la concession PE4731 était sécurisée par la PMH, les gardes industriels, les moniteurs de traçabilité 

et les lanceurs d'alerte qui surveillaient le site jour et nuit. Il a ajouté que les FDDH n'existaient pas et qu'Ibirara 

était un groupe de bandits. 

 

SMB a déclaré au Groupe qu'il avait entendu parler de cas de distribution de machettes et d'armes, mais n'en avait 

pas vu de preuves concrètes. 

  

SOGECOM Sarl a déclaré au Groupe qu'elle avait effectué plusieurs visites sur place pour s'assurer que l'entreprise 

« faisait les meilleurs efforts pour juger » le matériel qu'elle achetait et que le teneur/qualité de son matériel n'étaient 
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pas d'un niveau extrêmement « élevé », distinct du matériel PE4731, et que lorsque Sogecom s'était vu offrir un tel 

matériel, elle l'avait rejeté pour éviter de contribuer à tout conflit.  » 
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Annex 45 
 
PMH member abuses 
 
Abus par des membres de la PMH 
 

The Group was able to confirm the deaths of at least two diggers at mines on PE4731 by cross -checking civil 

society lists and eyewitness accounts, and speaking to diggers who knew the deceased. However, reported deaths 

on the concession, which the Group was not able to confirm by time of drafting, were higher.  

 

Three diggers from Gakombe, a digger from Luwowo, and another who dug at Rukaza, a restaurant owner at Rukaza 

and a digger from D3 Bibatama, another mine on concession PE4731, recounted physical violence that they had 

been subjected to by individuals they described as “the SMB police” (the locally -used term for the PMH). The 

Group also reviewed two video footages, one from Gasasa mine site, the other near to Gakombe, both authenticated 

by the Group, in which diggers described acts of violence committed by PMH members that they had witnessed, at 

the mines. In another case, the bodies of two diggers killed in June 2019 on PE4731, allegedly by PMH members, 

remained in Goma morgue (see S/2020/1283, para. 44).  

 

The digger at Rukaza, who dug tourmaline there and also coltan at Luwo wo, described how he experienced daily 

events. He said, “SMB representatives would come to the mines and demand that the population sell to SMB, the 

population would refuse and say these were their own fields.” The digger described how PHM members came to 

Rukaza one morning at 5 a.m. in late 2020 and went house-to-house, asking women if their husbands were there. 

They tied up the husbands they found and took them to the “SMB position”, saying “these are the people who 

refused to sell, from Rukaza”. 

 

Another man, a digger who took part in a late 2019 clash at Gakombe mine, described how he had “attacked” 

Gakombe with an organised group of armed diggers, and that on arriving at the PMH “position”, he had been 

dismayed to find that the “SMB police had rocket launchers although some of them were wearing civilian uni-

forms”. The man said that he was detained that day in an underground hole, with ten other men, and whipped with 

wooden batons. According to the man, one of his co-detainees later died following the whipping. The digger de-

scribed how there was a feeling of revindication amongst diggers, who had already been physically harmed or 

imprisoned or traumatised, by the PMH members stationed at concession PE4731. According to the man, this feel-

ing gave the diggers a kind of opening and a reason to respond, because of “the suffering that SMB had already 

brought the diggers”. 

 

A woman who worked at D3 Bibatama described how her brother, who also dug at the mine, had been so severely 

beaten by PMH members that he had sought hospital treatment and that since, he walked with difficulty.  

 

Another digger, who worked at Luwowo, described how in mid-November 2020, the PMH members stationed on 

PE4731 came to “pillage” the population at Rukaza. The man was there, working at Luwowo, and the PMH mem-

bers arrived in the morning. They took fuel and clothing from diggers’ houses, moving house-to-house. The man 

personally had 30 liters of fuel stolen, which was in plastic bidons. The man said that the evening before the 

pillaging, there were gun shots around Luwowo mine but he did not know who had fired them, and it was the 

following morning that the PMH arrived and fired shots into the air and people fled.  

 

The Group contacted SMB about the actions of the PMH members stationed on its concession. Below is a summary 

of SMB’s reply. 

 

SMB told the Group that these were false allegations and that there were many political manipulations in Rubaya. 

They underlined that there was no management link between the company and the PMH officers deployed on 

concession PE4731. SMB added that because concession PE4731 belonged to SMB, all the minerals from there 

were supposed to be sold to SMB. As such, there were 35 to 40 PMH members located on concession PE4731 

whose job was to guard against mineral fraud. The PMH members ensured that once people left concession PE4731 

to go to Rubaya, they did not carry the minerals with them. Otherwise they would be arrested and the minerals 

confiscated and returned to SMB. SMB questioned the interes t of PMH members to commit abuses. They added 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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that it was important for SMB to know about allegations against PMH agents and that each time that SMB was 

made aware of problems they asked for the concerned PMH agent to be disciplined and/or replaced. SMB de nied 

that there were no underground cells on the PE4731 concession.  

SMB added that COOPERAMMA members were alleged to have committed abuses. SMB cited a judicial complaint 

filed against a COOPERAMMA leader, in this regard.  

 

 

 

Comme indiqué dans le texte principal, le Groupe a pu confirmer la mort d’au moins deux creuseurs dans des mines 

sur la concession PE4731 en vérifiant les listes de la société civile et les témoignages oculaires, et en parlant à des 

creuseurs qui connaissaient les personnes décédées. Cependant, d’autres décès ont été signalés sur la concession 

que le Groupe n'a pas été en mesure de confirmer au moment de la rédaction.  

 

Trois creuseurs de Gakombe, un creuseur de Luwowo et un autre qui a creusé à Rukaza, un restaurateur à Rukaza 

et un creuseur de D3 Bibatama, une autre mine sur la concession PE4731, ont raconté les violences physiques qu'ils 

avaient personnellement subies par des individus qu'ils qualifiaient de « la police SMB » (le terme désigné locale-

ment pour parler de la PMH). Le Groupe a également examiné deux séquences vidéo, l'une du site minier de Gasasa, 

l'autre proche de Gakombe, toutes deux authentifiées par le Groupe, dans lesquelles des creuseurs décrivaient des 

actes de violence commis par des membres de la PMH dont ils avaient été témoins, dans les mines. Dan s un autre 

cas, les corps de deux creuseurs tués en juin 2019 sur PE4731, prétendument par des membres de PMH, sont restés 

à la morgue de Goma (voir S/2020/1283, par. 44). 

 

Le creuseur de Rukaza, qui y creusait de la tourmaline et du coltan à Luwowo, a décrit comment il vivait les 

événements quotidiens. Il a dit que « les représentants de la SMB venaient aux mines et exigeaient que la population 

vende à SMB, la population refusait et dirait que ce sont leurs propres champs. » Le creuseur a décrit comment les 

membres de la PHM sont venus un matin vers cinq heures à la fin de 2020 à Rukaza et sont allés de maison en 

maison pour demander aux femmes si leurs maris étaient là. Ils ont ligoté les maris qu’ils ont t rouvé et les ont 

emmenés à la « position SMB », en disant « ce sont les gens qui ont refusé de vendre,  de (la mine de) Rukaza ». 

 

Un autre homme, un creuseur qui a participé à un affrontement à la fin de 2019 à la mine de Gakombe, a décrit 

comment il avait « attaqué » Gakombe avec un groupe organisé de creuseurs armés et qu'en arrivant à la « position 

» de la PMH, il avait été consterné de constater que la « police SMB avait des lance -roquettes bien que certains 

d'entre eux portaient des uniformes civils ». L'homme a dit qu'il avait été détenu ce jour-là dans un trou souterrain, 

avec dix autres hommes, et fouetté, avec des bâtons en bois. Selon l'homme, l'un de ses codétenus est décédé plus 

tard, après avoir été fouetté. Le creuseur a décrit comment il y ava it un sentiment de revendication parmi les creu-

seurs, qui avaient déjà été physiquement blessés ou emprisonnés ou traumatisés, par les membres de la PMH sta-

tionnés sur la concession PE4731. Selon l'homme, ce sentiment a donné aux creuseurs une sorte d'ouve rture et une 

raison de réagir, à cause de « la souffrance que SMB avait déjà apportée aux creuseurs ».  

 

Une femme qui travaillait à D3 Bibatama a décrit comment son frère, qui creusait également à la mine, avait été si 

violemment battu par des membres de la PMH qu'il avait dû aller à l'hôpital pour se faire soigner et qu'il marchait 

depuis avec difficulté. 

 

Un autre creuseur, qui travaillait à Luwowo, a décrit comment mi-novembre 2020, les membres de la PMH station-

née sur PE4731 sont venus « piller » la population de Rukaza. L'homme était là, travaillant à Luwowo, et les 

membres de la PMH sont arrivés le matin. Ils ont pris du carburant et des vêtements dans les maisons des creuseurs, 

se déplaçant de maison en maison. L'homme s’est vu voler 30 litres de carb urant, qui se trouvaient dans des bidons 

en plastique. L'homme a déclaré que la veille du pillage, il y avait eu des coups de feu autour de la mine Luwowo, 

mais il ne savait pas qui les avait tirés, et c'est le lendemain matin que les membres de la PMH son t arrivés et ont 

tiré des coups de feu en l'air et que les gens ont pris la fuite.  

 

 

Le Groupe a contacté SMB sur les actions des membres de la PMH stationnés sur sa concession. Sa réponse est 

résumée ci-dessous. 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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SMB a déclaré au Groupe qu'il s'agissait de fausses allégations et qu'il y avait eu de nombreuses manipulations 

politiques à Rubaya. Ils ont souligné qu'il n'y avait aucun lien de subordination entre SMB et les agents de la PMH. 

SMB a ajouté que parce que la concession PE4731 appartenait à SMB, tous les minerais extraits de cette concession, 

devaient être vendus à SMB. À ce titre, il y avait 35 à 40 membres de la PMH situés sur le périmètre de la concession 

PE4731 dont le travail était d’éviter la fraude minière. La PMH était chargée de vérifier qu e les personnes quittant 

la concession PE4731 pour se rendre à Rubaya, ne transportaient pas de minerais avec eux, sous peine d’être arrêtés 

et les minerais confisqués et restitués à SMB. SMB a mis en doute l'intérêt des agents de la PMH à commettre des 

abus. SMB a ajouté qu'il était important que SMB soit au courant des allégations contre des agents de la PMH et 

que chaque fois que SMB était informée de problèmes, elle demandait que l’agent de la PMH concerné soit sanc-

tionné et / ou remplacé. SMB a nié qu'il y ait des cellules souterraines sur la concession PE4731. 

 

SMB a ajouté que, par contre, les membres de COOPERAMMA auraient commis des abus. SMB a cité une plainte 

judiciaire déposée contre un dirigeant de COOPERAMMA à cet égard.  
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Annex 46 
 
Destruction of housing at Kwa Rutivumbura 
 
Destruction de logements à Kwa Rutivumbura 
 

Four diggers described to the Group how around 9 or 10 November 2020, homes and shops had been burned down 

at Kwa Rutivumbura, an area of housing and small commerce on PE4731 also known locally as Gisura or Kisura. 

PMH members stationed on the SMB concession instigated the events, according to three of the diggers, and there 

were exchanges of gunfire. One man watched the buildings, mainly wooden houses built close together,  burning 

during the night. Another man, an inhabitant, said that he fled when the gunfire started, at around 18:00. 

Below, a photograph in the aftermath of the events, and an ensuing letter from COOPERAMMA to the Governor 

of North Kivu, following the event. 

SMB told the Group that events at Kwa Rutivumbura were instigated by armed men, not PMH members, and that 

(other) armed men had targeted and occupied particular depots belonging to COOPERAMMA members, during 

the event. Please also refer to annex 45.  

 

Quatre creuseurs ont décrit au Groupe comment, vers le 9 ou 10 novembre 2020, des habitations et des magasins 

avaient été incendiés à Kwa Rutivumbura, une zone d'habitation et de petit commerce sur PE4731 également con-

nue localement sous le nom de Gisura ou Kisura. Les membres de la PMH stationnée sur la concession SMB est à 

l’origine des évènements, selon trois des creuseurs. Un homme a vu les bâtiments, principalement des maisons en 

bois construites à proximité, brûler pendant la nuit. Un autre homme, un habitant, a déclaré qu'il s'était enfui lorsque 

les coups de feu ont éclaté, vers 18H00. 

Ci-dessous, une photographie au lendemain des évènements, et une lettre, subséquente aux évènements, de 

COOPERAMMA au Gouverneur du Nord Kivu. 

SMB a déclaré au Groupe que les évènements à Kwa Rutivumbura avaient été provoqués par des hommes armés, 

et non par des membres de la PMH, et que les (autres) hommes armés avaient visé et occupé des dépôts appartenant 

en particulier à certains membres de COOPERAMMA, au cours des l' évènements. Voir également annexe 45. 
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Photograph of Rutivumbura after the fires, provided to the Group by a witness 

Photographie de Rutivumbura après les incendies, fournie au Groupe par un témoin  
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Extract of an 11 November 2020 letter from COOPERAMMA, signed by COOPERAMMA Vice-President Vin-

cent Zilimwabago Nyamurwana, following events at Rativumbura, 

Provided to the Group by multiple sources 

Extrait d'une lettre du 11 novembre 2020 de COOPERAMMA, signée par le Vice-Président de COOPERAMMA, 

Vincent Zilimwabago Nyamurwana, suite aux évènements de Rativumbura,  

Fournie au Groupe par de multiples sources  
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Annex 47 
 
Cross-concession minerals transfers 
 
Transferts de minéraux entre concessions 
 

Two individuals who worked on concession PE4731 and two who worked on PE76 described how women carried 

minerals in quantities of between 2 to 5 kilos every day, walking between the concessions. A digger at Luwowo 

knew ten women, four of whom he named, who undertook this activity daily, and were paid $10 per trip. A négociant 

who sold minerals from concession PE4731 to the SAKIMA SA depot in Ngungu, on PE76, knew other women 

who engaged in this fraud, and described how they carried the minerals on their backs as one would carry a baby. 

A woman who bought small quantities of coltan at Nyagisenyi on concession PE76 said, “When people fraud min-

erals they buy from everyone, in front of everyone and if they are caught by “SMB police”, the police hit the person 

and take the minerals. When you are in the SMB concession you are considered a frauder but on the SAKIMA 

concession you are not caught and hit, there are no such “frauders”.”  

 

Two women told the Group that the women transported minerals out of necessity, in order to make money to survive, 

but did so in fear of being caught by PMH, who would beat them.  

 

Nine diggers working at Gakombe and Luwowo on PE4731 confirmed cross-concession mineral fraud at concession 

PE76. Five said that the fraud was usually precipitated by late payment or lower prices offered per kilo, by SMB . 

Four diggers and two traders on PE4731 described how they made sales directly to SAKIMA SA depots at Kibabi 

and Rubaya town, where the coltan received iTSCi tags.  

 

The Group also reviewed six pieces of video footage in which diggers at mines around Ruba ya described cross-

concession fraud between PE4731 and PE76 during 2020. 

 

Thirteen diggers told the Group that Service d’assistance et d’encadrement de l’exploitation minière artisanale et 

à petite échelle (SAEMAPE) agents were very often absent at the mine sites.  

 

 

Deux personnes qui travaillaient sur la concession PE4731 et deux qui travaillaient sur PE76 ont décrit comment 

des femmes transportaient chaque jour 2 à 5 kilos de minerais, entre les concessi ons, à pied. Un creuseur de Lu-

wowo connaissait dix femmes, dont il a nommé quatre, qui faisaient cette activité quotidiennement et étaient payées 

10 $ par voyage. Un négociant qui a vendu le minerai de la concession PE4731 au dépôt SAKIMA SA à Ngungu, 

sur PE76, connaissait d'autres femmes qui se sont livrées à cette fraude et a décrit comment elles portaient le minerai 

sur leur dos comme on porterait un bébé. Une femme qui a acheté de petites quantités de coltan à Nyagisenyi sur 

la concession PE76 a déclaré: « Quand les gens fraudent des minerais, ils achètent à tout le monde, devant tout le 

monde et s'ils sont arrêtés par la « police SMB », la police frappe la personne et prend les minerais. Lorsque vous 

êtes dans la concession SMB, vous êtes considéré comme un fraudeur, mais sur la concession SAKIMA, vous n'êtes 

pas pris et touché, il n'y a pas de tels « fraudeurs ». » 

 

Deux femmes ont dit au Groupe que les femmes transportaient du minerai par nécessité, afin de gagner de l'argent 

pour survivre, mais le faisaient par peur d'être arrêtées par PMH, qui les battrait. 

 

Neuf creuseurs travaillant à Gakombe et Luwowo sur PE4731 ont confirmé la fraude minière entre la concession 

PE76. Cinq d’entre eux ont déclaré que cela était généralement occasionné par des retar ds de paiement ou une 

baisse des prix proposés au kilo par SMB. Quatre creuseurs et deux commerçants sur PE4731 ont décrit comment 

ils ont réalisé des ventes directement aux dépôts de SAKIMA SA à Kibabi et à Rubaya, où le coltan a reçu des 

étiquettes iTSCi. 

 

Le Groupe a également examiné six séquences vidéo dans lesquelles des creuseurs de mines autour de Rubaya ont 

décrit des fraudes entre les concessions PE4731 et PE76 en 2020.  
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Treize creuseurs ont indiqué au Groupe que les agents du Service d’assistance  et d’encadrement de l’exploitation 

minière artisanale et à petite échelle (SAEMAPE) étaient très souvent absents des sites miniers. 

 

 

The Group contacted the companies purchasing directly from PE76 about cross -concession mineral transfers, to 

give them the opportunity to comment on the Group’s findings.  

 

1. CDMC told the Group that allegations of fraud were completely unfounded. They said that any attempted 

cross-concession mineral fraud should be intercepted by the PMH on concession PE4731, and also by 

PMH which were also, separately, stationed on concession PE76 belonging to SAKIMA SA. They said in 

the past, coltan from PE76 had been traded as that of PE4731. Today, the coltan bought by CDMC from 

its négociants and suppliers respected the demands and norms required to be marketed.  

2. ITA told the Group that they did not have evidence which would support the Group’s assessment that ITSCI 

member COOPERAMMA carried out smuggling from PE4731 to PE76, and that to their knowledge, 

COOPERAMMA leadership and management were currently applying appropriate due diligence, including 

implementing risk mitigation measures. ITA said in their view, significant improvements had been achieved, 

notably in transparency and accountability of various supply chain actors, and in reducing risks of minerals 

from PE4731 being tagged at ITSCI sites on PE76 and that in December 2020, ITA encouraged 

COOPERAMMA’s leadership to write a public written statement re-confirming that it does not support 

armed group activities. 

 

ITA also noted, “while human rights abuses and security concerns are rightly a matter for attention, notable 

and significant progress has been made since 2009 […] Progress includes improved governance, improved 

statistics and information, greater reporting and transparency of risks, widespread understanding of due 

diligence and mitigation, and many other developments.” 

 

ITA added that tagging minerals was the responsibility of  relevant government services and ITSCI staff did not 

have this role. Also, it said that different types of depots (transit and tagging) existed and that this could create 

confusion about the origin and transport of untagged mineralised sands from one depot to another on PE76; such 

should not be mis-interpreted as minerals originating from PE4731 being transported to depots on the PE76 conces-

sion for ITSCI tagging. 

 

3. Seninga told the Group that allegations of cross-concession mineral fraud were false, and that such transfers 

were impossible because concession PE4731 belonging to SMB was heavily guarded by PMH, and Indus-

trial Guards, and that there were state agents and Better Mines agents at the sites to oversee mineral tagging. 

 

4. SOGECOM said it had conducted several site visits to Masisi territory to verify the provision of its material 

to the best of its ability, whilst also using the baseline information and reports compiled by PACT/iTSCi. It 

also said that the average assays/grades of its mineral were not of an extremely ‘high’ level, distinct with 

PE4731 material, and where SOGECOM has been offered such material, it has rejected it for avoidance of 

contribution to any conflict. 

 

Le Groupe a contacté les sociétés achetant directement à PE76 au sujet des transferts de minerais entre concessions, 

afin de leur donner l’opportunité de commenter les conclusions du Groupe.  

 

CDMC a déclaré au Groupe que les allégations de fraude étaient totalement infondées. Ils ont dit que toute 

tentative de fraude minière entre les concessions devrait être interceptée par la PMH sur la concession 

PE4731, ainsi que par la PMH qui était également, séparément, stationnée sur la concession PE76 apparte-

nant à SAKIMA SA. Ils ont déclaré que par le passé, du coltan du PE76 avait été commercialisé comme 

venant de PE4731.  Aujourd’hui le coltan acheté par CDMC à ses négociants et fournisseurs respectait l es 

exigences et les normes requises pour être commercialisé. 

L'ITA a déclaré au Groupe qu'elle ne disposait pas de preuves permettant d'étayer l'évaluation du Groupe 

selon laquelle COOPERAMMA, membre de l'ITSCI, effectuait de la contrebande de PE4731 à PE7 6 et qu'à 



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 175/369 

 

leur connaissance, la direction et le management de COOPERAMMA appliquaient actuellement une dili-

gence raisonnable appropriée, y compris la mise en œuvre de mesures d'atténuation des risques. TA a éga-

lement déclaré qu'à leur avis, des améliorations significatives avaient été obtenues, notamment en matière 

de transparence et de responsabilité des différents acteurs de la chaîne d'approvisionnement, et en ce qui 

concerne la réduction des risques de marquage des minéraux provenant de PE4731 sur les s ites ITSCI de 

PE76, et qu'en décembre 2020, ITA a encouragé les dirigeants de COOPERAMMA à rédiger une déclaration 

publique écrite confirmant qu'ils ne soutenaient pas les activités des groupes armés.  

ITA a également noté que « si les violations des droits de l'homme et les problèmes de sécurité sont à juste 

titre un sujet d'attention, des progrès notables et significatifs ont été accomplis depuis 2009. Les progrès 

comprennent une gouvernance améliorée, des statistiques et des informations améliorées, une c ommunica-

tion et une transparence accrues des risques, une compréhension généralisée de la diligence raisonnable et 

de l'atténuation, et de nombreux autres développements.  » 

L'ITA a ajouté que le service gouvernemental compétent, non le personnel de l'ITSCI , effectuait le mar-

quage.  ITA a également dit qu'il existait différents types de dépôts (de transit et de marquage) et que cela 

pouvait créer une confusion sur l'origine et le transport des sables minéralisés non étiquetés d'un dépôt à 

l'autre sur PE76; ce transport ne devrait pas être interprété à tort comme des minerais provenant de PE4731 

transportés vers des dépôts de la concession PE76 pour le marquage ITSCI.  

Seninga a déclaré au Groupe que les allégations de fraude minière entre concessions étaient f ausses et que 

de tels transferts étaient impossibles car la concession PE4731 appartenant à SMB était fortement gardée 

par la PMH et les Gardes industriels, et qu'il y avait des agents de l'État et des agents de Better Mines dans 

les sites pour superviser l'étiquetage des minérais, de sorte que la fraude n'était pas possible. 

La SOGECOM a déclaré qu'elle avait effectué plusieurs visites à Masisi pour vérifier la fourniture de son 

matériel au mieux de ses capacités, tout en utilisant également les informations de base et les rapports 

compilés par PACT/iTSCi. Elle a également déclaré que les dosages / qualités moyens de son minérai 

n’étaient pas d’un niveau extrêmement « élevé », et étaient différentes du minerai provenant de PE4731, et 

lorsque SOGCOM s’est vu offrir un tel minerai, elle l’a re jeté pour éviter de contribuer à tout conflit. 
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Annex 48 

Review of coltan production at sites on concession PE76 and concession PE4731, including company 
replies  
 
Bilan de la production de coltan sur les sites de la concession PE76 et de la concession PE4731, y 
compris les réponses des sociétés 
 

During the Group’s investigations, fifteen diggers and traders on concessions PE4731 and PE76 described cross -

concession mineral fraud during interviews that took place between December 2020 and March 2021. The G roup 

reviewed seven videos in which diggers on concessions PE76 and PE4731 spoke about mineral fraud they had seen 

or been involved in.  

 

In accordance with its mandate to evaluate the impact of minerals traceability schemes and the evolution of a 

responsible minerals trade in the Great Lakes region, and following events at Rubaya mines throughout 2020, the 

Group undertook an analysis of coltan production at sites around Rubaya. The Group is aware of commercial sen-

sitivities surrounding these sites, and focuses its analysis on assessment of whether cases of anomalous production 

are properly treated and addressed by companies and schemes monitoring the area’s supply chains, in accordance 

with responsible sourcing norms. 

 

In particular, the Group noted that almost all diggers interviewed by the Group or appearing in the video footages, 

who dug on the PE4731 concession witnessed or participated in cross-concession fraud. According to them, the 

fraud was largely motivated by very late payment of diggers by SMB for coltan that they deposited at SMB depots 

on concession PE4731. Diggers told the Group that they suffered delays in payment by SMB of up to nine months, 

which made living impossible, as they needed the money from the coltan sales to support their families . Many 

diggers also noted that SMB paid a lower price per kilo for coltan, than the price they could get by selling at sites 

or depots on concession PE76 concession, who also paid diggers promptly. This motivated diggers to try to sell 

their mineral elsewhere than to SMB. The Group has reported on this trend previously (see S/2020/482 paras. 102, 

103 and annexes 53 and 54). 

 

Au cours des enquêtes du Groupe, quinze creuseurs et négociants sur les concessions P E4731 et PE76 ont décrit 

des fraudes minières entre concessions, lors d'entretiens qui ont eu lieu entre décembre 2020 et mars 2021. Le 

Groupe a également examiné sept vidéos dans lesquelles des creuseurs sur les concessions PE76 et PE4731 ont 

parlé de fraude de minerais qu'ils avaient vue ou dans laquelle ils avaient été impliqués.  

 

Conformément à son mandat d'évaluation de l'impact des schémas de traçabilité des minerais  et de l'évolution d'un 

commerce de minerais responsable dans la région des Grands Lacs, et suite aux événements survenus dans les 

mines de Rubaya tout au long de 2020, le Groupe a réalisé une analyse de la production de coltan sur les sites 

autour de Rubaya. Le Groupe est conscient des sensibilités commerciales autour de ces sites et concentre son ana-

lyse afin d’évaluer si les cas de production anormale sont correctement identifiés et traités par les autorités, les 

entreprises et les systèmes de surveillance des chaînes d'approvisionnement de la zone, conformément aux normes 

d'approvisionnement responsable. 

 

En particulier, le Groupe a noté que presque tous les creuseurs interrogés par le Groupe, ainsi que dans les séquences 

vidéo que le Groupe a visionnées, les creuseurs artisanaux de la concession PE4731 ont été témoins ou ont participé 

à des fraudes. Selon eux, la fraude était largement motivée par le paiement très tardif des creuseurs par SMB pour 

le coltan qu'ils déposaient dans les dépôts de la SMB sur la concession PE4731. Les creuseurs ont déclaré au Groupe 

qu'ils avaient subi des retards de paiement de la part de SMB allant jusqu'à neuf mois, ce qui rendait leur vie 

impossible, car ils avaient besoin de l'argent des ventes de coltan pour subvenir aux  besoins de leurs familles. De 

nombreux creuseurs ont également noté que SMB payait un prix au kilo pour le coltan inférieur au prix qu'ils 

pouvaient obtenir en vendant sur les sites ou les dépôts de la concession PE76, qui payaient également les creuseurs  

rapidement. Cela a motivé les creuseurs d’essayer de vendre leur minerai ailleurs qu 'à la SMB. Le Groupe a déjà 

rendu compte de cette tendance (voir S/2020/482 par. 102, 103 et annexes 53 et 54).  

*** 

https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
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The Group therefore reviewed coltan production data from official mining services for 2017  until 2020 across both 

concessions (PE76 and PE4731) and found that the overall combined production volumes for both concessions 

remained relatively stable (see Graph 1, below).  

 

However, as Graph 1 also shows, the recorded origin of the coltan changed between 2017 and 2020. Whilst in 2017, 

the largest volume of coltan production was recorded from concession PE4731, by 2020 this had almost completely 

reversed. In 2020, official data recorded the majority of coltan as originating from concession PE76. One digger 

told the Group that he had moved from digging at Luwowo, on PE4731, to dig on the PE76 concession due to 

insecurity at Luwowo. However, the Group’s interviews and review of documentation did not indicate a whole-sale 

displacement of diggers from concession PE4731 to concession PE76 during this period.  

 

Le Groupe a donc examiné les données de production officielles de coltan des services miniers de 2017 à 2020 dans 

les deux concessions (PE76 et PE4731) et a constaté que les volumes de production comb inés globaux pour les 

deux concessions restaient relativement stables, voir le graphique 1 ci-dessous. 

 

Cependant, comme le montre également le graphique 1, l'origine enregistrée du coltan a changé entre 2017 et 2020. 

Alors qu'en 2017, le plus grand volume de la production de coltan était enregistré à partir de la concession PE4731, 

en 2020, cela s'était presque complètement inversé. En 2020, les données officielles ont enr egistré la majorité du 

coltan comme provenant de la concession PE76. Un creuseur a déclaré au Groupe qu'il avait quitté l’exploitation à 

Luwowo, sur PE4731, pour creuser sur la concession PE76 en raison de l'insécurité à Luwowo. Cependant, les 

entretiens du Groupe et l’examen de la documentation n’ont pas indiqué un déplacement à grande éc helle des 

creuseurs de la concession PE4731 vers la concession PE76 au cours de cette période.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Graph by the Group using official mining authority data 

Graphique réalisé par le Groupe sur base des données officielles des autorités miniè res 

 

*** 
The Group also reviewed the official coltan production data at three of the most productive mine sites located on 

concession PE76, which were Nyagisenyi, Mululu and Birambo. In 2020, Nyagisenyi was the most productive site 

on concession PE76, according to official mine site data. Mululu and Birambo were the third and fourth most 

productive sites, respectively. In total, the three sites produced over 55 percent of PE76 coltan in 2020.  

 

The Group then compared this to production information provided  by diggers and traders at those sites, as well as 

on-site videos and photographs, analysis of satellite and aerial imagery, and information from official MONUSCO 

sources. A summary of some of the data gathered is reflected in Table 1 below.  
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Graph 1: Coltan production at Rubaya mines 2017 - 2020

Graphique 1: production de coltan dans les mines de Rubaya 2017 - 2020  
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Le Groupe a aussi examiné les données officielles de production de coltan sur trois des sites miniers les plus pro-

ductifs de la concession PE76, à savoir Nyagisenyi, Mululu et Birambo. En 2020, Nyagisenyi était le site le plus 

productif de la concession PE76, selon les données officielles du site minier. Mululu et Birambo étaient respecti-

vement les troisième et quatrième sites les plus productifs. En total, les trois sites ont produit plus que 55 pourcent 

du coltan sur la concession PE76 en 2020. 

 

Le Groupe a ensuite comparé ces données aux informations de production fournies par les creuseurs et négociants 

sur ces sites, ainsi qu'aux vidéos et photographies sur place, à l'analyse d'images satellitaires et aériennes et aux 

informations provenant de sources officielles de la MONUSCO. Un résumé de certaines des données recueillies est 

présenté dans le tableau 1 ci-dessous. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 1: summary of information gathered by the Group comparing production and digger estimates  

*(based on interviews in December 2020, January and February 2021) 

Tableau 1: synthèse des informations recueillies par le Groupe comparant la production et les estimations des 

creuseurs *(basée sur des entretiens en décembre 2020, janvier et février 2021)  

 

 

Whilst the Group recognises that production at mine sites changes based on water supply, metal market prices, 

security and other fluctuating factors, the Group found that the information it gathered from eyewitnesses, who 

included diggers, local authorities and local traders, at the mine site s listed in the table, did not match the higher 

production volumes recorded by official mining authorities for digging at the sites. The Group also analysed satel-

lite imagery over a period of two years for the sites, and noted that the usual visible signs of mining activity, such 

as washing areas, huts and clearly used tracks to the sites, were not readily visible at Nyagisenyi, or at several other 

sites with high recorded production. 

 

For example, at Nyagisenyi, which recorded almost 210 tons of coltan pro duction during 2020, three independent 

sources, who were not linked to private sector actors, and who provided firsthand accounts of activity at the mine, 

estimated that between 70 and 150 diggers worked there during 2020. The Group also received multiple photo-

graphs of Nyagisenyi, for which the GPS coordinates matched those on the official validation documents for the 

sites, and observed that the site was alluvial, with very few diggers present. Three diggers and a trader who worked 

at the site described to the Group how most coltan was gleaned from tailings washed down river from sites further 

upstream. By way of comparison, the Group noted that Gakombe mine site, a well -established mine on PE4731 
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with many deep pits with around 1,000 diggers throughout 2020 according to two diggers at the site and an eye-

witness, recorded just over 99.6 tons of production for the same year.  

 

Bien que le Groupe reconnaisse que la production sur les sites miniers varie en fonction de l'approvisionnement en 

eau, des prix du marché des métaux, de la sécurité et d'autres facteurs de fluctuation, le Groupe a constaté que les 

informations recueillies auprès de témoins oculaires, qui comprenaient des creuseurs, des autorités locales et des 

commerçants locaux, dans les sites miniers répertoriés dans le tableau, ne correspondaient pas aux volumes de 

production plus élevés enregistrés par les autorités minières officielles pour creuser sur le sites.  

Le Groupe a également analysé les images satellitaires sur une période de deux ans pour les sites, et a noté que les 

signes visibles habituels d'activité minière, tels que les zones de lavage, les huttes et les pistes clairement utilisées 

vers les sites, n'étaient pas facilement visibles à Nyagisenyi, ou sur d’autres sites dont une hauss e de production a 

été enregistrée. 

 

Par exemple, à Nyagisenyi, qui a enregistré près de 210 tonnes de production de coltan en 2020, trois sources 

indépendantes, qui n'étaient pas liées à des acteurs du secteur privé, et qui ont fourni des comptes rendus de pre-

mière main sur l'activité de la mine, ont estimé entre 70 et 150 creuseurs le nombre y ont travaillé en 2020. Le 

Groupe a également reçu plusieurs photographies de Nyagisenyi, dont les coordonnées GPS correspondaient à 

celles des documents officiels de validation des sites, et a constaté que le site était alluvial, avec très peu de creu-

seurs présents. Trois creuseurs et un négociant qui travaillaient sur le site ont décrit au Groupe comment la plus 

grande partie du coltan était extraite des résidus rejetés en aval de la rivière à partir de sites plus en amont. À titre 

de comparaison, le Groupe a noté que le site minier de Gakombe, sur PE4731, une mine bien établie avec de 

nombreux puits profonds et avec environ 1000 creuseurs tout au long de 202 0, selon deux creuseurs sur le site et 

un témoin oculaire, a enregistré un peu plus de 99,6 tonnes de production pour la même année.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photograph of Nyagisenyi provided to the Group by an eyewitness, end February 2021  

Photographie de Nyagisenyi fournie au Groupe par un témoin oculaire, fin février 2021 

 

` 
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Photograph of Nyagisenyi provided to the Group by a UN source, January 2021  

Photographie de Nyagisenyi fournie au Groupe par une source de l’ONU, janvier 2021  

 

 

 

Google Earth image of Nyagisenyi, October 202071 

Image de Google Earth de Nyagisenyi, octobre 202072 

 

__________________ 

71 Using coordinates from official Government validation document https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-

content/uploads/documents/Arretes/2018/A0002_2018.pdf  
72 En utilisant les coordonnes d’un document officiel de validation du Gouvernement https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-

content/uploads/documents/Arretes/2018/A0002_2018.pdf  

https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/documents/Arretes/2018/A0002_2018.pdf
https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/documents/Arretes/2018/A0002_2018.pdf
https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/documents/Arretes/2018/A0002_2018.pdf
https://mines-rdc.cd/fr/wp-content/uploads/documents/Arretes/2018/A0002_2018.pdf


 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 181/369 

 

 

 

 

Comparison: Photograph of mining on PE4731 at 28° 52' 58,7" E , 1° 34' 15,3" S, January 2021,  

provided by a UN source 

Comparaison : Photographie du site minier sur PE4731 vers 28° 52' 58,7" E , 1° 34' 15,3" S, janvier 2021,  

fournie par une source de l’ONU 

 

 

*** 

 

The Group contacted Better Mining, CDMC, COOPERAMMA, ITA, SMB, SOGECOM Sarl, and SAKIMA SA for 

their responses to the Group’s findings about risks of cross-concession fraud. COOPERAMMA and SAKIMA SA 

had not replied by time of drafting. Better Mining requested that the Group keep their reply confidential, which is 

available to the Committee on request.  

 

The gist of CDMC, ITA, SMB and SOGECOM Sarl replies are included here.  

 

Le Groupe a contacté Better Mining, CDMC, COOPERAMMA, ITA, SMB, SOGECOM Sarl et SAKIMA SA afin 

d’obtenir leurs réponses aux conclusions du Groupe sur les risques de fraude entre conce ssions. COOPERAMMA 

et SAKIMA SA n'avaient pas répondu au moment de la rédaction du rapport. Better Mining a demandé au Groupe 

de garder sa réponse confidentielle, qui est à la disposition du Comité sur demande.  

 

L'essentiel des réponses CDMC, ITA, SMB et SOGECOM Sarl est inclus ici. 

 

CDMC response 

CDMC replied that the allegations of fraud were unfounded, and that such allegations only sought to tarnish the 

brand image of CDMC. CDMC also noted that until concession boundaries had been properly delimited and de-

marcated in 2018, SMB had encroached on concession PE76 belonging to SAKIMA SA for decades. Therefore, in 
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the eyes of CDMC, SMB had been trading SAKIMA SA coltan as its own, including until the concession boundaries 

were moved (see annex 42). 

 

CDMC further noted that the SMB electronic traceabil ity system, which according to SMB was very robust, and a 

very large staff of PMH members and Industrial Guards securing PE4731 meant that it should be impossible for 

mineral to leave that concession undetected. CDMC also noted that that SAKIMA SA had sign ed a guarding con-

tract with the Provincial Commissariat of the North Kivu National Police which seconded PMH members to secure 

PE76 and fight against mining fraud. CDMC also noted that the depots of Ngungu and Kibabi were at least 20 

kilometres from PE4731, which was very far from the concession and that minerals from PE4731 could only be 

sold on that concession, not at Ngungu and Kibabi.  

 

About Nyagisenyi, CDMC said that fluctuations in production were normal, especially after the 2018 concession 

re-demarcation, and that CDMC had invested in Bihula, Birambo, Mululu, Mutanga and Nyagisenyi mine sites to 

improve their productivity. CDMC said Nyagisenyi and Birambo had primary type and secondary deposits, and 

more than 400 diggers at each site. 

 

CDMC concluded that the coltan ores that CDMC bought from its suppliers therefore met the requirements and 

standards required to be marketed internationally.  

 

 

SOGECOM Sarl response 

SOGECOM Sarl told the Group that it had conducted 15 site visits to Rubaya mines betwe en March 2020 and 

2021, the reports of which SOGECOM Sarl shared with the Group. This included three reports of site visits to 

Nyagisenyi. These reports consistently estimated between 325 and 350 diggers at the site, and estimated typical 

monthly production between 15,500 kilos and 25,000 kilos. 

 

In its October 2020 site report, SOGECOM Sarl further noted that “after observation and survey of various subjects 

met, the Masisi conflict does not affect mining activities on PE76 of SAKIMA SA, all of the problem s (murders, 

shootings, torture) take place on concession PE4731”. The company noted that improved traceability established 

by iTSCi and the presence of state services on concession PE76 allowed them to confirm that their supply chain 

was not “infected” by minerals from PE4731, and that all their production came from PE76 accompanied with all 

the traceability documents required by the Congolese State.”  

 

SMB response 

SMB told the Group there was a “major problem regarding fraud” off their concession. SMB said  that SMB had an 

agreement with the government and national Police to deploy PMH on its perimeter to guard against fraud and 

other forms of criminality. SMB said that there was no controlling link between SMB and PMH. SMB also said 

that those exploiting minerals on the SMB concession had to sell their mineral to SMB. As such, the PMH located 

on the SMB perimeter ensured that once people left PE4731 to go to Rubaya, they did not carry minerals with them, 

otherwise they were arrested and the minerals were usually confiscated and returned to SMB. SMB added that most 

of the people arrested had committed fraud and that their minerals had been subsequently confiscated. Those ar-

rested were brought to an SMB depot where they were questioned. If the reason for them t o carry minerals was 

legitimate, the minerals were returned to them. SMB also said that it was working on paying its outstanding debts 

to diggers and that within a few weeks of their response to the Group, in April 2020, all debts would be paid.  

 

ITA response  

In its reply to the Group, ITA provided the following an overall comment that noted that the situation around 

Rubaya was highly complex, with rumours and misinformation prevailing for many years. ITA also said that mul-

tiple business and other vested interests significantly influenced ‘information’ on the situation and some sources 

that may appear credible, were not. ITA expressed particular concerns regarding the Group’s reading of dynamics 

on the ground, including about smuggling of significant volumes of coltan from PE4731 to PE76 for tagging. ITA 

noted that its efforts to improve traceability, due diligence and accountability were impeded at Rubaya, due to “the 

lack of positive engagement” by a stakeholder.  
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ITA also noted that in the past two years, miners left PE4731 and moved to PE76 where they had greater confidence 

in being paid on a timely basis. ITA added that the increase in the number of miners on PE76 was a significant 

factor impacting production plausibility on PE76. ITA noted that baselines are by their very nature estimates re-

flecting a particular time and that these were impacted by weather or seasonality, geological factors, cash availa-

bility, number of miners and so production may fluctuate daily, sometimes by significant amounts.  

 

ITA noted that Nyagisenyi “subsector” attracted a greater number of miners because alluvial mining was carried 

out which was easier for miners to mine, that the equatorial climate in Masisi territory resulted in elevated levels 

of erosion of primary deposits making rocks friable, that heavy rain and strong river flow further eroded mineralised 

ore in the valley, which deposited on the riverbed where miners could easily access the minerals and that although 

the minerals required several washing processes due to the high proportion of loamy soils, the availability of suf-

ficient water in the river to conduct washing resulted in high efficiency and productivity at the site. They also said 

that exploitation took place in the river which was relatively safer than on land where miners were at risk of pit 

collapses or landslides, that strong river flow during the rainy season resulted in significant sediment deposition on 

the riverbed, which facilitated the collection and washing of the ore contained in the sedimen ts, resulting in high 

productivity. They also said that production at Nyagisenyi was aligned with baseline estimates and ongoing assess-

ment by ITSCI field teams. 

 

Réponse de CDMC 

CDMC a répondu que les allégations de fraude n'étaient pas fondées et que ces  allégations ne visaient qu'à ternir 

l'image de CDMC. CDMC a également noté que jusqu'à ce que les limites des concessions aient été correctement 

déterminées et démarquées en 2018, SMB avait empiété sur la concession PE76 appartenant à SAKIMA SA pendant 

des décennies. Par conséquent, aux yeux de CDMC, SMB avait commercialisé le coltan de SAKIMA SA comme 

le sien, y compris jusqu'à ce que les limites de la concession soient déplacées (voir l'annexe 42).  

 

CDMC a en outre noté que le système de traçabilité électronique SMB, qui selon SMB était très robuste, et un 

personnel très important de membres de la PMH et de gardes industriels assurant la sécurité à PE4731 signifiait 

qu'il devrait être impossible pour le minéral de quitter cette concession sans être détect é. CDMC a noté également 

que SAKIMA SA a signé un contrat de gardiennage avec le Commissariat Provincial de la Police Nationale du 

Nord Kivu qui a détaché des membres de la PMH pour sécuriser PE76 et lutter contre la fraude minière.  CDMC a 

aussi noté que les dépôts de Ngungu et Kibabi étaient à au moins 20 kilomètres de PE4731, ce qui était très loin de 

la concession et que les minerais de PE4731 ne pouvaient être vendus que sur cette concession, pas à Ngungu et 

Kibabi. 

 

À propos de Nyagisenyi, CDMC déclaré que les fluctuations de production étaient normales, en particulier après 

la démarcation de la concession en 2018. En outre, CDMC avait investi dans les sites miniers de Bihula, Birambo, 

Mululu, Mutanga et Nyagisenyi pour améliorer leur productivité. CDM C a ajouté que Nyagisenyi et Birambo 

avaient des gisements de type primaire et secondaire, et plus de 400 creuseurs sur chaque site.  

 

CDMC a conclu que les minerais de coltan achetés par CDMC à ses fournisseurs répondaient donc aux exigences 

et aux normes requises pour être commercialisés à l'échelle internationale. 

 

Réponse de SOGECOM Sarl 

SOGECOM Sarl a indiqué au Groupe qu'elle avait effectué 15 visites de sites dans les mines de Rubaya entre mars 

2020 et 2021, dont la SOGECOM Sarl a partagé les informations avec le Groupe. Cela comprenait trois rapports 

de visites de sites à Nyagisenyi. Ces rapports estimaient systématiquement entre 325 et 350 creuseurs sur le site et 

une production mensuelle typiquement entre 15 500 et 25 000 kilos.  

 

Dans son rapport de visite de site d'octobre 2020, la SOGECOM Sarl notait entre outre qu '« après observation et 

enquête sur les différents sujets rencontrés, le conflit de Masisi n'affecte pas les activités minières sur PE76 de 

SAKIMA SA, tous les problèmes (meurtres, fusillades, torture) se déroulent sur la concession PE4731 ». La société 

a noté que l'amélioration de la traçabilité mise en place par iTSCi et la présence des services de l'État sur la con-

cession PE76 leur permettaient de confirmer que leur chaîne d'approvisionnement n'était pas « infectée » par des 

minerais de PE4731, et que toute leur production provenait de PE76 accompagnée de tous les documents de traça-

bilité requis par l’État congolais. » 
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Réponse de SMB 

SMB a déclaré au Groupe qu'il y avait un « problème majeur de fraude » des minéraux de sa concession. SMB a 

dit que SMB avait un accord avec le gouvernement et la police nationale pour déployer la PMH sur son périmètre 

pour se prémunir contre la fraude et d'autres formes de criminalité. SMB a dit qu'il n'y avait aucun lien de contrôle 

entre SMB et PMH. SMB a également déclaré que les exploitants de minerais sur la concession SMB devaient 

vendre leur minerai à SMB. Dès lors, la PMH située sur le périmètre de SMB veillait à ce qu'une fois que les gens 

quittaient PE4731 pour se rendre à Rubaya, ils ne transportaient pas de minéraux avec eux, sinon ils étaient arrêtés 

et les minéraux étaient généralement confisqués et renvoyés à SMB. SMB a ajouté que la plupart des personnes 

arrêtées avaient commis des fraudes et que leurs minerais avaient par la suite été confisqués. Les personnes arrêtées 

ont été conduites dans un dépôt de SMB où elles ont été interrogées. Si la raison pour laquelle ils transportaient 

des minerais était légitime, les minerais leur étaient restitués. SMB a également déclaré qu'elle travaillait au paie-

ment de ses dettes envers les creuseurs et que quelques semaines après leur réponse au Groupe, en avril 2020, 

toutes les dettes seraient payées. 

 

Réponse de ITA 

Dans sa réponse au Groupe, ITA a donné un commentaire général indiquant que la situation autour de Rubaya était 

extrêmement complexe, avec des rumeurs et des informations erronées qui prévalaient depuis de nombreuses an-

nées. ITA a également déclaré que les affaires multiples et d’autres intérêts particuliers influençaient considérable-

ment les « informations » sur la situation et que certaines sources qui pouvaient paraître crédibles ne l’étaient pas. 

ITA a exprimé des préoccupations particulières concernant la lecture par le Groupe de la d ynamique sur le terrain, 

y compris la contrebande de volumes importants de coltan du PE4731 au PE76 pour marquage. ITA a noté que ses 

efforts pour améliorer la traçabilité, la diligence raisonnable et la responsabilité étaient entravés à Rubaya, en raison 

du « manque d'engagement positif » d'une partie prenante. 

 

ITA a également noté qu'au cours des deux dernières années, les mineurs ont quitté le PE4731 et sont passés à 

PE76, où ils étaient plus confiants d'être payés en temps opportun. ITA a ajouté que l' augmentation du nombre de 

mineurs sur PE76 était un facteur important ayant un impact sur la plausibilité de la production sur PE76. 

ITA a noté que les valeurs de référence sont, de par leur nature même, des estimations reflétant un moment parti-

culier et qu'elles sont affectées par les conditions météorologiques ou la saisonnalité, des facteurs géologiques, la 

disponibilité des liquidités, le nombre de mineurs et que la production peut dès lors fluctuer quotidiennement, 

parfois de manière significative. 

 

ITA a noté que le « sous-secteur » de Nyagisenyi attirait un plus grand nombre de mineurs parce que l'exploitation 

minière alluviale était plus facile à réaliser pour les mineurs, que le climat équatorial dans le territoire de Masisi 

entraînait des niveaux élevés d'érosion des dépôts primaires rendant les roches friables, que de fortes pluies et un 

fort débit fluvial avait encore érodé le minerai minéralisé dans la vallée, qui s'est déposé sur le lit de la rivière où 

les mineurs pouvaient facilement accéder aux minéraux et que, bien que les minéraux aient nécessité plusieurs 

processus de lavage en raison de la forte proportion de sols limoneux, la disponibilité d'une quantité d’eau suffisante 

dans la rivière pour effectuer le lavage a entraîné une efficacité e t une productivité élevées sur le site. Ils ont 

également déclaré que l'exploitation avait lieu dans la rivière qui était relativement plus sûre que sur les terres où 

les mineurs étaient à risque de puits qui s’effondrent ou de glissements de terrain, que le fort débit de la rivière 

pendant la saison des pluies a entraîné un dépôt important de sédiments sur le lit de la rivière, ce qui a facilité la 

collecte et le lavage du minerai contenu dans les sédiments, résultant en une productivité élevée. Ils ont ég alement 

déclaré que la production à Nyagisenyi était alignée sur les estimations de base et l'évaluation continue par les 

équipes de terrain de l'ITSCI. 
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Annex 49 
 
Supply chain assessment and reporting by individuals, exporters and traders  
 
Évaluation de la chaîne d'approvisionnement et rapports de particuliers, des exportateurs et des 
commerçants 
 

In light of clashes and abuses at mines around Rubaya during 2020, and a body of evidence that suggests that these 

events may merit risk mitigation efforts from companies sourcing coltan from Masisi terri tory more broadly, the 

Group endeavoured to review available supply chain due diligence reports for individuals and companies buying 

or trading from Masisi’s mines. The Group was particularly mindful to underst and whether there was enough in-

formation about supply chain risk and risk mitigation plans provided by companies “upstream”, in Masisi territory 

and/or the DRC, to be useful to “downstream” companies that sought information about their supply chains and 

were engaged in responsible sourcing efforts therein.  

 

Chris Huber stated that he was not purchasing from Masisi or Rubaya’s coltan mines, and therefore questions about 

events in that area, or their supply chains, were not applicable to him. He also told the Group that he was not now, 

and never had been, a shareholder, officer or employee of CDMC and did not work now, nor had ever worked, for 

CDMC in any capacity, including consulting. Huber did not provide the Group with a reply to its question about 

his relationship with John Crawley.  

 

John Crawley had not responded to the Group by time of drafting. CDMC told the Group that Crawley had no 

organisational or managerial links to CDMC, only that CDMC was active on a concession owned by Crawley in 

Tanganyika province. The Group noted that according to 2020 publicly available company registration information, 

Crawley was the director (natural person) of East Rise Corporation Limited, a mineral trading company listed in 

Hong Kong. Until 2018, East Rise Corporation Limited traded coltan from Rubaya that came f rom Masisi territory, 

according to publicly available mining authority data. 

 

Star Dragon Corporation Ltd (Star Dragon), which pre-financed CDMC and traded its coltan during 2020, provided 

the Group with a copy of its 2020 supply chain due diligence report . In response to the Group’s questions about 

incidents at coltan mines around Rubaya, Star Dragon stated that when sourcing from conflict -affected and high-

risk areas it used the iTSCi incident and other iTSCi reports. It also checked mineral origin, and a pplied Know 

Your Counterparty checks and used a range of other published information about high-risk areas. Star Dragon added 

that iTSCi incident reports, media articles, finding of fact by various tribunals, as well as on the ground information 

that Star Dragon had received did not appear to confirm smuggling into PE76 from PE4731 and that there were no 

incident reports that concluded that machetes had been used for violence.  

 

Halcyon Inc, which traded coltan from SOGECOM Sarl during 2020, published a supply chain due diligence report73 that 

recorded seven of its own site visits during 2020, and use of iTSCi incident and monthly reports. In response to the Group’s 

questions about incidents at coltan mines around Rubaya, Halcyon Inc said it was engaged in proprietary ‘geoprinting’ 

efforts to ensure material origin was as stated on iTSCi documents, and was recording samples with a view to identifying 

any white collar risks in its supply chain. It added it was actively monitoring material grades, as a means of augmenting 

iTSCi due diligence efforts. It was taking steps towards “viabilisation of sites outside of PE76 to avoid any implication or 

damaging of its supply chain with specific security incidents, and that it “refused to purchase material from the nearest sites 

to PE4731, Mutang and Nyagisenyi - ensuring no purchases from neighbouring SMB sites. Finally, they noted that their 

supplier had carried out 15 proprietary site visits since February 2020 to Masisi. The company said it paid particular attention 

to iTSCi incident reporting of December 2020 which stated no direct link of armed groups to Cooperamma leadership, or 

bandits/militants and COOPERAMMA. 

 

The Group was unable to reach Jiujiang Jinxin Non-ferrous Metals Co. Ltd, Kalon Resources Limited and ChengDu 

Metallic Materials Co. Ltd, the companies who traded coltan from SMB during 2020, according to publicly avail-

able mining authority data. SMB told the Group that it would send these companies a copy of its supply chain due 

diligence report, a copy of which it also provided to the Group, in April 2020. 

__________________ 

73 https://www.itsci.org/company-annual-reports-public/  

https://www.itsci.org/company-annual-reports-public/
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ITA told the Group that it encouraged members to publish annual reports and offered the ITSCI website as a plat-

form since many ITSCI members did not have their own websites, however that “ITSCI does not eva luate, use or 

endorse any statements made in the annual reports of our members since we monitor the performance of companies 

on an on-going basis through a variety of other methods which provide greater detail and accuracy.”  

ITA disagreed with the Group’s expectation that company reports should refer to specific details of supplier’s 

incidents, in particular noting that supplier relationships were confidential and should not be made public.  

 

The Group notes that while it did not expect supplier information  to be published in reports, it considered that 

companies should be able to provide sufficient detail about specific supply chain risks to be able to demonstrate 

mitigation and progress over time. 

 

Suite aux affrontements et abus dans les mines autour de Rubaya en 2020, et d'un ensemble de preuves suggérant 

que ces événements pourraient impacter des efforts d'atténuation des risques pour les entreprises qui s'approvision-

nent en coltan à Masisi de manière plus générale, le Groupe s'est efforcé d'examiner les  rapports de diligence 

raisonnable de la chaîne d'approvisionnement disponibles pour les individus et les entreprises qui achetaient ou 

faisaient du commerce dans les mines du territoire de Masisi. Le Groupe a porté un attention toute particulière à 

comprendre s'il y avait suffisamment d'informations sur les risques de la chaîne d'approvisionnement et les plans 

d'atténuation des risques fournis par les entreprises « en amont », dans le territoire de Masisi et/ou en RDC, pour 

être utiles aux entreprises « en aval » qui cherchaient des informations sur leurs chaînes d'approvisionnement et 

étaient engagées dans des efforts d'approvisionnement responsable.  

 

Chris Huber a déclaré qu’il n’achetait pas aux mines de coltan de Masisi ou de Rubaya et que, par conséque nt, les 

questions sur les événements dans cette région ou leurs chaînes d’approvisionnement ne lui étaient pas applicables. 

Il a également indiqué au Groupe qu'il n'était pas actuellement, et n'avait jamais été, actionnaire, dirigeant ou 

employé de CDMC et qu'il ne travaillait pas maintenant, ni n'avait jamais travaillé, pour CDMC à quelque titre que 

ce soit, y compris de conseil. Huber n'a pas répondu à la question du Groupe sur sa relation avec John Crawley.  

 

John Crawley n'avait pas répondu au Groupe au moment de la rédaction du rapport. CDMC a déclaré au Groupe 

que Crawley n'avait aucun lien d'organisation ou de gestion au sein de CDMC et que CDMC était uniquement actif 

sur une concession appartenant à Crawley dans la province du Tanganyika. Le Groupe a noté que selon les infor-

mations d'enregistrement de la société accessibles au public en 2020, Crawley était le directeur (personne physique) 

d'East Rise Corporation Limited, une société de négoce de minéraux basée à Hong Kong. Jusqu'en 2018, East Rise 

Corporation Limited commercialisait du coltan de Rubaya en provenance de Masisi, selon les données des autorités 

minières accessibles au public. 

 

Star Dragon Corporation Ltd (Star Dragon), qui a préfinancé CDMC et a fait le commerce de coltan en 2020, a 

fourni au Groupe une copie de son rapport de devoir de diligence sur la chaîne d'approvisionnement pour l’année 

2020. En réponse aux questions du Groupe sur les incidents dans les mines de coltan autour de Rubaya, Star Dragon 

a déclaré que lors de l'approvisionnement dans des zones de conflit et à haut risque, il utilisait les rapports d’inci-

dents d’iTSCi et d'autres rapports iTSCi. Star Dragon a aussi vérifié l'origine des minéraux, utilisé les vérifications 

de Know Your Counterparty et aussi utilisé une série d 'autres informations publiées sur les zones à haut risque. 

Star Dragon a ajouté que les rapports d'incidents iTSCi, les articles dans les médias, les conclusions de fait par 

divers tribunaux, ainsi que les informations de terrain que Star Dragon avait reçu es ne semblaient pas confirmer la 

contrebande vers PE76 à partir de PE4731 et qu'il n'y avait pas de rapports d'incidents concluant que des machettes 

avaient été utilisées de façon violente. 

 

Halcyon Inc, qui a négocié le coltan de SOGECOM Sarl en 2020, a publié un rapport de diligence raisonnable de 

la chaîne d'approvisionnement qui mentionne sept de ses propres visites sur site en 2020, et l'utilisation des rapports 

d'incidents et mensuels des membres de l'iTSCi. En réponse aux questions du Groupe sur les  incidents dans les 

mines de coltan autour de Rubaya, Halcyon Inc. a déclaré qu'elle était engagée dans des efforts de ``géo -empreinte 

'' pour s'assurer que l'origine des matériaux était telle  qu'indiquée sur les documents iTSCi, et enregistrait des 

échantillons en vue d'identifier tout risque économique dans sa chaîne d'approvisionnement. Il a ajouté qu'il 
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surveillait activement les qualités des matériaux, afin d'augmenter les efforts de dilig ence raisonnable d’'iTSCi. Il 

prenait des mesures pour «viabiliser des sites en dehors de PE76 pour éviter toute implication ou endommagement 

de sa chaîne d'approvisionnement avec des incidents de sécurité spécifiques. Il « a refusé d'acheter du matériel d es 

sites les plus proches de PE4731, de Mutanga et Nyagisenyi – pour garantir aucun achat auprès de sites voisins de 

SMB ». Enfin, la société a noté que leur fournisseur avait effectué 15 visites de sites propriétaires depuis février 

2020 à Masisi. La société a déclaré qu'elle accordait une attention particulière aux rapports d'incident d’'iTSCi de 

décembre 2020, qui n'indiquaient aucun lien direct entre les groupes armés et les dirigeants de COOPERAMMA, 

ou les bandits/militants et COOPERAMMA. 

 

Le Groupe n'a pas pu joindre Jiujiang Jinxin Non-ferrous Metals Co.Ltd, Kalon Resources Limited et ChengDu 

Metallic Materials Co. Ltd, les sociétés qui ont acheté du coltan auprès de SMB en 2020, selon les données pu-

bliques des autorités minières. SMB a indiqué au Groupe qu'elle enverrait courant avril 2020, à ces sociétés, une 

copie de son rapport de devoir de diligence de la chaîne d'approvisionnement, dont elle a également fourni une 

copie au Groupe. 

 

ITA a déclaré au Groupe qu'il encourageait ses membres à publier des rapports annuels et offrait le site Web de 

l'ITSCI comme plateforme puisque de nombreux membres de l' ITSCI n'avaient pas leur propre site Web, mais que 

« l'ITSCI n'évalue, n'utilise ni n'approuve les déclarations faites dans les rapports annuels de nos  membres, car nous 

surveillons en permanence les performances des entreprises grâce à diverses autres méthodes qui fournissent plus 

de détails et de précision. » 

 

ITA n’était pas d’accord avec l’attente du Groupe selon laquelle les rapports des sociétés de vraient se référer à des 

détails spécifiques des incidents des fournisseurs, en notant en particulier que les relations avec les fournisseurs 

étaient confidentielles et ne devraient pas être rendues publiques.  

 

Le Groupe note que s'il ne s'attend pas à ce que les informations sur les fournisseurs soient publiées dans des 

rapports, il estimée que les entreprises devraient être en mesure de fournir suffisamment de détails sur les risques 

spécifiques de la chaîne d'approvisionnement pour pouvoir démontrer les mesures d'atténuation et les progrès au 

fil du temps. 

 

  



S/2021/560 
 

 

188/369 21-06047 

 

Annex 50 

 

Coltan fraud 

Fraude de coltan 
 

 

Below, a judicial document confirming the arrest of a suspect with 9.4 kilogrammes of coltan. According to sources 

with knowledge of the matter, smugglers adopted a system of concealing smaller quantities of coltan to avo id 

incurring heavy losses if arrested. Done frequently, they would eventually accumulate large quantities, according 

to the source. 

 

Ci-dessous, un document judiciaire confirmant l'arrestation d'un suspect avec 9,4 kilogrammes de coltan. Selon des 

sources au courant de la question, les passeurs ont adopté un système de dissimulation de plus petites quantités de 

coltan pour éviter de subir de lourdes pertes en cas d'arrestation. Réal isé fréquemment, ils finiraient par accumuler 

de grandes quantités, selon la source.  

 

 

Documents provided to the Group by North Kivu mining authorities 

Documents fournis au Groupe par les autorités minières du Nord Kivu   
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Annex 51 
 

Mineral smuggling route from North Kivu to South Kivu 
 
Route de contrebande de minerais du Nord Kivu au Sud Kivu 
 

 

Five South Kivu mining authorities informed the Group that they were aware of cross-province fraud of tin, tanta-

lum, tungsten from North Kivu. Three North Kivu mining authorities also confirmed this to the Group, adding that 

the smugglers from North Kivu used the route that links Walikale to Bukavu via the towns of Nyabiondo, Masisi, 

Rubaya, Lumbishi, Numbi, Kalungu, Nyabibwe, Nyamukubi, Katana, Kabamba, Kavumu, Bukavu.  

 

The Group heard the same for gold, and that this was caused by the availability of gold comptoirs in Bukavu, which 

were not available in Goma, and the better prices that Bukavu offered.  

 

Cinq autorités minières du Sud Kivu ont informé le Groupe qu'elles étaient au courant de la contrebande entre les 

provinces d'étain, de tantale, de tungstène en provenance du Nord Kivu. Trois autorités minières du Nord Kivu l'ont 

également confirmé au Groupe, ajoutant que les passeurs du Nord-Kivu empruntaient la route qui relie Walikale à 

Bukavu via les villes de Nyabiondo, Masisi, Rubaya, Lumbishi, Numbi, Kalungu, Nyabibwe, Nyamukubi, Katana, 

Kabamba, Kavumu, Bukavu. 

 

Le Groupe a été informé du même processus pour l’or, et que cela était dû à l a disponibilité de comptoirs d'or à 

Bukavu, contrairement à Goma, et de meilleurs prix offerts à Bukavu. 
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Annex 52 

Untagged coltan transported by fraud from North Kivu and South Kivu 

Coltan non étiqueté transporté frauduleusement du Nord Kivu et du Sud Kivu 

 

Photographs of untagged coltan in small bags of 10-20 kilograms stocked by unregistered traders in Kalungu, 

Kalehe territory. Four traders informed the Group that they bought untagged coltan from idividuals coming from 

across North and South Kivu mine sites, and either sold it to traders from Rwanda across Lake Kivu, or to traders 

coming from Bukavu. 

Photographies de coltan non étiqueté dans de petits sacs de 10 à 20 kilogrammes stockés par des commerçants non 

enregistrés à Kalungu, dans le territoire de Kalehe. Quatre commerçants ont informé le Groupe qu'ils achetaient du 

coltan non étiqueté à des personnes originaires de sites miniers du Nord et du Sud Kivu, et les vendaient soit à des 

commerçants du Rwanda via le lac Kivu, soit à des commerçants venant de Bukavu. 

 

 

  

Photograph taken by the Group in Kalehe territory in February 2021  

    Photographie prise par le Groupe dans le territoire de Kalehe en février 2021 
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Annex 53 

 

Excerpts of interviews with mineral smugglers, smuggling from Kalehe territory, South Kivu, to 

Rwanda via Lake Kivu 

 

Extraits d'entretiens avec des trafiquants de minerais, faisant de la contrebande depuis le territoire 

de Kalehe, Sud Kivu, vers le Rwanda via le Lac Kivu 

 

Interview One 

Location: Kalehe territory  

A: Is it possible to smuggle minerals to Rwanda at certain times?  

B: Yes 

B: I told this young boy to inform the commander of the naval force 

B: This operation concerns the captain and the owner of the canoe.  

A: We must involve the marine commander in this matter! 

B: Yes 

A: We explain how it will be 

B: And we only need security 

A: Once we are secure 

B: We can leave during the night 

A: Since this is a fraud, the trafficking can only happen overnight.  

B: So, you have a canoe? 

A: Yes, indeed 

B: How should we proceed? 

A: Is it from here to Idjwi or is it directly to Rwanda? 

B: It depends from one person to another 

 

Location : Territoire de Kalehe 

A : Est-ce qu'il est possible de trafiquer les minerais vers le Rwanda en temps opportun?  

B : Oui 

B : J'avais dit à ce jeune garçon qu'il faut informer le commandant de la force navale  

B : Cette opération concerne le commandant et le propriétaire de la pirogue. 

A: Il faut impliquer le commandant naval dans ce dossier!  

B : Oui 

A : On explique comment cela va se passer 

B : Et on a besoin seulement de sécurité 

A: Une fois qu’on est sécurisé 

B : Peut-on partir pendant la nuit ? 

A : Comme il s ’agit d’une fraude, le trafic ne peut que se faire pendant la nuit. 

B : Donc toi tu as une pirogue? 

A : Oui, en effet 

B : Comment est-ce qu'il faut procéder? 

A : C'est à partir d'ici jusqu'à Idjwi ou bien c'est directement au Rwanda?  

B : Ça dépend d'une personne à une autre  

 

Interview Two 

Location: Kalehe Territory 

A: How did he get these minerals to Rwanda? 

B: Currently cassiterite is worthless. 

A: Ok 

B: We buy according to the instructions of our sponsor [in Rwanda]  

A: Ok 



S/2021/560 
 

 

192/369 21-06047 

 

B: If he told the person to buy at 8000FC, he buys at 6000FC because currently 1kilogram is worth 

5000FC. 

A: Ok 

B: To be flexible 

A: Ok 

B: And the frauders don't stop with their activities. 

Location : Territoire de Kalehe 

A : Comment est-ce qu'il faisait passer ces minéraux au Rwanda? 

B : Actuellement la cassitérite ne vaut rien. 

A : Ok 

B : On achète selon les directives de notre sponsor [au Rwanda]  

A : Ok 

B : S'il lui a dit d'acheter à 8000FC, il achète à 6000FC comme actuellement 1kg vaut 5000FC.  

A : Ok 

B : Pour être souple 

A: Ok 

B: Et les fraudeurs ne cessent pas avec leurs activités. 

 

Interview Three 

 

Location: Kalehe territory 

A: Now, compared to the Lake circuit 

B: Ok 

A: Do you know a bit about this practice? 

B: On the lake? 

A: Yes 

B: About trafficking them? 

A: Yes, trafficking them 

B: So fraud? 

A: Yes indeed 

B: You see, there is our friend who traffics them [the minerals] at Nyabibwe  

A: Ok 

[...] 

B: Because it is Rwandans who use these kinds of boats a lot  

A: Indeed, even that one which you see here, it belongs to the people of G isenyi, Rwanda. 

B: This is how they cross to Rwanda and no one controls them 

A: No one 

 

Location : Territoire de Kalehe  

A : Maintenant, par rapport au circuit du Lac 

B : Ok 

A : Est-ce que tu connais un peu cette pratique?  

B : Sur le Lac? 

A : Oui 

B : Pour les trafiquer? 

A : Oui, les trafiquer 

B : Donc frauder? 

A : Oui, en effet 

B : Tu vois, il y a notre ami qui les trafique[les minerais] à Nyabibwe  

A : Ok 

[...] 

B : Puisque ce sont des Rwandais qui utilisent beaucoup ce genre de bateaux   

A : Effectivement, même celui que tu vois ici, il appartient aux gens de Gisenyi, Rwanda 

B : C'est ainsi qu'ils traversent jusqu'au Rwanda et personne ne les contrôlent.  

A : Personne 
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Annex 54 
 
Maps of location of 22 February 2021 incident : ambush, kidnapping and killings of WFP and 
diplomatic staff 
 
Cartes du lieu de l’incident du 22 février 2021 : embuscade, kidnapping et meurtres de personnel 
diplomatique et du PAM 
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Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

 

Fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet 
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Annex 55 
 
Government communiqué on the 22 February 2021 attack 
 
Communiqué du Gouvernement au sujet de l’attaque du 22 février 2021 
 
 

 
                      Provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

 

                 Fourni au Groupe par une source familière de la question  
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Annex 56 
 
Killings of ICCN eco-guards and weapons’ robberies by armed groups 
Figures on 2020 and 2021 deadly attacks against ICCN eco-guards in North Kivu  
 
Meurtres d’éco-guardes de l’ICCN et vols d’armement par les groupes armés  
Données sur les attaques meurtrières de 2020 et 2021 contre les éco-gardes au Nord Kivu 
 
 
 

 Date  Location ICCN 

casualties/pertes 

humaines ICCN 

Presumed 

assailants/assaillants 

présumés 

Lost 

weapons/armes 

perdues 

1 3 March/mars 

2020 

Nyamilima 1 Mai-Mai  None/aucune 

2 24 April/avril 

2020 

Rumangabo 13 FDLR-FOCA 1 PKM 

14 AK-type 

assault rifles/14 

fusils d’assault de 

type AK 

 

3 11 

Octobre/octobre 

2020 

Sarambwe 1 FDLR-RUD 2 AK-type assault 

rifles/ 2 fusils 

d’assault de type 

AK 

4 10 

Janaury/janvier 

2021 

Niamitwitwi  6 Mai-Mai Jackson 1 PKM 

5 AK-type assault 

rifles/5 fusils 

d’assault de type 

AK  

 

 

 

Information provided to the Group by ICCN and military justice sources 

 

Information fournie par des sources ICCN et des sources de la justice militaire 

 

*** 
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Map indicating the areas of the four deadly attacks in North Kivu in 2020 and 2021,  

along the RN2 Goma-Beni axis.  

 

Carte indiquant les zones des quatre attaques meurtrières dans le Nord Kivu en 2020 et 2021,  

le long de l'axe RN2 Goma-Beni 
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Annex 57 
 
Press release of Virunga National Park relating to the 10 January 2021 ambush  
 
Communiqué de presse du Parc National des Virunga, concernant l’embuscade du 10 janvier 2021  
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Provided to the Group  by the Virunga National Park 

 

Fourni au Groupe par le Parc national du Virunga 
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Annex 58 

 

Photographs of Mai-Mai combatants provocatively showing two PKM machine guns robbed from killed 

ICCN eco-guards during the 10 January 2021 ambush  

 

Photographies de combattants Mai-Mai montrant de manière provovative deux mitrailleuses PKM vo-

lées aux écogardes de l’ICCN, tués lors de l'embuscade du 10 janvier 2021 
 

 

 
 

Photographs received from an ICCN source on 24 March 2021 

 

Photographies reçues d’une source ICCN le 24 mars 2021 
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Annex 59 
 

Additional elements on the 10 January 2021 killing of the ICCN eco-guards and Mai-Mai Jackson  
 
Élements complémentaires concernant la mort des écogardes de l’ICCN et Mai-Mai Jackson 
 
Mai-Mai leader Kambale Muhukambuto Jackson was based in Chanika along the northern shore of the Lake Edward 

at the time of the ambush. Kadimanche, also a Mai-Mai combatant, was seconded by a certain Luala, and responded 

directly to Mai-Mai Jackson.  

 

The Group interviewed another Mai-Mai combatant, who was arrested by ICCN in relation to the attack, when 

riding on a motorcycle from Nyakakoma (along the eastern shore of the Lake Edward, Rutshuru territory) to 

Nyamilima. The combatant explained that Kadimanche was in charge of one Mai-Mai group that was illegally 

fishing in Lake Edward, and of another group that was regularly sent out to destroy the electric fence and other 

infrastructures set up by ICCN to protect the Virunga National Park.  

 

He said that he was part of the illegal fishery group, and so had not been present when the attack on ICCN took 

place. He attributed his wounds to shots received from legal fishers on 13 January 2021, the day of his arrest. He 

also said that during the shooting, another i llegal fisher Mai-Mai combatant got killed. The Group could however 

not find any records of any single shooting event or a dead body between 11 and 13 January 2021. ICCN informed 

the Group that prior to the Mai-Mai’s arrest, ICCN had received information as to his implication in the murder of 

the eco-guards.  

 

 

Le chef Mai-Mai Kambale Muhukambuto Jackson était basé à Chanika le long de la côte nord du Lac Édouard au 

moment de l'embuscade. Kadimanche, un combattant Mai-Mai, était appuyé par un certain Luala, et répondait alors 

directement à Mai-Mai Jackson.  

 

Le Groupe a interviewé un autre combattant Mai-Mai arrêté par l’ICCN, alors qu’il était à moto sur la route de 

Nyakakoma (le long de la côte orientale du Lac Édouard, dans le territoire de Rutshuru) à Ny amilima. Il a expliqué 

que Kadimanche était responsable d'un groupe Mai-Mai de pêcheurs illégaux sur le Lac Edouard, ainsi que d’un 

autre groupe qui était régulièrement envoyé pour détruire les clôtures électriques et autres infrastructures créées 

par l’ICCN, afin de protéger le Parc National des Virunga.  

 

Le combattant Mai-Mai a affirmé au Groupe qu'il se trouvait avec l’équipe de pécheurs illégaux et qu’il n’était 

donc pas présent lors de l'attaque contre l’ICCN. Il a attribué ses blessures à des tirs de  pêcheurs légaux le 13 

janvier 2021, le jour de son arrestation. Il a également affirmé que lors de cette fusillade, un autre pécheur illégal 

et combattant Mai-Mai avait été tué. Le Groupe n’a toutefois pas été en mesure de trouver mention d'un événement 

de fusillade ou de la découverte d’un cadavre entre les 11 et 13 janvier 2021. L’ICCN a informé le Groupe qu'avant 

l'arrestation du combattant Mai-Mai, l’ICCN avait reçu des informations quant à son implication dans le meurtre 

des écogardes.  
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Annex 60 
 
UDRPC/CODECO list of demands 
  
Cahier des charges de l’URDPC/CODECO 
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Document provided to the Group by URDPC/CODECO leadership 

Document fourni au Groupe par les dirigeants de l’URDPC/CODECO 
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Annex 61 

 

ADRPC/CODECO list of demands 
  
Cahier des charges de l’ARDPC/CODECO 
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Document provided to the Group by ARDPC/CODECO leadership 

Document fourni au Groupe par les dirigeants de l’ARDPC/CODECO 
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Annex 62 
 
Photograph of URDPC/CODECO leaders Basa Zukpa Guershom and Désiré Londroma Njukpa, 
alias Désiré Lokana Lokanza 
 
Photographie des leaders de URDPC/CODECO Basa Zukpa Guershom et Désiré Londroma 
Njukpa, alias Désiré Lokana Lokanza 
 
 

URDPC/CODECO leadership remained unchanged (see S/2020/1283, annex 21). Below, a photograph of Patrick 

Basa Zukpa Guershom, in charge of communication (on the left), and Désiré Londroma Njukpa, alias Désiré Lo-

kana Lokanza, in charge of defense (on the right). 

Le leadership de l’URDPC/CODECO est resté inchangé (voir S/2020/1283, annexe 21). Ci-dessous, une photo-

graphie de Patrick Basa Zukpa Guershom, chargé de communication (à gauche), et Désiré Londroma Njukpa, alias 

Désiré Lokana Lokanza, chargé de défense (à droite).  

 

` 

Photograph taken in Ala, Walendu Pitsi, on 4 February 2020 and provided to the Group by the URDPC/CODECO 

leadership. The Group had met both men in Jiba, Walendu Pitsi, on 1 February 2021. 

Photographie prise à Ala, Walendu Pitsi, le 4 février 2020 et fournie au Groupe par les dirigeants de 

l’URDPC/CODECO. Le Groupe avait rencontré les deux hommes à Jiba, Walendu Pitsi, le 1ier février 2021. 

  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/1283
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Annex 63 
 
Leadership and position of ARDPC/CODECO and collaboration with FARDC 
 
Dirigeants et localisation de l’ARDPC/CODECO et collaboration avec les FARDC  
 

Until they were chased from Ala, Walendu Pitsi, in early December 2020 by URDPC/CODECO (see annex 66), 

ARDPC/CODECO were positioned in Sanduku, Walendu Pitsi. The Group, which met ARPDC/CODECO leaders 

in Sanduku on 30 January 2021, confirmed that their position was just a few hundreds meters away from an FARDC 

camp.  

“General” Ngabu Ngawe Olivier, alias Songa Mbele, and “Colonel” Rr’dja Kpalo Deogratias remained 

ARDPC/CODECO leaders. The armed group comprised also Maki Mombi Christian, the administrative secretary, 

“Commandant” Diego Kao Jeremy, “Lieutenant” Jonas Lungiriga, “First-Lieutenant” Ngabu Pascal, “Adjudant” 

Nguza Lopa, and “Sous-Adjudant” Ngato Lopali. ARDPC/CODECO leaders told the Group that they initially had 

135 combatants, but that they had only 71 left at the time of meeting with the Group since combatants were progres-

sively leaving out of hunger. They claimed to have only five AK-type rifles, two PMKs and two rocket launchers 

left (the Group saw at least five AK-type riffles carried by drunk combatants mixed with civilians in Sanduku). 

ARDPC/CODECO leaders explained to the Group that they had first split from URDPC/CODECO on 2 January 

2020, while they were all pre-cantoned in Rethy, near Kpandroma, Walendu Pitsi (see S/2020/1283, annex 21). 

ARDPC/CODECO leaders told the Group that they disagreed with the URDPC/CODECO practice of killing civil-

ians and its decision to leave the pre-cantonment site.  

URDPC/CODECO leaders confirmed the circumstances of the split, but blamed ARDPC/CODECO for civilian kill-

ings. Local notables and two lendu sources said that ARPDC/CODECO collaborated with FARDC since the split 

with URDPC/CODECO and were involved in looting with FARDC in Linga and Buba groupements (see para. 115). 

The ARDPC/CODECO request to be paid for having jointly conducted operations with FARDC to “neutralize 

CODECO” (see annex 64), confirms their collaboration. 

 

Après que l’URDPC/CODECO l’ait chassé de Ala, Walendu Pitsi, début décembre 2020 (voir annexe 66), 

l’ARDPC/CODECO s’est établi à Sanduku, Walendu Pisti. Le Groupe, qui a rencontré les dirigeants de 

l’ARDPC/CODECO à Sanduku le 30 janvier 2021, a confirmé que leur position était à seulement quelques centaines 

de mètres d’un camp FARDC. 

Le “Général” Ngabu Ngawe Olivier, alias Songa Mbele, et le “Colonel” Rr’dja Kpalo Deogratias étaient toujours 

les dirigeants de l’ARDPC/CODECO. Le groupe armé comprenait aussi Maki Mombi Christian, le secrétaire admi-

nistratif, et les “Commandant” Diego Kao Jeremy, “Lieutenant” Jonas Lungiriga, “Premier-Lieutenant” Ngabu Pas-

cal, “Adjudant” Nguza Lopa, et “Sous-Adjudant” Ngato Lopali. Les dirigeants de l’ARDPC/CODECO ont dit au 

Groupe qu’ils avaient initialement 135 combattants, mais qu’ils n’en avaient plus que 71 au moment de la réunion 

avec le Groupe, car les combattants partaient, poussés par la faim. Ils ont affirmé avoir seulement cinq fusils d’assaut 

de type AK, deux PKMs et deux lance-roquettes (le Groupe a vu au moins cinq fusils d’assaut de type AK portés 

par des combattants ivres au milieu des civils à Sanduku). 

Les dirigeants de l’ARDPC/CODECO ont expliqué au Groupe qu’ils se sont séparés de l’URDPC/CODECO le 2 

janvier 2020, alors qu’ils étaient tous pré-cantonnés à Rethy, près de Kpandroma, Walendu Pitsi (see S/2020/1283, 

annex 21). Les dirigeants de l’ARDPC/CODECO ont expliqué au Groupe qu’ils étaient en désaccord avec la pratique 

de l’URDPC/CODECO de tuer des civils et leur décision de quitter le site de pré-cantonnement. 

Les dirigeants de l’URDPC/CODECO ont confirmé les circonstances de la rupture, mais ont accusé 

l’ARDPC/CODECO de tuer les civils. Des notables locaux et deux sources lendu ont dit que l’ARDPC/CODECO 

collaborait avec les FARDC depuis leur rupture d’avec l’URDPC/CODECO et était impliqué dans les pillages dans 

les groupements de Linga et Buba (voir par. 115). La demande de l’ARDPC/CODECO d’être payé pour avoir « exé-

cuté en communion avec la FARDC (sic) » la « neutralisation » de CODECO (voir annexe 64), confirme leur colla-

boration. 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Below, two photographs of Ngabu Ngawe Olivier, alias Songa Mbele (holding a hand-gun and with a knee on the 

ground in the second photograph) 

Ci-dessous, deux photographies de Ngabu Ngawe Olivier, alias Songa Mbele (il tient une arme de poing et à un 

genou à terre sur la deuxième photographie) 

 

 

 

 

Photographs provided to the Group by a source from the civil society. The Group met the ARDPC/CODECO 

leadership on 30 January 2021. 

Photographies fournies pat une source de la société civile au Groupe. Le Groupe a rencontré les dirigeants de 

l’ARDPC/CODECO le 30 janvier 2021. 
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Annex 64 
 
Taxation by CODECO factions and parallel justice system 
 
Taxes imposées par les factions CODECO et système de justice parallèle 
 
 
All sources stated that URDPC/CODECO, ALC/CODECO, ARDPC/CODECO and FDBC imposed taxes on the 

population (see also S/2020/1283, annex 21; S/2019/974, para. 91 and annex 30). They forcibly collected taxes at 

checkpoints on roads, at markets and from merchants and businessmen as well as monthly taxes per adult and per 

village in areas under their control. Payment could sometimes be made in cash or in kind.  

 

Taxation on roads in Djugu territory multiplied from the end of 2020. For instance, URDPC/CODECO set up a 

roadblock between Libi and Dhera, on the RN27 road, a key Ituri lifeline connecting Bunia to Uganda. They gave 

tokens (jetons) as proof of payment of the taxes (see below photographs of jetons). Motorbikes paid between 500 

and 1,000 CFD, vehicles between 2,000 and 5,000 CFD and trucks 10,000 CFD.  The Group observed small road-

blocks manned by URDPC/CODECO combatants at the entrances of Bali and Ala, Walendu Pitsi, in early February 

2021. 

 

Toutes les sources ont affirmé que l’URDPC/CODECO, l’ALC/CODECO, l’ARDPC/CODECO et la FDBC impo-

saient des taxes à la population (voir aussi S/2020/1283, annexe 21; S/2019/974, par. 91 et annexe 30). Ils ont 

collecté, de manière forcée, des taxes aux barrages sur les routes, aux marchés et auprès des marchands et des 

hommes d’affaires ainsi que des taxes mensuelles par adulte et par v illage dans les zones sous leur contrôle. Le 

paiement pouvait parfois être fait en espèces ou en nature.  

 

La taxation sur les routes du territoire de Djugu s’est multipliée à partir de la fin de 2020. L’URDPC/CODECO a 

notamment établi un barrage entre Libi et Dhera, sur la route RN27, un axe essentiel qui relie Bunia à l’Ouganda. 

Ils ont donné des reçus (jetons) comme preuves de paiement des taxes (voir ci -dessous les photographies des je-

tons). Les motos payaient entre 500 et 1 000 CFD, les véhicules entre 2 000 et 5 000 CFD et les camions 10 000 

CFD. Le Groupe a observé de petits barrages tenus par des combattants de l’URDPC/CODECO aux entrées de Bali 

and Ala, Walendu Pitsi, début janvier 2021. 

 

 

 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://www.undocs.org/S/2019/974
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://www.undocs.org/S/2019/974
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Photographs provided to the Group by several sources 

Photographies fournies au Groupe par plusieurs sources 

 

 

One Lendu source explained that URDPC/CODECO had signed an agreement with the Fédération des entreprises 

du Congo (FEC) in Kpandroma in September or November 2020 in which they had agreed that URDPC/CODECO 

would collect a 2,500 CFD tax per shop or selling unit, only once per week rather than three times a week. 

URDPC/CODECO combatants wrote an “A” on the houses of those absent at the time of collection and checked 

again when they returned. Businesses were also taxed in Saio, Mongbwalu (see annex 75). 

 

Civilians who failed to pay taxes risked being beaten or imprisoned. One local chief recounted that Ndrodza, in 

charge of administration for FDBC, arrested and detained him for five days in a hole for opposing payment of 

monthly taxes. 

 

In addition, URDPC/CODECO and FDBC run a parallel justice and administration system, in particular in Saio in 

Mongbwalu, in Kobu, Walendu Djatsi, and in Linga and Buba groupements and Kpandroma, Walendu Pitsi.74 

Sources explained that they asked up to 50,000 CDF as administrative fees. In Saio, CODECO factions imprisoned 

people, tied them up with inner tubes from tires and badly mistreated them, before releasing them against payment 

of up to $500. In October 2020, a Lendu source living near Kpandroma was forced to pay $280 as compensation 

for a private dispute.  

 

Many sources also denounced looting of vehicles on roads, cattle and harvests by CODECO factions. In particular, 

ALC/CODECO combatants looted many cows from Hemas before FARDC operations in October 2020,  returning 

most cows against payment. 75  A Lendu man was beaten, whipped and had 50,000 CDF stolen by armed 

__________________ 

74 Three local authorities, civil society, four NGOs, three local residents. 
75 One journalist, civil society, URDPC/CODECO leadership, three local residents, one local authority, ANR and MONUSCO sources.  
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ALC/CODECO combatants who came at night to his house around Ezekere, shortly before the beginning of FARDC 

operations. 

 

Une source lendu a expliqué que l’URDPC/CODECO avait signé un accord avec la Fédération des entreprises du 

Congo (FEC) à Kpandroma en Septembre ou Novembre 2020 dans lequel ils s’étaient mis d’accord pour que 

l’URDPC/CODECO ne collecte qu’une taxe de 2. 500 CFD par boutique ou unité de vente par semaine au lieu de 

trois fois par semaine. Les combattants de l’URDPC/CODECO inscrivaient un “A” sur les maisons de ceux absents 

au moment de la collecte et vérifiaient à leur retour. Les hommes d’affaires étaient aussi taxés à Saio, Mongbwalu 

(voir annexe 75). 

 

Les civils qui omettaient de payer les taxes risquaient d’être battus ou emprisonnés. Un chef local a raconté que 

Ndrodza, chargé de l’administration pour la FDBC, l’avait arrêté et détenu pendant cinq jours dans un trou pour 

s’être opposé au paiement de taxes mensuelles.  

 

De plus, l’URDPC/CODECO et la FDBC ont établi un système de justice et une administration parallèles, en par-

ticulier à Saio à Mongbwalu, à Kobu, Walendu Djatsi, et dans les groupements de Linga and Buba et à Kpandroma, 

Walendu Pitsi.76 Les sources ont expliqué qu’ils demandaient jusqu’à 50,000 CDF de frais administratifs. À Saio, 

les factions CODECO ont emprisonné des gens, les ont attachés avec des chambres à air et les ont sévèrement 

maltraités, avant de les relâcher contre paiement de sommes allant jusqu’à $500. En Octobre 2020, une source 

lendu vivant près de Kpandroma a été forcée de payer $280 en compensation d’une dispute privée.  

 

De nombreuses sources ont dénoncé le pillage de véhicules sur les routes, de bétail et de récoltes par les factions 

CODECO.  En particulier, des combattants de l’ALC/CODECO ont pillé de nombreuses vaches des Hema avant 

les opérations des FARDC en Octobre 2020 et ont rendu la plupart d’entre elles contre paiement.77 Un homme lendu 

a été battu et fouetté, et s’est vu ravir 50 000 CDF par des combattants de l’ALC/CODECO armés, venus une nuit 

dans sa maison autour de Ezekere, peu de temps avant le début des opérations des FARDC. 

  

__________________ 

76 Trois autorités locales, société civile, quatre ONGs, trois résidents locaux. 
77 Un journaliste, société civile, dirigeants de l’URDPC/CODECO, trois residents locaux, une autorité locale, sources ANR et 

MONUSCO. 



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 219/369 

 

Annex 65 
 
Armed clashes and killings in Mongbwalu on 16-20 February 2021 
 
Affrontements armés et meurtres à Mongbwalu les 16-20 février 2021 
 

The killing of an URDPC/CODECO “S3” commandant on 16 February 2021 on the “zone d’exclusion” (see paras. 

95-99) by FARDC members triggered, in and around Mongbwalu, violent turmoil, a series of reprisal attacks by 

CODECO factions combatants and Hema youths, suspected to belong to Zaïre, and armed clashes between 

URDPC/CODECO and FDBC combatants, Hema youths, FARDC 1301 st and 3201st Regiments and Commandos, 

and PNC members.  

 

These violent events, which lasted until 20 February 2021, caused many killings, displacement of civi lians, espe-

cially from Saio, mixed with CODECO combatants, destruction of dwellings, shops and the P NC and ANR offices 

in Saio, and looting. Based on the evidence collected, the number of people killed during these events could be 

estimated at between 24 and 38, including two Hema cattle herders and six Hema and Alur diggers killed by 

CODECO combatants, and at least two Lendu men, suspected of belonging to CODECO, who were lynched by an 

angry crowd and burnt alive.   

 

These findings are based on interviews with 15 persons, including one NGO representative, two local residents, 

two local authorities, one FDBC combatant, one URDPC/CODECO ex-combatant, one mining authority, civil so-

ciety, FARDC, medical, ANR and MONUSCO sources, as well as on video, photographi c and documentary evi-

dence. 

 

 

Le meurtre d’un commandant “S3” de l’URDPC/CODECO le 16 février 2021 dans la “zone d’exclusion” (voir par. 

95-99) par des membres des FARDC a déclenché, dans et autour de Mongbwalu, de violents troubles, une série 

d’attaques en représailles entre les combattants des factions CODECO et des jeunes Hema, suspectés d’appartenir 

à Zaïre, et des affrontements armés entre des combattants de l’URDPC/CODECO et de la FDBC, des jeunes Hema, 

des membres des régiments 1301e et 3201e des FARDC, des Commandos, et de la PNC.  

 

Ces violents évènements, qui ont duré jusqu’au 20 février 2021, ont causé beaucoup de meurtres, le déplacement 

de civils, en particulier de Saio, avec des combattants de CODECO, la destruction d’habitations, de boutiques et 

des bureaux de la PNC et de l’ANR à Saio, et des pillages. Sur la base des preuves récoltées, le nombre de personnes 

tuées durant ces évènements peut être estimé à entre 24 et 38. Ils comprennent deux bouviers Hema et six creuseurs 

Hema et Alur, tués par des combattants CODECO, et au moins deux hommes Lendu, suspectés d’appartenir aux 

CODECO, lynchés par une foule en colère et brûlés vifs.  

 

Ces conclusions reposent sur des interviews avec 15 personnes, y compris un représentant d’une ONG, deux rési-

dents locaux, deux autorités locales, un combattant FDBC, un ex-combattant URDPC/CODECO, une autorité mi-

nière, la société civile, et des sources médicales, de l’ANR et de la MONUSCO, ainsi que des preuves vidéo, 

photographiques et documentaires. 
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Below photographs of Mongbwalu and its surroundings after the events  

Ci-dessous, photographies de Mongbwalu et de ses environs après les évènements 

 

      

 

 

Photographs provided to the Group by various sources 

Photographies fournies au Groupe par des sources diverses 
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Annex 66 
 
Armed clashes between CODECO factions 
 
Affrontements armés entre des factions CODECO 
 
 
Armed clashed between URDPC/CODECO and ARDPC/CODECO in December 2020 

 

Affrontements armés entre l’URDPC/CODECO et l’ARDPC/CODECO en décembre 2020 

 

On 4-5 December 2020, URDPC/CODECO dislodged ARDPC/CODECO from their headquarters in Ala, Walendu 

Pitsi, and from Bali, further north. Clashes also occurred in neighboring villages Konga and Dr’dza. The clashes 

resulted in at least the killing of one civilian, looting, burning of houses, and forced the population to escape.  

 

The clashes pushed ARDPC/CODECO about eight kilometers away to Sanduku where the group was still stationed 

at the time of drafting (see annex 63).78  On 1 February 2021, when the Group passed through Ala, the village was 

still empty of a large part of its population and under control of a group of at least between 50 and 100 

URDPC/CODECO combatants.  

 

Both the URDPC/CODECO and ARDPC/CODECO leadership told the Group that they were fighting over leader-

ship issues, although several sources said this was in fact over control of checkpoints and taxation. The area where 

the clashes occurred contains key roads between Djugu and Mahagi. In January 2021, small groups of 

URDPC/CODECO combatants searched at night around Loda and Sanduku for ARDPC/CODECO leaders.79 

 

 

Les 4-5 décembre 2020, l’URDPC/CODECO a délogé l’ARDPC/CODECO de son quartier général à Ala, Walendu 

Pitsi, et de Bali, plus haut nord. Des affrontements se sont aussi déroulés dans les villages Konga et Dr’dza. Les 

affrontements ont abouti au meurtre d’au moins un civil, à des pillages et des incendies de maisons, et ont forcé la 

population à fuir.  

 

Les affrontements ont repoussé l’ARDPC/CODECO à environ huit kilomètres plus loin, à Sanduku où le groupe 

était toujours stationné au moment de la rédaction du rapport (voir annexe 63).80  Le 1ier février 2021, quand le 

Groupe est passé par Ala, le village était toujours en grande partie vide de sa population et sous le contrôle d’un 

groupe d’au moins entre 50 et 100 combattants de l’URDPC/CODECO. 

 

Les dirigeants de l’URDPC/CODECO et de l’ARDPC/CODECO ont dit au Groupe qu’ils avaient combattu pour 

des questions de leadership, bien que certaines sources aient dit que c’était en fait pour le contrôle des barrages et 

des taxes. La zone dans laquelle les affrontements se sont déroulés contient des routes clés entre Djugu et Mahagi. 

En janvier 2021, de petits groupes de combattants de l’URDPC/CODECO cherchaient les dirigeants de 

l’ARDPC/CODECO autour de Loda et Sanduku pendant la nuit.81 

  

__________________ 

78  Five local authorities, one NGO, ARDPC/CODECO and URDPC/CODECO leaderships, ANR and MONUSCO sources, 

documentary and photographic evidence. 
79 One local resident and ARDPC/CODECO leadership. 
80  Cinq autorités locales, une ONG, les dirigeants de l’ARDPC/CODECO et l’URDPC/CODECO, sources de l’ANR et de la 

MONUSCO, preuves documentaires and photographiques. 
81 Un résident local et les dirigeants de l’ARDPC/CODECO. 
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Below, three photographs of Ala 

Ci-dessous, trois photographies de Ala 
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Photographs taken by the Group on 1 February 2021 

Photographies prises par le Groupe le 1 ier février 2021 

 

Armed clashes between FDBC and Bon Temple faction in January 2021 

 

Affrontements armés entre la FDBC et la faction Bon Temple en janvier 2021 

 

In January 2021, FDBC dislodged Bon Temple faction, led by Tuwo (see annex 68) from its strongholds of Nyan-

garay and Ngoto, Walendu Djatsi sector. The clashes resulted in displacement of civilians, burning of several houses 

and looting.82  At least 10 other villages in the area were also burnt. FDBC attacked Bon Temple due to its refusal 

to join the peace process and its many killings of Lendu civilians, according to several sources. 

 

 

En janvier 2021, la FDBC a délogé la faction Bon Temple, dirigée par Tuwo (voir annexe 68) de ses bastions à 

Nyangaray et Ngoto, secteur de Walendu Djatsi. Les affrontements ont abouti au déplacement de civils, l’incendie 

de plusieurs maisons et des pillages.83 Au moins 10 autres villages de cette zone ont aussi été brûlés. La FDBC a 

attaqué Bon Temple en raison de son refus de rejoindre le processus de paix et de ses nombreux meurtres de civils 

lendu, d’après plusieurs sources. 

 

  

__________________ 

82 URDPC/CODECO leadership, one provincial authority, one FDBC combatant, one NGO, ANR and UN sources as well as 

photographic evidence. 
83 Dirigeants de l’URDPC/CODECO, une autorité provinciale, un combattant de la FDBC, une ONG, des sources de l’ANR et de 

l’ONU ainsi que des preuves photographiques. 
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Annex 67 
 
Rape cases by CODECO factions in Djugu territory 
 
Cas de viols par des factions CODECO dans le territoire de Djugu 
 
In addition to acts of conflict-related sexual violence committed by Bon Temple combatants (see paras. 85 -86), the 

Group found that combatants of other CODECO factions committed the rapes below. 

 

In March 2020, one 16-year-old Lendu girl going to Adi, next to Fataki, for charcoal together with a 15-year-old 

Hema girl, was raped by an armed CODECO combatant who was in charge of charcoal. Before the rape, her rapist 

told her that the Lendus had issues with the Hemas and that, as a Lendu, she should stay with them to be their wife. 

After the rape, he told her to report to the community what he had done to her and that they were ready to attack at 

any time. The Hema girl was raped by two men. 

 

In March 2020, during an attack on Tchele, Ndo Okebo sector, three armed CODECO combatants, coming from 

Mbau groupement, Djugu territory, raped and badly beat a 17-year-old Hema girl. One of these three combatants 

also raped the girl’s four-year old sister before killing her with a machete. Another combatant, however, reminded 

his colleagues that their instructions were to not rape women. CODECO combatants also killed several villagers, 

including a young Hema man, the victims’ parents and her four siblings and cousins, all under 14 years of age.  

 

In October 2020, at a checkpoint between Loda and Bule, seven armed CODECO combatants captured a 17-year-

old Hema girl going to the fields together with two Hema women and three Hema girls, aged 10, 12 and 13 years 

old. The combatants kept them captive during two days in a small camp around Kaa village, Walendu Pitsi sector. 

The 17-year-old girl was raped by two men. The two women and the three girls were raped as well.  

 

Sometime in 2020, an 18-year-old Hema woman was abducted during a CODECO attack around Bule, forced to 

transport the loot and held captive for three days. Two other young women and two men, all Hema, were abducted 

with her. During her captivity, she was raped by five men, three times per day. The two other women were also 

raped.  

 

 

En plus des actes de violence sexuelle liés au conflit commis par des combattants de Bon Temple (voir par. 85-86), 

le Groupe a établi que des combattants d’autres factions CODECO ont commis les viols ci-dessous. 

 

En mars 2020, une jeune fille lendu âgée de 16 ans qui allait chercher du charbon de bois à Adi, près de Fataki, 

avec une jeune fille Hema âgée de 15 ans, a été violée par un combattant armé de CODECO en charge du charbon  

de bois. Avant le viol, son violeur lui a dit que les Lendus avaient des problèmes a vec les Hemas et qu’en tant que 

Lendu, elle devait rester avec eux pour être leur femme. Après le viol, il lui a dit de raconter à la communauté ce 

qu’il lui avait fait et qu’ils étaient prêts à attaquer à tout moment. La jeune fille Hema a été violée par deux hommes. 

 

En mars 2020, durant une attaque contre Tchele, dans le secteur de Ndo Okebo, trois combattants armés de 

CODECO, venant du groupement Mbau dans le territoire  de Djugu, ont violé et sérieusement battu une jeune Hema 

âgée de 17 ans. Un de ces trois combattants a aussi violé sa sœur de quatre ans avant de la tuer avec une machette. 

Un autre combattant a, cependant, rappelé à ses collègues que leurs instructions é taient de ne pas violer les femmes.  

Les combattants de CODECO ont aussi tué plusieurs villageois, dont un jeune homme Hema, les parents de la 

victime et ses quatre frères, sœurs et cousins, tous âgés de moins de 14 ans.  

 

En octobre 2020, sept combattants armés de CODECO ont capturé une jeune fille Hema de 17 ans allant aux champs 

avec deux femmes et trois filles Hema, âgées de 10, 12 et 13 ans, à une barrière entre Loda et Bule. Les combattants 

les ont gardées captives pendant deux jours dans un petit camp autour du village Kaa, dans le secteur de Walendu 

Pitsi. La jeune fille de 17 ans a été violée par deux hommes. Toutes les autres femmes et filles ont aussi été violées. 

 

 



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 225/369 

 

En 2020, une jeune Hema de 18 ans a été capturée lors d’une attaque de CODECO autou r de Bule, forcée à trans-

porter les biens pillés et gardée captive durant trois jours. Deux autres jeunes femmes et deux hommes, tous Hema, 

avaient été capturés avec elle. Durant sa captivité, elle a été violée par cinq hommes, trois fois par jour. Les aut res 

femmes ont aussi été violées.  
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Annex 68 
 
Bon Temple 
 
Bon Temple 
 
 
Until the FDBC attack in January 2021, Bon Temple, also called Bon Temple de Dieu, operated mainly in the 

southwestern part of Djugu territory, in Banyali-Kilo sector, with its headquarters in Nyangaray and positions in 

Ngoto and Ritsi. Bon Temple leader was named Tuwo, but sources’ accounts of his full name varied greatly.84 

Sources concurred, however, about the fact that he was a hunter. The number of Bon Temple troops prior to  the 

FDBC attack was estimated at between 400 and 800.85  Butsoro was one of the Bon Temple leaders, but was killed 

during combat with FDBC, according to one FDBC combatant.  

 

It is unclear if Tuwo and his troops were part of URDPC/CODECO. Although URDPC/CO DECO leadership 

claimed that they were, Tuwo has been very hostile to the cease-fire process. He threatened to kill the members of 

the presidential delegation, should they come to meet him. He also rejected FDBC leader Chui Mutambala’s request 

to join the process.  

 

 

Attack on Buzenzele on 8 July 2020 

Bon Temple attacked Buzenzele early morning on 8 July 2020. Rape victim 1 explained that four of her relatives, 

including her parents, were killed by machetes and burnt in the house which the assailants had set on fire. Victim 1 

saw eight other people killed. The husband and three children of rape victim 2 were also killed during the attack. 

The assailants burnt other houses and systematically looted.  

Victim 1 stated that Tuwo planned where to loot, burn and kill people. She saw him ordering to attack Liseyi, Mame 

and Liberia. She saw Tuwo troops bringing back loot as well as two women, one Bira and one Hema, who were sent 

to Ritsi. Rape victim 1 escaped when the group attacked Babokela.    

Attacks on Liseyi 

There were several attacks on Liseyi (see S/2020/1283, annex 33), including in April and June 2020 and on 9-10 

August 2020. URDPC/CODECO denied involvement in the August attack. 

 

Jusqu’à l’attaque de janvier 2021, Bon Temple, aussi appelé Bon Temple de Dieu, a opéré principalement dans la 

partie sud-ouest du territoire de Djugu, dans le secteur de Banyali Kilo, avec son quartier général à Nyangaray et 

des positions à Ngoto et Ritsi. Le dirigeant de Bon Temple est nommé Tuwo, mais les sources sont très divergentes 

s’agissant de son nom complet.86  Les sources concourraient, cependant, sur le fait qu’il était chasseur. Le nombre 

d’hommes au sein de Bon Temple avant l’attaque de la FDBC était estimé à entre 400 et 800.87  Butsoro était un des 

leaders de Bon Temple, mais a été tué durant les combats avec la FDBC, d’après un combattant de la FDBC. 

Il n’est pas clair si Tuwo et ses troupes font partie de l’URDPC/CODECO. Bien que les dirigeants de 

URDPC/CODECO aient déclaré qu’ils en faisaient partie, Tuwo a été très hostile au processus de cessez-le-feu. Il a 

menacé de tuer les membres de la délégation présidentielle, s’ils venaient le rencontrer. Il a aussi rejeté la demande 

du dirigeant de la FDBC Chui Mutambala de se joindre au processus. 

Attaque à Buzenzele le 8 juillet 2020 

Bon Temple a attaqué Buzenzele tôt le matin du 8 juillet 2020. La victime de viol 1 a expliqué que quatre membres 

de sa famille, y compris ses parents, ont été tués par machette et brûlés dans leur maison à laquelle les assaillants 

__________________ 

84 The Group was given four different names: Nangdja Dhejo Tuwo, Mako Lonjirnga Tuwo, Maki Tuwo and Tuwo Lobanga. 
85 One provincial authority, ANR source and one FDBC combatant. 
86 On a donné quatre noms au Groupe: Nangdja Dhejo Tuwo, Mako Lonjirnga Tuwo, Maki Tuwo et Tuwo Lobanga. 
87 Une autorité provinciale, une source de l’ANR et un combattant de la FDBC.  

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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avaient mis le feu. La victime de viol 1 a vu huit autres corps. Le mari et les trois enfants de la victime de viol 2 ont 

aussi été tués au cours de l’attaque. Les assaillants ont brûlé d’autres maisons et ont systématiquement pillé.  

La victime de viol 1 a déclaré que Tuwo planifiait de piller, de brûler et de tuer les gens. Elle l’a vu ordonner 

d’attaquer Liseyi, Mame et Liberia. Elle a vu les troupes de Tuwo ramener le butin à Nyangaray ainsi que deux 

femmes, une Nyali et une Hema, qui ont été envoyées à Ritsi. La victime de viol 1 s’est enfuie quand le groupe a 

attaqué Babokela. 

Attaques sur Liseyi 

Il y a eu plusieurs attaques sur Liseyi (voir S/2020/1283, annexe 33), y compris en avril et juin 2020 et les 9-10 août 

2020. L’URDPC/CODECO a nié être impliqué dans l’attaque du mois d’août. 

  

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Annex 69 
 
Map of western Djugu territory 
 
Carte de la partie ouest du territoire de Djugu 

 

 

 

Map from MONUSCO, annotated by the Group. The position of Liseyi is an approximation by the Group. 

Carte fournie par la MONUSCO, annotée par le Groupe. La position de Liseyi est une approximation du Groupe. 
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Annex 70  
 

CODECO combatants openly carrying weapons and wearing military attire 
 
CODECO combattants portant ouvertement des armes et des tenues militaires 
 
Local leaders, FARDC sources and civil society informed the Group that CODECO combatants openly carried 

weapons, amongst others on market days, in Nizi and Bambu (Djugu territory), as well as in the onshore villages 

around Kasenyi (Irumu territory) and Tchomia (Djugu territory), along the shore of Lake Albert.88 The Group ob-

served combatants carrying weapons in Bali, Jiba, Sanduku and Ala (Djugu territory) during its field missions in 

January and February 2021. 

 

Les autorités locales et des sources FARDC et de la société civile ont  informé le Groupe que les combattants de 

CODECO portaient des armes de manière visible, entre autres, les jours de marché à Nizi et Bambu (territoire de 

Djugu), de même que dans les villages côtiers près de Kasenyi (territoite d’Irumu) et de Tchomia (terr itoire de 

Djugu) au bord du Lac Albert89. Le Groupe a pu observer des combattants portant des armes à Bali, Jiba, Sanduku 

et Ala (territoire de Djugu), lors d’une mission sur le terrain en janvier et février 2021.  

 

 

Photographs of URDPC/CODECO combatants coming from Wago II (Bese forest), an unofficial pre-cantonment 

site for URDPC/CODECO, when arriving in Monbgwalu end of January 2021 carrying AK -type assault rifles and 

some wearing military attire.  

 

Photographies de combattants l’URDPC/CODECO en provenance de Wago (forêt de Bese), un site non officiel de 

pré-cantonnement pour l’URDPC/CODECO, lors de leur arrivée à Monbgwalu à la fin janvier 2021, et portant des 

fusils d’assauts de type AK et des tenues militaires pour quelques-uns d’entre eux. 

 

 

 

 

__________________ 

88 Group’s missions to Nizi and Bambu, February and March 2021. Group’s mission to Djugu territory, January and February 2021.  
89 Mission du Groupe à Nizi et Bambu, février et mars 2021. Mission du Groupe dans le territoire de Djugu, janvier et février 2021.   
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Photographs provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Photographies fournies au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet 
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Annex 71  
 

FARDC information on weaponry robbed from FARDC by armed groups in Ituri, weaponry seized from 

armed groups by FARDC in Ituri, and human losses 

Information des FARDC sur de l’armement volé aux FARDC par des goupes armés en Ituri, sur l’arme-

ment saisi aux groupes armés par les FARDC, et sur les pertes humaines 

 

The following table includes information on the weapons lost by FARDC during operations, weapons taken from 

armed groups by FARDC, as well as FARDC members and armed group combatants killed during operations in 

Aru, Mahagi, Djugu and Irumu territories. They do not include information regarding Mambasa territory, as the 

31st brigade is an autonomous brigade.  

 

Le tableau suivant mentionne des informations sur des armes perdues par les FARDC durant des opérations, des 

armes prises aux groupes armés par les FARDC, ainsi que le nombre de membres des FARDC e t de combattants 

des groupes armés tués lors des opérations dans les territoires de Aru, Mahagi, Djugu et Irumu. Ces informations 

ne concernent pas le territoire de Mambasa, du fait de l’autonomie de la 31 e Brigade.   

 

 

 

Provided to the Group by one FARDC source 

Fourni au Groupe par une source des FARDC 

*** 
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Table with information on weapons taken from FARDC by armed groups in 2020, and classified per type of weapon 

Tableau avec des informations sur les armes volées auprès des FARDC par les groupes armés en 2020 et classées par type 

d’armes 

 

NO 

SERI

E 

TYPE 

D’ARMES 

                                                                                             CALENDRIER Ob

n 

Ja

n 

Fév

. 

Ma

r 

Av

r 

Ma

i 

Ju

n 

Ju

l 

Ao

u 

Se

p 

Oct

. 

Nov

. 

Déc

. 

TOTA

L 

 

001 AKA 10 04 15 20 57 08 06 03 03 03 00 01 130  

002 PKM   01  05  01      07  

003 RPG7    02 04 01       07  

004 12 .7     05        05  

005 Mor     01        01  

006 LRM107m

m  

    01        01  

 

Provided to the Group by one FARDC source 

Fourni au Groupe par une source des FARDC 

*** 

 

Table with information on weapons recovered from armed groups from 1 January to 31 December 2020, and clas-

sified per type of weapon 

 

Tableau avec des informations sur les armes récupérées auprès des groupes armés entre les 1 janvier et 31 décembre 2020 

et classées par type d’armes 

 

NO 

SERI

E 

TYPE 

D’ARMES 

                                                                                CALENDRIER O

b 

Ja

n 

Fév

. 

Ma

r 

Av

r 

Ma

i 

Ju

n 

Ju

l 

Ao

u 

Se

p 

Oc

t 

No

v 

De

c 

TOTA

L 

 

001 AKA 10  05 07 07 05 06 07 12 07 03 01 70  

002 PKM 01  03 02         06  

003 RPG7         01    01  

004 12 .7               

005 Mor               

006 LRM107m

m 

              

 

 

Provided to the Group by one FARDC source 

Fourni au Groupe par une source des FARDC 

 

*** 
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Excerpts of an FARDC table on armed groups’ attacks in Ituri in 2020 reporting CODECO factions as the main 

armed groups being involved in attacks. 

 

Extraits d’un tableau des FARDC sur les attaques des groupes armés en Ituri en 2020, indiquant les factions CODECO 

comme étant les principaux groupes armés impliqués dans les attaques. 
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Provided to the Group by one FARDC source 

 

Fourni au Groupe par une source des FARDC 

 

*** 
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FARDC table on armed groups’ attacks in Ituri in February 2021  

 

Tableau des FARDC indiquant les attaques des groupes armés en Ituri en février 2021 

 

 
 

 

Provided to the Group by an FARDC source 

Fourni au Groupe par une source des FARDC 
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Annex 72 
 
Information on the 8 May 2020 armed attack in Ritsi 
 
Information sur l’attaque de Ritsi du 8 mai 2020 
 

 
URDPC/CODECO claimed having taken an important amount of weapons and ammunition from FARDC during 

an armed attack in Ritsi, Walendu Djatsi, on 8 May 2020. Its communiqué of 9 May 2020 referred to the attack 

during which “hundreds of FARDC were killed” and “hundreds of weapons taken”.  Even though FARDC members 

were killed and weaponry robbed (see para. 92), the Group’s investigations show that numbers provided in this 

communiqué go far beyond the real number of FARDC members killed and  weaponry robbed. 

 

URDPC/CODECO a revendiqué avoir pris un nombre important d’armes et de munitions aux FARDC durant une 

attaque armée à Ritsi, Walendu Djatsi, le 8 mai 2020. Ce communiqué qui date du 9 mai 2020 se réfère à l’attaque 

durant laquelle “des centaines de FARDC ont été tués et des centaines d’armes ont été prises”. Bien que des 

membres des FARDC aient été tués et de l’armement volé (voir par. 92), les enquêtes du Groupe montrent que les 

chiffres donnés dans ce communiqué vont bien au-delà du nombre réel de membres des FARDC tués et de l’arme-

ment volé. 

 

Excerpt of the URDPC/CODECO 9 May 2020 Communiqué: 

 

Extrait du communiqué de l’URDPC/CODECO du 9 mai 2020 : 
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The Group established that Bon Temple, an armed group linked with URDPC/CODECO, conducted that attack and 

took the FARDC weapons. 

 

Le Groupe a établi que Bon Temple, un groupe armé lié à l’URDPC/CODECO, a conduit l’attaque et pris les armes 

aux FARDC. 
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Annex 73  
 

Case studies: Involvement of some female CODECO collaborators and some FARDC members in 
weaponry trafficking 
 
étude de cas : Implication de femmes collaboratrices de CODECO et de membres des FARDC dans 
des trafics d’armes 
 

Sources for the following analysis: Judiciary documents consulted by the Group, interviews conducted by the Group 

in Bunia in March 2021, FARDC sources and Military Justice sources. 

 

Sources pour l’analyse ci-dessous: Documents judiciaires consultés par le Groupe, interviews réalisées par le 

Groupe à Bunia en mars 2021, sources des FARDC et de la Justice militaire.  

 

Case-study 1:  

Étude de cas 1:  

 

A female CODECO collaborator, interviewed by the Group, reported regular weaponry trafficking between some 

FARDC commanders and soldiers of the 112th battalion based in Pimbo, Walendu Djatsi, Djugu territory, and some 

CODECO combatants. In March 2020, she witnessed the hand-over by FARDC officers of several bags of ammu-

nition to CODECO combatants. According to her, a URDPC/CODECO combatant, also interviewed by the Group, 

was the CODECO recipient of FARDC ammunition. He was in charge of transport ing the ammunition from Pimbo 

to Ndjala. The female collaborator and the URDPC/CODECO combatant were hosted in the FARDC base, thereby 

facilitating supply of conventional ammunition to the armed group. They were convicted on this basis and for 

CODECO membership, together with other people. 

 

Several FARDC officers of the 112 th battalion, who were close to both, were convicted for trafficking ammunition. 

One FARDC Corporal was convicted for having stolen 350 rounds of 7.62x39 mm caliber ammunition. Another 

FARDC Corporal was convicted for having lost these 350 rounds of ammunition.  

 

 

Une collaboratrice de CODECO, interviewée par le Groupe, a relaté un trafic régulier d’armement entre des soldats 

et des commandants FARDC du 112e bataillon basé à Pimbo, Walendu Djatsi, territoire de Djugu, et des combattants 

CODECO. En mars 2020, elle a été témoin d’une remise de plusieurs sacs de munitions par des militaires FARDC 

à des combattants CODECO. Selon elle, c’est un combattant de ’URDPC/CODECO, également interviewé p ar le 

Groupe qui recevait les munitions FARDC. Il était en charge du transport des munitions de Pimbo vers Ndjala. La 

femme collaboratrice et le combattant de URDPC/CODECO étaient basés dans une base des FARDC, ce qui faci-

litait la provision des munitions classiques au groupe armé. Ils ont été condamnés sur cette base et pour leur appar-

tenance à CODECO, en même temps que d’autres personnes.  
 

Plusieurs sous-officiers FARDC du 112e bataillon, proches des deux, ont été condamnés pour trafic de munitions. 

Un Caporal FARDC a été condamné pour avoir volé 350 rubans de munitions de calibre 7.62x39 mm. Un autre 

Caporal FARDC a lui été condamné pour avoir perdu ces 350 rubans de munitions.  

 

Case-study 2:  

Étude de cas 2:  

 

Another female collaborator, also interviewed by the Group, reported that she regularly bought gold in Djugu 

to sell it in Bunia. On 28 August 2020, she received a call from a gold trader, whom she later identified as a 

CODECO “Colonel” based in Walendu Pitsi, Djugu territory, asking her to transpor t a package, which she ac-

cepted. She received a five-liter oil can which was very heavy. She was arrested while transporting the oil can,  

and the inspection revealed the oil can was filled with conventional ammunition. She was convicted for traffick-

ing ammunition to CODECO. Several of the Group’s sources reported that she was a CODECO collaborator. She 

told the Group that she was innocent. 
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Une autre collaboratrice de CODECO, aussi interviewée par le Groupe, a relaté qu’elle achetait régulièrement de 

l’or à Djugu afin de le vendre à Bunia. Le 28 août 2020, elle a reçu un appel d’un courtier d’or, qu’elle a plus tard 

identifié comme étant un “Colonel” CODECO basé à Walendu Pitsi, territoire de Djugu, qui lui a demandé de 

transporter un paquet; ce qu’elle a accepté. Elle a récupéré un bidon d’huile de cinq litres qui était très lourd. Elle 

a été arrêtée pendant le transport du bidon et l’inspection a révélé que le bidon d’huile était rempli de munitions 

classiques. Elle a été condamnée pour trafic de munitions pour CODECO. Plusieurs sources du Groupe ont relaté 

qu’elle était une collaboratrice de CODECO. Elle a dit au Groupe être innocente. 

 

 

 

    
 

Screenshots of a video explaining her arrest, provided to the Group by various sources 

Capture d’écran d’une vidéo de son arrestation, fournie par des sources diverses 
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Annex 74 
 

Trafficking with South Sudan 
 
Traffic avec le Sud Soudan 
 
On 25 February 2021, two individuals with South Sudanese nationality were arrested in Mahagi while carrying 

weaponry. According to military sources, the individuals were combatants of the National Salvation Front in South 

Sudan. The Group contacted the Panel on South Sudan to jointly follow up on these arrests and possible trafficking 

networks between the DRC and South Sudan.  

 

In late March 2021, military sources informed the Group of the arrest of a CODECO combatant in Kengezi, Aru 

territory, close to the border with South Sudan, where he was supposed to meet some South Sudanese weapons 

traffickers in Ingbokolo, Aru territory. He was carrying $1,000 when arrested, according to the military sources.  

 

On 27 March 2021, an alleged CODECO combatant was captured by FARDC in Ndjalo, Aru territory, as he at-

tempted to cross the border into South Sudan to purchase ammunition there. The susp ect was transferred to the 

FARDC headquarters in Aru for investigations. 

 

Several sources reported to the Group that trafficking of weapons and ammunition between Ituri and South Sudan 

was ongoing and regular.  

 

 

Le 25 février 2021, deux individus de nationalité sud soudanaise ont été interpelés à Mahagi, alors qu’ils transportaient de 

l’armement. Selon des sources militaires, ces individus étaient des combattants du Front national de libération du Sud Sou-

dan. Le Groupe a contacté le Panel d’Experts du Sud Soudan afin de suivre ensemble cette arrestation et un possible réseau 

de trafic d’armes entre la RDC et le Sud Soudan. 

 

Fin mars 2021, des sources militaires ont informé le Groupe de l’arrestation à Kengesi, territoire d’Aru, près de la frontière 

avec le Sud Soudan, d’un combattant CODECO, qui était supposé rencontrer des trafiquants sud soudanais à Ingbokolo, 

territoire d’Aru. Lors de son arrestation, il détenait sur lui $1 000. 

 

Le 27 mars 2021, un présumé milicien CODECO a été capturé par les FARDC à Ndjalo, territoire d’Aru, alors qu’il tentait 

de passer la frontière vers le Sud Soudan pour acheter des munitions. Le suspect a été transféré au siège des FARDC à Aru 

pour investigations. 

 

Plusieurs sources ont affirmé au Groupe que le trafic d’armes et de munitions entre l’Ituri et le Sud Soudan était fréquent et 

régulier.  
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Annex 75 

 
FDBC and URDPC/CODECO combatants and FARDC members’ gold digging in the zone d’exclu-
sion in Mongbwalu 
 
Recherche d’or par des combattants de la FDBC et de l’URDPC/CODECO et des membres des 
FARDC dans la zone d’exclusion à Mongbwalu 
 

Background: The “exclusion zone” or zone d’exclusion is an area on the Mongbwalu Gold Mines SA(MGM) con-

cession PR5105 where artisanal mining was not permitted by the company. This area was occupied  by 

URDPC/CODECO, FDBC and civilians, as well as some FARDC members, during the first months of 2021.  

 

One FDBC combatant who dug in the zone d’exclusion, told the Group that the diggers from both FDBC and 

URDPC/CODECO handed over thirty percent of the gold they dug to authorities, the FARDC and the Congolese 

police. However, he noted that all the diggers in the zone d’exclusion would first give ten percent of their gold 

production to FDBC and URDPC/CODECO. For the combatant, who described how the digging took place in sites 

including Ngunga, Desert, Tomate, and Soko Moto in the zone, that meant handing over three bags of gold-rich 

rocks out of every ten dug, although he did not know how this was then distributed amongst authorities.  

 

A local chief also said that gold produced by FDBC and URDPC/CODECO combatants was handed over to author-

ities, including to FARDC members, and described this as payment of “royalties”. This individual noted that prior 

to January 2021, FARDC members would also dig in the site, sometimes wearing military attire and sometimes in 

civilian dress. 

 

Two local inhabitants with first-hand knowledge of the matter also said that “CODECO combatants” received thirty 

percent of gold produced by everyone digging in the zone d’exclusion between around January to mid-February 

2021. Both of these individuals noted that prior to the FDBC and URDPC/CODECO invasion of the zone, the PMH 

members who were stationed at the zone perimeter, to guard it, were already receiving gold production from arti-

sanal diggers, to whom they granted clandestine access during the night-time.  

 

A URDPC/CODECO combatant and a member of URDPC/CODECO leadership told the Group that they had in-

vaded the zone to make money to survive, because the government demobilisation process was too slow (see paras. 

81-82). 

 

MGM confirmed to the Group that “CODECO combatants” had invaded their zone d’exclusion in January 2021. 

However, MGM noted that the area had been being dug illegally by artisanal miners previously, because the police 

that MGM had stationed around the area, were ineffectual. In June 2020 MGM wrote to the 312 th FARDC regiment 

to request assistance to prevent artisanal diggers from entering the site, but did not receive a response.  

 

Separately, the Group also reviewed an official 6 March 2021 letter by mining authorities from Djugu territory 

addressed to Ituri’s Governor Jean Banamisa, suspending digging at three sites at Kpangba, Malanga hill, due to 

presence of FARDC members in the mines.  

 

 

Contexte: La « zone d'exclusion » est une zone de la concession PE5105 de Mongbwalu Gold Mines SA (MGM), 

où l'exploitation minière artisanale n'est pas autorisée par la société. Cette zone a été occupée par des combattants 

de l'URDPC/CODECO, de FDBC et des civils, ainsi que par certains membres des FARDC, au cours des premiers 

mois de 2021. 

Un combattant de FDBC qui a creusé dans la zone d'exclusion, a déclaré au Groupe que les creuseurs de FDBC 

et de URDPC/CODECO ont remis 30 pourcent de l'or qu'ils ont creusé aux autorités, dont le bo urgmestre, les 
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FARDC et la Police congolaise. Cependant, il a noté que tous les creuseurs de la zone donnaient d'abord dix pour-

cents de leur production d'or à FDBC et à URDPC/CODECO. Pour le combattant, qui a décrit comment les fouilles 

ont eu lieu dans des sites comprenant Ngunga, Desert, Tomate et Soko Moto dans la zone, cela signifiait la remise 

de trois sacs de roches riches en or sur dix creusés, bien qu'il ne sache pas comment cela était ensuite réparti entre 

les autorités. 

Un chef local a également déclaré que l'or produit par les combattants de FDBC et de URDPC/CODECO avait été 

remis aux autorités, y compris à des membres des FARDC, et a décrit cela comme constituant le paiement de « 

royalties ». Cet individu a noté que les membres des FARDC creusaient également sur le site, portant parfois des 

tenues militaires et parfois des tenues civiles. 

Deux habitants locaux ayant une connaissance de première main de la question ont également déclaré que les «c 

combattants de CODECO » avaient reçu trente pourcents de l'or produit par tous ceux qui creusaient dans la zone 

entre janvier et environ mi-février 2021. Ces deux individus ont noté qu'avant l'invasion de la zone par FDBC et 

URDPC/CODECO, les membres de la PMH qui était stationnés au périmètre de la zone, pour la garder, recevait 

déjà la production d'or de creuseurs artisanaux, auxquels ils ont accordé un accès clandestin pendant la nuit.  

Un combattant de URDPC/CODECO et un membre de leur direction a déclaré au Groupe qu'il avait envahi la zone 

pour gagner de l'argent et survivre, car le processus de démobilisation du gouvernement était trop lent (voir par. 

81-82). 

MGM a confirmé au Groupe que des « combattants CODECO » avaient envahi leur zone d'exclusion en janvier 

2021. Cependant, MGM a noté que la zone avait été creusée illégalement par des mineurs artisanaux auparavant, 

parce que la police que MGM avait postée autour de la zone, étaient inefficace. En juin 2020, MGM a écrit au 312e 

régiment des FARDC pour demander de l'aide pour empêcher les creuseurs ar tisanaux d'entrer sur le site, mais n'a 

pas reçu de réponse. 

Séparément, le Groupe a également examiné une lettre officielle du 6 mars 2021 des autorités minières du territoire 

de Djugu adressée au Gouverneur de l'Ituri, Jean Banamisa, suspendant l’exploit ation sur trois sites à Kpangba, sur 

la colline de Malanga, en raison de la présence de membres des FARDC dans les mines.  

 

*** 

  



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 243/369 

 

Video received by the Group and filmed in February 2021 of unidentified CODECO combatants and an FARDC 

member jointly addressing the crowd in the MGM zone d’exclusion, Mongbwalu. Transcript of the speech is below. 

 

Vidéo filmée en février 2021 et reçue par le Groupe, montrant des combattants non identifiés de CODECO et un 

membre des FARDC s’adressant conjointement à la foule dans la zone d’exclusion de MGM, Mongbwalu. La 

transcription du discours est ci-dessous. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Inside the MGM zone d’exclusion/dans la zone d’exclusion MGM, Mongbwalu, February 2021/février 2021  

 

Screenshots from a video provided to the Group by multiple sources at Mongbwalu 

 

Captures d’écran d’un vidéo fournie au Groupe par plusieurs sources à Mongbwalu  

 

 

Translation of audio accompanying the video/Traduction de l’audio qui accompagne la vidéo 

 

CODECO combatant addressing the crowd of diggers: Silence, your attention please, I always said not to take these 

things lightly, because the consequences fall on me alone. You see among us today our FARDC brothers they are 

not there to wage war on us, nor to stop your activities here, but they have the ir objective which is related to the 

harassments that are happening here, as well as in the Mongbwalu commune. There are areas where there are 

disturbances, this is how come the boss is here, I saw fit that he comes alone to convey to you the message he ha s 

for you, but it is a message of peace, are you ready to receive him? Yes, if so, your applause to him.  

[FARDC Commander takes the floor by greeting the crowd hello in Swahili and Lingala, then he continues by 

telling the crowd that he is a soldier and does not have much to talk about] 

 

 

FARDC member: I'll be very short, I'll find you here, it's not me who sent you the invitation to be there, do we 

agree? [Yes, replied the crowd]. We are here for another mission, do we agree? [Yes, replied the crowd]. But you 

must know, as you had come here, as you had come back here, as you work here, it is the same way you will get 

out of here if once the order is given to “evacuate” the place, but currently I am not coming with that order, am I 

making myself understood? [Yes, replied the crowd]. I don't want rumors here and there like what, we have soldiers 

here, they do this or that there, we have our mission here, and as for you, just continue with your work.  
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Combattant CODECO : Silence, votre attention svp, j'ai toujours dit de ne pas prendre avec légèreté ces choses, car 

c'est sur moi seul que les conséquences tombent dessus. Vous voyez parmi nous aujourd'hui nos frères FARDC. Ils 

ne sont pas là pour nous faire la guerre, non plus pour stopper vos activités ici, mais ils ont leur objectif qui est en 

rapport avec les tracasseries qui se passent ici, tout comme dans la commune de Mongbwalu. Il y a des parties où 

il y a des troubles, c'est ainsi que le Chef est là, j'ai jugé bon qu'il vienne seul vous transmettre le messa ge qu'il a 

pour vous, mais c'est un message de paix, êtes-vous prêt à le recevoir ? Oui, si tel est le cas, vos applaudissements 

pour lui. 

 

[Le Commandant FARDC prend la parole en saluant la foule, bonjour en swahili et en lingala, puis il continue en 

disant à la foule que lui c'est un militaire et qu’il n'a pas beaucoup à dire.] 

 

Commandant FARDC: je serai très bref, je vous trouve ici, ce n’est pas moi qui vous ai envoyé l'invitation d'être 

là, on est d'accord? [Oui, dit la foule]. Nous, nous sommes là pour une autre mission, on est d'accord ? [Oui, dit la 

foule]. Mais vous devez savoir, comme vous étiez venus ici, comme vous étiez rentrés ici, comme vous travaillez 

ici, c'est de la même façon que vous sortirez d'ici si une fois l'ordre est donné d'évacuer  le lieu, mais présentement 

je ne suis pas venu avec cet ordre-là, est-ce que je me fais bien comprendre? [Oui, dit la foule] Je ne veux pas de 

rumeurs ici et là comme quoi, nous avons des militaires ici, ils font ceci ou cela, nous avons notre mission ici , quant 

à vous, continuez avec votre travail. 
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Annex 76 
 
URDPC/CODECO taxation of gold traders and targeted killings by unidentified armed assailants  
 
Taxation des commercants d'or par l’URDPC/CODECO et assassinats ciblés par des assaillants 
armés non identifiés 
 

A Mongbwalu resident described how gold traders paid 200,000 CDF weekly to URDPC/CODECO, in addition to 

responding to ad hoc demands for payments, which were often violent, for between 5,000 to 10,000 CDF by the 

armed men.  

 

The Group reviewed a list of registered gold buyers who were members of Coopérative des négociants d'or de 

l'Ituri (COONORI) and who had been killed in Mongbwalu and gold mining areas around it, such as Pluto and 

Pilipili, by unidentified armed men during 2020 and 2021. The Group spoke to two gold traders who personally 

knew three of the traders who had been killed.  

 

Civil society documents, which the Group was unable to authenticate, listed up to 45 gold négociants who were 

hurt or killed by armed men in the Mongbwalu area, during this period. Official investigations into these deaths 

were still ongoing as of March 2021, according to Mongbwalu’s bourgmestre. The Group noted that 

URDPC/CODECO were accused of some of the attacks by two members of the private sector and two loca l resi-

dents interviewed by the Group, one trader said the attackers were “bandits” and two other residents and an author-

ity said that some FARDC members belonging to 312th battalion, “Hindu Unité” of Lieutenant -Colonel Joseph 

Nganzole Olikwa, alias Tipi Ziro Ziro, were involved in attacks. 

 

 

Un habitant de Mongbwalu a décrit comment les négociants d’or versaient chaque semaine 200,000 CDF à 

URDPC/CODECO, en plus de répondre à des demandes de contribution ponctuelles, souvent violentes, de 5,000 à 

10,000 CDF des hommes armés. 

 

Le Groupe a examiné une liste d'acheteurs d'or enregistrés qui étaient membres de la Coopérative des négociants 

d'or de l'Ituri (COONORI) et qui ont été tués à Mongbwalu et dans les sites miniers d'or autour de celle -ci, telles 

que Pluto et Pilipili, par des hommes armés non identifiés en 2020 et 2021. Le Groupe s'est entretenu avec deux 

négociants d’or qui connaissaient personnellement trois des commerçants qui ont été tués.  

 

Certaines listes de la société civile, que le Groupe n'a pas pu authentifier, ont répertorié jusqu'à 45 négociants d’or 

blessés ou tués par des hommes armés dans la région de Mongbwalu, au cours de cette période. Les enquêtes 

officielles sur ces décès étaient toujours en cours en mars 2021, selon le bourgmestre de M ongbwalu. Le Groupe a 

noté que URDPC/CODECO avait été accusé de certaines des attaques par deux membres du secteur privé et deux 

résidents locaux interrogés par le Groupe, un commerçant a déclaré que les assaillants étaient des « bandits », et 

deux autres résidents et une autorité ont déclaré que certains membres des FARDC appartenant au 312e bataillon, 

« Hindu Unité » du Lieutenant-Colonel Joseph Nganzole Olikwa, alias Tipi Ziro Ziro, ont été impliqués dans des 

attaques. 

 

*** 

 

Example of URDPC/CODECO demands on gold traders: a 2 February 2021 letter from URDPC/CODECO “Major” 

Mabi-Pelo demanding $200 from the President of the gold negociants’ cooperative (CONORI) in Mongbwalu, and 

the town’s President of the business association.  

 

Exemple de demandes de l’URDPC/CODECO aux négociants d’or: une lettre datée du 2 février 2021 du « Major 

» Mabi-Pelo de l’URDPC/CODECO exigeant $200 du président d'une coopérative de négociants d’or (CONORI) 

à Mongbwalu, et du président de la Fédération des entreprises (FEC) de Mongbwalu. 
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Letter obtained by the Group from several local sources 

Lettre obtenue par le Groupe auprès de plusieurs sources locales    
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Annex 77 
 
Support of “CODECO” by businessmen 
 
Appui de « CODECO » par les hommes d'affaires  
 

The Group spoke to a gold trader, a local authority, two local residents with knowledge of the matter and a former 

URDPC/CODECO combatant who described how Ndele Bachebandey supported “CODECO”, in particular those 

digging at Kpangba site, Malanga hill, where Ndele owned a mining area.  The ex- URDPC/CODECO combatant 

told the Group that he had sold gold personally to Ndele, when he had worked in his mine whilst a 

URDPC/CODECO combatant. During a discussion with the Group, the Bourgmestre told the Group that none of 

the businessmen in Mongbwalu supported armed elements.  

 

The Group wrote to Ndele, but had not received a response by time of drafting.  

 

The Group also received an audio recording of a local radio interview with a CODECO/URDPC combatant, which 

mentions Ndele’s support to that group. The transcript of the February 2021 audio is below.  

 

Le Groupe s'est entretenu avec un négociant d’or, une autorité locale, deux résidents locaux connaissant la question 

et un ex-combattant de URDPC/CODECO qui a décrit comment Ndele Bachebandey soutenait « CODECO », en 

particulier ceux qui creusaient sur le site de Kpangba, sur la colline de Malanga, où Ndele possédait une zone 

minière. L’ex-combattant de URDPC/CODECO a déclaré au Groupe qu'il avait personnellement vendu de l'or à 

Ndele, alors qu'il avait travaillé dans sa mine pendant qu'il était combattant de URDPC/CODECO. Lors d'une 

discussion avec le Groupe, le bourgmestre a déclaré qu'aucun des hommes d'affaires de Mongb walu ne soutenait 

les éléments armés. 

Le Groupe a écrit à Ndele, mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment de la rédaction du rapport. 

Le Groupe a également reçu un enregistrement audio d’une interview avec un combattant URDPC/CODECO, qui 

mentionne le soutien de Ndele à ce groupe. La transcription de l'audio de février 2021 est ci -dessous. 

*** 

 

Q: What news? 

URDPC/CODECO combatant: I think you are aware of our case.  

Q: Yes, I have been given information that is unreliable, I think you are the person who wi ll tell me the real infor-

mation in detail and accuracy. What are your demands and wishes for peace to return? 

URDPC/CODECO combatant: for your information, you speak with the chief of operations of the Sud macho ya 

Djugu assailants, General of the Republic. We are part of the process so my young people arrived in Mongbwalu, 

our patron Ndele often assists them. They have opened a site to dig for gold but the company comes and blocks 

the whole site. So, we are angry, we are going to organize marches so that o ur decision is carried out which is to 

liberate the identified site for the benefit of the population of Ituri in general and in particular those of Mongbwalu 

because the company did not give anything. Nor the government. So where did this company come fro m. In case 

the company does not release this place, we will arrive without de lay. 
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Q: Have you contacted the person in charge of the company requesting a hearing to discuss your demands together?  

 

URDPC/CODECO combatant: It's been several times since we asked to meet but they are clever by asking us to 

wait until tomorrow, sometimes even a week, but without a favorable result for almost a month. We would like to 

know, why the children of Ituri suffer when they have their land to exploit?  

Q: Is that your phone number to stay in touch with you all the time? 

URDPC/CODECO combatant: yes! That's my number. Here we are not for ethnic tribalism, if one is Mulendu, 

Mubira, Mululu, Muhema or whatever. We are for everyone's interest. 

Q : Quelle est la nouvelle ? 

URDPC/CODECO combattant: je pense que tu es au courant de notre affaire.  

Q : Oui, on m'a donné une information qui n'est pas fiable, je pense que toi, tu es la personne qui me diras la vraie 

information avec détail et exactitude. Quelle est votre revendication et soucis pour que la paix revienne? 

 

URDPC/CODECO combattant: pour ton information, tu parles avec le chef des opérations du Sud macho ya 

Djugu ya assaillants, général de la république. Nous sommes dans le processus, alors mes jeunes arrivaient à 

Mongbwalu, notre papa Ndele les assiste souvent. Ils ont ouvert un site pour creuser de l'or mais la société arrive 

à boucher tout le site. Alors nous sommes en colère, nous allons organiser des marches pour que notre décision soit 

exécutée, qui est de libérer le site identifié au profit de la population de l'Ituri en général et en particu lier celle de 

Mongbwalu, car la société n'a rien donné ni le gouvernement. Alors d'où est venue cette société  ? Au cas où la 

société ne libère pas cet endroit, nous allons descendre sans délai. 

Q : Est-ce que avez-vous contacté le responsable de la société, demandé l'audience pour discuter ensemble sur vos 

revendications ? 

URDPC/CODECO combattant:  Ça fait plusieurs fois que nous avons demandé de nous rencontrer mais ils font les 

malins en nous demandant d'attendre demain, tantôt après une semaine, mais san s une suite favorable, presque un 

mois. Nous avons le soucis, pourquoi les enfant de l'Ituri peuvent souffrir au moment où ils ont leur terre à exploi-

ter? 

Q : C'est ton numéro de téléphone pour rester en contact permanent avec toi ?  

URDPC/CODECO combattant: oui! C'est mon numéro. Ici nous ne sommes pas pour le tribalisme ethnique, qu’un 

tel est Mulendu, Mubira, Mululu, Muhema ou quoi que ce soit. Nous sommes dans l'intérêt de tout le monde.  
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Annex 78 
 
Equinoxe Gold Refinery, Bunia  
 
Raffinerie d'or Equinoxe, Bunia 
 

The Group found that the construction of Equinoxe gold refinery was not yet under way. The Group reviewed the 

22 July 2019 Memorandum of Understanding between Equinox Holding Limited (see S/2020/482, para. 68) and 

the provincial government of Ituri, which entered into the agreement via Ituri Holding, a holding company.  

 

In his letter to the Group, Governor Bamanisa of Ituri Province underlined that the Memorandum aimed to establish 

a legal circuit for the exploitation, commercialisation and refining of gold in Ituri, that would benefit the population 

and public treasury.  
 

 

Le Groupe a constaté que la construction de la raffinerie d'or Equinoxe n'était pas encore en cours. Le Groupe a 

examiné le protocole d'accord du 22 juillet 2019 entre Equinox Holding Limited (voir S/2020/482, par. 68) et le 

gouvernement provincial de l'Ituri, qui a conclu l'accord via Ituri Holding, une société holding.  
 

Dans sa lettre au Groupe, le Gouverneur Bamanisa, Gouverneur de la province d'Ituri, a souligné que le mémoran-

dum visait à établir un circuit légal pour l'exploitation, la commercialisation et le raffinage de l'or en Ituri, qui 

profiterait à la population et au trésor public.   

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
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Annex 79 
 
Ugandan gold production and export statistics  
 
Statistiques de production et d'exportation de l’or en Ouganda 
 
Ituri gold production and exports 

Production et exportation d'or de l'Ituri  

 

The Group noted that official gold production and exports remained low compared to actual production and volumes 

of smuggled gold from Ituri, as previously reported (see S/2020/482, annex 16). 

 

Le Groupe a noté que la production et les exportations officielles d'or  restaient faibles par rapport à la production 

réelle et aux volumes d'or de contrebande d'Ituri, comme indiqué précédemment (voir S/2020/482, annexe 16). 

 

  Ituri  

  

Production figures/chiffres 

de production (g) 

Export figures/chiffres 

d’exportation (g) 

2020 11,259.51* 14,213.00 

2019 47,766.54 24,228.37 

   

*2020 production figures were 4724.45 grams of artisanally produced gold, and 6535.06 grams of gold produced 

by mining cooperatives/les chiffres de production pour 2020 étaient de 4724,45 grammes d'or de production arti-

sanale et de 6535,06 grammes d'or produits par les coopératives minières  

 
Officially, Mongbwalu area produced just 792.32 grams of gold for 2020, whereas three mining officials and two 

local analysts estimated an average weekly production of 50 kilograms for Mongbwalu and its surrounding mines, 

at a conservative estimate.  

 

At the same time, also for 2020, mining authorities recorded 29,337.67 grams of official gold sales by gold nego-

ciants, in Ituri. More gold was sold than was officially recorded as production.  

 

Regarding exports, Ituri’s three registered gold comptoirs officially exported 14.213 kilograms of gold for 2020.  

 

 
Officiellement, la région de Mongbwalu n'a produit que 792,32 grammes d'or pour l'année, tand is que trois respon-

sables des mines et deux analystes locaux ont estimé une production hebdomadaire moyenne de 50 kilogrammes 

pour Mongbwalu et ses environs, selon une estimation prudente.  

 

Dans le même temps, également pour 2020, les autorités minières ont enregistré 29 337,67 grammes de ventes d'or 

officielles par des négociants d'or, en Ituri. Plus d'or a été vendu que ce qui était officiellement enregistré comme 

production. 

 

Concernant les exportations, les trois comptoirs d’or enregistrés en l’Ituri on t officiellement exporté 14,213 kilo-

grammes d’or pour 2020. 

 

 

*** 

 

 

 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
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Ituri’s gold to Uganda 

L’or d’Ituri vers l’Ouganda  

 

Based on the Group’s interviews with six mining authorities, eight members of the private sector and eight diggers, 

the Group found that smuggling of large volumes of gold from Ituri to Uganda continued, as previously reported 

(see S/2020/482, annex 18). Traders and mining authorities in Iga-Barrière, Irumu territory, and in Bunia, consist-

ently described gold smuggling routes to Uganda that they had either used themselves, or had first-hand knowledge 

of.  

 

The Group reviewed publicly available information on Uganda’s gold imports and found that in 2019, Uganda 

imported gold from 13 countries but did not record any official imports from the DRC.90 Comparable import data 

for 2020 was unavailable at time of drafting.  

Publicly available Bank of Uganda data recorded preliminary gold exports from Uganda of almost 36 tonnes of 

gold for 2020,91 compared to 27.7 tonnes for 2019 (see also S/2020/482, annex 43), or an increase of 29.4 percent. 

 

  2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Gold exports/ex-

portations d’or 

(USD, millions) 339.54 417.92 514.89 1,257.82 1,819.27 

Gold exports/ ex-

portations d’or (kg) 

         

8,639  

       

10,830  

       

13,216  

        

27,758  

        

35,943  

 

 

The Group also reviewed Uganda’s gold production data and found that this had increased from 712 kilos, recorded 

in 2019, to 3,210,000 grams (3.21 tonnes) of gold production in 2020, according to the Ministry of Energy and 

Mineral Development figures. The Group calculates this to be an increase of 450,742 percent in recorded gold 

production.92  

The Group wrote to the Government of Uganda throughout its mandate to request disaggregated gold production 

data, but had not received a reply at time of drafting.  

 

Sur la base des entretiens du Groupe avec six autorités minières, huit membres du secteur privé et huit creuseurs, 

le Groupe a constaté que la contrebande de grands volumes d'or d'Ituri vers l'Ouganda se poursuivait, comme 

indiqué précédemment (voir S/2020/482, annexe 18). Les commerçants et les autorités minières d'Iga-Barrière et 

ceux dans le territoire d'Irumu et de Bunia ont décrit de façon consistante les routes de contrebande d'or vers 

l'Ouganda qu'ils avaient eux-mêmes utilisées ou dont ils avaient une connaissance de première main.  

Le Groupe a examiné les informations accessibles au public sur les importations d'or de l'Ouganda et a constaté 

qu'en 2019, l'Ouganda importait de l'or de 13 pays mais n'enregistrait aucune importation officielle en provenance 

de la RDC. Les données d'importation comparables pour 2020 n'étaient pas disponibles au moment de la rédaction. 

  

__________________ 

90 https://www.bou.or.ug/bou/bouwebsite/Statistics/Statistics.html (last accessed 4 April 2021 / dernier accès le 4 avril 2021). 
91 https://www.bou.or.ug/bou/bouwebsite/Statistics/Statistics.html (last accessed 4 April 2021 / dernier accès le 4 avril 2021).  
92 https://www.ubos.org/explore-statistics/65/ (last accessed 28 April 2021 / dernier accès le 28 avril 2021). 

 

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
https://www.bou.or.ug/bou/bouwebsite/Statistics/Statistics.html
https://www.bou.or.ug/bou/bouwebsite/Statistics/Statistics.html
https://www.ubos.org/explore-statistics/65/
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Les données accessibles au public de la banque Bank of Uganda ont enregistré des exportations d'or préliminaires 

de l'Ouganda de près de 36 tonnes d'or pour 2020, contre 27,7 tonnes pour 2019 (voir également S/2020/482, 

annexe 43), soit une augmentation de 29,4 pourcent.  

 

  2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Gold exports/ex-

portations d’or 

(USD, millions) 339.54 417.92 514.89 1,257.82 1,819.27 

Gold exports/ ex-

portations d’or (kg) 

         

8,639  

       

10,830  

       

13,216  

        

27,758  

        

35,943  

 

 

Le Groupe a également examiné les données sur la production d'or de l'Ouganda et a constaté que celle -ci était 

passée de 712 kilos, enregistrés en 2019, à 3,21 tonnes de production d'or enregistrée pour 2020, selon les chiffres 

du Ministère de l'énergie et du développement des minéraux. Le Groupe estime qu'il s'agit d'une augmentation de 

450,742 pourcent de la production d'or enregistrée.  

 

Le Groupe a écrit au Gouvernement ougandais tout au long de son mandat pour demander les données ventilées sur 

la production d'or, mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment de la rédaction du rapport.  

  

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
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Annex 80 
 
FPIC involvement in gold mining activities 
 
Implication de FPIC dans les activités aurifères   
 

Some FPIC combatants were previously artisanal diggers and continued to dig gold for subsistence, although FPIC 

did not use gold to fund its movement during the reporting period, according to a member of Irumu territory civil 

society, two local authorities and two Ituri province mining authorities. Four local and mining authorities noted 

that members of the Bira community traditionally mined gold around Andisoma, Mobala, Babelebe, Nyakunde, 

Vututu and along the Talolo river, and that FPIC combatants dug in these areas alongside the population.  

 

The Group did not find evidence that FPIC attacked semi-industrial mining operations directly, during its investi-

gations in Irumu territory. However, semi-industrial mining operations on the Shari river, at  less than one kilometre 

outside of Irumu town, ceased during 2020 in part because of insecurity, according to two local individuals with 

first-hand knowledge of the matter.  

 

The Irumu town site, photographed below, was operated by Gold Dragon Ressources RDC and, prior, Fametal 

Mining et Ressources Holding Group Limited, and comprised a combination of dredging machines and excavators 

during 2020 and prior, according to a local authority and two local eyewitnesses. All three sources noted that some 

FARDC members, whom the authority described as “from Bunia, and whose members would rotate”, were stationed 

at the perimeter of the site. The Group contacted Fametal Mining et Ressources Holding Group Limited, owned by 

Wang Bin and Paul Kasembele, and had not received a reply by time of drafting. The Group was unable to contact 

Gold Dragon Ressources RDC, managed by Wang Bin, directly, despite multiple attempts. See also para. 126. 
 

 

Certains combattants FPIC étaient auparavant des creuseurs artisanaux et ont conti nué à creuser de l'or pour leur 

subsistance, bien que FPIC n'ait pas utilisé d'or pour financer leur mouvement au cours de la période considérée, 

selon un membre de la société civile du territoire d'Irumu, deux autorités locales et deux autorités minières de la 

province d'Ituri. Quatre autorités locales et minières ont noté que les membres de la communauté Bira creusaient 

de l'or souvent autour d'Andisoma, Mobala, Babelebe, Nyakunde, Vututu et le long de la rivière Talolo, et que les 

combattants FPIC creusaient dans ces zones aux côtés de la population. 

 

Au cours de ses enquêtes dans le territoire d'Irumu, le Groupe n'a pas trouvé de preuve que FPIC ait attaqué direc-

tement des opérations minières semi-industrielles. Cependant, les opérations minières semi-industrielles sur la ri-

vière Shari, à moins d'un kilomètre à l'extérieur de la ville d'Irumu, ont cessé en 2020 en partie en raison de l'insé-

curité, selon deux personnes locales familières avec la question.  

 

Le site de la ville d'Irumu, photographié ci-dessous, était exploité par Gold Dragon Ressources RDC et Fametal 

Mining et Ressources Holding Group Limited, et comprenait une combinaison de dragues et d’excavateurs en 2020 

et avant, selon une autorité locale et deux témoins oculaires locaux. Les trois sources ont noté que certains membres 

des FARDC, qu’une autorité locale a décrit comme « de Bunia et dont les membres faisaient des rotations », étaient 

stationnés sur le périmètre du site. Le Groupe a contacté Fametal Mining et Ressources Holding Group Limited , 

propriété de Wang Bin et Paul Kasembele, et n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment de la rédaction du rapport. Le 

Groupe n'a pas pu contacter directement Gold Dragon Ressources RDC, qui était géré par Wang Bin, malgré de 

multiples tentatives. Voir aussi par. 126. 

 
 
  
 

 

 

 



S/2021/560 
 

 

254/369 21-06047 

 

 

 

Gold dredging and excavation site, Irumu town, Irumu territory 

Site d’excavation et de dragues, ville d’Irumu, territoire d’Irumu  

Photograph taken by the Group during its site visit to Irumu town, January 2021  

Photographie prise par le Groupe lors de sa visite de la ville d'Irumu, janvier 2021 
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Annex 81 
 
Attacks preceding the attack on Irumu town and damages to the office of the Administrator of the 
territory in Irumu town 
 
Attaques précédant l’attaque sur la ville d’Irumu et dégâts sur le bureau de l’Administrateur du 
territoire dans la ville d’Irumu 
 

The attack on Irumu town was preceded by a 16 October 2020 incident at the nearby cattle market during which a 

Bira individual was injured by Hemas, prompting Biras to revolt. On 17 O ctober, 11 Biras from two households, 

including one woman and two children, who had been killed by machetes, were found in dwellings located 7 -10 

kilometres from Irumu town. This discovery caused turmoil, including the erection of barricades by FPIC and ex-

changes of fire with FARDC and PNC in Irumu town.93  

 

L’attaque sur la ville d’Irumu a été précédée par un incident le 16 octobre au marché de bétail à côté de la ville 

durant lequel un Bira a été blessé par des Hemas, ce qui a poussé les Biras à se souleve r. Le 17 octobre, 11 Biras de 

deux familles, y compris une femme et deux enfants, tués par machette, ont été découverts dans des habitations à 7 -

10 kilomètres du centre d’Irumu. Cette découverte a semé des troubles, y compris l’érection de barrages par FPI C 

et des échanges de tirs avec les FARDC et la PNC dans la ville d’Irumu.94 

 

Below, photographs of the office of the Administrator of the territory in Irumu town after the attack  

Ci-dessous, photographies du bureau de l’Administrateur du territoire dans la ville d’Irumu après l’attaque 

 

 

__________________ 

93 Eyewitnesses, four local authorities, two civil society members, MONUSCO sources, DRC official documentation. 
94 Témoins oculaires, quatre autorités locales, deux membres de la société civile, des sources de la MONUSCO, docu mentation 

officielle de la RDC.    
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Photographs taken by the Group on 25 January 2021 

Photographies prises par le Groupe le 25 janvier 2021 
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Annex 82 
 
Zaïre areas of operations and taxation 
 
Zones d’opérations de Zaïre and taxes 
 
Zaïre is also referred to as Zaïrois and, on rare occasions, as Front populaire d’autodéfense du Congo (FPAC) or 

Front populaire d’autodéfense en Ituri.  
 
Areas of operations 

 
Zaïre retained two areas of operations, one in Djugu territory and another in Irumu territory. It is unclear if Zaïre 

elements in Djugu territory were closely linked to those in Irumu territory, and what was the nature of their collab-

oration, if any. 

 

In Djugu territory, in addition to their strongholds in Dala (Mambisa), Mbidjo and Dhego (Bahema Badjere), Zaïre 

elements were in Bule, Fataki, Iga-Barrière, Mabanga, Berunda, Nizi, Nyaka, Akwe, Damas, Lalo, Banana, Nou-

veau, Lopa, Ngukle, Tuspka, Tsukana, Ndipka, Pili Pili, Lenga, Gali, Lodjo, Lodha and Zengo. 95 

 

In Irumu territory, in addition to its strongholds in Sota and Shari, Zaïre elements were in Badia, Nkunda, and 

Basiga.96 

 

Taxation 

 

Zaïre elements continued to impose taxes at roadblocks (see S/2020/1283, para. 49). Pedestrians usually paid 

between 500 and 1,000 CDF, motorbikes between 1,000 and 2,000 CDF, small vehicles 3,000 CDF, and large 

vehicles 5,000 CDF. They did not usually give a jeton, but rather put a mark with a pen on motorbikes.97 One 

source also mentioned taxation of markets and shops in Lalo, Banana, Ngukle, Dhego, Dala, Nouveau, Nyaka, 

Akwe, and Damas. 

 

Le groupe Zaïre est aussi appelé Zaïrois et en de rares occasions le Front populaire d’autodéfense du Congo (FPAC) 

ou le Front populaire d’autodéfense en Ituri.  
 

Zones d’opérations 

Zaïre a conservé deux zones d’opérations, une dans le territoire de Djugu et une autre dans le territoire d’Irumu. 

Il n’est pas clair si les éléments de Zaïre dans le territoire de Djugu étaient étroitement liés à ceux du territoire 

d’Irumu, et quelle était la nature de leur collaboration, le cas échéant. 

Dans le territoire de Djugu, en plus de leurs bastions de Dala (Mambisa), Mbidjo and Dhego (Bahema Badjere), 

les éléments Zaïre étaient à Bule, Fataki, Iga-Barrière, Mabanga, Berunda, Nizi, Nyaka, Akwe, Damas, Lalo, Ba-

nana, Nouveau, Lopa, Ngukle, Tuspka, Tsukana, Ndipka, Pili Pili, Lenga, Gali, Lodjo, Lodha et Zengo.98 

Dans le territoire d’Irumu, en plus de ses bastions de Sota and Shari, les éléments Zaïre étaient à Badia, Nkunda, 

et Basiga.99 

 

 

 

__________________ 

95 Two local authorities, civil society, one local resident, one FDBC combatant, one NGO, ANR and MONUSCO sources. 
96 Civil society and MONUSCO sources. 
97 Two local residents, Zaïre ex-element, MONUSCO and ANR sources. 
98 Deux autorités locales, société civile, un résident local, un combattant de la FDBC, une ONG, des sources de l’ANR et de la 

MONUSCO. 
99 Société civile et sources de la MONUSCO. 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Taxes 

 

Les éléments Zaïre ont continué d’imposer des taxes aux barrages sur les routes  (voir S/2020/1283, par. 49). Les 

piétons payaient généralement entre 500 et 1 000 CDF, les motos entre 1 000 et 2 000 CDF, les petits véhicules 

3 000 CDF et les gros 5 000 CDF. Ils ne donnaient généralement pas de jetons, mais faisaient une marque au 

marqueur sur les motos.100 Une source a aussi mentionné qu’ils taxaient les marchés et les boutiques de Lalo, 

Banana, Ngukle, Dhego, Dala, Nouveau, Nyaka, Akwe, et Damas. 

 

  

__________________ 

100 Deux résidents locaux, un ex-élément de Zaïre, des sources de la MONUSCO et l’ANR. 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Annex 83  
 
Additional rape cases by DRC security forces  
 
Cas additionnels de viols commis par les forces de sécurité de la RDC  
 
In addition to the rape cases mentioned at paragraph 117, representatives of five NGOs documenting rape cases 

and/or assisting rape victims and one ANR source told the Group about rapes committed by FARDC, PNC and 

PMH members throughout Djugu territory in 2020 and 2021, including rapes of children. The Group was able to 

document the cases below. 

 

In March 2020, three FARDC members raped a 41-year-old Hema IDP woman as she was returning to her fields in 

Tche to pick up food. They badly beat her on the face, making her lose teeth, and threatened to kill her.  

 

In April 2020, a 22-year-old Hema woman was raped by at least three PNC members patrolling from Nizi, as she 

was selling fruits in Iga-Barrière. She was badly beaten before they raped her, stole 200,000 CDF from her and 

destroyed her fruits. She had seen her assailants once before. She knew girls aged 17-18 years raped by PMH 

members in mines. Rape often occurred in mines and DRC security forces who committed rape were protected by 

being transferred, according to her. She added that FARDC members also committed rape in mines. 

 

In June 2020, a 24-year-old Hema IDP woman was raped by one FARDC soldier at a roadblock near Kilo at gun-

point. A second FARDC soldier tried to rape her, but she escaped. They threatened her with death if she reported 

them. 

 

 

En sus des cas de viols mentionnés au paragraphe 117, les représentants de cinq ONGs qui documentent les cas de 

viols et/ou assistent les victimes de viol et une source de l’ANR ont mentionné au Groupe des viols commis par 

des membres des FARDC, de la PNC et de la PMH dans tout le territoire de Djugu en 2020 et 2021, y compris des 

viols d’enfants. Le Groupe a pu documenter les cas ci-dessous. 

 

En mars 2020, trois membres des FARDC ont violé une femme déplacée interne Hema de 41 ans alors qu’elle 

retournait à son champ à Tche pour aller chercher de la nourriture. Ils l’ont sérieusement battue au visage, lui faisant 

perdre des dents, et ont menacé de la tuer. 

 

En avril 2020, une femme Hema de 22 ans a été violée par au moins trois membres de la PNC en patrouille de Nizi, 

alors qu’elle vendait des fruits à Iga-Barrière. Ils l’ont sérieusement battue avant de la violer, lui ont pris 200 000 

CDF et ont détruit ses fruits. Elle avait vu ses assaillants une fois auparavant. Elle connaissait des filles âgées de 

17-18 ans violées par des membres de la PMH dans les mines. Les viols se produisaient souvent dans les mines et 

les forces de sécurité congolaises qui commettaient des viols étaient protégées en étant transférées, d’après elle. 

Elle a ajouté que des membres des FARDC commettaient aussi des viols dans les mines. 

 

En juin 2020, une femme déplacée interne Hema de 24 ans a été violée par un soldat des FARDC à un barrage 

routier près de Kilo, sous la menace d’une arme. Un second soldat des FARDC a essayé de la violer, mais elle s’est 

enfuie. Ils l’ont menacée de mort si elle les dénonçait. 
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Annex 84 
 
FARDC members abuses in Linga locality 
 
Abus par des membres des FARDC dans la localité de Linga 
 

In Linga locality, FARDC members prevented the Lendu population from accessing the village even after fighting 

had ended. The population hid in the bush or moved to safer areas, and only started to return with the presidential 

delegation’s arrival to the area in August 2020. While the population had, at least partly, returned to Linga at the 

time of the Group’s visit in early February 2021, its hospital, which had been looted of its material and medication 

by some FARDC members, was still not operational and its doctors had not returned. This impacted the population’s 

health. 

 

Dans la localité de Linga, des membres des FARDC ont empêché la population lendu d’accéder au village même 

après les combats. La population a dû se cacher dans la brousse ou aller dans des zones plus sûres, et n’a commencé 

à revenir qu’avec l’arrivée de la délégation présidentielle dans la zone en août 2020. Bien que la population était, 

au moins en partie, revenue à Linga au moment de la visite du Groupe début février 2021, son hôpital, qui avait été 

pillé de son matériel et de ses médicaments par certains membres des FARDC, n’était toujours pas opérationnel et 

les médecins n’étaient pas revenus. Cela a impacté la santé de la population. 

 

Below, photographs of Linga hospital 

 

Ci-dessous, photographies de l’hôpital de Linga 
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Photographs taken by the Group on 1 February 2021 

Photographies prises par le Groupe le 1er février 2021 
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Annex 85 
 
Mass arrests in Kotoni and Lengabo 
 
Arrestations de masse à Kotoni et Lengabo 
 
While conducting joint search operations to respond to threats posed by armed groups at the periphery of Bunia, 

PNC and FARDC members carried out mass arrests in Kotoni and Lengabo,101 including of underage boys, on 19 

December 2020 and 7 January 2021, respectively. They arrested 154 people, including 16 children, in Kotoni and 

67, including three children, in Lengabo. They only seized a few weapons. A large majority of those arrested was 

eventually released.102 

In Kotoni, PNC and FARDC members looted and mistreated those arrested, whom they suspected of belonging to 

CODECO. One Lendu source explained that FARDC members looted everything in his house, including clothes, 

$1,400 and 750,000 CDF. The same source saw FARDC members hit those arrested with the butt of their weapons. 

Another Lendu source explained that PNC members stole $250 from him, put him into a truck with other arrested 

people and walked on his chest. In Bunia, he was questioned about ALC/CODECO and had to pay $300 to be 

released. His uncle was badly whipped and had to pay $400 to be released. A 15-year-old IDP Lendu boy was 

arrested under suspicion of being a member of ALC/CODECO and badly whipped when detained. His family had 

to pay 50,000 CFD for his release. 

Following the arrests of 67 persons in Lengabo, of whom 52 were quickly released, youths who were suspected of 

belonging to FPIC, protested leading to armed clashes with FARDC and looting.  

The Ituri Provincial Police Commissioner told the Group that both mass arrests were carried out on the basis of 

search warrants. He denied arrest of any children and any misbehavior by PNC members. FARDC General Yav 

said he was unaware of these exactions and he would check with his subordinates. 

 

 

Des membres de la PNC et des FARDC, effectuant une opération conjointe de fouilles pour répondre aux menaces 

posées par les groupes armés à la périphérie de Bunia, ont conduit des arrestations massives à Kotoni et Lengabo,103  

y compris de garçons mineurs, les 19 décembre 2020 et 7 Janvier 2021, respectivement. Ils ont arrêté 154 per-

sonnes, y compris 16 mineurs, à Kotoni et 67 personnes, y compris trois mineurs, à Lengabo. Ils ont saisi seulement 

quelques armes. La grande majorité de ceux qui ont été arrêtés ont été finalement relâchés.104    

À Kotoni, des membres de la PNC et des FARDC ont pillé et maltraité ceux arrêtés, les suspectant d’appartenir à 

CODECO. Une source lendu a expliqué que des membres des FARDC ont tout pillé dans sa maison, y compris des 

vêtements, $1 400 et 750,000 CDF. La même source a vu des membres des FARDC frapper ceux arrêtés avec la 

crosse de leur fusils. Une autre source lendu a expliqué que des membres de la PNC lui avaient volé $250, l’avaient 

mis dans un camion avec d’autres personnes arrêtées et leur avaient marché sur le torse. À Bunia, il a été interrogé 

au sujet de l’ALC/CODECO et il a dû payer $300 pour être relâché. Son oncle a été sérieusement fouetté et a dû 

payer $400 pour être relâché. Un garçon lendu de 15 ans déplacé interne a été arrêté parce que suspecté d’être 

membre de l’ALC/CODECO et sérieusement fouetté lors de sa détention. Sa famille a dû payer 50 000 CFD pour 

qu’il soit relâché.  

Après les arrestations de 67 personnes à Lengabo, parmi lesquelles 52 ont été rapidement relâchées, des jeunes, 

suspectés d’appartenir à la FPIC, ont protesté, ce qui a conduit à des affrontements armés avec les FARDC et des 

pillages.  

__________________ 

101 DRC security forces also arrested many people in Komanda, after the attacks on the town, and in Tokoto.  
102  Two local authorities, five local residents, NGOs, civil society, PNC and MONUSCO sources. On 20 December 2020, 

URDPC/CODECO threatened to suspend the ceasefire if the 154 persons were not released.  
103 Les forces de sécurité de la RDC ont aussi arrêté de nombreuses personnes à Komanda, après les attaques sur la ville, et à Tokoto. 
104 Deux autorités locales, cinq résidents locaux, un représentant d’une ONG, sources de la société civile, PNC et MONUSCO. Le 

20 décembre 2020, URDPC/CODECO a menacé de suspendre le cessez-le-feu si les 154 personnes n’étaient pas relâchées.  
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Le Commissaire Provincial de Police de l’Ituri a dit au Groupe que les deux arrestations de masse avaient été 

diligentées sur la base de mandats de perquisition. Il a nié l’arrestation de mineurs et toute mauvaise conduite de 

la part des membres de la PNC. Le Général des FARDC Yav a dit qu’il n’était pas au courant de ces exactions et 

qu’il vérifierait avec ses subordonnés. 
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Annex 86 

Resolutions signed between FRPI and the presidential delegation on 29 December 2020 

 

Résolutions signées entre la FRPI et la délégation présidentielle le 29 décembre 2020 

 

 
 

Document provided to the Group by DDRR stakeholders 

 

Document fourni au Groupe par les parties prenantes au DDRR 
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Annex 87 

 

List of FRPI members in prison or detention in the DRC 

 

Listes des membres de la FRPI en prison ou en détention en RDC 
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Document provided to the Group by FRPI 

 

Document fourni au Groupe par la FRPI 
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Annex 88  

 

FRPI’s chain of command, according to FRPI 

 

Chaine de commandement FRPI, d’après la FRPI 

 

-  Chief of Staff: “General” Mbadu Adirodu Richard 

-  Intelligence and Security Officer: “Colonel” Mbafial Adirodu Dieudonne 

-  Administration officer: “Colonel” Mono Munabi Alberto  

-  Operations manager: “Colonel” David Mouselekete 

-  Logistics officer: “Colonel” Kakodo Yambe 

-  Public relations officer: “Colonel” Dodava Adirodu Augustin 

-  Commander 1st Brigade Simba: “Colonel” Ovedo Avego Rolex 

-  Commander 2nd Brigade Cobra: “Colonel” Androz Mita Joel 

-  Commander 3rd Brigade Ngoyi: “Colonel” Eric Bahati 

-  Legal advisor: Maitre Bahati 

 

- Chef d’État-major : « Général » Mbadu Adirodu Richard 

- Chargé du renseignement et de la sécurité: « Colonel » Mbafial Adirodu Dieudonne 

- Chargé de l’administration : « Colonel » Mono Munabi Alberto  

- Chargé des opérations : « Colonel » David Mouselekete 

- Chargé de la logistique : « Colonel » Kakodo Yambe 

- Chargé des relations publiques : « Colonel » Dodava Adirodu Augustin 

- Commandant 1ière Brigade Simba : « Colonel » Ovedo Avego Rolex 

- Commandant 2ème Brigade Cobra : « Colonel » Androz Mita Joel 

- Commandant 3ème Brigade Ngoyi : « Colonel » Eric Bahati 

- Conseiller juridique : Maitre Bahati 
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Annex 89 

 

Report of the Joint Technical Committee of 20 March 2021 meeting on FRPI DDRR  

  

Rapport du Comité technique conjoint sur la réunion du 20 Mars 2021 sur le DDRR FRPI 
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Document provided to the Group by DDRR stakeholders 

Document fourni au Groupe par les parties prenantes au DDRR   
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Annex 90 

 

Checkpoint FRPI in Lorobi, between Bunia and Gety 

 

Point de contrôle DE LA FRPI à Lorobi entre Bunia et Gety 
 

 
 

 
 

Photographs taken by the Group on 8 March 2021 

 

Photographies prises par le Groupe le 8 mars 2021 
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Annex 91 

Illegal presence of FARDC members at mining areas  
 
Présence illégale de membres des FARDC dans les zones minières 
 
The Group interviewed twelve eyewitnesses, including local authorit ies, members of the private sector and local 

people who described how, in Djugu, Irumu and Mambasa territories, some FARDC members provided illegal 

protection at gold mining areas where local cooperatives mined gold with semi-industrial mining companies be-

longing to Chinese individual investors. The Congolese Mining Code and military regulations forbid FARDC pres-

ence at mining sites. 

Le Groupe a interrogé douze témoins oculaires, dont des autorités locales, des membres du secteur privé et des 

populations locales, qui ont décrit comment, dans les territoires de Djugu, d'Irumu et de Mambasa, certains 

membres des FARDC ont fourni une protection illégale dans les zones d'extraction d’or où des co opératives locales 

exploitaient l'or avec des entreprises semi-industrielles appartenant à des investisseurs individuels chinois. Le Code 

minier congolais et la réglementation militaire interdisent la présence des FARDC sur les sites miniers.  

Gold Dragon Ressources RDC 

Seven eyewitnesses told the Group that they had observed Gold Dragon Ressources RDC, a company that the 

Group established was managed by Wang Bin, conducting semi-mechanised gold mining in at least Njani river 

Banyali-Kilo chefferie, and at Musuma river Ndo Okebo chefferie, Djugu territory and Irumu locality, Irumu terri-

tory. One mining official estimated that the company operated more than 30 excavating machines across all sites. 

In all cases, the eyewitnesses described FARDC presence at the entrance to the mining areas. Three authorities told 

the Group that some FARDC members positioned at the site entrances prevented them from entering when they 

wanted to go to the sites to undertake routine checks. Two independent eyewitnesses described the  number of 

FARDC at the Banyali-Kilo sites as “around the same number as a battalion”. The eyewitnesses were unable to 

identify the FARDC regiments, but two local authorities said that the FARDC members rotated and came from 

Bunia. 

Mining authorities told the Group that Gold Dragon Ressources did not inform them of its go ld production, and 

that the export destination of the gold produced was unknown. 

The Group established that Wang Bin also managed Fametal, a company which had previously exploited gold in 

Irumu territory, according to four authorities.105  The Group attempted to contact Gold Dragon Ressources via many 

channels, but without success. 

 

Sept témoins oculaires ont déclaré au Groupe qu'ils avaient observé Gold Dragon Ressources RDC, une société 

dont le Groupe a établi qu’elle était dirigée par Wang Bin, et qui fais ait de l’extraction d'or semi-mécanisée au 

moins dans la chefferie de Banyali-Kilo sur la rivière Njani et dans la chefferie de Ndo Okebo sur la rivière Mu-

suma, territoire de Djugu, et dans la localité d'Irumu, territoire d'Irumu. Un responsable minier a e stimé que l'en-

treprise exploitait plus de 30 machines d'excavation sur tous les sites. Dans tous les cas, les témoins oculaires ont 

décrit la présence de FARDC à l'entrée des zones minières. Trois autorités ont déclaré au Groupe que certains 

membres des FARDC positionnés à l'entrée des sites les avaient empêchés d'entrer, alors qu'ils voulaient se rendre 

sur les sites pour effectuer des contrôles de service. Deux témoins oculaire s indépendants ont décrit le nombre de 

FARDC sur les sites de Banyali-Kilo comme « à peu près le même nombre qu'un bataillon ». Les témoins oculaires 

n'ont pas pu identifier les régiments des FARDC, mais deux autorités locales ont déclaré que les membres d es 

FARDC faisaient des rotations et venaient de Bunia.  

Les autorités minières ont indiqué au Groupe que Gold Dragon Ressources ne les avait pas informées de sa pro-

duction d'or et la destination d'exportation de l'or produit leur était inconnue.  

__________________ 

105 See also https://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/Gold-Baseline-Study-3.pdf (last accessed 26 April 2021/dernier accès 26 avril 

2021). 

https://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/Gold-Baseline-Study-3.pdf
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Le Groupe a établi que Wang Bin dirigeait également Fametal, une société qui avait auparav ant exploité de l'or 

dans le territoire d'Irumu, selon quatre autorités. Le Groupe a tenté de contacter Gold Dragon Ressources via de 

nombreux canaux, mais sans succès. 

Kimia Mining Investment sarl 

Six eyewitnesses and two individuals with knowledge of the matter told the Group that Kimia Mining Investment 

sarl (Kimia Mining) (see S/2016/1102, paras. 69-75), a company that the Group established was managed by Lin 

Hao, operated at Biondo, a site 35 kilometres southwest of Mambasa town, and at Muchacha, 12 kilometres south 

of Bandegaido, both in Mambasa territory. In both cases, eyewitnesses described the illegal presence of FARDC 

members at the mines.  

In particular, the Group received over twenty photographs and ten videos of the presence of some FARDC members 

at Muchacha mine site, which is also known as Muchacha Mining Complex, because of its  large scale and semi-

industrial nature. Two eyewitnesses confirmed that the FARDC present were members of the 31 st regiment. In the 

photographs and videos that the Group reviewed, which the Group also authenticated, military-style watchtowers 

are visible at entrances into Muchacha, and some FARDC members are clearly visible guarding sites and digging 

machines. 

 

According to one eyewitness, in January 2021 Kimia Mining operated at least three large gold dredging machines 

and 10 excavators. Photographs and documentary evidence seen by the Group indicate that this figure could be 

higher, although the Group was unable to confirm the exact numbers of excavators, tractors, dredging machines 

and other semi-industrial equipment at the site by the time of drafting. According to mining authority figures, Kimia 

Mining Investment sarl produced only 2549.53g of gold during 2020.  

 

The company did not record any exports for 2020, and mining authorities said that the destination of the gold 

produced was unknown, and that some FARDC members prevented them from accessing the site to conduct routine 

checks. The Group wrote to Kimia Mining Investment sarl, including to request its supply chain due diligence 

report, but had not received a reply by time of drafting.  

 

In addition, the Group notes that Muchacha Mining Complex,106 where Kimia Mining also operated machinery, is 

located on a mining concession, PE7657, belonging to MCC Resources, owned by Cong Maohuai, according to 

publicly available company records and the Congolese Mining Cadastre.107  

 

Finally, the Group found that Muchacha Mining Complex was located inside the perimeter of the Okapi Wildlife 

Reserve, according to the 1992 legislation that established the Reserve (Arrêté ministériel n° 045/CM/ECN/92 du 

2 mai 1992 portant création et délimitation d’une réserve naturelle dénommée « Réserve de faune à okapis »). 

Mining within the Okapi Wildlife Reserve is illegal, according to the legislation.  

 

The Group consulted relevant authorities in Ituri, and the CAMI website 108 and learned that the boundaries of the 

Okapi Wildlife Reserve as established by the 1992 legislation were different from thos e that were demarcated on 

the map used by the Congolese Mining Cadastre. Specifically, the boundaries on the CAMI website generally 

mirrored the same contours as those in the 1992 legislation, but sat inside the official limit, by up to 7 kilometers.  

 

The Group wrote to Kimia Mining Investment sarl and MCC Resources and had not received a response by the 

time of drafting.  

 

Kimia Mining Investment sarl 

Six témoins oculaires et deux personnes ayant connaissance de l'affaire ont dit au Groupe que Kimia Minin g In-

vestment sarl (Kimia Mining) (voir S/2016/1102, par. 69 à 75), une société dont le Groupe a établi qu’elle était 

__________________ 

106 Voir aussi https://www.ipisresearch.be/mapping/webmapping/drcongo/v6/#1.3170631969662452/28.139162063598633/11/4/1/   

(last accessed 20 April 2021/dernier accès le 20 avril 2021) 
107 http://drclicences.cami.cd/fr/ (last accessed 20 April 2021/dernier accès le 20 avril 2021) 
108 Ibid 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2016/1102
https://www.undocs.org/S/2016/1102
https://www.ipisresearch.be/mapping/webmapping/drcongo/v6/#1.3170631969662452/28.139162063598633/11/4/1/
http://drclicences.cami.cd/fr/
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dirigée par Lin Hao, exploitait à Biondo, un site à 35 kilomètres au sud-ouest de la ville de Mambasa, et à Mucha-

cha, à 12 kilomètres au sud de Bandegaido, tous deux sur le territoire de Mambasa. Dans les deux cas, d es témoins 

oculaires ont décrit la présence illégale de membres des FARDC dans les mines.  

En particulier, le Groupe a reçu plus de vingt photographies et dix vidéos de la présence de certains membres des 

FARDC sur le site minier de Muchacha, également connu sous le nom de complexe minier de Muchacha, du fait 

qu’il était à grande échelle et semi-industriel. Deux témoins oculaires ont confirmé que les FARDC présents étaient 

membres du 31e régiment. Dans les photographies et vidéos examinées par le Groupe, et que le Groupe a également 

authentifiées, des tours de guet de style militaire sont visibles aux entrées de Muchacha, et certains  membres des 

FARDC gardant les sites et des machines à creuser étaient clairement visibles.  

Selon un témoin oculaire, en janvier 2021, Kimia Mining a exploité au moins trois grandes dragues d'or et 10 

excavatrices. Les photographies et les preuves documentaires vues par le Groupe indiquent que ce chiffre pourrait 

être plus élevé, bien que le Groupe n'ait pas été en mesure de confirmer le nombre exact d'excavatrices, de tracteurs, 

de dragues et d'autres équipements semi-industriels sur le site, au moment de la rédaction. Selon les chiffres des 

autorités minières, Kimia Mining Investment sarl n'a produit que 2549,53 g d'or en 2020.  

La société n'a enregistré aucune exportation pour 2020 et les autorités minières ont déclaré que la destination de 

l'or produit était inconnue et que certains membres des FARDC les avaient empêchés d'accéder au site pour effec-

tuer des contrôles de routine. Le Groupe a écrit à Kimia Mining Investment sarl, notamment pour lui demander son 

rapport de diligence raisonnable sur la chaîne d'approvisionnement, mais n'avait pas reçu de réponse au moment 

de la rédaction. 

En outre, le Groupe note que le complexe minier de Muchacha, où Kimia Mining aussi exploitait des machines, 

est situé sur une concession minière, PE7657, appartenant à MCC Resources, propriété de Cong Maohuai, selon 

les registres publics de l'entreprise et le cadastre minier congolais.  

Enfin, le Groupe a constaté que le complexe minier de Muchacha était situé à l'intérieur du périmètre de la réserve 

faunique d'Okapi, conformément à la législation de 1992 établissant la réserve (Arrêté ministériel n° 045/CM/ECN/ 

92 du 2 mai 1992 portant création et délimitation d'une réserve naturelle dénommée « Réserve de faune à okapis 

»). L'exploitation minière dans la Réserve de faune à okapis est illégale, selon la législation. 

Le Groupe a consulté les autorités compétentes en Ituri et aussi le site web de la CAMI et  a appris que les limites 

de la Réserve de faune à okapis, telles qu'établies par la législation de 1992, étaient différentes de  celles qui étaient 

délimitées sur la carte utilisée par le cadastre minier congolais. Plus précisément, les limites sur le site  web de la 

CAMI reflétaient généralement les mêmes contours que celles de la législation de 1992, mais se situaient à l'inté-

rieur de la limite officielle, jusqu'à 7 kilomètres. 

Le Groupe a écrit à Kimia Mining Investment sarl et MCC Resources et n'avait pa s reçu de réponse au moment de 

la rédaction. 
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Image provided to the Group by an authority in Ituri  

Image fournie au Groupe par une autorité de l'Ituri 
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Annex 92 
 
Command structure of Mai-Mai Yakutumba group 
 
Structure de l’État-major du groupe Mai-Mai Yakutumba 
 

According to two active combatants, three civil society members, three local residents and two journalists, the 

chain of command of Mai-Mai Yakutumba was as follows at the time of drafting: 

 

- Leader: William Amuri Yakutumba; 

- Executive Secretary and Spokesperson: Dalton Waubwela Mwila; 

- Operations and investigations officer: Bavon; 

- Intelligence Officer “G2”: Sengi Albert Alquaida; 

- Commander axis 1 Ngandja sector, Fizi territory: “Major“ Samba Olanga; 

- Commander axis 2 Lulenge Sector, Fizi territory: “Colonel” Kuinisera; 

- Commander axis 3 Milimba, Lulenge Sector: “Colonel” Hassan; 

- Commander axis 4 Kipupu, Itombwe sector, Mwenga territory: “Colonel” Zelamumba.  

 
Selon deux combattants actifs, trois membres de la société civile, trois résidents locaux et deux journalistes, la 

chaîne de commandement de Mai-Mai Yakutumba était la suivante au moment de la rédaction du rapport:  

  

- Dirigeant : William Amuri Yakutumba 

- Secrétaire exécutif et porte-parole: Dalton Waubwela Mwila; 

- Responsable des opérations et des enquêtes: Bavon; 

- Officier du renseignement « G2 »: Sengi Albert Alquaida; 

- Commandant axe 1 secteur Ngandja, territoire de Fizi: « Major » Samba Olanga; 

- Commandant axe 2 secteur Lulenge, territoire Fizi: « Colonel » Kuinisera;  

- Commandant axe 3 Milimba, secteur Lulenge: « Colonel » Hassan; 

- Commandant axe 4 Kipupu, secteur Itombwe, territoire Mwenga: « Colonel » 

Zelamumba. 
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Annex 93  

Background information on transhumance and cattle looting as root causes and drivers of the con-

flict in the Hauts-Plateaux 

Informations générales sur la transhumance et le pillage de bétail en tant que causes profondes et 

moteurs du conflit dans les Hauts-Plateaux 

 

According to several sources, transhumance tensions and cattle-looting were root causes and drivers of the violence 

in the Hauts-Plateaux. Grievances between herders, mainly Banyamulenge, and farmers, who usually belonged to 

the other communities, because of field destruction by cows on one side and taxes imposed on the cattle on the 

other, were often used to justify armed mobilization by both sides and cattle-rustling by Mai-Mai groups in partic-

ular.109 The amounts generated by this cattle-looting economy usually disincentivized demobilization efforts and 

fueled the violence by allowing these groups to further arm themselves (see para. 132).  

 

Selon plusieurs sources, les tensions autour de la transhumance et du pillage de bétail étaient à la fois des  causes 

profondes et des moteurs de la violence dans les Hauts-Plateaux. Les griefs entre les éleveurs principalement ba-

nyamulenge et les agriculteurs appartenant habituellement aux autres communautés en raison des destructions des 

champs par les vaches d’un côté et des taxes imposées au bétail de l’autre, ont souvent été utilisés pour justifier la 

mobilisation armée des deux côtés et le vol de bétail par les groupes Maï-Maï en particulier.110 Les sommes générées 

par cette économie de pillage du bétail ont souvent découragé les efforts de démobilisation et alimenté la violence 

en permettant à ces groupes de s'armer davantage (voir par. 132). 

  

__________________ 

109 Leadership and (ex-)combatants of Twirwaneho, Gumino, Mai-Mai Ebuela, individuals close to these groups, civil society, IDPs, 

researchers, local authorities, FARDC and Police officers, UN and diplomatic sources. 
110 Dirigeants et (ex-)combattants des Twirwaneho, Gumino, Mai-Mai Ebuela, individus proches de ces groupes, société civile, 

déplacés internes, chercheurs, autorités locales, FARDC et policiers, sources de l’ONU et diplomatiques.  
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Annex 94 

 

Background information on Twirwaneho 

 

Information de contexte sur les Twirwaneho 
 

First formed in 2008, the name “Twirwaneho”111 referred to a self-defence group created to protect members of the 

Banyamulenge community against, amongst others, cattle looting by Mai -Mai groups around Minembwe, Hauts-

Plateaux.112 Led by Rabani Ndagendererwa Musemakweli, it was initially composed of Banyamulenge civilians, 

mainly youth, who lived in their villages and mobilized whenever deemed necessary to protect their cattle and 

property. In 2009, the self-defence group slowly started to dissolve. In 2015, the term Twirwaneho resurfac ed with 

the mobilization of members of the Banyamulenge community under the command of David Muhoza, alias “El 

Shabaab”, mainly in opposition to abuses committed against civilians, particularly around Bijombo, by Gumino, 

another armed group mainly composed of Banyamulenge combatants.113 The self-defence group continued to be 

periodically mobilized in Bijombo, especially when the cycle of violence which escalated to today’s conflict was 

set in motion at the end of 2017, and increasing clashes with Mai-Mai groups were reported. For the analysis of 

Twirwaneho moving from self-defence group into an armed group, see annex 95.  

 

Although there is often a confusion between the Gumino and Twirwaneho groups, both assimilated to the Banya-

mulenge community, the two armed groups are distinct. The significant transfer of Gumino combatants to Twir-

waneho over 2019 and 2020 contributed to this confusion. Albeit distinct, several sources have mentioned that there 

existed a loose collaboration between Twirwaneho and Gumino, or at  least some of their combatants, especially 

during attacks against the Banyamulenge population by Mai-Mai groups.114 However, in May 2020, Gumino pub-

lished a communique condemning the resumption of hostilities by Twirwaneho and FARDC in violation of the 

recently signed ceasefire, which they claimed to respect. 

 

Créé en 2008, le nom « Twirwaneho » faisait référence à un groupe d'autodéfense créé pour protéger les membres 

de la communauté Banyamulenge contre, entre autres, le pillage du bétail par les groupes M aï-Maï autour de Mi-

nembwe, dans les Hauts-Plateaux.115 Dirigé par Rabani Ndagendererwa Musemakweli, il était initialement composé 

de civils banyamulenge, principalement des jeunes, qui vivaient dans leurs villages et se mobilisaient chaque fois 

que cela était jugé nécessaire pour protéger leur bétail et leurs biens. En 2009, le groupe d'autodéfense a lentement 

commencé à se dissoudre. En 2015, le terme Twirwaneho a refait surface avec la mobilisation de membres de la 

communauté banyamulenge sous le commandement de David Muhoza, alias « El Shabaab », principalement en 

opposition aux exactions contre les civils, commises notamment autour de Bijombo,  par Gumino, un autre groupe 

armé principalement composé de combattants banyamulenge. 116  Le groupe d'autodéfense a continué à être pério-

diquement mobilisé à Bijombo, en particulier lorsque le cycle de violence qui a dégénéré en conflit aujourd'hui a 

été enclenché à la fin de 2017 et que des affrontements croissants avec des groupes Maï -Maï ont été signalés. Pour 

l'analyse de la transition des Twirwaneho d’un groupe d'autodéfense à un groupe armé, voir l'annexe 95.  

 

Bien qu'il y ait souvent une confusion entre les groupes Gumino et Twirwaneho tous deux assimilés à la commu-

nauté Banyamulenge, les deux groupes armés sont distincts. Le transfert important de combattants des Gumino aux 

Twirwaneho en 2019 et 2020 a contribué à cette confusion. Bien que distincts, plusieurs sources ont toutefois 

mentionné qu'il existe une collaboration lâche entre Twirwaneho et Gumino, ou du moins certains de leurs combat-

tants, en particulier lors d'attaques contre la population Banyamulenge par des groupes Maï -Maï.117 Cependant, en 

__________________ 

111 Also, sometimes spelled “Twigwaneho”.  
112  Twirwaneho leadership and (ex-)combatants, individuals close to the group, civil society, IDPs, researchers, local authorities, 

FARDC and MONUSCO. 
113 Individuals close to Twirwaneho, researchers, IDPs, civil society, FARDC and MONUSCO sources.  
114 Individuals close to Twirwaneho, researchers, IDPs, civil society, FARDC and MONUSCO sources. 
115 Dirigeants des Twirwaneho et (ex-)combattants, individus proches du groupe, société civile, déplacés interns, chercheurs, 

autorités locales, FARDC et MONUSCO. 
116 Individus proches du groupe, chercheurs, déplacés internes, société civile, FARDC et MONUSCO.  
117 Individus proches des Twirwaneho, société civile, déplacés internes, chercheurs, autorités locales, FARDC et MONUSCO.  
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mai 2020, Gumino avait publié un communiqué condamnant la reprise des hostilités par Tw irwaneho et les FARDC 

en violation du cessez-le-feu récemment signé, qu'ils prétendaient respecter. 
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Annex 95 

 

Analysis on the organisation of Twirwaneho as an armed group: Command-and-control structure 

and Twirwaneho leadership  

 

Analyse sur l’organisation des Twirwaneho comme groupe armé : Structure de commandement et 

de contrôle et dirigeants des Twirwaneho 

 

The Group’s investigations established that Twirwaneho is an organized armed group. 118  

First, the Group found that Twirwaneho had established a command structure, given the exis tence of a headquarters, 

currently based in Nyamara, and of a high command with identifiable ranks and positions, partly mirroring FARDC 

structure (see below on the leadership and military structure). Makanika was identified as the military leader of the 

group119 who transmitted and enforced orders. In particular, several ex-combatants confirmed that they saw and/or 

heard (through the radio) Makanika giving orders and instructions. Twirwaneho also had the capacity to issue 

political statements, notably through its spokesperson and coordinator, Kamasa Ndakize.120  

Secondly, they had the operational capacity to conduct operations, in an organized manner and using military tac-

tics. As mentioned in paragraphs 134-136, the arrival of Makanika and other FARDC deserters strengthened Twir-

waheno’s military capacities, with a resulting increase of attacks and clashes against Mai-Mai and FARDC.121 The 

Group also found that Twirwaneho controlled territories and established territorial division into zones of responsi-

bility where commanders had brigades, battalions and companies under their control.  

Thirdly, Twirwaneho had high logistical capacities with an increased ability to recruit and train combatants (see 

annex 96 for further information) and to organize the supply of mili tary weapons and equipment (see paras. 141-

145 and annex 102), including to enable communications amongst themselves.  

Fourthly, ex-combatants interviewed by the Group mentioned the existence of a code of conduct and an internal 

disciplinary system. Several ex-combatants explained that Twirwaneho had a prison cell where combatants who 

did not respect the rules were detained. Corporal punishments were also provided, including for disobeying orders. 

The ultimate punishment was death for those who tried to escape. Some ex-combatants also mentioned that this 

was the punishment that was also meted out for rape.  

Finally, Twirwaneho had the ability to speak with one voice, notably through Makanika and Kamasa who had the 

capacity to represent and act on behalf of the group, such as during a meeting with the Group on 25 January 2021 

during which Twirwaneho presented their objectives. According to Twirwaneho leadership, their objective is to 

protect the Banyamulenge community from attacks by other armed groups and mil itias which are, in Makanika’s 

words, seeking to “exterminate” them. Makanika and Kamasa also reported that they considered that both Congo-

lese authorities and MONUSCO failed to protect them. During the 25 January meeting, Twirwaneho’s leadership 

informed the Group of the three main conditions for their disarmament, as: 1) stolen goods, including cattle, and 

destroyed properties, to be returned or rehabilitated to the Banyamulenge; 2) protection of the Banyamulenge pop-

ulation and provision of humanitarian aid; 3) the safe return of the Banyamulenge population, and more broadly all 

displaced populations, to their original homes.  

Les enquêtes du Groupe ont établi que les Twirwaneho sont un groupe armé organisé. 122 

__________________ 

118 The Group notably based its analysis on the main factors established by the case law of international tribunals to assess the 

organization of an armed group, in particular ICTY, The Prosecutor v. Boškoski, 10 July 2008, paras. 199-206.  
119 Sources: Twirwaneho (ex-)combatants, individuals close to them, civil society, IDPs, researchers, local authorities, FARDC 

and MONUSCO sources. 
120 See in particular their Twitter account “@twirwaneho”.  
121 In its January 2020 defection declaration, Makanika had predicted this strengthen ing: “I have decided to side with civilians 

with the hope that my military background will equip them with tactical skills to protect themselves and their properties”. See: 

https://twitter.com/ColMakanika/status/1218061026660237312 
122 Le Groupe a notamment fondé son analyse sur les principaux facteurs établis par la jurisprudence des tribunaux internationaux 

pour apprécier l'organisation d'un groupe armé, en particulier TPIY, Le Procureur c. Boškoski, 10 juillet 2008, paras. 199-206.  

https://twitter.com/ColMakanika/status/1218061026660237312
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Premièrement, le Groupe a constaté que les Twirwaneho avaient établi une structure de commandement, compte 

tenu de l'existence d'un quartier général, actuellement basé à Nyamara, et d'un haut commandement avec des grades 

et des positions identifiables, reflétant en partie la structure des FARDC (voir c i-dessous sur la direction et la 

structure militaire). Makanika a été identifié comme le chef militaire du groupe,123 qui transmettait et faisait exé-

cuter les ordres. En particulier, plusieurs ex-combattants ont confirmé avoir vu et/ou entendu (à la radio) Makanika 

donner des ordres et des instructions. Les Twirwaneho avaient également la capacité d'émettre des déclarations 

politiques, notamment par l'intermédiaire de son porte-parole et coordinateur, Kamasa Ndakize.124 

Deuxièmement, ils avaient la capacité opérationnelle de mener des opérations, de manière organisée et en utilisant 

des tactiques militaires. Comme indiqué aux paragraphes 134-136, l’arrivée de Makanika et d’autres déserteurs des 

FARDC a renforcé les capacités militaires de Twirwaheno, ce qui a en traîné une augmentation des attaques et des 

affrontements contre les Maï-Maï et les FARDC.125 Le Groupe a également constaté que les Twirwaneho contrô-

laient des territoires et avaient établi une division territoriale en zones de responsabilité où les command ants avaient 

sous leur contrôle des brigades, des bataillons et des compagnies. 

Troisièmement, les Twirwaneho avaient des capacités logistiques élevées avec une capacité accrue de recruter et 

de former des combattants (voir l'annexe 96 pour plus d'informations) et d'organiser l’approvisionnement en armes 

et matériel militaires (voir par. 141-145 et annexe 102), y compris pour permettre les communications entre eux.  

Quatrièmement, les ex-combattants interrogés par le Groupe ont mentionné l'existence d'un cod e de conduite et 

d'un système disciplinaire interne. Plusieurs ex-combattants ont expliqué que les Twirwaneho avaient une cellule 

où les combattants qui ne respectaient pas les règles étaient emprisonnés. Des châtiments corporels étaient égale-

ment prévus, notamment en cas de désobéissance aux ordres. Le châtiment ultime était la mort pour ceux qui 

tentaient de s'échapper. Certains ex-combattants ont également mentionné qu'il s'agissait de la punition infligée 

pour le viol.  

Enfin, les Twirwaneho pouvaient parler d'une seule voix, notamment à travers Makanika et Kamasa qui avaient la 

capacité de représenter et d'agir au nom du groupe, comme lors d'une réunion avec le Groupe le 25 janvier 2021 au 

cours de laquelle les Twirwaneho ont présenté leurs objectifs. Selon les leaders des Twirwaneho, leur objectif est 

de protéger la communauté banyamulenge contre les attaques d’autres groupes armés et milices qui, selon les termes 

de Makanika, cherchent à les « exterminer ». Makanika et Kamasa ont également indiqué qu'i ls considéraient que 

les autorités congolaises et la MONUSCO n'avaient pas réussi à les protéger. Lors de la réunion du 25 janvier, les 

leaders des Twirwaneho ont informé le Groupe des trois principales conditions de leur désarmement: 1) les biens 

volés, y compris le bétail, et les biens détruits à restituer ou à réhabiliter aux Banyamulenge ; 2) la protection de la 

population banyamulenge et la fourniture d'une aide humanitaire; 3) le retour en toute sécurité de la population 

banyamulenge, et plus largement de toutes les populations déplacées, dans leurs foyers d'origine. 

  

__________________ 

123 Twirwaneho (ex-)combattants, individus proches d'eux, société civile, déplacés internes, chercheurs, autorités locales, sources 

des FARDC et de la MONUSCO. 
124 Voir notamment leur compte Twitter « @twirwaneho ». 
125 Dans sa déclaration de défection de janvier 2020, Makanika avait prédit ce renforcement : « J'ai ainsi déci dé de me ranger du 

côté des civils dans l'espoir que mon expérience militaire leur offrira des compétences tactiques et un savoir -faire ad hoc pour se 

protéger et protéger leurs biens ». Voir : https://twitter.com/ColMakanika/status/1218061026660237312 

 

https://twitter.com/ColMakanika/status/1218061026660237312
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The Group identified the following command-and-control structure (as at mid-April 2021): 

Le Groupe a identifié la structure de commandement et de contrôle suivante (mi-avril 2021): 

 

  

  

 

Leadership and locations identified within the above structure126: 

General Staff / High Command – based in Nyamara 

• Colonel Michael Rukunda, alias Makanika: Commander and Military leader of Twirwaneho. He was 

involved in several armed movements in the region since 1998 and defected twice from the FARDC. 

Makanika declared to the Group and in a letter that his last defection in January 2020 from his unit in 

Walikale,127 was to protect his community that was being attacked in the Hauts-Plateaux. He also declared 

his willingness to return to FARDC once the conflict in the Hauts-Plateaux ended. 

• Colonel Charles Sematama: Commander, Deputy Military leader of Twirwaneho.128 He deserted from his 

FARDC unit in Walikale in February 2021 to join Twirwaneho (see annex 104).  

• “Colonel” Gakunzi: Commander and second Deputy Military leader of Twirwaneho. Ex-RCD officer and 

FARDC deserter, he initially led the “Android” upon their arrival in the Hauts -Plateaux from countries of 

the region.  

• Charles Gikwerere: Commander, in charge of personnel, logistics and administration (“S1” or “Bureau” 1 

as referred internally within Twirwaneho). According to ex-combatants, he was until recently in Canada 

and is part of the Banyamulenge who returned from overseas (see annex 96).  

__________________ 

126 The ranks provided in this structure correspond to those they had in the FARDC, except for those in quotes. 
127 As confirmed by FARDC on their Twitter account on 8 January 2020. 
128 See S/2010/596, paras. 263 and 265, and S/2020/1283, para. 34.  

https://twitter.com/colmakanika/status/1218061026660237312?s=24
https://www.undocs.org/S/2010/596
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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• Freddy Rushombo: Commander, in charge of intelligence (“S2” or “Bureau 2”). 

• “Colonel” Kibangura Sengiyunva or Nsengi Yumba: Commander, in charge of operations (“S3” or 

“Bureau 3”). FARDC Major, he deserted in 2017. 

• Azarias: Commander, in charge of supply (“S4” or “Bureau 4”).  

 

Political Coordination – Based in Nyamara 

• Kamasa Ndakize: Coordinator of Twirwaneho. 

 

Rapid Intervention Brigade – Based in Nyamara 

• Madawa: Commander.  

 

First Brigade – Based in Kamombo 

• “Colonel” Munyamahoro: Commander. FARDC deserter.  

• “Colonel” Micho: Commander. FARDC deserter. Ex-combatants identified him as a Hutu from Kalehe, 

South Kivu, who lured/forcibly recruited Hutus in North and South Kivu (see annex 96) before his defection 

in January 2021 (see annex 104). 

• Rubibi: in charge of supply and logistics (“S4”) 

 

First Battalion of the First Brigade – Based in Kamombo 

• Singaye: Commander. 

• Ndabagoyi: Deputy Commander. FARDC deserter.  

 

Second Battalion of the First Brigade – Based in Kitaka 

• Simba: Commander. 

• Issaka: Deputy Commander. 

 

 

Leadership et lieux identifiés dans la structure ci-dessus129: 

État-major général / haut commandement - basé à Nyamara 

• Colonel Michael Rukunda, alias Makanika: Commandant et chef militaire des Twirwaneho. Il a été 

impliqué dans plusieurs mouvements armés dans la région depuis 1998 et a fait défection des FARDC à 

deux reprises.130 Makanika a déclaré au Groupe et dans une lettre que sa dernière défection en janvier 2020 

de son unité à Walikale, avait pour but de protéger sa communauté attaquée dans les Hauts -Plateaux. Il a 

également déclaré sa volonté de revenir au sein des FARDC une fois que le conflit dans les Hauts Plateaux 

prendrait fin. 

• Colonel Charles Sematama: Commandant, chef militaire adjoint du Twirwaneho.131 Il a déserté son unité 

des FARDC à Walikale en février 2021 pour rejoindre les Twirwaneho (voir annexe 104). 

__________________ 

129 Les grades fournis dans cette structure correspondent à ceux qu’ils avaient au sein des FARDC sauf pour ceux entre 

guillements.  
130 Tel que confirmé par les FARDC sur leur compte Twitter le 8 janvier 2020. 
131 Voir S/2010/596, par. 263 et 265, et S/2020/1283, par. 34.  

https://twitter.com/colmakanika/status/1218061026660237312?s=24
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2010/596
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2020/1283
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• « Colonel » Gakunzi: Commandant et deuxième chef militaire adjoint des Twirwaneho. Ex-officier du 

RCD et déserteur des FARDC, il a d'abord dirigé les Android à leur arrivée dans les Hauts -Plateaux depuis 

les pays de la région. 

• Charles Gikwerere: Commandant, en charge du personnel, de la logistique et de l'administration («  S1 » 

ou « Bureau » 1 comme référé en interne au sein des Twirwaneho). Selon d'anciens combattants, il se 

trouvait jusqu'à récemment au Canada et fait partie des Banyamulenge qui sont revenus d'outre-mer (voir 

annexe 96). 

• Freddy Rushombo: Commandant, en charge du renseignement (« S2 » ou « Bureau 2 »). 

• « Colonel » Kibangura Sengiyunva or Nsengi Yumba: Commandant, en charge des opérations (« S3 » ou 

« Bureau 3 »). Major des FARDC, il a déserté en 2017. 

• Azarias: Commandant, en charge du ravitaillement (« S4 » ou « Bureau 4 »). 

 

Coordination politique – Basée à Nyamara 

• Kamasa Ndakize: Coordinateur des Twirwaneho. 

 

Brigade d’Intervention Rapide – Basée à Nyamara 

• Madawa: Commandant.  

 

Première brigade - Basée à Kamombo 

• « Colonel » Munyamahoro: Commandant. Déserteur des FARDC. 

• « Colonel » Micho: Commandant adjoint. Déserteur des FARDC. Des ex-combattants l'ont identifié 

comme étant un Hutu de Kalehe, dans le Sud Kivu, qui a leurré/recruté de force des Hutus au Nord et Sud 

Kivu (voir annexe 96) avant sa défection des FARDC en janvier 2021 (voir annexe 104).  

• Rubibi: En charge de l'approvisionnement et de la logistique (« S4 ») 

 

Premier bataillon de la première brigade - Basé à Kamombo 

• Singaye: Commandant. 

• Ndabagoyi: Commandant adjoint. Déserteur des FARDC. 

 

Deuxième bataillon de la première brigade - Basé à Kitaha  

• Simba: Commandant. 

• Issaka: Commandant adjoint.  

  



S/2021/560 
 

 

286/369 21-06047 

 

Annex 96 

Twirwaneho recruitment 
 

Recrutement des Twirwaneho 
 

Since mid-2020, recruitment for Twirwaneho intensified at the local, national, regional and international level, 

including in Australia, Canada, United States and Europe, mainly within the Banyamulenge community and facili-

tated by recruiters. In particular, there was also a well-organized recruitment network in the DRC’s neighbouring 

countries, including in refugee camps, mobilizing Banyamulenge youth to return  or to go to the Hauts -Plateaux to 

protect their community,132 similar to what was done with the “Android” in 2019. Cases of forced recruitment of 

Banyamulenge youth in the Hauts-Plateaux were reported to the Group by several sources, at times creating ten-

sions and clashes among Twirwaneho.133  

The Group also documented several cases of forced recruitment through deception by Twirwaneho outside of the 

Hauts-Plateaux. In February and March 2021, at least 14 Twirwaneho combatants surrendered, most of them claim-

ing to have been lured with false promise of work. The Group interviewed six, including two Hutus from Masisi 

(North Kivu) and four individuals from Kalehe territory belonging to Batembo, Bahavu, Hutu and Bashi commu-

nities, who were all recruited between November 2020 and January 2021.   

 

In particular, the individuals from Masisi told the Group that they were recruited in their respective villages by a 

certain Patrick and/or Colonel Micho, an FARDC officer who recently deserted to join Twirwaneho (see annex 95). 

They were promised between $45 and $100 per month to look after cattle in South Kivu and that their travel would 

be paid for. The recruits, who often travelled in small groups of 3 -6 individuals, passed through Bukavu and Nyan-

gezi in motorbike and then walked at night to the Twirwaneho’s training camp in Kageregere, Fizi territory.  

 

All the interviewed ex-combatants mentioned having been trained in military combat techniques in Karegere, where 

between November and January 2021, they also each found between 15 and 20 other new rec ruits, including from 

Bashi, Batembo, Bahavu, Hutu and Banyamulenge communities. Most of these recruits had also been lured to the 

area to work as herders. They all also mentioned the presence of recruits and combatants under 15 years old (see 

para. 151). After the training, which lasted between several days to a month and was given by a company com-

mander called Gisekedi or Tshisegedi, they were deployed in different locations, including some in Nyamara, Twir-

waneho’s headquarters. Four ex-combatants reported that Makanika or other officers told them that they had been 

brought to the area to fight against the Mai-Mai.   

 

Depuis mi-2020, le recrutement pour les Twirwaneho s'est intensifié aux niveaux local, national, régional et inter-

national, y compris en Australie, au Canada, aux États-Unis et en Europe, principalement au sein de la communauté 

Banyamulenge,134 facilité par des recruteurs. En particulier, il existait un réseau de recrutement bien organisé dans 

les pays voisins de la RDC, y compris au sein des camps de réfugiés, mobilisant les jeunes Banyamulenge afin 

qu’ils retournent ou aillent dans les Hauts-Plateaux pour protéger leur communauté, de façon similaire à ce qui 

avait été fait avec les « Android » en 2019. Des recrutements forcés de jeunes Banyamulenge dans les Hauts-

Plateaux ont été rapportés au Groupe par plusieurs sources, créant parfois des tensions et des affrontements entre 

les Twirwaneho.135 

 

Le Groupe a également documenté plusieurs cas de recrutement forcé par tromperie de la part des Twirw aneho en 

dehors des Hauts-Plateaux. En février et en mars 2021, au moins 14 combattants Twirwaneho se sont rendus, la 

__________________ 

132  Twirwaneho (ex-)combatants, individuals close to them, civil society, IDPs, researchers, local authorities, FARDC and 

MONUSCO sources. 
133 Researchers, civil society and MONUSCO. 
134 Combattants et ex-combatants Twirwaneho, individus proches du groupe, société  civile, déplacés internes chercheurs, autorités 

locales, sources des FARDC et de la MONUSCO. 
135 Chercheurs, société civile et MONUSCO.  
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plupart affirmant avoir été attirés par une fausse promesse de travail. Le Groupe a interrogé six d'entre eux, dont 

deux Hutus de Masisi (Nord-Kivu) et quatre individus du territoire de Kalehe, appartenant aux communautés 

Batembo, Bahavu, Hutu et Bashi, qui ont tous été recrutés entre novembre 2020 et janvier 2021.  

 

En particulier, les individus de Masisi ont déclaré au Groupe qu'ils avaient  été recrutés dans leurs villages respectifs 

par un certain Patrick et/ou le Colonel Micho, un officier des FARDC qui a récemment déserté pour rejoindre les 

Twirwaneho (voir annexe 95). Des salaires entre 45 et 100 $ par mois leur avaient été promis pour s 'occuper du 

bétail au Sud Kivu et leur voyage a été payé. Les recrutés, qui voyageaient souvent en petits groupes de trois à six 

personnes, sont passés à travers Bukavu et Nyangezi en moto, puis ont marché de nuit jusqu'au camp d'entraînement 

des Twirwaneho à Kageregere, territoire de Fizi. 

 

Tous les ex-combattants interrogés ont mentionné avoir été formés aux techniques de combat militaire à Karegere, 

où entre novembre et janvier 2021, ils ont également chacun trouvé entre 15 et 20 autres nouvelles recrues , y 

compris des communautés Bashi, Batembo, Bahavu, Hutu et Banyamulenge. La plupart de ces recrues avaient 

également été attirées dans la région pour travailler comme éleveurs. Ils ont tous également mentionné la présence 

de recrues et de combattants de moins de 15 ans (voir par. 151). Après la formation qui a duré de plusieurs jours à 

un mois, et a été donnée par un commandant de compagnie appelé Gisekedi ou Tshisegedi, ils ont été déployés dans 

différents endroits, dont certains à Nyamara, le quartier général des Twirwaneho. Quatre ex-combattants ont rap-

porté que Makanika ou d'autres officiers leur avaient dit qu'ils avaient été amenés dans la région pour lutter contre 

les Maï-Maï. 
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Annex 97 

Map of main clashes and attack locations in the Hauts-Plateaux since mid-2020 
 

Carte des principaux lieux d’affrontements et d’attaques dans les Hauts-Plateaux depuis mi-2020 

 

Map provided by MONUSCO and edited by the Group 

 

Carte fournie par la MONUSCO et éditée par le Groupe    
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Annex 98 

Main Mai-Mai groups active in the Hauts-Plateaux 
 
Principaux groupes Mai-Mai actifs dans les Hauts-Plateaux 
 
Some of these groups’ headquarters were in the Moyens-Plateaux of Mwenga, Fizi and Uvira, however they are 

currently allied, collaborating and/or operating in the Hauts-Plateaux. Some of these groups are also in several 

alliances/coalitions. 

Certains des quartiers généraux de ces groupes se trouvaient dans les Moyens-Plateaux de Mwenga, Fizi et Uvira, 

mais ils sont actuellement alliés, collaborent et/ou opèrent dans les Hauts-Plateaux. Certains de ces groupes font 

également partie de plusieurs alliances/coalitions. 

Name of the armed group 

Nom du groupe armé 

Main Community affiliation 

Principale affiliation 

communautaire 

Commanders 

Commandants 

Forces Armées Biloze 

Bishambuke (FABB) 

Bafuliiru – Banyindu 

 

• Assani Mbakani (Fuliiru); 

• Jacques Nalugola Jacques 

• Kasongo 

• Chochi 

• Mushombe Muganguzi 

• Mulumba Hondwa 

• Kijangala  

• Nyarugera 

• Mupasura 

• Vincent 

 

Some of these commanders were also 

sometimes considered and/or claimed to be 

leaders of their own independent groups, 

explaining why they appear twice in this 

table. 

 

Certains de ces commandants étaient 

également parfois considérés et/ou se 

présentaient comme les chefs de leurs 

propres groupes indépendants, expliquant 

pourquoi ils apparaissent deux fois dans ce 

tableau. 

 

Mai-Mai Ebuela – FDPC/ML Babembe  

 

• Ebuela Kibukila  

• Kakobanya Nakalambi 

• Aoci Katumba 

Mai-Mai Ilunga136 Bafuliiru Ilunga Rusesama 

 

__________________ 

136 See S/2019/469, para. 88 and annex 23. Voir S/2019/469, par. 88 et annexe 23. 

https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
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Mai-Mai Kashumba137 Bafuliiru  Kashumba Musagara  

Mai-Mai Kijangala 138 Bafuliiru Kijangala 

Mai-Mai Makanaki Bafuliiru John Simbira Makanaki  

Mai-Mai Mulumba139 Babembe Mulumba Hondwa 

Mai-Mai Mupekenya140 Batwa  Kati Malisawa 

 

Mai-Mai Mushombe141 Bafuliiru and Bavira Mushombe Muganguzi 

 

Mai-Mai Nyerere142 Bafuliiru Nyerere Bunane  

 

Mai-Mai René143 Babembe Rene Itongwa 

 

Mai-Mai Réunion144 Babembe Réunion wa Rusasa 

Mai-Mai Yakutumba Babembe William Amuri Yakutumba  

 

  

__________________ 

137 Ibid. 
138 See S/2019/469, paras. 66 and 71-74, 86, 194 and annex 23. Voir S/2019/469, par. 66 et 71-74, 86 et 194, et annexe 23. 
139 S/2011/738, para. 170 and S/2018/531, para. 49. Voir S/2011/738, par. 170 et S/2018/531, para. 49. 
140 S/2011/738, para. 170. Voir S/2011/738, par. 170  
141 See S/2012/843, annex 57; S/2018/531, annex 3; S/2019/469, paras. 85-88 and annex 23. Voir S/2012/843, annex 57; S/2018/531, 

annex 3 et S/2019/469, par. 85-88 et annexe 23. 
142 S/2011/738, paras. 149 and 170 and S/2017/672/Rev.1, para. 154. Voir S/2011/738, par. 149 et 170; et S/2017/672/Rev.1, par. 

154. 
143 See S/2019/469, annex 23. Voir S/2019/469, annexe 23. 
144 S/2017/672/Rev.1, para. 50. Voir S/2017/672/Rev.1, par. 50. 

https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2011/738
https://www.undocs.org/S/2018/531
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2011/738
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2018/531
https://www.undocs.org/S/2011/738
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2011/738
https://www.undocs.org/S/2012/843
https://www.undocs.org/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2012/843
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2018/531
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2011/738
https://www.undocs.org/S/2017/672/Rev.1
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2011/738
https://www.undocs.org/S/2017/672/Rev.1
https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
https://www.undocs.org/S/2017/672/Rev.1
https://www.undocs.org/fr/S/2017/672/Rev.1
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Annex 99 

Mai-Mai Ebuela - Forces des patriotes pour la défense du Congo - Mouvement de libération 
(FDPC/ML) 
 
“General” Kitungano Kibukila, also known as Ebuela and/or Mtetezi, is a former FARDC officer who deserted to 

joined Mai-Mai Yakutumba in 2007.145 He created his own group in 2016, following disagreements with Yaku-

tumba, including related to distribution of gold benefits (see para. 165). His group however continued to be part of 

Yakutumba’s broader CPNSC coalition, and as such led the attack against Uvira in 2017 (see  S/2018/531, para 69). 

It is unclear whether he was still a CNPSC member at the time of drafting, given contradictory information on the 

matter. Ebuela’s group operated mainly in Fizi and Mwenga territories and progressively became one of the most 

powerful Mai-Mai groups in the area, attacking and clashing mainly against Gumino and FARDC while conducting 

cattle-rustling and illegal taxation activities.146 Several sources reported regular attacks by Mai-Mai Ebuela against 

Banyamulenge civilians as well as inflammatory discourse against them by Ebuela, 147  including in videos (see 

paras. 153-155).  

In early 2019, Ebuela announced his surrender, in parallel to Gumino’s leader Semahurungure. However, soon after, 

in March 2019, Ebuela’s wife was reportedly killed during an FARDC attack on his house, leading him to take up 

arms again and reinforce his group with the creation of a movement with a  political wing, which integrated other 

small groups or commanders such as Aoci, another former Yakutumba officer (see S/2014/42, annex 24).148 Alt-

hough Ebuela rebranded this political-military movement Forces des patriotes pour la défense du Congo-Mouve-

ment de libération (FDPC/ML), with its armed branch “Forces armées Espoir du Congo” (FAEC), it was still com-

monly referred to as Mai-Mai Ebuela.  

The FDPC/ML, which was headquartered in Kipupu,149 was mainly composed of Babembe, especially at com-

mander level, such as Ebuela’s deputy, Kakobanya. It also comprised Banyindu and Bafuliiru combatants. 150 Some 

of his commanders were also sometimes considered and/or claiming to be leaders of their own independent groups, 

including Aoci, Malenga idi Mamba or Ngyalaboto, adding to the confusion about the precise identity of the groups 

active in the area and making it more difficult to establish command responsibility for human rights and interna-

tional humanitarian law violations committed by them. This was further reinforced by the various opportunistic 

alliances and collaborations that Ebuela entered into with other groups or coalitions such as the recent ad hoc 

coalition with FABB, CNPSC and other groups (see para. 138-140), with the idea of outnumbering the opposite 

side. Indeed, most of these group’s troops usually comprised some 20-50 combatants. According to several sources, 

Ebuela was, along with Yakutumba, the main military commander of this coalition against Twirwaneho put in place 

since early 2021.151  

Le « Général » Kitungano Kibukila, également connu sous le nom d'Ebuela et/ou Mtetezi, est un ancien officier 

des FARDC qui avait déserté pour rejoindre le groupe de Yakutumba en 2007. 152 Il a ensuite créé son propre groupe 

en 2016, suite à des désaccords avec Yakutumba, notamment en raison de la distribution des bénéfices liés à 

__________________ 

145 FDPC/ML combatants and individuals close to them, civil society, IDPs, researchers, local authorities, FARDC and 

MONUSCO sources. 
146 Ibid. 
147 Twirwaneho leadership, FDPC/ML combatants and individuals close to them, civil society, IDPs, researchers, local authorities, 

FARDC and MONUSCO sources. 
148 Civil society, researchers, FARDC and MONUSCO sources. 
149 Ebuela’s place of birth. 
150 FDPC/ML combatants and individuals close to them, civil society, IDPs, researchers, local authorities, FARDC and MONUSCO 

sources. 
151 Ibid.  
152 Combattants FDPC/ML et personnes proches du groupe, société civile, déplacés internes, chercheurs,  autorités locales, sources 

des FARDC et de la MONUSCO. 

 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2018/531
https://www.undocs.org/S/2014/42
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l’exploitation de l’or (voir par. 165). Cependant, son groupe a continué de faire partie de la coalition CPNSC de 

Yakutumba et, à ce titre, a dirigé l'attaque contre Uvira en 2017 (voir S/2018/531, par. 69). Il n’est pas clair s’il 

était encore membre de CPNSC au moment de la rédaction du rapport, en raison d’informations contradictoires sur 

la question. Le groupe d'Ebuela a opéré principalement dans les territoires de Fizi et Mwenga et est progressivement 

devenu l'un des groupes Mai-Mai les plus puissants de la région, attaquant et affrontant principalement les Gumino 

et les FARDC, tout en menant des activités de vol de bétail et de taxation illégale.153 Plusieurs sources ont signalé 

des attaques régulières des Mai-Mai Ebuela contre des civils banyamulenge ainsi que des discours incendiaires 

contre eux par Ebuela,154 y compris dans plusieurs vidéos (voir par. 153-155). 

Début 2019, Ebuela avait annoncé sa reddition, parallèlement au leader des Gumino, Semahurungure. Cependant, 

peu de temps après, en mars 2019, l'épouse d'Ebuela aurait été tuée lors d'une attaque des FARDC contre sa maison, 

le conduisant à reprendre les armes et à renforcer son groupe avec la création d'un mouvement doté d’une aile 

politique, intégrant d'autres petits groupes ou commandants tels qu'Aoci, un autre ancien officier de Yakutumba 

(voir S/2014/42, annexe 24). Bien qu'Ebuela ait rebaptisé ce mouvement politico-militaire Forces des patriotes pour 

la défense du Congo-Mouvement de libération (FDPC/ML), avec sa branche armée « Forces armées Espoir du 

Congo » (FAEC), il était encore communément appelé Mai-Mai Ebuela. 

Le FDPC/ML, qui avait actuellement son siège à Kipupu,155 était principalement composé de Babembe, en particu-

lier au niveau des commandants, comme l’adjoint d’Ebuela, Kakobanya. Il comprenait également des combattants 

Banyindu et Bafuliiru.156 Certains de ses commandants étaient également parfois considérés et/ou se disaient être 

les leaders de leurs propres groupes, notamment Aoci, Malenga idi Mamba ou Ngyalaboto, ajoutant ainsi à la con-

fusion sur l'identité précise des groupes actifs dans la région et compliquant la possibilité d’établir la responsabilité 

du commandement pour les violations des humains et du droit international humanitaire commises par eux. Cela a 

encore été renforcé par les diverses alliances et collaborations opportunistes qu'Ebuela a nouées avec d'autres 

groupes ou coalitions tels que la récente coalition ad hoc avec les FABB, la CNPSC et d'autres groupes (voir par. 

138-140), avec l'idée de dépasser en nombre la partie adverse. En effet, la plupart des troupes de ces  groupes 

tournaient généralement autour de 20 à 50 combattants. Selon plusieurs sources, Ebuela était, avec Yakutumba, le 

principal commandant militaire de cette coalition contre Twirwaneho mise en place depuis début 2021.  

  

__________________ 

153 Ibid. 
154 Dirigeants des Twirwaneho, combattants FDPC/ML et individus proches du groupe, société civile, déplacés internes, 

chercheurs, autorités locales, sources des FARDC et de la MONUSCO. 
155 Société civile, chercheurs, sources des FARDC et de la MONUSCO. 
156 Lieu d’origine d’Ebuela. 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2018/531
https://www.undocs.org/S/2014/42
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Annex 100 

Biloze Bishambuke 
 

“Biloze Bishambuke” 157 refers to Bafuliiru and Banyindu self-defence groups operating under its umbrella in the 

Hauts and Moyens-Plateaux since at least 2012. Since at least 2020, they started calling themselves the “Forces 

Armées Biloze Bishambuke” (FABB). Initial member groups included those led by Chochi, Mulumba and Kazadi, 

but progressively encompassed other groups, such as the one led by Assani Mbakani, who was identified as the 

current main military commander. However, it was unclear exactly which group s were part of Biloze Bishambuke, 

as these groups were semi-autonomous and composed of combatants and civilians who are not always mobilized 

in armed action. They also did not have a defined leadership and command-and-control, they mainly coordinated 

their actions and supported each other in case of attacks. They also collaborated at times with other Bavira groups, 

such as Mai-Mai Makanaki (see annex 98). Several sources also mentioned the possible collaboration of some 

Biloze Bishambuke groups with foreign armed groups such as RED-Tabara (see para. 162 and  S/2019/469, para. 

85 and 88).158 Biloze Bishambuke groups were often reported to have attacked civilians, particularly from the Ban-

yamulenge community, and regularly clashed against Gumino and Twirwaneho.159 They are currently part of the 

larger ad hoc coalition with CNPSC and FDPC/ML (see para. 127). 

 

« Biloze Bishambuke »160 fait référence aux groupes d'autodéfense Bafuliiru et Banyindu opérant sous son égide 

dans les Hauts et Moyens-Plateaux depuis au moins 2012. Depuis au moins 2020, ils ont commencé à se faire 

appeler les « Forces Armées Biloze Bishambuke » (FABB). Les groups initiaux comprenaient ceux dirigés par 

Chochi, Mulumba et Kazadi, mais ont progressivement englobé d'autres groupes, comme celui d'Assani Mbakani, 

identifié comme le principal commandant militaire actuel. Cependant, il était difficile de savoir quels groupes font 

exactement partie de Biloze Bishambuke, car ces groupes étaient semi-autonomes et composés de combattants et 

de civils qui ne sont pas toujours mobilisés dans des actions armées. Ils n'avaient pas non plus de leader et de 

structure de commandement et de contrôle définis, coordonnant principalement leurs actions et se soutenant mu-

tuellement en cas d'attaques. Ils ont également collaboré parfois avec d'autres groupes Bavira, tels que les Mai-Mai 

Makanaki (voir annexe 98). Plusieurs sources ont également mentionné une possible collaboration de certains 

groupes des Biloze Bishambuke avec des groupes armés étrangers comme RED Tabara (voir par. 162 and 

S/2019/469, par. 85 et 88).161 Des groupes des Biloze Bishambuke ont été signalés comme attaquant souvent des 

civils, en particulier de la communauté Banyamulenge, et se sont régulièrement affrontés contre les Gumino et les 

Twirwaneho.162 Ils font actuellement partie de la grande coalition ad hoc avec la CNPSC et le FDPC/ML (voir par. 

127). 

  

__________________ 

157 Which loosely translated means “let’s destroy” in Kifuliiru.  
158 Civil society, IDPs, researchers, FARDC and MONUSCO sources. 
159 Twirwaneho leadership, Biloze Bishambuke combatants and individuals close to them, civil society, IDPs, researchers, local 

authorities, FARDC and MONUSCO sources. 
160 Traduit librement par « détruisons » en Kifuliiru.  
161 Société civile, déplacés internes, chercheurs, sources des FARDC et de la MONUSCO. 
162  Dirigeants des Twirwaneho, combattants des Biloze Bishambuke et personnes proches du groupe, société civile, déplacés 

internes, chercheurs, autorités locales, sources des FARDC et de la MONUSCO.  

https://undocs.org/S/2019/469
https://undocs.org/fr/S/2019/469
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Annex 101 

Joint Operation Kimbunga Fieka Adui Wa Congo 
 

Opération conjointe Kimbunga Fieka Adui Wa Congo 

As mentioned in paragraph 139, a new ad hoc coalition with several Mai -Mai armed groups operating in the Hauts-

Plateaux launched joint operations since end-2020, mainly against Twirwaneho. The main operation was called 

“Kimbunga Fieka Adui Wa Congo”, meaning “chase the enemy away from Congo” and was ongoing at time of 

drafting. The Group analysed more than 10 videos referring to these operations and posted since end of 2020 on 

YouTube or circulated on WhatsApp mainly by “La voix du Kivu”, a media outlet close to the Mai-Mai coalition 

and that released inflammatory anti-Banyamulenge videos (see para. 155 and annex 114).163  The videos notably 

explained that a coalition had formed between several groups, including FDPC/ML and CNPSC for the “Kimbunga 

Fieka Adui Wa Congo” operations to fight against “foreign armed groups”, as the Mai -Mai were the “patriots” and 

“autochthones”. The videos also showed the preparations, conduct and aftermath of some of the clashes, mai nly 

led or coordinated by Ebuela himself in December 2020 in the Hauts-Plateaux. Other videos showed or referred to 

Mai-Mai Makanaki and Mai-Mai René also allied in fighting against Twirwaneho, including one in which Makanaki 

explicitly claims that they do not even want to  “face a Munyamulenge”.  

Comme indiqué au paragraphe 139 une nouvelle coalition ad hoc avec plusieurs groupes armés Mai -Mai opérant 

dans les Hauts-Plateaux a lancé des opérations conjointes depuis fin 2020, principalement contre les Twirw aneho. 

La plus importante de ces opérations « Kimbunga Fieka Adui Wa Congo », signifiant « chasser l'ennemi du Congo 

», était encore en cours lors de l’écriture du rapport. Le Groupe a analysé plus de 10 vidéos faisant référence à ces 

opérations et postées depuis fin 2020 sur YouTube ou diffusées sur WhatsApp principalement à travers « La voix 

du Kivu », un média proche de la coalition Mai-Mai et qui publiait des vidéos incendiaires contre les Banyamulenge 

(voit par. 155 et annexe 114).164 Les vidéos expliquaient notamment qu'une coalition s'était formée entre plusieurs 

groupes, dont FDPC/ML et CNPSC pour les opérations « Kimbunga Fieka Adui Wa Congo » pour lutter contre les 

« groupes armés étrangers », les Maï-Maï étant les « patriotes » et les « autochtones ». Les vidéos également 

montraient les préparatifs, le déroulement et les suites de certains des affrontements, principalement menés ou 

coordonnés par Ebuela lui-même en décembre 2020 dans les Hauts-Plateaux. D'autres vidéos montraient ou fai-

saient référence aux Mai-Mai Makanaki et aux Mai-Mai René également alliés pour combattre les Twirwaneho, 

dont une vidéo dans laquelle Makanaki clame explicitement qu'ils ne veulent même pas faire « face à un Munyamu-

lenge ». 

 

 

  

__________________ 

163 Coordinated by Remy Mbeleci Alonda. 
164 Coordonné par Remy Mbeleci Alonda. 
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Examples of videos posted by “La voix du Kivu” on the operations 

Exemples de vidéos postées par « La voix du Kivu » sur les opérations 

 

 

 

Screenshot of a Youtube video: La Voix du Kivu and Ebuela explaining in English their fight to liberate the 

DRC.165 

Capture d'écran d'une vidéo Youtube: La Voix du Kivu et Ebuela expliquant en anglais leur combat pour libérer la 

RDC.166 

 

__________________ 

165 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HA307CX7tHM (last accessed on 25 April 2021). 
166 https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HA307CX7tHM (dernier accès le 25 avril 2021). 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HA307CX7tHM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HA307CX7tHM
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Screenshot of a YouTube video:167 Aftermath of operation “Kimbunga fieka adui wa congo” by FDPC and 

CNPSC in which the Mai-Mai claimed to have liberated Kamombo, a Twirwaneho camp, that they claimed 

Makanika had proclaimed as the “Republic of Kamambo”.  

 

Capture d'écran d'une vidéo YouTube:168 Suites de l’opération « Kimbunga fieka adui wa congo » du FDPC et du 

CNPSC dans laquelle les Mai-Mai affirmaient avoir libéré Kamombo, un camp Twirwaneho, qui selon eux avait 

été proclamé par Makanika comme la « République de Kamambo ».  

 

 

__________________ 

167 Https://youtube.com/Q6sfkQPQRAw, (last accessed on 25 April 2021). 
168 Https://youtube.com/Q6sfkQPQRAw (dernier accès le 25 avril 2021). 

https://youtube.com/Q6sfkQPQRAw
https://youtube.com/Q6sfkQPQRAw
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Screenhot of a YouTube video:169 Ebuela mobilizing its troops within the context of “Kimbunga fieka adui wa 

Congo” operations against “foreign armed groups”.  

 

Capture d'écran d'une vidéo YouTube:170 Ebuela mobilisant ses troupes dans le cadre des opérations de «  Kim-

bunga fieka adui wa Congo » contre des « groupes armés étrangers ». 

 

 

Screenshot of a YouTube video:171 Mai-Mai troops praying before an operation. 

Capture d'écran d'une vidéo YouTube: 172des troupes Maï-Maï priant avant une opération. 

  

__________________ 

169 https://youtu.be/BdVbWXhXeqs (last accessed on 25 April 2021). 
170 https://youtu.be/BdVbWXhXeqs (dernier accès le 25 avril 2021). 
171 https://youtu.be/Grhdpeba83I (last accessed on 25 April 2021). 
172 https://youtu.be/Grhdpeba83I (dernier accès le 25 avril 2021). 

https://youtu.be/BdVbWXhXeqs
https://youtu.be/BdVbWXhXeqs
https://youtu.be/Grhdpeba83I
https://youtu.be/Grhdpeba83I
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Annex 102  
 
Twirwaneho and Mai Mai-combatants and their weaponry 
 
L’armement des combattants Twirwaneho et Mai-Mai 
 

When the Group met with Makanika and several Twirwaneho combatants on 25 January 2021, the following weap-

ons and material were observed: two pistols, AK-type assault rifles, light machine guns, rockets and VHF radios. 

Makanika himself carried a Tokarev TT-33. One combatant carried an OG-7 antipersonnel rocket. The combatants 

did not wear military attire.  

 

Twirwaneho abductees and ex-combatants, as well as civil society and IDP eyewitnesses of Twirwaneho attacks in, 

amongst others, Bijombo and Mikenge, confirmed that Twirwaneho and Gumino combatants were well - equipped. 

Civil society and IDPs in Bijombo were able to intercept radio messages of Twirwaneho local leaders “Khada fi”, 

“Al Shabab” and “Mercenaire”, in which they reportedly referred to mortars in their possession.  

 

Several Twirwaneho abductees informed the group they saw Banyamulenge civilians selling AK-type assault rifles 

to Makanika. They also witnessed how the civilians were compelled to carry bags of ammunition when moving 

from one location to another.  

 

 

 

Lorsque le Groupe a rencontré Makanika ainsi que plusieurs combattants Twirwaneho le 25 janvier 2021, l’arme-

ment suivant a pu être observé : deux pistolets, des fusils d’assaut de type AK, des mitrailleuses, des roquettes et 

des radios VHF. Makanika portait un pistolet Tokarev TT-33. Un combattant portait une roquette anti-personnel 

OG-7. Les combattants ne portaient pas de tenues militaires.  

 

Plusieurs ex-combattants Twirwaneho ainsi que des membres de la société civile et des déplacés, témoins oculaires 

des attaques notamment à Bijombo et Mikenge, ont confirmé que les combattants Twirwaneho et Gumino étaient 

bien équipés. La société civile et les déplacés à Bijombo ont également rapporté au Groupe qu’ils ont pu intercepter 

des messages radio dans lesquels les chefs locaux Twirwaneho « Kahdafi », « Al Shabab » et « Mercenaire » fai-

saient état de mortiers en leur possession. 

 

Plusieurs personnes ayant été enlevées par les Twirwaneho ont informé le Groupe avoir vu des civils Banyamulenge 

vendre des fusils d’assaut type AK à Makanika. Ils ont également r apporté avoir été contraints de porter des sacs 

de munitions lorsqu’ils changeaient d’endroit. 
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Photographs of Makanika’s pistol taken by the Group on 25 January 2021  

Photographies du revolver de Makanika, prise par le Groupe le 25 janvier 2021 

 

 

*** 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photographs of a Twirwaneho combatant with OG-7 antipersonnel rocket taken by the Group on 25 January 2021  

Photographie d’un combattant Twirwaneho portant une roquette anti -personnel OG-7, prise par le Groupe le 25 

janvier 2021 

 

*** 
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Photographs of Twirwaneho combatants carrying AK-type assault rifle and a light machine gun, and photograph 

of VHF radio, 

taken by the Group on 25 January 2021 

 

Photographies de combattants Twirwaneho portant un fusil d’assaut type AK et une mitrailleuse légère, et une 

photo d’une radio VHF, prises par le Groupe le 25 janvier 2021 

 

*** 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photograph of a Twirwaneho combatant carrying a light machine gun and a belt of ammunition  

taken by the Group on 25 January 2021 

 

Photographie d’un combattants Twirwaneho portant une mitrailleuse légère et des munitions, prise par le Groupe 

le 25 janvier 2021 
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Photographs of Mai-Mai combatants carrying light machine guns provided to the Group in October 2020 by an 

individual close to Mai-Mai groups 

 

Photographies de combattants Mai-Mai avec des mitrailleuses légères, founies au Groupe en octobre 2020 par 

une personne proche des groupes Mai-Mai 
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Annex 103  
 
Attacks on FARDC positions 
 
Attaques contre des positions FARDC 
 
The Group received several eyewitness accounts of FARDC officers and soldiers, civil society and IDPs, as well 

as reports from different sources,173 regarding attacks on FARDC bases conducted by either Twirwaneho or Mai-

Mai combatants in 2020 and 2021. 

 

For example, in June 2020 Twirwaneho attacked FARDC in Kamombo, which resulted in the deaths of two FARDC 

soldiers , four FARDC soldiers kidnapped and four weapons – three AK-type assault rifles and one 12.7 mm ma-

chine gun – being robbed. On 3 July 2020, Twirwaneho combatants attacked FARDC in Tubwe Tubwe, and killed 

six FARDC soldiers and two civilians. They also robbed 16 AK-type assault rifles, two RPG-7, one PKM, one 

motorola radio and FARDC uniforms. During the first months of 2021, the trend of attacks by Twirwaneho against 

FARDC positions continued. For example, in mid-March 2021 Twirwaneho combatants attacked FARDC positions 

in Kajembwe, Kangwe and Mugeti, three villages in the vicinity of Bijombo .  

 

FARDC sources, civil society, local leaders, IDPs, and individuals close to Mai-Mai groups reported two main 

channels for Mai Mai groups to obtain weaponry. First, Mai-Mai obtained weapons through attacks against FARDC 

positions. Second, some FARDC members sold weapons and/or ammunition to Mai-Mai combatants.  

 

 

Selon plusieurs récits de témoins directs – officiers et soldats des FARDC, société civile et déplacés – ainsi que 

selon des rapports de différentes sources,  174 des combattants Twirwaneho et Mai-Mai ont attaqué des bases FARDC 

à plusieurs reprises en 2020 et 2021. 

 

Par exemple, en juin 2020 les Twirwaneho ont attaqué les FARDC basés à Kamambo. Lors de cette attaque, deux 

soldats FARDC ont été tués, quatre soldats FARDC ont été enlevés et quatre armes – trois fusils d’assaut de type 

AK et une mitrailleuse 12.7mm – ont été volés. Le 3 juillet 2020, les combattants Twirwaneho ont attaqué les 

FARDC à Tubwe Tubwe et tués six FARDC ainsi que deux civils. Ils ont également emportés 16 fusils d’assaut de 

type AK, deux RPG-7, un PKM, une radio Motorola et des uniformes FARDC. Durant les premiers mois de 2021, 

les Twirwaneho ont continué d’attaquer les positions FARDC. Notamment, mi-mars 2021 ils ont attaqué les posi-

tions FARDC à Kajembwe, Kangwe et Mugeti, trois villages proches de Bijombo. 

 

Des sources FARDC, des sources de la société civile, des chefs locaux, des déplacés, ainsi que des personnes 

proches des groupes Mai-Mai ont rapporté que les groupes Mai-Mai avaient deux sources principales de ravitaille-

ment. Tout d’abord, les Mai-Mai ont obtenu de l’armement à travers des attaques contre des positions FARDC. 

Ensuite, certains membres des FARDC ont vendu des armes et/ou des munitions à des combattants Mai -Mai. 

  

__________________ 

173 MONUSCO, FARDC, researchers and civil society. 
174 MONUSCO, FARDC, chercheurs et société civile.  
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Excerpt of FARDC document regarding the attack of 3 July 2020.and listing stolen weaponry,   

Photograph taken by the Group in Mikenge on 25 January 2021  

 

Extrait d’un document des FARDC concernant l’attaque du 3 juillet 2020 et listant l’armement dé robé, 

Photographie prise par le Groupe à Mikenge le 25 janvier 2021 

 

*** 

 

The Group observed that the weapons storage facilities in several FARDC bases in the Hauts -Plateaux were either 

missing or very basic, thus facilitating robberies by armed groups.  

Lors de ses missions dans les Hauts-Plateaux, le Groupe a observé que dans plusieurs bases des FARDC les dépôts 

d’armes et de munitions étaient absents ou très élémentaires, facilitant ainsi les vols d’armement par les groupes 

armés. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photographs of weapons stored in the FARDC base in Mikenge, taken by the Group on 25 January 2021 

Photographies de l’armement au sein de la base des FARDC à Mikenge, prises par le Groupe le 25 janvier 2021   
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Annex 104 
 
FARDC defectors joining Twirwaneho, Banyamulenge civilians giving weapons to Makanika, and 
weapons seizures 
 
Défections de membres de FARDC au profit des Twirwaneho, dotations d’armement part des civils 
Banyamulenge à Makanika, et saisies d’armement 
 

FARDC members defections/défections de membres des FARDC 

 

In late February 2021, Colonel Charles Sematama, of the 3411th FARDC regiment based in Kitchanga and known 

for his close cooperation with NDC-R Bwira faction in the past (see S/2020/1283, para. 34), deserted FARDC to 

join Makanika. FARDC sources reported that Sematama left with 13 FARDC soldiers. Several sources reported 

that Sematama, besides reinforcing Twirwaneho with his military experience, also brought along some weaponry.   

 

Sematama’s defection also triggered other defections among Banyamulenge FARDC officers and soldiers. Lieuten-

ant-Colonel Mufoko joined Makanika directly following his release from prison early 2021. In early March 2021, 

Captain Patrick Mucho and Sergeant Bugoye Aime, both from the 33rd Regiment, also joined Makanika. Several 

reports refer to the latter having brought some weapons and ammunition to Makanika. In late March and early April 

2021, there were new FARDC defections, amongst others in Minembwe, in favour of Makanika. The defectors 

reportedly took along their weaponry. 

 

Fin février 2021, Colonel Charles Sematama du 3411 ième régiment FARDC basé à Kitchanga, connu également pour 

sa coopération avec la faction Bwira du NDC-R dans le passé (see S/2020/1283, para. 34), a déserté des FARDC 

afin de joindre Makanika. Plusieurs sources FARDC ont rapporté que 13 soldats FARDC avaient quitté FARDC 

conjointement avec Sematama. Selon plusieurs sources, Sematama, en plus de renforcer les Twirwan eho grâce à 

son expérience militaire, aurait également apporté de l’armement avec lui.  

 

La défection de Sematama a déclenché d’autres défections au sein des officiers et soldats FARDC de la communauté 

Banyamulenge. Le Lieutenant-Colonel Mufoko a rejoint Makanika dès sa libération de prison début 2021. Début 

mars 2021, le Capitaine Patrick Mucho et le Sergent Bugoye Aime du 33 ième régiment ont également rejoint Maka-

nika. Selon plusieurs rapports, ce dernier a emporté de l’armement et des munitions chez Makan ika. Fin mars et 

début avril 2021, des nouvelles défections au sein des FARDC en faveur de Makanika ont été rapportées, notamment 

au sein des FARDC basés à Minembwe. Ces déserteurs auraient également emporté leur armement.  

 

Weaponry from Banyamulenge/Armement de la communauté Banyamulenge 

 

Five FARDC sources, civil society, Banyamulenge leaders and Makanika himself reported that civilians of the 

Banyamulenge community supported Makanika amongst others by giving the weaponry they kept at home. Banya-

mulenge leaders claimed that “the entire Banyamulenge population is armed” and that “the Banyamulenge popula-

tion is precisely the strength of Makanika, as they can all be mobilized”. Several abductees informed the Group 

they saw civilians of the Banyamulenge ethnic group selling AK-type assault rifles to Makanika.  

 

Cinq sources FARDC, des sources au sein de la société civile, des leaders Banyamulenge et Makanika lui -même 

ont informé le Groupe que des civils de la communauté Banyamulenge ont appuyé Makanika notammen t en lui 

donnant l’armement qu’ils gardaient chez eux. Des chefs Banyamulenge ont affirmé que «  toute la population Ba-

nyamulenge est armée » et que « la population Banyamulenge constitue précisément la force de Makanika étant 

donnée qu’elle peut être mobilisée à tout moment ». Plusieurs personnes enlevées par Makanika ont informé le 

Groupe avoir observé des civils Banyamulenge lorsqu’ils vendaient des fusils d’assaut de type AK à Makanika.  

 

  

https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
https://www.undocs.org/S/2020/1283
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Weapons seizures/Saisies d’armement 

 

FARDC seized weaponry in IDP camps, such as in Mikenge, where on 1 January and 18 July 2020, FARDC found 

a total of seven AK-type assault rifles, two FAL-type assault rifles, four boxes with conventional ammunition and 

a bag with 50kg of conventional ammunition, inspected by the Group on 23 January 2021 in Mikenge.   

 

Les FARDC ont saisi de l’armement dans les camps de déplacés, notamment à Mikenge, où ils ont saisi au total 

sept fusils d’assaut de type AK, deux fusils d’assaut de type FAL, quatre boites de munitions et un sac de 50 kg 

avec des munitions, inspectés par le Groupe à Mikenge le 23 Janvier 2021.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photographs of FAL-type assault rifles seized by FARDC in Mikenge, taken by the Group on 25 January 2021  

 

Photographies de fusils d’assaut de type FAL saisis par les FARDC à Mikenge, prises par le Groupe le 25 janvier 

2021 

 

*** 

  



S/2021/560 
 

 

306/369 21-06047 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photographs of AK-type assault rifles seized by FARDC in Mikenge, taken by the Group on 25 January 2021  

 

Photographies de fusils d’assaut de type AK saisis par les FARDC à Mikenge, prises par le Groupe le 25 janvier 

2021 

 

 

*** 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Photographs of the 7.62x39mm ammunition found by FARDC in Mikenge:  

 

 

 

Photograph of 7.62x39mm ammunition seized by FARDC in Mikenge, taken by the Group on 25 January 2021 

 

Photographie de munitions 7.62x39mm saisies par les FARDC à Mikenge, prises par le Groupe le 25 janvier 2021  
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Annex 105  
 
Makanika’s attempted clandestine airstrip   
 
Tentative de piste d’atterrissage de Makanika 
 
From March 2020 onwards, upon instruction of Makanika, the population of the village of Masoro/Mugeti started 

clearing an area for the opening of a clandestine airstrip at about 15 kilometers northeast of Bijombo. Civil society 

and FARDC members, researchers and MONUSCO sources reported that the airstrip was intended to import weap-

ons, ammunition and other military material from neighbouring countries . Makanika, by contrast, claimed that the 

airstrip was built to allow for the arrival of humanitarian aid to enclaves around Mwenga and Fizi. In Ju ne 2020, 

FARDC stopped the construction of the clandestine airstrip.  

 

Aviation experts contacted by the Group assessed that the climatological and geographical conditions of the cleared 

zone - such as the track gradient of 10 percent, the height of the mountains and unstable airmass - would make the 

landing and take-off of even small airplanes or helicopters extremely risky, especially if they were loaded. 

 

 

À partir du mois de mars 2021, sur instruction de Makanika, la population du village de Masoro/Muget i a commencé 

à nettoyer une zone pour installer une piste d’atterrissage clandestine à environ 15 kilomètres de Bijombo. Selon 

des membres de la société civile et des FARDC, des chercheurs et des sources de la MONUSCO cette piste était 

destinée à importer des armes, munitions et d’autres équipements militaires depuis les pays voisins. Selon Maka-

nika, par contre, la piste était construite pour pouvoir faire parvenir de l’aide humanitaire dans les zones enclavées 

de Mwenga et Fizi. En juin 2020, les FARDC ont interrompu la construction de la piste. 

 

Selon les experts en aviation contactés par le Groupe, les conditions climatologiques et géographiques de la zone 

nettoyée – tel que le gradient de 10% de la zone, l’altitude et la masse d’air instable – rendraient extrêmement 

risqué l’atterrissage et le décollage, même s’il s’agissait de petits aéronefs ou d’hélicoptères , plus particulièrement 

dans le cas où ils seraient chargés. 

 

 

 

 

Screenshot of a 14 June 2020 tweet on the building of the clandestine airstrip  

 

Capture d’écran d’un tweet publié le 14 juin 2020 sur la construction de la piste clandestine  

 

*** 
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Screenshot of Google Earth showing the location of Makanika’s airstrip, extracted from a document received 

from a MONUSCO source in mid-October 2020 

 

Capture d’écran de Google Earth indiquant la localisation de la piste de Makanika, extrait d’un document fourni 

par une source de la MONUSCO mi-octobre 2020 
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Annex 106 
 
Diversion of weapons and ammunition by FARDC members  
 
Diversion d’armes et munitions par des membres des FARDC 
 

The Group collected information on the diversion of weapons by some FARDC members in favour of different 

armed groups fighting for control in Uvira, Mwenga and Fizi territories, thereby contributing to pr olonging the 

conflict in the area. As indicated in the main text, several FARDC soldiers have been arrested since late 2019 for 

being accused of supplying armed groups with weapons and ammunition. For example, on 26 September 2020, the 

commander of the 123 rd Battalion (12th Brigade), Lieutenant-Colonel Gaby Tchomwe, based in Monyi, 15 kilome-

ters from Minembwe, sold important quantities of ammunition to a Mai-Mai group.175 At least 12 boxes of ammu-

nition had disappeared from the FARDC store in Monyi. Tchombwe was arrested on 28 September 2020 together 

with other FARDC soldiers who were either arrested and/or suspended for similar allegations. 176 This case was 

largely covered in the media.177 There are also several examples of FARDC members who sold and/or tried to sell 

weaponry to Twirwaneho. For example, in mid-March 2021, two FARDC officers from the 3301 st regiment were 

arrested in relation to trafficking of ammunition to Twirwaneho combatants in Mugeti, in the vicinity of Bijombo.  

 

The Group notes that the appalling living conditions of some FARDC members in the Hauts-Plateaux and the delays 

in payment of wages pushed certain FARDC soldiers to sell their weapons, as reported by FARDC sources and 

researchers. AK-type assault rifles were sold to armed groups for between $50 and $100. 

 

Le Groupe a collecté des informations sur la diversion de l’armement par certains membres des FARDC en faveur 

de différents groupes armés qui se battaient pour le contrôle des territoires d’Uvira, Mwenga et Fizi, contribuant 

ainsi à faire persister le conflit dans la zone. Tel qu’indiqué dans le texte principal, plusieurs soldats FARDC, 

accusés de fournir des munitions et des armes aux groupes armés, ont été arrêté depuis fin 2019. Par exemple, le 

26 septembre 2020, le commandant du 123 ième bataillon (12ième brigade), Lieutenant-Colonel Gaby Tchomwe, alors 

qu’il était basé à Monyi, à 15 kilomètres de Minembwe, a vendu d’importantes quantités de munitions à un groupe 

Mai-Mai.178 Au moins 12 boites de munitions avaient disparu de la base FARDC à Monyi. Tchomwe a été arrêté le 

28 septembre 2020 avec d’autres militaires FARDC, tous arrêtés et/ou suspendus pour des allégations similaires. 

Ce cas de trafic a été largement commenté dans la presse. 179 Il y a également plusieurs exemples de membres 

FARDC qui ont vendu et/ou tenté de vendre de l’armement aux Twirwaneho. Par exemple, mi-mars 2021, deux 

officiers FARDC du 3301 ième régiment ont été arrêtés suite à un trafic de munitions en faveur de combattants Twir-

waneho à Mugeti, proche de Bijombo. 

 

Le Groupe note que les conditions de vie déplorables de certains membres des FARDC dans les Hauts-Plateaux 

ainsi que les délais importants dans le payement des soldes ont amené certains membres des FARDC à vendre leur 

armement, tel que rapporté au Groupe par plusieurs sources FARDC et des chercheurs. Un fusil d’assaut était vendu 

aux groupes armés entre 50 et 100$. 

  

__________________ 

175 FARDC sources, judicial sources, MONUSCO sources, researchers, civil society.  
176 Ibid.  
177 See for example: mediacongo.net - Actualités - Sud-Kivu : Deux Officiers militaires arrêtés pour avoir collaboré avec les Maï-Maï à 

Minembwe (Kivu Security) (last consulted on 14 April 2021). 

Sources des FARDC, sources judiciaires et de la MONUSCO, chercheurs et société civile.  
179 Par exemple, mediacongo.net - Actualités - Sud-Kivu : Deux Officiers militaires arrêtés pour avoir collaboré avec les Maï-Maï à 

Minembwe (Kivu Security) (dernière consultation le 14 avril 2021). 

https://www.mediacongo.net/article-actualite-76918_sud_kivu_deux_officiers_militaires_arretes_pour_avoir_collabore_avec_les_mai_mai_a_minembwe_kivu_security.html
https://www.mediacongo.net/article-actualite-76918_sud_kivu_deux_officiers_militaires_arretes_pour_avoir_collabore_avec_les_mai_mai_a_minembwe_kivu_security.html
https://www.mediacongo.net/article-actualite-76918_sud_kivu_deux_officiers_militaires_arretes_pour_avoir_collabore_avec_les_mai_mai_a_minembwe_kivu_security.html
https://www.mediacongo.net/article-actualite-76918_sud_kivu_deux_officiers_militaires_arretes_pour_avoir_collabore_avec_les_mai_mai_a_minembwe_kivu_security.html
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Annex 107  
 
Collusion by some FARDC members with Mai-Mai armed groups 
 
Collusion de certains membres des FARDC avec des groupes armés Mai-Mai 
 

FARDC sources, civil society, local chiefs, IDPs, Banyamulenge chiefs, researchers, MONUSCO sources and Twir-

waneho leaders consistently reported the collusion between some FARDC members and Mai -Mai groups, in par-

ticular in and around Bijombo, Mikenge and Minembwe. Amongst others, there were several reports of FARDC 

soldiers in Kipupu, Fizi territory, cooperating with the Mai-Mai groups, also based in Kipupu, when the latter 

attacked neighboring villages such as Kamombo, Fizi territory. For example, on 21 De cember 2020, FARDC mem-

bers coming from Kipupu and Mai-Mai combatants jointly attacked Twirwaneho in Kamombo. IDPs, Banyamu-

lenge chiefs, researchers, Twirwaneho leaders and MONUSCO sources also reported that repeated cattle rustling 

by Mai-Mai groups was not stopped and/or prevented by FARDC members operating in the area, and that some 

FARDC combatants concluded cattle deals with Mai-Mai groups.  

 

According to six FARDC sources, including several high-ranking officers, civil society leaders, Banyamulenge 

local chiefs, researchers, individuals close to Mai-Mai groups, and MONUSCO sources, General Dieudonné Ba-

tenchi Muhima, commander of the 12 th Rapid Reaction Brigade in Minembwe since March 2020, regularly supplied 

Mai-Mai groups with ammunition (see also S/2015/797, para. 81). FARDC officers that opposed Muhima were 

threatened and/or moved out of the zone of operations.  

 

On several occasions, the collusion between some FARDC members and some Mai -Mai groups was denounced by 

civil society in the Hauts-Plateaux (see communiqué below).  

 

 

Des sources FARDC, la société civile, des chefs locaux, des déplacés, des leaders Banyamulenge, des chercheurs, 

des sources MONUSCO et des leaders Twirwaneho ont rapporté de façon consistante l’existence d’une collusion 

entre certains membres des FARDC et des groupes Mai-Mai, notamment dans les zones de Bijombo, Mikenge et 

Minembwe. En particulier, il y a eu plusieurs rapports de membres des FARDC basés à Kipupu, territoire de Fizi , 

coopérant avec les groupes Mai-Mai également basés à Kipupu, lorsque ceux-ci attaquaient les villages voisins tel 

que Kamombo, territoire de Fizi. Par exemple, le 21 décembre 2020, des membres des FARDC venant de Kipupu 

et des combattants Mai-Mai ont conjointement attaqué les Twirwaneho à Kamombo. Les déplacés, les leaders Ba-

nyamulenge, les chercheurs, les leaders Twirwaneho et des sources de la MONUSCO ont également fait état de 

nombreux vols de bétail par les combattants Mai-Mai que les FARDC opérant dans la zone ne stoppaient et/ou ne 

prévenaient pas, et du fait que certains membres des FARDC ont conclu des accords au sujet du bétail avec les 

groupes Mai-Mai.  

 

Selon six sources FARDC, dont plusieurs officiers supérieurs, des leaders de la société civil e, des chefs locaux 

Banyamulenge, des chercheurs, des personnes proches des groupes Mai-Mai, et des sources de la MONUSCO, le 

Général Dieudonné Batenchi Muhima, commandant de la 12ième Brigade Réaction Rapide à Minembwe depuis 

mars 2020, a régulièrement approvisionné les groupes Mai-Mai en munitions (voir également  S/2015/797, par. 

81). Des officiers s’opposant à cette pratique ont été menacés et/ou mutés hors de la zone d’opérations.  

 

La société civile dans les Hauts-Plateaux a, à plusieurs reprises, dénoncé la collusion entre certains membres des 

FARDC et des groupes Mai-Mai (voir le communiqué ci-dessous).  

 

 

https://www.undocs.org/S/2015/797
https://www.undocs.org/S/2015/797
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11 April 2021 communiqué from civil society in Minembwe, provided to the Group on 13 April 2021 by a civil 

society source 

 

Communiqué du 11 avril 2021 de la société civile à Minembwe fourni au Groupe par une source de la société ci-

vile 
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Annex 108 
 
Ethnicization of geographical space of the Hauts-Plateaux and absence of freedom of movement 
 
Ethnicisation de l’espace géographique des Haut-Plateaux et absence de liberté de mouvement 
 

From February 2019, attacks against villages and armed clashes by both the Mai-Mai coalition and Twirwaneho 

resulted in the geographical space in the Hauts-Plateaux being divided along ethnic lines. Between May and Octo-

ber 2019 alone, the belligerents burnt at least 72 villages in the Hauts-Plateaux, forcing civilians out. Between May 

and September 2020, the Hauts-Plateaux registered at least 76,000 IDPs, according to the United Nations Office 

for the Coordination for Humanitarian Affairs.180 The International Organisation for Migration estimated that within 

the first nine months of 2020, 20,180 IDPs came from Minembwe health zone181 and 15,667 from Itombwe health 

zone, and that by 14 December 2020, 53% of the population from Minembwe health zone was displaced. 182  

 

At the time of drafting, the Banyamulenge population was concentrated in two main locations, each protected by 

UN peacekeepers, at Minembwe locality and Mikenge IDP camp. Both locations hosted many Banyamulenge IDPs 

from the entire Hauts-Plateaux. Mikenge IDP camp hosted almost exclusively Banyamulenge IDPs who came from 

about 20 villages, since September and October 2019. The camp was attacked on 28 May 2020 by Mai-Mai, result-

ing in one civilian and one Mai-Mai killed, and five civilians and one UN peacekeeper injured. 183 Because both 

Minembwe and Mikenge were surrounded by Mai-Mai, Banyamulenge living there had a very limited freedom of 

movement and were de facto precluded from leaving the Hauts-Plateaux, except by air. One Banyamulenge inhab-

itant of Minembwe assessed that Banyamulenge could only safely move within four to seven kilometers from 

Minembwe centre. 

 

In some areas in the Hauts-Plateaux, the other communities were similarly restricted in their movements. For in-

stance, IDPs who were mainly Babembe and Bafuliiru, could barely leave the IDP camp in Bijombo next to a UN 

peacekeeper position, without being attacked by Twirwaneho (see paras. 147-148).  

 

The lack of freedom of movement of civilians had a significant impact on their ability to access food and medical 

care. This situation was further exacerbated by the logistical and security difficulti es for humanitarian agencies to 

bring assistance to the Hauts-Plateaux, which is a mountainous area that is difficult to access.  

 

 

À partir de février 2019, les attaques contre les villages et les affrontements armés par la coalition Mai -Mai et les 

Twirwaneho a abouti à une division de l’espace géographique des Hauts-Plateaux suivant des lignes ethniques. 

Pour la seule période de mai à octobre 2019, les belligérants avaient incendié au moins 72 villages dans les Hauts -

Plateaux, forçant les civils à partir. Entre mai et octobre 2020, les Hauts-Plateaux ont enregistrés au moins 76 000 

déplacés, d’après le Bureau de Coordination des affaires humanitaires des Nations Unies. 184 L’Organisation inter-

nationale des migrations a estimé que pour les neuf premiers mois de 2020, 20 180 déplacés internes venaient de 

la zone de santé185 de Minembwe et 15 667 de la zone de santé d’Itombwe, et qu’au 14 décembre 2020, 53% of de 

la population de la zone de santé de Minembwe était déplacée.186 

 

Au moment de la rédaction du rapport, la population Banyamulenge était concentrée à deux endroits principaux, 

chacun protégé par des soldats de la paix de l’ONU, la localité de Minembwe et le camp de dépla cés de Mikenge. 

__________________ 

180 See https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/note_dinformations_humanitaires_sud -

kivu_maniema_du_21_septembre_au_10_octobre_ok.pdf (last consulted on 30 April 2021). 
181 A health zone is a decentralized entity for planification and implementation of strategies for primary healthcare.  
182 https://displacement.iom.int/system/tdf/reports/20201214_OIM_DTM_RDC_MT_Dashboard_Sud-

Kivu_R5.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=10350 (last consulted on 30 April 2021). 
183 Two IDPs, one local authority, UN sources. 
184 See https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/note_dinformations_humanitaires_sud -

kivu_maniema_du_21_septembre_au_10_octobre_ok.pdf (dernière consultation le 30 avril 2021). 
185 Une zone de santé est une entité décentralisée de planification et de mise en œuvre de la stratégie des soins de santé primaires. 
186 https://displacement.iom.int/system/tdf/reports/20201214_OIM_DTM_RDC_MT_Dashboard_Sud -

Kivu_R5.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=10350 (dernière consultation le 30 avril 2021). 

https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/note_dinformations_humanitaires_sud-kivu_maniema_du_21_septembre_au_10_octobre_ok.pdf
https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/note_dinformations_humanitaires_sud-kivu_maniema_du_21_septembre_au_10_octobre_ok.pdf
https://displacement.iom.int/system/tdf/reports/20201214_OIM_DTM_RDC_MT_Dashboard_Sud-Kivu_R5.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=10350
https://displacement.iom.int/system/tdf/reports/20201214_OIM_DTM_RDC_MT_Dashboard_Sud-Kivu_R5.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=10350
https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/note_dinformations_humanitaires_sud-kivu_maniema_du_21_septembre_au_10_octobre_ok.pdf
https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/note_dinformations_humanitaires_sud-kivu_maniema_du_21_septembre_au_10_octobre_ok.pdf
https://displacement.iom.int/system/tdf/reports/20201214_OIM_DTM_RDC_MT_Dashboard_Sud-Kivu_R5.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=10350
https://displacement.iom.int/system/tdf/reports/20201214_OIM_DTM_RDC_MT_Dashboard_Sud-Kivu_R5.pdf?file=1&type=node&id=10350
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Ces deux endroits accueillaient de nombreux déplacés Banyamulenge des Hauts-Plateaux. Le camp de déplacés de 

Mikenge hébergeait presque exclusivement des déplacés Banyamulenge venus d’environ 20 villages, depuis sep-

tembre et octobre 2019. Le camp a été attaqué le 28 juin 2020 par les Mai-Mai. Au cours de l’attaque, un civil et 

un Mai-Mai ont été tués, et cinq civils et un soldat de la paix blessés. 187 Comme Minembwe et Mikenge étaient 

entourés de Mai-Mai, les Banyamulenge vivant là-bas avaient une liberté de mouvement très limitée et étaient de 

facto empêchés de sortir des Hauts-Plateaux, sauf par voie aérienne. Un habitant Banyamulenge de Minembwe a 

évalué que les Banyamulenge pouvaient seulement se déplacer en sécurité qu’entre quatre et sep t kilomètres du 

centre de Minembwe. 

 

Dans d’autres endroits des Hauts-Plateaux, les autres communautés étaient de manière similaire limitées dans leurs 

mouvements. En particulier, les déplacés, principalement Babembe et Bafuliiru, pouvaient à peine sortir du camp 

de déplacés de Bijombo à côté de la position des soldats de la paix de l’ONU, sans être attaqués par les Twirwaneho 

(voir par. 147-148).  

 

L’absence de liberté de mouvement des civils a eu des impacts significatifs sur leur accès à la nourriture et  aux 

soins médicaux. Cette situation a encore été exacerbée par les difficultés logistiques et sécuritaires rencontrées par 

les agences humanitaires pour apporter de l’aide dans les Hauts-Plateaux, une zone montagneuse difficile d’accès.  

 

 

Photograph of the Mikenge IDP camp 

 

Photographie du camp de déplacés de Mikenge 

 

 
 

Photograph taken by the Group on 5 March 2021 

Photographie prise par le Groupe le 5 mars 2021 

 

 

__________________ 

187 Deux déplacés internes, une autorité locale, et des sources de l’ONU. 
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Annex 109 
 
Conflict-related sexual violence committed by FARDC members 
 
Violence sexuelle liée au conflit commise par des membres des FARDC 
 
Eight NGOs, UN and medical sources mentioned that some FARDC members deployed in the Hauts -Plateaux 

committed rape, regardless of the victim’s ethnicity. The Group documented one of these cases.  

In December 2020, FARDC members, wearing balaclavas, raped a 25-year-old Babembe woman and a 10-year-

old girl who were collecting wood near Mikenge. Three FARDC members raped the woman, who was pregnant, 

causing her to lose her baby. A fourth FARDC member raped the girl, severely damaging her genitals. The woman 

also knew of a 17-year-old girl raped by one FARDC soldier in the same area in February 2021.  

The Group documented several other rape cases by armed men but was not able to specifically attribute th e rapes 

to any of the parties to the conflict. The Group notes that rape is particularly taboo in the Hauts -Plateaux, resulting 

in most women not denouncing their rape and/or not getting medical care, out of fear of stigmatization and/or 

rejection by their community and/or husband. 

 

Huit sources médicales, issues des ONG ou de l’ONU ont mentionné que certains membres des FARDC déployés 

dans les Hauts-Plateaux ont commis des viols, indépendamment de l’ethnie de la victime. Le Groupe a documenté 

un de ces cas. 

En décembre 2020, des membres des FARDC, portant des cagoules, ont violé une femme Babembe de 25 ans et 

une fille de 10 ans qui ramassaient du bois à côté de Mikenge. Trois  des FARDC ont violé la femme qui était 

enceinte, lui faisant perdre son bébé. Un quatrième a violé la fille, déchirant gravement ses organes génitaux. La 

femme connaissait aussi une fille de 17 ans violée par un soldat des FARDC dans la même zone en févri er 2021.  

Le Groupe a documenté plusieurs autres cas de viols par des hommes armés , mais n’a pas été en mesure de les 

attribuer spécifiquement à une des parties au conflit. Le Groupe note que le viol est particulièrement tabou dans 

les Hauts-Plateaux, poussant la plupart des femmes à ne pas dénoncer leur viol ou à ne pas recevoir de soins 

médicaux, de peur d’être stigmatisées ou rejetées par leur communauté ou leur mari.  
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Annex 110 
 
Declaration of representatives of the Babembe community (extracts) 
 
Déclaration de représentants de la communauté Babembe (extraits) 
 
 

As part of efforts to bring peace, security and development in the Hauts and Moyens Plateaux of Fizi, Mwenga and Uvira, 

the Babuyu, Banyindu, Barundi, Bavira, Babembe, Bafuliiru et Banyamulenge communities each organized intra-commu-

nity dialogues. They each submitted a written declaration in which they presented the measures that should be taken, in their 

views, to move towards this goal. Extracts of the declarations for the Babembe, Banyindu and Bavira are enclosed in this 

annex and the next two annexes. They show a clear anti-Banyamulenge sentiment. 

 

Parmi les efforts pour amener la paix, la sécurité et le développement dans les Hauts et Moyens Plateaux de Fizi, Mwenga 

et Uvira, les communautés Babuyu, Banyindu, Barundi, Bavira, Babembe, Bafuliiru et Banyamulenge ont chacune organisé 

des dialogues intra-communautaires. Elles ont chacune soumis une déclaration écrite dans laquelle elles ont présenté les 

mesures qui devraient, selon elles, être prises pour avancer vers ce but. Des extraits des déclarations pour les Babembe, 

Bayindu et Bavira sont insérés dans cette annexe et les deux suivantes. Elles montrent un clair sentiment anti-Banyamulenge. 
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Document provided by the Group by MONUSCO 

Document fourni au Groupe par la MONUSCO 
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Annex 111 
 
Declaration of representatives of the Banyindu community (extracts) 
 
Déclaration de représentants de la communauté Banyindu (extraits) 
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Document provided by the Group by MONUSCO 

Document fourni au Groupe par la MONUSCO 
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Annex 112 
 
Declaration of representatives of the Bavira community (extracts) 
 
Déclaration de représentants de la communauté Bavira (extraits) 
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Document provided by the Group by MONUSCO 

Document fourni au Groupe par la MONUSCO 
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Annex 113 
 

Increased inflammatory speech following the temporary installation of the Minembwe Commune  

 

Augmentation des discours incendiaires suite à l’installation temporaire de la Commune de Mi-

nembwe 
 

Immediately following the announcement of the installation of the Minembwe Bourgmestre, anti-Banyamulenge inflamma-

tory speeches spread rapidly in the DRC via political speeches, classical media and social media, including messages, video 

and audio recordings. Demonstrations were organised in several locations of the DRC, including in the capital Kinshasa and 

in South Kivu province, such as in Uvira and Baraka towns.188 The Group provides several examples of these inflammatory 

speeches below. 

 

Immédiatement après l’annonce de l’installation du Bourgmestre de Minembwe, des discours incendiaires anti-

Banyamulenge se sont rapidement répandus en RDC par le biais de discours politiques, des médias classiques et 

des médias sociaux, y compris des messages, des vidéos et des enregistrements audio. Des manifestations ont été 

organisées dans plusieurs endroits de la RDC, y compris dans la capitale Kinshasa et dans la province du Sud Kivu, 

notamment dans les villes de Uvira et Baraka.189 Le Groupe fournit plusieurs exemples de ces discours incendiaires 

ci-dessous.  

 

Temporary installation of the Minembwe Bourgmestre 

 
On 28 September 2020, a delegation, comprising the then Minister of Defence Aimé Ngoy Mukena, the then national Min-

ister of Decentralisation Azarias Mukena, member of the Senate Moïse Nyarugabo, national deputies, as well as several 

FARDC senior Officers, visited Minembwe. During the visit, Gad Mukiza, a Banyamulenge who had been serving unoffi-

cially as the Bourgmestre of Minembwe since 2019, was officially installed. The installation of the Bourgmestre was based 

on a 13 June 2013 Decree creating new communes, including the Commune of Minembwe.  

 

On 7 October 2020, President Tshisekedi announced the suspension of the installation of the Minembwe Bourgmestre given 

the very tense situation and the creation of a special commission of non-native experts to advise him on this issue.  

 

 

Le 28 septembre 2020, une délégation, composée du Ministre de la défense de l’époque Aimé Ngoy Mukena, du Ministre 

national de la décentralisation de l’époque Azarias Mukena, du sénateur Moïse Nyarugabo, de députés nationaux et de 

plusieurs officiers de haut rang des FARDC, a visité Minembwe. Pendant la visite, Gad Mukiza, un Banyamulenge qui 

servait comme le Bourgmestre de Minembwe depuis 2019, a officiellement été investi. L’installation du Bourgmestre repo-

sait sur un décret du 13 juin 2013 créant, entre autres nouvelles communes, la Commune de Minembwe. 

 

Le 7 octobre, le Président Tshisekedi a annoncé la suspension de l’installation du Bourgmestre de Minembwe, compte tenu 

de la situation très tendue, ainsi que la création d’une commission spéciale d’experts non-autochtones pour le conseiller sur 

cette question. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

__________________ 

188 See also https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/report_on_hate_speech_and_incitement_to_hostility_in_the_demo-

cratic_republic_of_the_congo_-_march_2021.pdf, para. 59, and also paras. 53-54, 58, 63-64, and 76 (last consulted on 30 April 

2021). 
189 Voir aussi https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/bcnudh_rapport_sur_les_messages_et_discours_incit a-

tifs_a_la_haine_en_rdc.pdf, par. 59, et aussi par. 53-54, 58, 63-64, et 76 (dernière consultation le 30 avril 2021). 

https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/report_on_hate_speech_and_incitement_to_hostility_in_the_democratic_republic_of_the_congo_-_march_2021.pdf
https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/report_on_hate_speech_and_incitement_to_hostility_in_the_democratic_republic_of_the_congo_-_march_2021.pdf
https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/bcnudh_rapport_sur_les_messages_et_discours_incitatifs_a_la_haine_en_rdc.pdf
https://monusco.unmissions.org/sites/default/files/bcnudh_rapport_sur_les_messages_et_discours_incitatifs_a_la_haine_en_rdc.pdf
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Inflammatory speeches by politicians 

 

Discours incendaires par des hommes politiques 

 

9 October 2020 Press release (extracts) by Martin Fayulu, former candidate of the Lamuka coalition at the 2018 

presidential elections, comparing the Bourgmestre installation to the materialization of the DRC occupation.  

 

Communiqué de presse (extraits) de Martin Fayulu, ancien candidat de la coalition Lamuka à l’élection présiden-

tielle de 2018, comparant l’installation du Bourgmestre de Minembwe à la matérialisation de l’occupation de la 

RDC. 
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https://twitter.com/MartinFayulu/status/1314828294932529154/photo/1   

(last consulted 30 April 2021/dernière consultation le 30 avril 2021)  

Declarations of Justin Bitakwira, former Minister of Rural Development, to Top Congo FM radio on 2 October 

2020 

 

Déclarations de Justin Bitakwira, ancien Ministre du développement rural, à la radio Top Congo FM le 2 octobre 

2020 

 

“I was myself very, very surprised to see such a big delegation, as if we had changed capital. Now, Kinshasa is not 

the capital anymore. Now, the DRC capital has become Minembwe, as if we were going to install a chief of state 

of a country like Lesotho. Personally, I said, and I can address this to the Defense Minister, the act he took in one 

corner of this country looks like treason. Why treason? The Defense Minister is responsible for the army of the 

Republic […] In the part of the country where he went, there is a senior military officer, Makanika, who deserted 

the army and became like a rebel. I thought that he could only have gone to Minembwe to take this insurgent from 

the Congolese army. Unfortunately, it was to install a rural bourgmestre. This part of the Republic has become like 

the former Yugoslavia. There is no more State authority there. Like a peace ceremony, we see them laugh, dance… 

Where is my country going?”. Bitakwira then continued by criticizing the limits of the Commune of Minembwe 

(transcription of the audio by the Group). 

 

« J’étais moi-même très, très surpris de voir une forte délégation comme si on a changé de capitale. Ce n’est plus 

Kinshasa maintenant la capitale. Maintenant la capitale de la RDC est devenue Minembwe, comme si on al lait 

installer un Chef d’état d’un pays comme le Lesotho. Personnellement j’ai dit et je peux m’adresser au Ministre  de 

la défense, ce qu’il a posé comme acte dans ce coin de ce pays ressemble à une trahison. Pourquoi une trahison? 

Le Ministre de la Défense, c’est lui qui est responsable de l’armée de la République. […] Dans cette partie du pays 

où il a été, il y a un officier supérieur militaire, Makanika, qui a déserté l’armé et il est devenu comme un rebelle. 

Je pensais qu’il ne pouvait se rendre à Minembwe que pour aller cueillir cet insurgé de l’armée congolaise. Mal-

heureusement, c’était pour aller installer un bourgmestre rural. Cette partie de la République est devenue comme 

l’ancienne Yougoslavie. Il n’y a plus d’autorité de l’État, là. Comme si on é tait dans une cérémonie de paix, on les 

voit en train de rigoler, de danser… Où va mon pays? ». Bitakwira a continué en critiquant les limites de la Com-

mune de Minembwe (transcription de l’audio par le Groupe).  

 

In another speech, Bitakwira denied that Banyamulenge were DRC citizens yet. He also accused them, inter alia, 

of wanting to dominate the DRC and having forgotten their crimes, and warned that history would take its revenge 

and Banyamulenge be removed without knowing where to go if they did not stop  lying and they did not repent.  

 

Dans un autre discours, Bitakwira a nié que les Banyamulenge soient déjà des citoy ens congolais. Il a, entre autres, 

accusé les Banyamulenge de vouloir dominer la RDC et d’avoir oublié leurs crimes, les mettant en garde qu e 

l’histoire prendrait sa revanche et que les Banyamulenge seraient « enlevés sans savoir où [aller] », s’ils n’arrêtaient 

pas de mentir et s’ils ne se repentaient pas  
 

 

https://twitter.com/MartinFayulu/status/1314828294932529154/photo/1
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https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=HlXBuxKWOLI#menu  

(last consulted on 30 April 2021/dernière consultation le 30 avril 2021) 

 

On 15 November 2020, Bitakwira was mandated by President Tshisekedi for a peace and pacific cohabitation mis-

sion in the Hauts-Plateaux.  

Le 15 novembre 2020, Bitakwira a été mandaté, par le président Tshisekedi, pour une mission de paix  et de coha-

bitation pacifique dans les Hauts-Plateaux 

  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=HlXBuxKWOLI#menu


 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 335/369 

 

Inflammatory speeches circulating on social medias 

Discours incendiaires circulant sur les médias sociaux 

Tweet calling Banyamulenge “Rwandan Tutsi genocidaires” 

Tweet appelant les Banyamulenge “génocidaires Tutsi Rwandais”   

 
 

https://twitter.com/sandokanda/status/1311695309416865793?s=24  

(last consulted on 30 April 2021/dernière consultation le 30 avril 2021) 

 

 

 

Song posted on YouTube on 4 October 2020 by an unknown person and calling Congolese to react against the 

Banyamulenge occupation of Minembwe 

 

Chanson postée sur YouTube le 4 octobre par une personne inconnue et appelant les Congolais à réagir contre 

l’occupation de Minembwe par les Banyamulenge 

 

https://twitter.com/sandokanda/status/1311695309416865793?s=24
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https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=02DA1t2hqcU  

(last consulted on 30 April 2021/dernière consultation le 30 avril 2020) 

(transcription and translation by the Group/transcription et traduction par le Groupe) 

 

“The children of Kivu are ready for the fight against Azarias Ruberwa. The fire will burn on Fatshi. 190 The Bafu-

liiru, Babembe, Banyindu, Baregas, Bashi, militaries, Mai-Mai, open your eyes. The deputies, generals, majors, 

captains, soldiers and Mai-Mai, where are you? See how Banyarwandans occupy slowly our country. Look how 

Azarias and Moïse Nyarugabo, two persons, are creating troubles in our country which has ov er 80 000 000 people, 

including licensed individuals and doctors. They argue and think because of these two people. Where are you  ? 

Why do you accept corruption ? The deputies, Bafuliiru, Babembe, Banyindu, Baregas, Bashi,… 400 ethnicities 

in the DRC. 

Look at how Congo is going. The enemies of Congo, whom Mzee Laurent Désiré spoke about, just rise against us. 

Where are you, Congolese youth ? This is the time to fight for your country. They want to make Minembwe the 

capital of their country they tried to create. Soon Rwanda will be free to land its planes in Minembwe. 

Look how the commune of Minembwe was just given to “General” Makanika, to thank him for the killings com-

mitted in Kipupu, Makobola and Uvira in South Kivu. My brothers, the real Congolese, «  General » Yakutumba… 

Where are you? Wake up! It is time to do our work. Thanks, because you all see how things happen in our country. 

I beg you Congolese to open your eyes to see.” 

 

« Les enfants du Kivu sont prêts pour le combat contre Azarias Ruberwa. Le feu va brûler Fatshi.191 Les Bafuliiru, 

les Babembe, les Banyindu, les Barega, les Bashi, les militaires, les Mai-Mai, ouvrez les yeux. Les députés, géné-

raux, majors, capitaines, soldats de rang et les Mai-Mai, vous êtes où ? Voyez comment les Banyarwandais occu-

pent notre pays petit à petit. Regardez comment Azarias et Moïse Nyarugabo, deux personnes qui sont en train de 

troubler notre pays qui a plus de 80 000 000 de population, dont des licenciés et docteurs. Ils se prennent la tête et 

__________________ 

190 Fatshi usually refers to President Tshisekedi. 
191 Fatshi renvoie généralement au Président Tshisekedi. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=02DA1t2hqcU
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réfléchissent à cause de ces deux personnes. Vous êtes où? Pourquoi vous acceptez la corruption ? Les députés, 

Bafuliiru, les Babembe, les Banyindu, les Barega, les Bashi... 400 ethnies en RDC.  

Regardez comment le Congo est en train de partir. Les ennemis du Congo dont Mzee Laurent Désiré avait par lé, 

viennent de se soulever contre nous. Vous êtes où les jeunes congolais? Il est temps de combattre pour notre pays. 

Ils veulent faire de Minembwe la capitale de leur pays qu'ils cherchent à créer. D'ici peu le Rwanda sera libre 

d'atterrir avec ses avions à Minembwe. 

Regardez comment on vient de donner au « Général » Makanika la commune de Minembwe comme remerciement 

des tueries commises à Kipupu, Makobola et Uvira au Sud-Kivu. Mes frères, les vrais Congolais, « Général » 

Yakutumba ... Vous êtes où ? Réveillons-nous il est temps de faire notre travail. Merci parce que vous voyez tous 

comment les choses se passent dans notre pays. Je vous prie, les Congolais, d'ouvrir les yeux pour voir.  » 

 

 

Article dated 24 February 2020 calling the Babembe to annul the Decree creating Minembwe Commune themselves 

 

Article du 24 février 2030 appelant les Babembe à annuler le décret créant la Commune de Minembwe eux -mêmes 

Although dated prior to the temporary installation of the Minembwe Bourguemestre, the Group notes that an in-

flammatory article was published online by a certain Philibert Bilombele on 24 February 2020, stating that only 

annulation of the Decree creating Minembwe Commune could bring back peace, and that should the DRC Gov-

ernment not annul it, “Babembe would do it themselves”. See screenshot below and https://fizime-

dia.com/2020/02/rdc-les-pretendues-chefferies-des-soi-disant-banyamulenge-nexistent-pas-au-congo/ (last con-

sulted 25 April 2021). 

 

Bien que daté d’avant l’installation temporaire du Bourgmestre de Minembwe, le Groupe note la publication en 

ligne d’un article incendiaire par un certain Philbert Bilombele le 24 février 2020, déclarant que seule l’annulation 

du Décret créant la Commune de Minembwe pourrait ramener la paix et que si les pouvoirs publics ne le font pas, 

« les Babembe le feront eux-mêmes. » Voir capture d’écran ci-dessous et https://fizimedia.com/2020/02/rdc-les-

pretendues-chefferies-des-soi-disant-banyamulenge-nexistent-pas-au-congo/ (dernière consultation le 25 Avril 

2021). 

https://fizimedia.com/2020/02/rdc-les-pretendues-chefferies-des-soi-disant-banyamulenge-nexistent-pas-au-congo/
https://fizimedia.com/2020/02/rdc-les-pretendues-chefferies-des-soi-disant-banyamulenge-nexistent-pas-au-congo/
https://fizimedia.com/2020/02/rdc-les-pretendues-chefferies-des-soi-disant-banyamulenge-nexistent-pas-au-congo/
https://fizimedia.com/2020/02/rdc-les-pretendues-chefferies-des-soi-disant-banyamulenge-nexistent-pas-au-congo/
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Annex 114 
 

Declaration of John Kasimbira, alias Makanaki, posted on 11 April 2021 on YouTube by la “Voix 

du Kivu”  

Déclaration de John Kasimbira, alias Makanaki, postée le 11 avril 2021 sur YouTube par la «  Voix 

du Kivu » 

 

In a video posted online by pro Mai-Mai media la “Voix du Kivu” on 11 April 2021, John Kasimbira, alias Maka-

naki, leader of Mai-Mai Makanaki, promised to “crush” all Banyamulenge and those allying with them (see also 

annex 101). 

Dans une vidéo postée en ligne par le media pro Mai-Mai la “Voix du Kivu” le 11avril 2021, John Kasimbira, alias 

Makanaki, dirigeant de Mai-Mai Makanaki, promit d’ « écraser » tous les Banyamulenge et ceux qui s’allient à 

eux (voir aussi annexe 101).  

 

 

 

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=w02UaVgJmbY  

(last consulted on 30 April 2021/dernière consultation le 30 avril 2021)  

(Transcription and translation by the Group with MONUSCO assistance/Transcription et traduction par le 

Groupe avec l’assistance de la MONUSCO) 

  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=w02UaVgJmbY
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“We are in the areas of operations in Kageregere, in all the mountainous areas and in all the Hauts-Plateaux. We are hunting 

down the enemy. And if the enemy has come to Masango, it's like a man playing with a knife. Instead of playing with the 

handle of the knife, the enemy played with the point and the sharp side, the knife will cut you. Now, they played with the 

sharp part of the knife. They put their finger in Madam Turtle's anus. So, we are going to hunt them down everywhere. We 

will fight until the end. Let them reunite if they reach a thousand or two thousand, let them transform to twenty thousand. 

We continue to hunt them down with guns and other means until the end. 

 

The important thing I want to tell you about the obscure meetings, stop the obscure meetings. We do not want secret meetings 

that plunge the Congolese into problems. Those who continue to sell the heads of the people, continue, continue that trade, 

those who would like to continue to trade the heads of the Congolese and the heads of the Congolese soldiers, the heads of 

Mai-Mai, continue to do this business, but their day will come. Because they have already taken our heads like packages to 

sell. 

 

We no longer want political meetings aimed at selling our country. Whoever wants to be a lawyer for the Banyarwandans, 

let him quickly join them where they are and quickly take the path to join them. There are some stupid, unconscious and 

mad Congolese who ignore themselves and who do not know where to be. Those who are unconscious are in the different 

tribes: the Bavira, Bafuliiru, Banyindu, Babembe, Bashi, Barega ... Do you have no intelligence? You are ashamed of your 

repeated failures. 

 

So, I, “General” Makanaki Kasimbira John, commander of operations in the Uvira area, inform and ask all Congo-

lese to open their eyes and give themselves to defend their country. And whoever continues to unite with the Tutsis 

or the Banyarwandans will be crushed until the end, as corn is crushed at a mill. 

 

We thank the Lord who allowed us to find the enemy, because he is hiding strongly. We, we thank God. Because they are 

visible, we find a breach there to track them down and crush them wherever they are. Praise be to God for nothing is above 

Him. 

 

I ask the Congolese from the areas of Fizi, Uvira and all of Congo to stop tribalism. If you are in the military, know that you 

are fighting for your country and not for your tribe. Likewise, for politicians, you work for the whole country and not for 

your tribes, Barega, Bashi, Banyindu, Bafuliiru, Baluba, Kasaians ... no; you work and serve the Congo as a country; you 

have to defend the Congo. 

 

Do not make statements to sell the heads of the compatriots, no. Let us be united, side by side, until the liberation of 

Minembwe. We'll get there. I know all the entities here: Mashuba, Marungu, Mandegu, Katobo, Muravia ... In a few days 

we will be cleaning up everywhere. I firmly believe in it, we will clean up, but not me but God. We are going to clean up, 

because all war belongs to God. This God […] whom we all know, whom we pray with faith, he will free us, he will defend 

us. He will remove the shame from our faces. 

 

Banyarwandans glorify themselves, they sing, it is all vanity. Let them remember the prophecy that Malliamu told them, let 

them know that it is fulfilled. That they go up, that they descend, it is fulfilled. In a short time, we will descend to Uvira to 

crush all the Banyarwandans who are in Kanyamabenge, Malaki, Kalimabenge, Mulongwe, Kasenga, in all the entities we 

are going to hunt them down. Even in the plain, wherever they find themselves we will hunt them down. The time has come. 

 

Those who think that Banyarwandans are rising up in this way to do something, they are wrong. Even Makanika who makes 

claims that he is a civilian, this is not true. You left the army with which demobilization card? You are wrong, do your 

politics, but the end will come. He is Makanika and I am "General" Makanaki. We know how we are going to fight and, in 

the end, they are going to agree. Whether they go up, whether they go down, they will accept without negotiations. No 

negotiations, they will accept. They will feel. 

 

Thank you, I thank God because the operations are going well. Congolese, let's unite and abandon tribalism, reject the stupid 

affairs of darkness, and fight to the end. Whoever preaches tribalism is a trafficker. We want the Congolese to sacrifice 

themselves for their country, to defend their country. 

 

Today there are some people who are not Congolese, who claim to be Congolese… but are not Bavira, nor Congolese. They 

disguise themselves as Bavira to create conflicts, there are people who are not Congolese and are far from Bafuliiru, there 

are people who are not Barega and are not Congolese and introduce conflicts between Barega and Bashi and Bavira ... These 
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people are traitors. These people are visitors and are starting to assimilate into other tribes and it is they who maintain the 

tribalism. 

 

Let those who practice politics see far, let the old sages of these entities see far. Lubunga from Kifuliiru, from Kishi, from 

Kinyindu, from Kivira, that they sit down together and seek solutions for our country. We sacrifice, if we have to die we 

accept it for our Congo. We sacrifice ourselves to liberate our country. We are from the seed of this country, the Congo. I, 

"General Makanaki", you will never see me take a motorbike, a bicycle, a vehicle, a boat or a plane to go to South Africa, 

Zimbabwe or Angola. This is a lie. I am of the seed of Congo. I will fight for my country until the end. Let us unite, fighters: 

Nyerere, Kashumba, Ilunga, Mushombe, and all the others, and all the authorities, René, Yakutumba, Kibukila. Let us all 

unite to fight for our country and as quickly as possible. May God bless us for the victory. Hand in hand, shoulder to shoulder. 

Thank you." 
 

 

« Nous sommes dans les zones d'opérations à Kageregere, dans toutes les zones montagneuses et dans tous les 

Hauts-Plateaux. Nous sommes en train de traquer l'ennemi. Et si l'ennemi est arrivé à Masango, c’est comme un 

homme qui a joué avec un couteau. Au lieu de jouer avec le manche du couteau, l'en nemi a joué avec la pointe et 

le côté tranchant, le couteau va te couper. Maintenant, eux ils jouaient avec la partie tranchante du couteau. Ils ont 

mis leur doigt dans l'anus de madame la tortue. Ainsi, nous allons les traquer partout. Nous allons nous ba ttre 

jusqu'à la fin. Qu'ils se réunissent, qu'ils atteignent mille ou deux mille, qu'ils se transforment jusqu'à vingt  mille. 

Nous continuons à les traquer par les armes et autres moyens jusqu'au bout.  

 

L'important, j'aimerais vous dire des obscures réunions, cessez les obscures réunions. Nous ne voulons pas de 

réunions secrètes qui font plonger les Congolais dans les problèmes. Ceux -là qui continuent à vendre les têtes des 

gens qu'ils continuent, qu'ils continuent à faire ce commerce, ceux-là qui aimeraient continuer à faire le commerce 

des têtes des Congolais et des têtes des militaires congolais, des têtes des Mai-Mai, qu'ils continuent à faire ce 

commerce, mais leur jour viendra. Parce qu’ils ont déjà pris nos têtes comme des colis à vendre.  

 

Nous ne voulons plus de réunions politiques qui ont comme objectifs de vendre notre pays. Celui qui veut être 

avocat des Banyarwandais, qu'il aille vite les rejoindre là où ils sont et qu’il prenne vite le chemin pour se rallier à 

eux. Il y a certains Congolais idiots, inconscients et fous qui s’ignorent et qui ne savent pas où se situer. Ces 

inconscients sont dans les différentes tribus : les Bavira, Bafuliiru, Banyindu, Babembe, Bashi, Barega... Est -ce 

que vous n’avez pas d’intelligence? Vous avez la honte de vos échecs à répétition. 

 

Alors moi, « Général » Makanaki Kasimbira John, commandant des opérations dans la zone d'Uvira, informe 

et demande à tous les Congolais d'ouvrir les yeux et de se donner pour défendre leur pays. Et celui qui 

continue de s’unir aux Tutsis ou aux Banyarwandais sera écrasé jusqu’à la fin, comme on écrase les maïs au 

moulin. 

 

Nous remercions le Seigneur qui nous a permis de dénicher l'ennemi, car il se cache fortement. Nous, nous r emer-

cions Dieu, car le fait qu’il se fasse voir, nous y trouvons une brèche pour les traquer et les écraser partout où 

ils sont. Dieu soit loué car, rien n'est au-dessus de Lui. 

 

Je demande au Congolais des zones de Fizi, d’Uvira et de tout le Congo de ces ser le tribalisme. Si tu es militaire, 

sais que tu combats pour ton pays et non pour ta tribu. De même pour les politiciens vous travaillez pour tout le 

pays et non pour vos tribus, Barega, Bashi, Banyindu, Bafuliiru, Baluba, Kasaïens... non ; tu travaille s et sers le 

Congo comme pays ; tu dois défendre le Congo.  

 

Ne faisons pas des déclarations pour vendre les têtes des compatriotes, non. Soyons unis, les uns côte à côte, 

jusqu'à la libération de Minembwe. Nous y arriverons. Je connais toutes les entités d 'ici: Mashuba, Marungu, 

Mandegu, Katobo, Muravia... Dans peu de jours nous allons nettoyer partout. J'y crois fermement, nous allons 

nettoyer, mais pas moi mais Dieu. Nous allons nettoyer, car toute guerre appartient à Dieu.  Ce Dieu (…) que 

nous connaissons tous, que nous prions avec foi, il va nous libérer, il va nous défendre. Il enlèvera la honte de nos 

visages. 
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Que les Banyarwandais se glorifient, qu'ils chantent, tout est vanité. Qu'ils se rappellent la prophétie que 

Malliamu leur avait dite, qu'ils sachent qu'elle s'accomplit, qu'ils montent, qu'ils descendent, elle s'accom-

plit. Dans peu de temps nous allons descendre jusqu’à Uvira pour écraser tous les Banyarwandais qui sont à 

Kanyamabenge, Malaki, Kalimabenge, Mulongwe, Kasenga, dans toutes les enti tés nous allons les traquer. 

Jusque dans la plaine, partout où ils se retrouvent nous les traquerons. Le temps est venu. 

 

Ceux qui pense que les Banyarwandais se soulèvent ainsi pour faire quelque chose, ils se trompent. Même Makanika 

qui fait des déclarations qu'il est civil, c'est faux. Tu as quitté l'armée avec quelle carte de démobilisation ? Tu te 

trompes, fais ta politique, mais la fin viendra. Lui c'est Makanika et moi le «  Général » Makanaki. Nous savons 

comment nous allons en découdre et à la fin, ils vont accepter. Qu'il monte, qu'il descende, ils vont accepter sans 

négociations. Pas des négociations, ils accepteront. Ils vont sentir.  

 

Merci, je remercie Dieu car, les opérations continuent bien. Congolais, unissons-nous et abandonnons le tribalisme, 

rejetons les affaires stupides des ténèbres, et luttons jusqu'au bout. Celui qui prêche le tribalisme est trafiquant. 

Nous voulons que les Congolais se sacrifient pour leur pays, défendent leur pays.  

 

Aujourd’hui, il y a certaines personnes qui ne sont pas Congolais, qui prétendre être Congolais… mais ne sont pas 

Bavira, ni congolais. Ils se déguisent en Bavira pour créer des conflits, il y a des gens qui ne sont pas congolais et 

sont loin d'être Bafuliiru, il y a des gens qui ne sont pas Barega et ne sont pas congolais et introduisent les conflits 

entre Barega et les Bashi et les Bavira... Ces gens sont des traîtres.  Ces gens sont des visiteurs et commencent à 

s'assimiler dans d'autres tribus et ce sont eux qui entretiennent le tribalisme.  

 

Que ceux qui font de la politique regardent loin, que les vieux sages de ces entités voient loin. Lubunga de Kifuliiru, 

de Kishi, de Kinyindu, Kivira qu'ils s'asseyent ensemble et cherchent des solutions pour notre pays. Nous, nous 

sacrifions, s'il faut mourir nous l’acceptons pour notre Congo. Nous nous sacrifions pour libérer  notre pays. Nous 

sommes de la semence de ce pays, le Congo. Moi, « Général Makanaki », vous ne me verrez jamais prendre une 

moto, un vélo, un véhicule, un bateau ou un avion pour aller en Afrique  du Sud, au Zimbabwe ou en Angola. Ça 

c’est du mensonge. Je suis de la semence du Congo. Je me battrai pour mon pays jusqu'à la fin.  Unissons-nous, 

combattants: Nyerere, Kashumba, Ilunga, Mushombe, et tous les autres, et toutes les autorités, René, Yakutum ba, 

Kibukila. Tous, unissons-nous pour nous battre en faveur de notre pays et au plus vite. Que Dieu nous bénisse pour 

la victoire. Main dans la main, épaules contre épaules. Merci. »  
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Annex 115 

 

Mundus (or Mundis) Munanga Babuyu, Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale leader 

 

Mundus (ou Mundis) Munanga Babuyu, chef de Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale 

 

 

 

  
 

Photograph provided by a MONUSCO source 

Photographie fournie par une source de la MONUSCO 

 
Mundus was a Twa militiaman of the Perci Moto Moto militia. Demobilized in 2006, he joined FARDC with the 

rank of lieutenant. In 2016, 10 years later, with the rank of major, he deserted from the 1 st FARDC Brigade based 

in Kalemie, to form his armed group called Apa na Pale located  north of Nyunzu (182 km west of Kalemie), within 

his Twa community.  

 

Mundus était un milicien twa de la milice Perci Moto Moto. Démobilisé en 2006, il a rejoint les FARDC avec le 

grade de lieutenant. En 2016, 10 ans plus tard, avec le grade de major, il a déserté de la 1 ère brigade FARDC basée 

à Kalemie, pour former son groupe armé Apa na Pale situé au nord de Nyunzu (182 km à l'ouest de Kalemie), au 

sein de sa communauté twa. 
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Annex 116 

 

Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale area of operations 

 

Zone d’opérations de Mai-Mai Apa Na Pale  

 
 

Mai-Mai Apa na Pale area of operations, with Kodo as headquarters, delimited in yellow 

 

        Zone d’opérations de Mai-Mai Apa na Pale, avec Kodo comme quartier général, délimitée en jaune   

 

 
 

 
Map from UN, annotated by the Group 

 

Carte fournie par l’ ONU, annotée par le Groupe 

 

  

Kodo 
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Annex 117  

 

RED-Tabara area of operations 

 

Zone d’opérations de RED Tabara 
 

RED-Tabara area of operations delimited in yellow 

 

Zone d’opérations des RED Tabara délimitée en jaune 

  

  
 

 
Map from Google Earth, annotated by the Group 

 

Carte fournie par Google Earth, annotée par le Groupe 
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Annex 118 

 

FNL area of operations 

 

Zone d’opérations des FNL 
 

FNL area of operations delimited in yellow 

 

Zone d’opérations des FNL délimitée en jaune 

 

 

 

 
           

Map from Google Earth, annotated by the Group 

 

Carte fournie par Google Earth, annotée par le Groupe 
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Annex 119 

 

FNL recruitment and composition 

 

Recrutement par les FNL et composition 

 
Two ex-combatants, two local residents and two civil society members told the Group that most of the FNL com-

batants were deserters from Burundian Forces de défense nationale (FDN). Many civilians were also recruited in 

Burundi after the 2015 demonstrations against late President Nkurunziza’s government.  

 

One ex-combatant who left FNL in October 2020 told the Group that he had been promised a well-paid job and that 

once in the DRC, he was forced to join the armed group in April 2018. Another ex-combatant, who left FNL on 7 

December 2020, explained that he had joined FNL on his own in January 2017, after being wanted by the Burundian 

police, following a 2015 demonstration. 

 

The same sources said that the group had four women were among the 300 FNL combatants. Their names were:  

- ”Captain” Aicha 

- “Lieutenant” Marie-Claire  

- “Sergeant” Micheline 

- “Corporal” Sylvanie. 

 

Deux anciens combattants, deux résidents locaux et deux membres de la société civile ont  affirmé au Groupe que 

la plupart des combattants FNL étaient des déserteurs des Forces de défense nationales (FDN) burundaises. Beau-

coup de civils ont aussi été recrutés au Burundi après les manifestations de 2015 contre le gouvernement du Prési-

dent Nkurunziza, maintenant décédé.  

 

Un ancien combattant qui a quitté FNL en octobre 2020 a déclaré au Groupe qu'on lui avait promis un emploi bie n 

rémunéré et qu'une fois en RDC, il avait été contraint de rejoindre le groupe armé en avril 2018. Un autre ex -

combattant, qui a quitté FNL le 7 décembre 2020, a expliqué qu'il a rejoint seul les FNL en janvier 2017, alors qu’il 

était recherché par la police burundaise à la suite de la manifestation de 2015.  

 

Les mêmes sources ont dit que le groupe comptait quatre femmes parmi les 300 combattants FNL et qui s'appelaient: 

-  « Capitaine » Aicha 

-  « Lieutenant » Marie-Claire 

-  « Sergent » Micheline 

-  « Caporal » Sylvanie. 
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 Annex 120 

 

FNL punishment for “desertion” 

 

Punition des FNL pour « désertion »  

 
 

Two ex-combatants witnessed the executions of seven FNL combatants, by Meltos, on the orders of Nzabapema 

during 2019 in Naombe headquarters, Mwenga territory, five of whom were executed for wanting to sleep with the 

women of the group, and two for “desertion”. The combatants were executed in front of the whole group.  

 
Deux ex-combattants ont assisté à l'exécution de sept combattants FNL, par Meltos, sur ordre de Nzabapema en 

2019 au quartier général de Naombe, territoire de Mwenga, dont cinq pour avoir voulu coucher ave c les femmes 

du groupe, et deux pour « désertion ». Les combattants ont été exécutés devant tout le groupe.  
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Annex 121 

 

Mai-Mai Yakutumba taxation of mine sites around Misisi as well as the Misisi-Baraka route 

 

Taxation par les Mai-Mai Yakutumba des sites miniers autour de Misisi ainsi que sur la route Mi-

sisi-Baraka 
 

Below is a section of the map of Fizi territory showing the route linking Baraka and Misisi towns. Mai-Mai Yaku-

tumba taxed mine sites such as Mitondo, Makungu and Kuwa at Nyange, and at Kachanga Hill, all located near Misisi 

town, and also gold traders plying the Misisi-Baraka route. 

Ci-dessous, une section de la carte du territoire de Fizi montrant l'itinéraire reliant les villes de Baraka et de Misisi. 

Mai-Mai Yakutumba ont taxé des sites miniers tels que Mitondo, Makungu et Kuwa à Nyange et à Kachanga Hill, 

tous situés près de la ville Misisi, ainsi que des négociants en or empruntant la route Misisi-Baraka. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map provided to the Group by UN 

     Carte fournie au Groupe par l’ONU 
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Annex 122 
 
Copies of ICGLR export certificates 
 
Copies des certificats d'exportation de la CIRGL 
 
Copies of ICGLR certificates confirming the export of 4.795 kilograms of gold from KMC Sarl to Gold Fun Cor-

poration Ltd in Hong Kong via RwandAir, and 5.103 kilograms of gold from Avanish SARL to Al-Hallaq Jewellery 

LLC in Dubai via Rwanda, respectively. 

 

Copies des certificats CIRGL confirmant l'exportation de 4,795 kilogrammes d'or de KMC Sarl vers Gold Fun 

Corporation Ltd à Hong Kong via RwandAir, et de 5,103 kilogrammes d'or d'Avanish SARL à Al-Hallaq Jewellery 

LLC à Dubaï via le Rwanda, respectivement.  
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Documents provided to the Group by South Kivu mining authorities  

Documents fournis au Groupe par les autorités minières du Sud Kivu 
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Annex 123 

 

Gold production in Baraka town 

 
Production d'or dans la ville de Baraka 
 

Information accessible to the Group showed that the three gold trading cooperatives in Baraka, namely Coopérative minière 

de traitement des déchets (COMITRAID), Coopérative minière de Kimbi (COOMIKI), and Coopérative d’exploitation mi-

nière et de recyclage des régions aurifères (CEMIRERA) exported a total of 8.6 kilograms of gold in 2020. The three were 

located in Baraka town, which is part of Mutambala sector. However, the whole of Mutambala miming sector reported only 

a total production of 3.987 kilograms of gold for 2020, as shown in the table below. As noted below, most gold traders were 

reluctant to reveal the volume of their real gold exports out of fear that armed groups and criminal networks would attack 

and rob them, but also to allow them to smuggle gold to Burundi and Tanzania to get better prices. 

 

Les informations accessibles au Groupe montrent que les trois coopératives de négoce d'or de Baraka, à savoir la 

Coopérative minière de traitement des déchets (COMITRAID), la Coopérative minière de Kimbi  (COOMIKI) and 

la Coopérative d’exploitation minière et de recyclage des régions aurifères (CEMIRERA) ont exporté au total 8,6 

kilogrammes d'or en 2020. Les trois coopératives étaient situées dans la ville de Baraka, qui fait partie du secteur 

de Mutambala. Cependant, l'ensemble du secteur minier de Mutambala n'a rapporté qu'une production totale de 

3,987 kilogrammes d'or pour 2020, comme indiqué dans le tableau ci-dessous. Comme indiqué ci-dessous, la plu-

part des négociants en or cachaient les réels volumes de leurs exportations d'or de peur que des groupes armés et 

des réseaux criminels les attaquent et les volent, mais aussi pour qu'ils puissent passer l’or en contrebande au 

Burundi et en Tanzanie à de meilleurs prix.  
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 Document provided to the Group by South Kivu Mining authorities  

Documents fournis au Groupe par les autorités minières du Sud Kivu  
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Below a sectional view of CEMIRERA gold separation machine and sacks of crushed rocks from which gold has 

been extracted. 

Ci-dessous une vue en coupe de la machine de séparation de l'or de CEMIRERA et des sacs de roches concassées 

dont l'or a été extrait. 

 

 

 

Photographs taken by the Group in March 2021 

Photographies prises par le Groupe en mars 2021 
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Annex 124 

 

Gold bars intercepted by Congolese authorities at the border with Rwanda  

Lingots d’or interceptés par les autorirés congolaises à la frontière avec le Rwanda  

 

Below is a photograph of the gold bars intercepted by Congolese authorities at the Rwanda-DRC border in Bukavu 

on 17 March 2021. The gold weighed total of 8 kilograms, and originated from the Mai -Mai Yakutumba controlled 

areas of Nyange and Kachanga Hills, Fizi territory. The gold bars were melted in Misisi, according to the Congolese 

authorities who investigated the case. 

 

Ci-dessous, une photographie des lingots d'or interceptés par les autorités congolaises à la frontière entre le Rwanda 

et la RDC à Bukavu le 17 mars 2021. L'or pesait au total 8 kilogrammes et provenait des zones contrôlées par les 

Maï-Maï Yakutumba à Nyange et Kachanga Hills, dans le territoire de Fizi. Les lingots d'or ont été fondus à Misisi, 

selon les autorités congolaises qui ont enquêté sur l'affaire.  

 

 

 

 

Photograph provided to the Group by Congolese authorities in South Kivu on 17 March 2021 

Photographie fournie au Groupe par les autorités congolaises au Sud-Kivu le 17 mars 2021 

 

 

The Group sought to establish Rwanda’s gold exports in 2020 from publicly available sou rces and found that, 

consistent with the Group’s previous reporting (see S/2020/482, para. 91), Rwanda did not publicly report its gold 

production statistics. However, the Group reviewed the 2019-2020 National Bank of Rwanda annual report, which 

indicated that gold exports had increased by 754.6 per cent on the preceding year (see: https://www.bnr.rw/news-

publications/publications/annual-reports/).  

Le Groupe a cherché à établir les exportations d’or du Rwanda en 2020 à partir de sources accessibles au public et a constaté 

que, conformément aux précédents rapports du Groupe (voir S/2020/482, par. 91), le Rwanda n’avait pas rendu publiques 

ses statistiques de production d’or. Cependant, le Groupe a examiné le rapport annuel de 2019-2020 de la Banque nationale 

du Rwanda, qui indiquait que les exportations d'or avaient augmenté de 754,6% (voir: https://www.bnr.rw/news-publi-

cations/publications/annual-reports/). 

  

https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://www.bnr.rw/news-publications/publications/annual-reports/
https://www.bnr.rw/news-publications/publications/annual-reports/
https://undocs.org/en/S/2020/482
https://www.bnr.rw/news-publications/publications/annual-reports/
https://www.bnr.rw/news-publications/publications/annual-reports/
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Annex 125 

 

Congo Gold Raffinerie under construction in Bukavu, South Kivu  

 

Congo Gold Raffinerie en construction à Bukavu, Sud Kivu 

 

 

 

 

 

Photograph taken by the Group in February 2021 

Photographie prise par le Groupe en février 2021 

 

Congo Gold Raffinerie was still under construction, according to Group observations. The Group confirmed Lui 

Zhigang, CGR representative and direct share-holder of Global Investment Congo (see S/2020/482, annex 41) was 

also, and independently, manager of Frontier Services Group, owned by Erik Prince, an individual who v iolated the 

United Nations arms embargo in Libya in 2021, according to the Panel of Experts on Libya (see S/2021/229, para. 

87). The Group was unable to contact Lui Zhigang, despite multiple attempts, by time o f drafting. 

 

La Congo Gold Raffinerie était toujours en construction, selon les observations du Groupe. Le Groupe a confirmé 

que Lui Zhigang, représentant de CGR et actionnaire direct de Global Investment Congo (voir S/2020/482, annexe 

41) était également, et indépendamment, directeur de Frontier Services Group, détenu par Erik Prince, un individu 

qui a violé l’embargo sur les armes des Nations Unies en Libye en 2021, selon le Groupe d'experts sur la Libye ( voir 

S/2021/229, par. 87). Le Groupe n'avait pas pu contacter Lui Zhigang, malgré de multiples tentatives, au moment 

de la rédaction du rapport. 

  

http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/S/2021/229
http://www.undocs.org/S/2020/482
https://undocs.org/S/2021/229
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Annex 126 

Extract of the South Kivu Governor’s letter dated 1 March 2021 ordering FARDC, PNC and PMH 

members to vacate Luhihi mine sites in Kabare territory 

Extrait de la lettre du Gouverneur du Sud Kivu datée du 1 ier mars 2021 ordonnant aux membres 
des FARDC, de la PNC et de la PMH de quitter les sites miniers de Luhihi dans le territoire de 
Kabare 
 

 

 

 

 

 



S/2021/560 
 

 

358/369 21-06047 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
S/2021/560 

 

21-06047 359/369 

 

 

 

 

 

 



S/2021/560 
 

 

360/369 21-06047 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         Document provided to the Group by South Kivu authorities in March 2021  

Document fourni au Groupe par les autorités du Sud Kivu en mars 2021  
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Annex 127  

 

A document ordering FARDC members to supervise mine sites 

Un document ordonnant à des membres des FARDC de superviser des sites miniers 

 

Document dated 28 February 2021, signed on the order of FARDC Colonel Manassé, ordering two FARDC mem-

bers under his command to undertake a 72-hour observation in the mine sites of Makungu, Mitindo, Milanga and 

others 

Document daté du 28 février 2021, signé sur ordre du Colonel Manassé des FARDC, ordonnant à deux membres 

des FARDC sous son commandement d'effectuer 72 heures d’observation dans les sites m iniers de Makungu, Mi-

tindo, Milanga et autres. 

 

 

Document provided to the Group by a source with the knowledge of the matter  

Document fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet   
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Annex 128 

Photographs of redwood planks stocked by unlicensed dealers in Uvira town 

 

Photographies de planches de séquoia stockées par des revendeurs non agréés dans la ville d'Uvira 

 
The planks were often sold to licensed timber exporters. 

 

Les planches étaient souvent vendues à des exportateurs de bois agréés. 

 

 

 

  

  

 

Photographs taken by the Group in Uvira in December 2020 

 

Photographies prises par le Groupe à Uvira en décembre 2020  
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Annex 129 

 

Boat manifest from the Port of Kalundu 
 
Manifeste des bateaux au départ du Port de Kalundu 
 

The below manifest of boats that operated from the port of Kalundu in November 2020 shows that most of the 24 

boats documented plied between the Port of Kalundu and Kigoma in Tanzania. The boats carried foodstuffs and 

other goods including redwood from unlicensed dealers in South Kivu, to Kigoma in Tanzania. 

 

Le manifeste, ci-dessous, des bateaux qui opéraient depuis le port de Kalundu en novembre 2020 montre que la 

plupart des 24 bateaux documentés faisaient la navette entre le port de Kalundu et Kigoma en Tanzanie. Les bateaux 

transportaient des denrées alimentaires et d'autres marchandises, y compris du séquoia de marchands non autorisés 

du Sud Kivu à Kigoma, en Tanzanie. 

 

 

 

Document provided to the Group by the Port of Kalundu authorities in December 202 0 
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Document remis au Groupe par les autorités du port de Kalundu en décembre 2020 

Annex 130 

 

An export document for redwood exported to Tanzania 

Un document d'exportation pour le séquoia exporté vers la Tanzanie 

 

An export document dated 6 November 2020 for redwood originating from Baraka, Fizi territory, and destined for 

Tanzania. 

Un document d'exportation daté du 6 novembre 2020 pour du séquoia originaire de Baraka, territoire de Fizi, et à 

destination de la Tanzanie. 

 

 

 

Document provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Document fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet  
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Annex 131 

 
Shipping of redwood from Ngandja forest reserve  
 
Expédition de séquoias de la réserve forestière de Ngandja 
 

During its visit to five unregistered redwood stores in Uvira town, the Group obtained a number of export declara-

tion documents, and confirmation that Acrep Transit, a company suspected of previous involvement in wildlife 

trafficking (see: http://www.robindesbois.org/wp-content/uploads/ON_THE_TRAIL_14.pdf.), was one of the main 

shipping agents for redwood.  

 

Lors de la visite du Groupe dans cinq magasins de séquoias non enreg istrés de la ville d'Uvira, le Groupe a obtenu 

un certain nombre de documents de déclarations d'exportation et la confirmation qu'Acrep Transit, une société 

suspectée d’avoir été impliquée auparavant dans le trafic d'espèces sauvages (voir : http://www.robindes-

bois.org/wp-content/uploads/ON_THE_TRAIL_14.pdf), était l'un des principaux agents d'expédition pour le sé-

quoia. 

  

http://www.robindesbois.org/wp-content/uploads/ON_THE_TRAIL_14.pdf
http://www.robindesbois.org/wp-content/uploads/ON_THE_TRAIL_14.pdf
http://www.robindesbois.org/wp-content/uploads/ON_THE_TRAIL_14.pdf
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Annex 132 

 

Copy of a bank transaction related to redwood 

 
Copie d'une transaction bancaire liée au séquoia 

 

A copy of a bank transaction document showing a transfer of $50,000 by Jiangsu Animal By -Product Import and 

Export Group Corporation to Global Web International Corporation in respect of redwood su pplied by Global Web 

International Corporation. As indicated on the document, the redwood was shipped from Baraka, South Kivu.  

 

Une copie d'un document de transaction bancaire montrant un transfert de $50 000 par Jiangsu Animal By -Product 

Import and Export Group Corporation à Global Web International Corporation pour  le séquoia fourni par Global 

Web International Corporation. Comme indiqué dans le document, le séquoia a été expédié de Baraka, au Sud Kivu.  

 

 

Document provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter 

Document fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet 
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Annex 133 

 

Origin and route taken by redwood from Ngandja forest reserve  

Origine et itinéraire emprunté par le séquoia de la réserve forestière de Ngandja  

 

 

The Group spoke to a South Kivu environmental officer, a Baraka-based forest officer and two redwood traders. 
The traders stated that for most traders to operate in Baraka and surrounding areas, they had to comply with Yaku-
tumba’s orders. The two stated that whenever a consignment of redwood belonging to Yakutumba was ready to be 
ferried to Baraka, Yakutumba’s emissaries would call them (the two traders) and many others in the timber industry, 
to go and collect the timber from Nganjda forest to take it to Baraka for sale.  
 
These sources further stated that the payment of $50,000 to Global Web International Corporation was for consign-
ments of redwood that was harvested from Ngandja forest of South Kivu between July and September 2020. These 
sources, including a port authority at Mushimbaki Port in Baraka who witnessed the shippin g of the redwood, added 
that Global Web International Corporation shipped the redwood from Baraka through Lake Tanganyika to the port 
of Bujumbura, from where it was transported by land to Uganda via Mutukula border between Tanzania and Uganda, 
and delivered to Skyfat Tannery Co. Ltd in Jinja, Uganda. Skyfat Tannery Co. Ltd. undertook the shipment of the 
redwood from Jinja to Jiangsu Animal By Product Import and Export Group Corporation in China, via the port of 
Mombasa, Kenya.  
 
 
Le Groupe s’est entretenu avec un agent de l'environnement du Sud Kivu, un agent forestier basé à Baraka et deux 
négociants en séquoia. Les commerçants ont déclaré que la plupart des commerçants devaient se conformer aux 
ordres de Yakutumba pour opérer à Baraka et dans les environs . Ils ont aussi déclaré que chaque fois qu'un envoi 
de séquoia appartenant à Yakutumba était prêt à être transporté à Baraka, les émissaires de Yakutumba les appe-
laient (les deux commerçants) ainsi que d'autres dans l'industrie du bois, pour aller chercher  le bois à la forêt de 
Nganjda et l’emmener à Baraka pour le vendre.  
 
Ces sources ont en outre affirmé que le paiement de $50 000 à Global Web International Corporation concernait des 
envois de séquoias provenant de la forêt de Nganjda au Sud Kivu entre j uillet et septembre 2020. Ces sources, y 
compris une autorité portuaire du port de Mushimbaki à Baraka qui a été témoin de l'expéd ition du séquoia, ont 
ajouté que Global Web International Corporation a expédié le séquoia de Baraka via le Lac Tanganyika jus qu’au 
port de Bujumbura, d'où il a été transporté par voie terrestre en Ouganda via la frontière de Mutukula entre la 
Tanzanie et l'Ouganda, et livré à Skyfat Tannery Co. Ltd à Jinja. Skyfat Tannery Co. Ltd. s’est chargée de l'expédition 
du séquoia de Jinja à Jiangsu Animal By Product Import and Export Group Corporation en Chine via le port de 
Mombasa, au Kenya. 
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Annex 134 

 

A CITES certificate for redwood exported by Global Web International Corporation 
 
Un certificat CITES pour le séquoia exporté par Global Web International Corporation 
 
 

A CITES export certificate dated 19 February 2020 relating to the sale of 20 cubic meters of redwood by Global 

Web International Corporation to Jiangsu Corporation. The redwood was harvested by criminal networks of unreg-

istered loggers from south Irumu territory, an area occupied by armed groups.  

 

Un certificat d’exportation CITES du 19 février 2020 relatif à la vente de 20 mètres cubes de séquoia par Global 

Web International Corporation à Jiangsu Corporation. Le séquoia a  été récolté par des réseaux criminels de bûche-

rons non enregistrés du sud du territore d'Irumu, une zone occupée par des groupes armés. 

 

 

Document provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

Document fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet 
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Annex 135 

 

Copy of the bill of landing for redwood exported to Impex Potra 

Copie de la facture de débarquement pour le séquoia exporté vers Impex Potra 

 

Copy of a bill of landing dated 4 November 2020 relating to an export by Global Web  International Corporation, 

for 18 tonnes of redwood to Impex Potra, in Belgium.  

Copie d'une facture de débarquement en date du 4 novembre 2020 relative à une exportation par Global Web Inter-

national Corporation de 18 tonnes de séquoia vers Impex Potra, en  Belgique.  

 

 

Document provided to the Group by a source with knowledge of the matter  

Document fourni au Groupe par une source connaissant le sujet  

 

 


